To my family, always
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A Note on the Author
Leon Czolgosz1 hadn’t worked in years. When he arrived in Buffalo on the last day of August 1901, he rented a room above John Nowak’s saloon for two dollars a week. Czolgosz—slender, clean-shaven, brown-haired, blue-eyed, twenty-eight years old—survived mostly on milk and bread. He didn’t talk much. He didn’t stay long. He seemed to be one of those young men adrift in America’s raw, roaring economic churn. One afternoon, he walked to Walbridge Hardware on Main Street and bought the most expensive handgun on display, a .32 caliber Iver Johnson automatic revolver, for $4.50.
Czolgosz’s parents2 immigrated from Eastern Europe to the Midwest and then kept moving in search of work. His mother died when he was about ten. His stepmother seemed uncaring, his father distant. Czolgosz attended school when he could, worked a few hours here and there when he had to, and then, when he turned sixteen, followed his father’s instructions to get a full-time job. Five years in classrooms made him the best educated of his seven siblings. Czolgosz eventually ended up at the Cleveland Rolling Mill, a steel wire factory with modern equipment and management. He could count on decent pay, steady hours, and tolerable physical demands. If all went well, Czolgosz might one day rise out of the working class.
Things didn’t go well. In 1893, America sank into a depression, businesses shut down, and people across the country lost their jobs. Czolgosz was among them. When he was rehired, the company engaged in a brutal price war that resulted in lower wages. After Czolgosz joined a strike, he was fired and put on a blacklist. The only way he could work again was to wait for a new foreman to come in and then reapply under a fake identity. He chose the name Fred Nieman: Fred Nobody.
Everyone around him could see that he was unhappy, brooding, almost broken. He had been set back, as so many others had, and couldn’t recover, and in this too he wasn’t alone. Then he stopped trying. In 1898 he told his boss that he was unwell and had to quit.
His family had purchased3 a 55-acre farm—he had emptied his bank account to contribute—and it was there he took refuge. He tinkered in the barn but refused to help with the hard labor. He wouldn’t eat with his family when his stepmother was home and took herbal remedies for ailments he wouldn’t discuss. Reading the newspapers and Edward Bellamy’s bestselling utopian novel, Looking Backward: 2000–1887, became preoccupying interests. Czolgosz called himself a socialist, sometimes an anarchist. In May 19014 he heard one of the most famous anarchists, Emma Goldman, speak in Cleveland and was so taken by her that he began to contemplate radical, violent, and, in his mind, heroic, action. First, though, he introduced himself. They exchanged a few words, and he made a good impression, but if he was expecting to be taken in, he would have been disappointed. All he came away with was a few books she recommended.
His family didn’t know what to make of him, and he did not seem to know what to make of himself, either. “I never had5 much luck at anything, and this preyed upon me,” Czolgosz later said. “It made me morose and envious.” He desperately wanted to sell his share of the farm and leave his family behind. They gave him6 seventy dollars in July 1901, and he disappeared.
President William McKinley, well rested after a summer at home in Ohio, arrived in Buffalo on Wednesday, September 4, 1901, for the Pan-American Exposition. It was a months-long festival in a 350-acre park meant to showcase America as a flourishing and innovative nation, taking its rightful place as a world leader. The Expo featured a Fountain of Abundance and a Tower of Light, and each evening, hundreds of thousands of eight-watt lightbulbs illuminated the buildings, reflecting pools, and sculptures. It was the first massive display of electric power, generated by the alternating currents of nearby Niagara Falls. Inventors presented a new electric battery, a wireless telegraph, and a device called an akouphone that allowed the deaf to hear. A simulated trip to the moon on the spaceship Luna was so popular that afterward the creator7 patented the machine. Thomas Edison’s film company captured it all.
The showmen8 organized the fairground to reflect the achievements of a modern, industrial America—as they understood it. Visitors to the midway could watch reenacted battles between Native Americans and U.S. soldiers. Organizers had brought entire indigenous families to live in faux villages. “Darkest Africa” was enclosed by a fence; across from it was the “Old Plantation.” Only after activists, mostly black women, called on officials to do better, did the fair find room to display the books, art, and inventions of African Americans. “The Negro Exhibit” opened in a stifling convention center and received little attention from white journalists or the Expo’s promoters. Some of those on display resisted and a few others protested that it was wrong, or racist, to treat humans as specimens. To most of the crowd, though, it was all just a spectacle.
“My fellow citizens,9 trade statistics indicate that this country is in a state of unexampled prosperity. The figures are almost appalling,” McKinley said to a cheering audience of some fifty thousand mostly middle-class men and women gathered on the vast esplanade. “That all the people are participating in this great prosperity is seen in every American community.”
McKinley had campaigned as “The Advance Agent of Prosperity” and often celebrated the country’s good fortune. He was fifty-eight years old, charming and generous even to critics, a gracious envoy to the business class who was still considerate of other opinions. He had been easily reelected in 1900. His vice president for his second term was Theodore Roosevelt, who was young and energetic and popular with voters because he didn’t seem beholden to the rich. Born into New York’s privileged set, Roosevelt had become a civil service reformer, then a Rough Rider cavalryman in the Spanish-American War, then a crusading governor. The Republican establishment barely tolerated him. The vice presidency was supposed to diminish Roosevelt’s power and keep him out of sight.
On McKinley’s final day10 at the Expo, September 6, he planned to greet anyone who cared to meet him at the Temple of Music, an ornate domed building that could hold two thousand people. Many more than that were waiting outside late Friday afternoon. George Cortelyou, McKinley’s personal secretary, had advised against a public reception, warning that the president would be too vulnerable. Twice Cortelyou tried to cancel it.
The weather was humid and heavy, and many in the queue held handkerchiefs and dabbed at their brows. Within the Temple, a musician played a Bach Sonata on one of the country’s largest organs as McKinley entered through a back door. He took his place between Cortelyou and John Milburn, the president of the Expo. He noted how cool it was inside. He seemed eager. “Let them come,” he said.
Attendants opened the front doors. National Guard soldiers paced in front of the entrance, and Secret Service agents and local police hovered. But no one noticed Czolgosz.
He had arrived at the Temple hours earlier and was near the front of the crowd, inconspicuous in his pressed gray suit, flannel shirt, and black string tie. “He appeared as a mechanic, a printer, a shipping clerk,” an eyewitness noted later. Except for one detail: He had wrapped his right hand with a plain handkerchief, as if he were injured. Underneath, he gripped his revolver.
McKinley smiled and reached to shake Czolgosz’s left hand. As Czolgosz stepped forward, he raised his right instead and fired two bullets. The first grazed the president, but the second went deep into his abdomen, puncturing his pancreas and kidney and embedding somewhere beyond.
President McKinley on his way to the Temple of Music, September 6, 1901, with John Milburn (left) and George Cortelyou (right)
McKinley staggered. Cortelyou and Milburn steadied him, then eased him onto a chair. The man waiting behind Czolgosz—James Parker, an African American former constable from Georgia, now a waiter at an Expo restaurant—tackled him. Someone, a Secret Service agent or a soldier, grabbed the gun. In the melee it was hard to know who.
“I done my duty,” Czolgosz said as the police and soldiers and men waiting in line hit and kicked him. Czolgosz was blood-spattered and unmoving. McKinley was half conscious. “Be easy with him, boys,” he murmured. The police had to carry Czolgosz out before he was killed.
The president poked his fingers under his shirt. They came out bloody.
Nearly four hundred miles away in New York City, everything seemed just as it should that afternoon as John Pierpont Morgan was about to leave work. The streets around his headquarters at 23 Wall Street were quiet. Trading on the stock market11 ended at three, and by four the big and the small who calculated, bought, sold, loaned, speculated, hedged, hustled, and bluffed had emptied their offices. Trains, ferries, and yachts carried them away to the suburbs. Summer was still in the air, but the cheerful ease of the wealthy on an unhurried Friday was about to end.
On Wall Street, Morgan had two nicknames: Jupiter and Zeus. He controlled12 the “coal roads” of Pennsylvania—the railroads and their anthracite coal fields supplying energy along the East Coast and out to Chicago and St. Louis. He controlled the Northern Pacific line and the New York Central, too. He wielded power in banks and financial institutions other than his own. When the U.S. government needed gold, Morgan provided it. He had funded Thomas Edison, consolidated General Electric, and sat on the company’s board. He was a director at Western Union, the Pullman Palace Car Company, and Aetna Fire Insurance. If anything important was happening on Wall Street, Morgan was assumed to be behind it.
On the eve of McKinley’s second inauguration, Morgan had announced the creation of the first billion-dollar American company, United States Steel. It was a grandiose, thrilling, and frightening prospect. The corporation would13 be in charge of almost half of the country’s steelmaking capacity and be worth double14 the entire federal government’s revenues in 1900. McKinley was dazzled by Morgan, but the admiration wasn’t mutual. In the financier’s world, Washington was a second-rate power and its chief executive of limited use. Morgan explained as little as possible and confided nothing to McKinley. He said only that he assembled U.S. Steel to end ruinous price wars and compete in the global marketplace. He had done so by combining his company with it biggest rival, owned by Andrew Carnegie, and acquiring several smaller businesses.
And at 4:07 P.M. on September 6, 1901, Leon Czolgosz, a former employee of one of those smaller businesses, was firing a bullet into President McKinley’s abdomen.
Morgan was among the last to leave his office that day. A courier had earlier15 delivered secret documents Morgan had been working to secure for months. They established a formal alliance with one of his few remaining adversaries. Their fight that spring had been public and bitter and costly. But he had won. It would be some time before the public would learn the news these documents affirmed. Morgan, who already controlled the world’s largest company, would now control the second-largest, as well: a railroad behemoth called Northern Securities.
Morgan put on16 his silk hat, picked up his mahogany cane, tucked a box of cigars under his arm, and on his way out glanced at the ledger on a clerk’s desk. He couldn’t help himself. A reporter rushed in.
“We have a dispatch, Mr. Morgan, stating that an attempt has been made on the life of the president at Buffalo.”
“What?” Morgan looked hard at the reporter, set down his cane and cigars, and grasped the man’s arm. “What?”
The reporter said the president had been shot. This time the words registered.
“Is it serious?” Too early to know.
At 4:18 an electric ambulance brought McKinley to a hospital on the Expo grounds. He was pale, weak, aware enough to consent to immediate surgery.
In Manhattan, one of Morgan’s sons-in-law, Herbert Satterlee, arrived at the firm’s Wall Street headquarters to pick the elder man up as they had planned. They retreated inside the office. Morgan whispered to the sole executive still there, who went to call for a private account of the events in Buffalo. Fifteen minutes later he confirmed that McKinley had been shot twice. So much about Morgan seemed permanent and superior, but now as he sat at his desk, he appeared shaken and helpless.
Another reporter arrived to ask about the financial community’s reaction to the shooting. “This is sad, sad, very sad news. It is very sad news, very sad,” Morgan said. “No, I don’t want to say anything. The news is very sad. There is nothing I can say at this time.” Morgan and Satterlee slowly walked out of the office at five o’clock, climbed into a waiting carriage, and drove to the New York Yacht Club.
McKinley was put under17 the influence of ether by 5:20. Nine minutes later, the surgeon made his first cut. The team that operated on the president faced some challenges. Electricity brightened attractions throughout the Expo, but not the hospital. A doctor used a mirror to reflect the rays of the setting sun onto the operating table until someone could hook up a light. The hospital was well equipped to treat any minor health problem—over the summer the most common complaints had been digestive troubles and toothaches—but no one expected a retractor would be required for a life-threatening injury. “The greatest difficulty was the great size of President McKinley’s abdomen and the amount of fat present,” the surgeon later noted. He first inserted a finger and then his entire hand but couldn’t find the second bullet. He cleaned the wounds, stitched them up, and sent a still unconscious McKinley to Milburn’s home to recover.
In New York,18 newspaper staff stayed on the streets with brushes and crayons updating the bulletin boards set up along Park Row. Crowds swirled around them, pushing and shoving, stunned and nervous. People stood by the news tickers in hotel lobbies, or roamed Broadway, ducking into cafés and saloons for the latest word. Rumors percolated through the city: Morgan was making contingency plans. He was gathering the “chief bankers and capitalists on board his yacht and was holding a ways and means conference.” He was summoning the presidents of the big banks to the Metropolitan Club. Or to the Fifth Avenue Hotel, to Delmonico’s, to the Yacht Club.
Nothing of the sort.19 Morgan boarded his yacht, Corsair, with only Satterlee accompanying him. They cruised to Long Island in silence.
At seven, McKinley’s doctors issued an update, which the president’s secretary, Cortelyou, relayed to the public: “The patient stood20 the operation well. Pulse of good quality, rate of 130, condition at the conclusion of operation was gratifying. The result cannot be foretold. His condition at present justifies hope of recovery.”
Some on the streets of Manhattan cheered, some kept an anxious silence. After President James Garfield had been shot in 1881, he had lingered, bedridden and uncomfortable, for more than two months before succumbing. The agitated crowds at the Waldorf-Astoria—many Wall Street brokers among them—remained until well past midnight.
Roosevelt too was four hundred miles from Buffalo that day, in Vermont, to give a luncheon speech to some thousand guests on a small island in Lake Champlain. He was changing his clothes, preparing to rejoin the men and women eager to shake his hand, and generally enjoying the hours as the center of attention when he was summoned to the phone around five thirty in the afternoon. He was told McKinley had been shot and had just entered surgery. “My God”21 was all the vice president could say. Tears filled his eyes. He couldn’t bring himself to announce the news and asked one of the hosts to speak to the crowd.
He paced the room,22 murmured every now and then, kept his composure, and waited for word. Soon it came. The president’s wounds weren’t fatal, there didn’t seem to be any complications, and he should recover. “That’s good—it’s good. May it be every bit true,” Roosevelt said as he rushed to the veranda. He wanted to be the one to share the encouraging message.
Roosevelt didn’t linger. A few minutes later, he boarded a guest’s yacht to sail to the mainland. On the trip, in motion, doing something, he was a bit more talkative. He described McKinley as gentle and lovable: “Of all the men I have known in public life he was the last to excite animosity.” Roosevelt arrived in Buffalo by train the next afternoon. Much of McKinley’s cabinet and family—as well as Senator Mark Hanna, his confidant and campaign manager—were already there. Roosevelt told a friend he felt a hundred years old.
In Manhattan, the stock market had opened on time for its regular two-hour session that Saturday morning. Now Morgan did meet with the chief bankers. Wall Street suspected that he sent brokers on the floor to buy anything at whatever the price. “The financial situation23 is absolutely good,” he said. “There is nothing to derange it. The banks will take care of that. Nobody need worry about that.” Morgan knew that appearances mattered, his most of all. Afterward he kept to his schedule. He went down24 to the harbor to meet a railroad executive returning from a summer vacation in Europe. As Morgan waited for the ship to dock, a friend relayed the latest from Hanna. The president was doing as well as could be expected.
Before long,25 the president’s condition seemed to improve. Doctors allowed only his wife, Ida, to see him, but provided regular reports. His mind was clear. He was resting well. He took a teaspoon of beef juice every hour. Then three. He had a few drops of whiskey and jokingly asked to smoke a cigar. Doctors considered using one of Edison’s new X-ray machines to help locate the second bullet and recruited another doctor, whose height, weight, and fifty-six-inch girth matched the president’s, to serve as a test subject. But they never tried out the X-ray on McKinley.
Two days after the shooting, doctors reported that the president was past the danger point. “Now everything26 will go on swimmingly,” Hanna said. “We are going to have good times.”
All that week27 Morgan arrived at his office before eleven in the morning, sometimes by nine—early for him. Police had been watching 23 Wall Street ever since steel workers went on strike over the summer. Now at least six detectives stood at the main entrance at all times, while others stationed themselves throughout the financial district. Plainclothes officers kept an eye on the Yacht Club pier, where a launch would take Morgan to Corsair to sleep each night.
There was no credible threat to Morgan. Czolgosz—angry, desperate, ill—said he acted alone, and really he barely had a plan. But in an unsettled time, Morgan had to be protected. Through his companies and connections he controlled and influenced more money than any other person in America, maybe the world. He had partners and he had a son, but none could replace him. That summer,28 British investors had taken out life insurance policies on him, nervous about the more typical deaths that could come for a sixty-four-year-old man.
In Buffalo,29 the worry once so heavy seemed to evaporate. McKinley’s sister and nieces returned home. Attorney General Philander Knox and Treasury Secretary Lyman Gage left for Washington. Hanna went back to Cleveland. “You may say30 that I am absolutely sure that the president will recover,” Roosevelt told reporters. Then he left too.
Roosevelt set off on a hiking expedition with his family in a particularly remote part of the Adirondacks. He would climb the highest peak, eat lunch at Lake Tear of the Clouds, and stay at a cabin thirty-five miles from the nearest railroad and telegraph station and ten miles from a telephone.
Then, before daylight31 on Friday, September 13, McKinley’s heart began failing. His pulse slowed. He could no longer eat. He became disoriented. Stimulants had no effect. Oxygen didn’t help. Gangrene had developed along the path of the bullet and he was in septic shock. A flock of crows32 flying over the Milburn house had to be a bad omen. The doctors’ bulletin came at six thirty that evening: “The end is only a question of time.”
Morgan received updates33 in his office between meetings. Afterward he stayed busy, traveling uptown to the Union Club, to his yacht for a quick trip to see his daughter on Long Island, and back to the club.
At ten, Ida held her husband’s hand, then left his bedside. McKinley’s doctors discontinued the oxygen. At eleven, Morgan returned to the Yacht Club, where he told reporters that he had been on the phone with Buffalo, and the president would not live out the night. He had nothing more to say and boarded Corsair.
Roosevelt had rushed down ten miles of trails when he first got word of trouble, making it back to a lodge high in the hills as the last light was fading. Before midnight, he received another update: “The President appears to be dying and members of the Cabinet in Buffalo think you should lose no time coming.”
Roosevelt began34 the moonless descent, in a horse-drawn carriage navigating narrow roads in the fog and mist of a mountain storm. He changed horses and drivers along the way rather than stop to allow the team to rest. Some six hours later he reached the North Creek train station, where another telegram was waiting.
“The President died at 2:15 o’clock this morning.”
Roosevelt silently folded the paper and put it in his pocket. He was forty-two years old. He would be the youngest person ever to lead the nation. He had been headed toward the presidency almost since he entered public life. Now he would have to claim the office amid violence and grief.
Outside the mansion35 in Buffalo, storm winds howled. In New York, the streets and hotels and bars remained full and hushed, and the bells of Trinity Church rang out. The twenty-fifth president of the United States was the third to be assassinated in four decades.
A train, the fastest on the line, waited for Roosevelt at North Creek. He strode across the platform and boarded the private car. The locomotive traveled at a top speed of 60 miles per hour, through the rain-soaked night.
On the morning36 of Saturday, September 14, workmen arrived early at 23 Wall Street with two heavy boxes and a sewing machine. They stitched long streamers of black crape to drape over the building’s marble facade. An immense American flag fluttered in the wind. Soon the city would be shrouded in black. The stock exchange was closed for the day, but still Morgan showed up for work. He was wearing a black suit instead of his usual gray.
At 1:30 P.M., Roosevelt reached Buffalo. “I was so shocked37 by the terrible news brought to me last night and by the calamity it entailed upon the country, as well as by the personal sorrow I feel, that I have had no time to think of plans for the future conduct of the office which has been so suddenly and sadly thrust upon me,” he said to reporters, looking worn.
He went straight38 to the mansion of a friend, Ansley Wilcox, where Roosevelt decided to be sworn in. But first he had to pay his respects. He borrowed a coat and trousers from Wilcox and a hat from another friend. He had his boots polished, gathered a gold-topped cane and gloves, and told his military escort to stay behind. Roosevelt was alert to the moment. While he still could, he thought it best to appear a solitary figure, stripped of the presumptions of power.
McKinley’s cabinet members, exhausted and distraught, were waiting for him at the Milburn house. “The President of the United States,” someone called out as he entered. Roosevelt seemed barely to hear it. Doctors were performing an autopsy of the body, and Ida McKinley was too overcome to see Roosevelt. He stayed in the parlor and briefly conferred with Elihu Root, the secretary of war and a longtime friend from New York. Root urged him to convey a sense of stability—to the conservative men of McKinley’s cabinet and to the nation. Roosevelt returned to the Wilcox home alone.
He chose a spot39 by the library window, where the afternoon sun was streaming in. Cabinet members circled around him. A federal judge stood opposite. Roosevelt summoned two dozen reporters angling for a view from the outside. The ceremony began.
Roosevelt straightened the lapels of his frock coat and steadied himself. “I wish to state that it shall be my aim to continue absolutely unbroken the policy of President McKinley for the peace, prosperity, and honor of our beloved country.” He uttered the oath of office, his voice firm, his face stern, and his right arm fully extended. He bowed his head in silence for three full minutes. The sob of a passing woman pierced the room. Roosevelt stood up and signed the parchment declaring him president.
Reporters hounded Morgan for comment. “So many of the enterprises40 which he had started and the projects which he then had in hand depended on the continuance of peace and prosperity to bring them to success,” his son-in-law wrote later. Notwithstanding the new president’s words, Morgan “was afraid that Roosevelt was too temperamental, and that he would disturb the prosperity of the country by trying experiments.”
From Morgan himself, the press got nothing but silence.
A mob gathered41 around the prison calling for the assassin’s death. “I did not feel42 that one man should have all this power while others have none,” Czolgosz told his interrogators. “I am not afraid to die. We all have to die some time.” He said the lecture by Goldman inspired his crime: “She set me on fire.” Goldman was arrested43 in Chicago on September 10, questioned by police, brought before an assistant to Buffalo’s district attorney, and after two weeks let go. She said she met Czolgosz only briefly—in Cleveland and in Chicago, where he had arrived uninvited two months later. The police said there was no plot. But Goldman alone defended Czolgosz as a “soul in pain.”44 She became a pariah because of it.
Leon Czolgosz’s police report
Czolgosz’s trial lasted barely two days. The jury deliberated for thirty minutes. On the morning of October 29, prison guards brought Czolgosz into the execution chamber. He was ashen, dressed in a gray shirt, prepared to speak his final words. “I shot the president45 because I thought it would help the working people and for the sake of the common people. I am not sorry for my crime,” he said. The guards tightened the straps on his head and chin. At twelve minutes past seven, one thousand seven hundred volts of electricity shocked the body of Leon Czolgosz.
He was buried in an unmarked grave. His corpse was dissolved in carbolic acid.
In the first hours, days, and months of the new presidency, Roosevelt heard the same warning again and again. Be cautious. He heard it even as McKinley lay in bed on September 13, organs failing, death approaching. Douglas Robinson, a prominent businessman and Roosevelt’s brother-in-law, wrote from New York City: “I must frankly1 tell you that there is a feeling in financial circles here that in case you become President, you may change matters so as to upset the confidence, for the time at least, of the financial world, which would be an awful blow to everybody.”
Immediately after he was sworn in, Roosevelt said what he was expected to. McKinley’s cabinet—uniformly conservative, governed by the desire to “stand pat,”2 and trusted to protect the privileges of America’s wealthy—would become his. But McKinley’s closest adviser, the one who perhaps needed the most assurance, was not in the Wilcox mansion to hear Roosevelt’s promise. Mark Hanna had wept after seeing the dying president and was making preparations to bring the body to Washington.
Hanna was a well-to-do industrialist and senator from Ohio who, like most officials at the time, didn’t consider one job a conflict with the other. He was among the most influential politicians in the country. He had helped bring McKinley to power, managing his presidential campaigns with a wary eye toward the populists in the West and a hand out to the money men in the East. He calculated potential contributions from the tycoons commensurate with their financial worth. No one had done that before. Political cartoonists called him Dollar Mark. A journalist described him as having “a cash-register conscience.”3 He hated both caricatures. But the tycoons, the ultimate bottom-liners, didn’t object to his methods. In return, Hanna promised a “safe” leader to shield them from political attacks. McKinley hadn’t disappointed them.
Hanna wanted to make sure Roosevelt wouldn’t either. He was wary of Roosevelt’s obvious magnetism and seeming impetuousness. He considered Roosevelt unsafe, the most damning criticism of all. Hanna alone fought Roosevelt’s nomination as the vice presidential candidate, giving way only at the last minute, when his support didn’t matter. It was a humbling, infuriating snub. “Don’t any of you4 realize there’s only one life between that madman and the Presidency?” he pleaded.
Ohio Senator Marcus Alonzo Hanna
“I am as strong5 as a bull moose and you can use me up to the limit,” Roosevelt had told Hanna as the campaign got under way. He had traveled6 twenty-one thousand miles to visit twenty-four states and speak in front of some three million people, and in doing so he earned Hanna’s grudging admiration. Hanna didn’t have that kind of stamina. He was stout, stiff, and, at age sixty-three, in dubious health.
In Buffalo, Roosevelt and Hanna went for a brief walk along an empty street to take each other’s measure. Hanna still called Roosevelt Teddy, knowing he disliked the nickname. Roosevelt called Hanna Old Man. Each had the power to check the other’s ambitions and neither could be certain who would prevail.
On Monday,7 September 16, a special train provided by the Pennsylvania Railroad left Buffalo for the capital. McKinley’s body lay in a glass observation car for the twelve-hour journey. Also aboard were Roosevelt, the cabinet he had just inherited, McKinley’s family and intimate friends, and the press. The train traveled on tracks cleared of traffic, past station platforms crowded with people who came to mourn McKinley and glimpse his replacement. An anxious, bewildering sorrow pervaded.
President Roosevelt conferring with Senator Hanna in Buffalo
Roosevelt could not remain silent among those men. At the suggestion of8 Herman Henry Kohlsaat—a businessman, publisher of the Chicago Evening Post, and presidential confidant—Roosevelt invited Hanna to share a meal. “That damn cowboy wants me to take supper with him, alone,” Hanna grumbled. Of course he accepted.
Roosevelt reassured Hanna that he wanted the senator’s support and would seek his counsel in the coming months. The senator promised to back the new president as long as he carried out the old policies. In Buffalo, Hanna had warned that he wouldn’t necessarily support Roosevelt’s nomination in 1904. This time he was even more blunt: “Do not think anything about a second term.” Roosevelt didn’t reply.
Hanna returned to his seat feeling relieved. “He’s a pretty good little cuss, after all!”
When the train stopped in Harrisburg, Pennsylvania, Kohlsaat jumped out to scan the evening papers and gauge the mood of the country, which to him meant the financial community. Wall Street’s leaders and followers were placated, he happily reported. An unchanged cabinet with unchanged priorities seemed a sufficient guarantee of stability. “The tremendous responsibility9 of his new position will have a quieting effect on him,” one broker commented. “Mr. Roosevelt10 is a safe man, and there is no reason to fear anything that would happen under him as President,” said a banker.
Morgan hadn’t even mentioned Roosevelt: “President McKinley11 was a much beloved man, and his death is a great sorrow to the nation. While it was a great shock to all, I do not think business interests will be affected. Our Government is sound and prepared for great emergencies.”
Roosevelt’s train hurtled on toward Washington. “I don’t care a damn12 about stocks and bonds,” he told Kohlsaat, “but I don’t want to see them go down the first day I am President!”
A military escort positioned McKinley’s casket in the center of the Capitol rotunda, draped in an American flag, surrounded by wreaths, roses, and crosses. The funeral began at eleven on Tuesday morning. For an hour before, the official mourners, some seven hundred, filed slowly in and filled the chairs circling the casket. Morgan walked13 among former administration officials. Roosevelt took his place with the cabinet, close to McKinley’s body. He struggled to remain composed as he spoke. His voice faltered, and once or twice he brought his handkerchief to his eyes. Hanna sat alone with his grief, silent, his face bowed in his hands. Ida McKinley was inconsolable and didn’t attend.
That evening Roosevelt, Hanna, the cabinet, and the family traveled to McKinley’s home in Canton, Ohio. His body was interred in a simple vault in a local cemetery. Hanna immediately14 began to raise the six hundred thousand dollars he deemed necessary to build a proper memorial.
The train returned15 to the nation’s capital at 9:26 Friday morning, September 20, 1901. Police held back the small crowd waiting at the station as Roosevelt, compact and bristling with energy, bowed and hurried to his carriage. Fifteen minutes later, he arrived at 1600 Pennsylvania Avenue. There was no ceremony, no formalities, no callers to greet him. As Roosevelt crossed the portico, a guard swung open the front door, and the president strode in.
He greeted the staff, rode the elevator to the second floor, entered his private office, and began dictating responses to the hundreds of messages offering congratulations, hope, advice, admonishment. At eleven sharp, he took a seat at the head of a long wooden table and called for his first full cabinet meeting.
“It’s a dreadful thing16 to come into the presidency this way,” he wrote to a friend, “but it would be a far worse thing to be morbid about it.”
By the turn of the century, the domination of the West was complete. For more than a hundred years, the government of the United States had gobbled up the continent piece by piece, through war, through treaties brokered and broken, and through the violent enclosure of ranges that once sustained native nations. The frontier had been marketed to the American poor and rootless with promises of escape, reinvention, independence, vast resources, land for grabs. Now it was closed.
America’s restless ambitions became mechanized and manufactured, pushing and pulling people from their farms and towns into factories, into cities, into a faster, sometimes freer, largely more codified life. With automobiles coming onto the streets, and electric lights and telephones being installed in homes, the American standard of living was improving. But many were also confused, uprooted, and surrounded by the unfamiliar. There were more roads and rail lines, more people and buildings, bigger farms, bigger corporations, bigger cities.
For those who stayed in place, the new rules and rhythms seemed determined by distant and abstract forces: technology controlled by private corporations, capital controlled by Wall Street, wages and prices controlled by industrialists. Those who left for the factories joined an industrial world where their productivity was measured and their safety often disregarded. If they were cheated or hurt, their options for recourse were scant. Almost half a million17 immigrants arrived in 1901, drawn by dreams of freedom and a better life, but they were unprotected, crowded into unhealthy tenements and some of the most unreliable jobs. The backlash against Reconstruction in the South—and pervasive racism throughout the country—meant many African Americans struggled to rise out of poverty with the promise of a fair deal unfulfilled. Women could work on the production lines, or in the sweatshops, but they earned considerably less than men, and most still couldn’t vote.
New York was the wealthiest city in the country and becoming wealthier by the year. Between 1895 and 1900,18 ten families with fortunes from mining and manufacturing in the West and Midwest moved east. Together they were worth tens, maybe hundreds, of millions of dollars. Among them was William Clark, a senator and copper magnate from Montana, who was constructing a one hundred and twenty-one room home on Fifth Avenue. It included four art galleries, a swimming pool, and an underground rail line to supply heating coal. When Clark came across a bronze foundry whose work he liked, he bought it. Elsewhere on the avenue, descendants of the railroad tycoon Cornelius Vanderbilt lived in a row of mansions; they called one the Petit Château. Mrs. Astor’s new residence featured a ballroom big enough for more than a thousand guests.
The figures were staggering. But these industrialists accumulated their wealth in ways most Americans could understand. They dug up something. They discovered something. They built something. The financiers backing the industrialists, as Americans were just learning, found their riches in the flow of money itself. They lent and borrowed capital, collected fees and commissions, created stocks, sometimes inflated, to sell to eager small-time investors. They helped concentrate the economy. Few people could avoid everyday encounters with monopolies: the companies that traded in oil, salt, meat, whiskey, starch, coal, tin, copper, lead, oil cloth, rope, school slate, envelopes, and paper bags were pooled, combined, controlled.
Morgan was the most influential of these businessmen. He wasn’t the richest—by most counts John D. Rockefeller and Andrew Carnegie were—but that didn’t matter; he was commanding in a way none could match. Wherever he sat became the head of the table. He was comfortable in his dominion, though never with his fame. He had an aristocrat’s disdain for public sentiment and the conviction that his actions were to the country’s advantage, no explanations necessary.
Roosevelt thought big business was not only inevitable but essential. He also believed it had to be accountable to the public, and Roosevelt considered himself to be the public. Each presumed he could use his authority to determine the nation’s course. Each expected deference from the other along the way.
Morgan and Roosevelt both knew privilege and loss, though they would have balked if anyone had pointed out their similarities. They were a generation apart, but that wasn’t the only explanation for the essential differences in how they perceived their shared experiences.
Morgan in his sixties was physically intimidating: he had become a large man, with a square chin, thick chest and sturdy legs. Meeting his blazing19 dark eyes was like confronting the headlights of an express train bearing down on you, the photographer Edward Steichen said after shooting his portrait. But Morgan’s defining feature was his diseased, bulging purple nose. He called it “part of the20 American business structure.”
Portrait by Edward Steichen
Roosevelt was young and kinetic, a moralist and opportunist. He had a fighter’s instinct for keeping opponents off balance and a showman’s sense of drama. When he came to power, the possibility of social unrest seemed close. “The storm is on us,”21 said a friend of both the president and the financier. Morgan didn’t sense the energy and anger swelling up. Roosevelt grabbed it and tamed it. “I am not advocating22 anything very revolutionary,” he said. “I am advocating action to prevent anything revolutionary.” Morgan couldn’t see that.
The president aimed to guarantee that, as America’s prosperity took hold, the laws applied to the country’s elite and its poor alike—to its agitated laborers, and its heralded capitalists. He wanted to assert the primacy of government over business. The financier thought that was needless, even dangerous: The country’s strength accrued from capital, trade, economic efficiency. These were the provinces of businessmen, and Morgan their unofficial ruler. He required order and stability, along with political predictability, to assure America’s growth and ascent to global power. To Morgan, the giant railroad and steel companies he was constructing would allow the country to compete in the world market and its citizens to benefit. The pace and scale of these operations shouldn’t be cause for worry or resentment, and certainly not regulation.
“I am afraid23 of Mr. Roosevelt because I don’t know what he’ll do,” Morgan reportedly said. “He’s afraid of me because he does know what I’ll do,” Roosevelt replied.
Roosevelt and Morgan were bound for conflict. Roosevelt took office in the autumn, and before spring had arrived, he began the fight against corporate power that would mark the seasons of his presidency, though not always as he expected. By the next winter, he would be forced to turn to Morgan to help resolve a coal strike that could have brought despair to millions. Roosevelt defended the public interest; Morgan, the coal barons’. Roosevelt was a new kind of president. He believed American capitalism needed a guiding hand. So did Morgan. Each assumed it should be his own.
At the end of September,24 Morgan, two bishops, and several clergymen left New York aboard a private six-car train for a convention of the Episcopal Church in San Francisco. Morgan was a lay delegate and generous funder. Less than two weeks prior, a train carrying two presidents—one deceased, the other very much alive—had been granted absolute right of way on vacated tracks. Now Morgan would receive the same treatment. Other trains were shunted aside to allow him to speed across the continent in just four days, a record run. From the depot the travelers took a ferry across the Bay. Morgan and Bishop Henry Potter of New York took in the view, better enjoyed, they thought, with cigars. A deckhand apparently reminded them smoking wasn’t allowed on board, and they blithely ignored him. Morgan had arranged to stay with his guests at a three-story mansion built by a railroad magnate atop a windy hill. Louis Sherry, Morgan’s favorite New York caterer, was already there with French chefs and waiters.
From San Francisco, Morgan traveled up the coast to Oregon with intentions that were entirely less ecclesiastical in nature. In fact, his purpose had everything to do with those secret documents that had been delivered to his hands the very day that McKinley was shot. Now Morgan was bent on inspecting two properties, the Great Northern and Northern Pacific railroad lines, that were central to his plans to create his next great company. The financial world he so dominated suspected he was ready to strike again.
“All Wall Street25 was on tip-toe” in October, waiting for their Jupiter to return.
Before the Jupiter of Roman myth could become king of the sky and thunder, he had to overthrow his father in a mighty battle. Not so for the Jupiter of Wall Street. Morgan had trusted his father to set him on the right path and steer his career, and even when his father was overbearing, Morgan never mounted a challenge. The creator of the biggest companies the world had ever known was, himself, very much the creation of paternal influence. The young Morgan, once established, proved instinctively suited to the times in which he lived. It was an era of raucous, unfettered competition: chaotic capitalism that he would try to order.
John Pierpont Morgan1 was born in April 1837 into a wealthy family and inherited his father’s European connections and tastes, along with part of his fortune. He grew up in the river town of Hartford, Connecticut, a thriving center of trade and, by necessity, insurance.2 John preferred to be called Pierpont, though schoolmates nicknamed him Pip. As the eldest of five and the only son to live past childhood, he was also entitled to a lifetime of moral education and cautionary advice from his father, Junius, and continual redirection when he strayed. His mother, Juliet, was troubled by depression and lived at a sullen remove from the family. She once scolded Pierpont for writing home too often.
Pierpont suffered physically as a child. For months before and after his first birthday he was so frequently overcome by convulsions that his parents feared he might not survive. In adolescence, he missed school because of sore throats, headaches, earaches, boils on his face, and ulcerated sores on his lips. When Pierpont was fifteen, his father sent him to the Portuguese Azores, hoping the warm climate would cure his rheumatic fever. He stayed there, with only a family friend and a doctor to check on him, for four months.
Junius moved Pierpont into and out of boarding and public schools—transferring him nine times in thirteen years—without explanation. Pierpont didn’t complain. He was an indifferent student in most subjects other than math: “full of animal life3 and spirits … and not renowned as a scholar,” one classmate later described him. Pierpont sought order in the only ways he could. He collected and organized,4 first stamps and autographs of Episcopal bishops and then his own accounts. When he traveled, he noted the latitude of his destination and the time of his arrival, and wherever he was he kept a leather-bound journal of daily expenses: paper and postage,5 ice cream and strawberries, beaver hats, silk gloves, buggy rides, opera tickets.
In 1854, the family moved to London after Junius accepted a partnership in the British office of the premier American private bank, run by George Peabody, to help direct European capital to the United States. Junius would one day take over, and he hoped Pierpont would do so after him: a Morgan dynasty.
Pierpont was seventeen. He had graduated from the English High School of Boston, which specialized in math, and was eager to begin his career. But Junius wanted him to learn French and German and enrolled him at a school near Lake Geneva. Pierpont considered the accommodations too sparse and the studies uninteresting. “Adapts himself6 very slowly … Answers back … sulky,” the headmaster wrote of the new student. Outside the classroom, he was happier. He enjoyed the camaraderie of the other American students and soon made himself their unofficial leader. If they went on an expedition, he planned it; if they hosted a party, he arranged it. Taking charge would become a lifetime impulse—one, though, that Pierpont would have to curb around his father for years.
At the University of Göttingen, where Junius sent him next, Pierpont was such an exceptional math student that his professor thought he could one day join the academy. Neither Morgan considered that a suitable career path.
In 1857, Junius arranged a first job for Pierpont, as an unpaid clerk at a New York investment firm linked to his. It specialized in financing the railroads eager builders were haphazardly laying across America. The industry was all raw hustle. Lines overlapped each other or ran parallel, creating a tangle of tracks of different widths and trains running on different time clocks. Operators constructed as much as they could afford and then stopped, requiring passengers to regularly switch cars to complete their trips. When Abraham Lincoln7 traveled from Springfield, Illinois, to New York in 1860, he had to change trains four times (and take two ferries) over the course of four days.
Pierpont moved into the city’s most fashionable neighborhood, around Union Square, and lived comfortably on the two hundred dollars his father sent every month. In exchange, Junius expected Pierpont to ignore the chance to make a quick profit in the stock market. But there were many chances. When Pierpont bought shares in a steamship company benefiting from a large government subsidy to carry mail, Junius disapproved. “Bring your mind8 quietly down to the regular details of business,” he advised. Pierpont was to become a banker beyond reproach, trusted to handle other people’s money and not speculate with his own. “Never under any circumstances do an act which could be called in question if known to the whole world,” Junius wrote. Integrity would give the Morgans a competitive edge in America.
After Pierpont served as an apprentice for two years, Junius decided his son should resign. The firm’s partners praised their clerk’s “untiring industry,”9 and suggested he would be even more successful if he approached colleagues with “suavity and gentle bearing” instead of impatience. Pierpont, recipient of regular job evaluations from his father, graciously accepted this one.
He may also have been distracted. He had fallen for Amelia Sturges, known as Memie, a bright, well-read, high-spirited member of his social circle. They planned a rendezvous in Europe that autumn. On their way home, Pierpont moped when the ship’s captain seemed to take an interest in Memie. “One of my friends very blue all day. Disappeared from dinner very suddenly,” she wrote in her diary. “No cry10 of Man Overboard so concluded he was all right.” They were engaged in August 1860.
That November, Abraham Lincoln was elected president, and within half a year, the North and the South were at war. But Pierpont was happily preoccupied by Memie and the autumn wedding they were planning. He didn’t even mind that Junius hadn’t found the right firm for him yet. He tried some freelance work instead, helping to finance a controversial deal11 to supply the ill-prepared Union Army with five thousand Hall carbines, refurbished rifles left over at the end of the Mexican-American War in 1848. Pierpont didn’t see the sale through but earned a generous commission for his efforts. A congressional committee called the entire transaction profiteering. The Supreme Court didn’t. It ruled the government had to pay as promised, twenty-two dollars for each altered rifle originally priced at $3.50.
More troubling for Pierpont, Memie had taken ill with a severe, lingering cough. A week before the wedding, she was still unwell, vomiting and sleeping badly. She looked so thin that she decided to keep a veil over her face during the entire marriage ceremony. It took place in her parents’ Manhattan home at ten in the morning on October 7, 1861, in front of a small group of friends and family. Two days later, the newlyweds left New York for a European honeymoon.
The couple consulted specialists in Paris, who determined Memie had tuberculosis: cause unknown, cure undiscovered. Pierpont didn’t share the diagnosis with Memie, only the doctors’ recommendations, which included rest and warm air as well as turpentine pellets, cod liver oil, and donkey’s milk. Nothing helped. Not the roses and geraniums he brought or the apples he roasted, not the nightingales and canaries that sang in their hotel room. By December, Memie was too weak to stand. Pierpont asked his mother-in-law to cross the Atlantic as soon as she could and meet them in Nice. Memie’s father had come to regard Pierpont as a hypochondriac and thought he might be exaggerating the danger of her condition, but he sent Memie’s mother and brother over in January.
After they arrived, Pierpont relented to pressure from Junius and traveled to London to discuss business. By the time he could wrest himself away ten days later, Memie was much worse. She threw her arms around him when he arrived at her bedside, and just that took all her energy. Pierpont stayed close to her throughout the day. At eight thirty the next morning, he was called from his bedroom to hers. She died moments later. They had been married four months.
Back in New York, Pierpont formed a business partnership with his cousin and hoped “constant occupation”12 would keep him from dwelling on his grief. His loss hung on him, and so did his regret. No one blamed Pierpont for failing to save Memie—except for Pierpont himself. His gaze intensified, his hazel eyes seemed to darken, and his constitution weakened again. In the days following her funeral that spring, sores appeared all over his body, a mild form of smallpox, and once he recovered, headaches would sometimes overcome him. Throughout those months, and for many afterward, Pierpont stayed in touch with Memie’s parents and held on to her Bible. He acquired13 his first oil painting, of a fragile young woman, and hung it over the mantel in his library. He read poetry about lost love.
Morgan back in New York after the death of his wife, Amelia Sturges Morgan, 1862
The Civil War provided opportunities to trade foreign exchange and new government bonds, and, eventually, offer railroad financing. But Pierpont exhausted himself and suffered new breakdowns of his nerves and body. “I am never14 satisfied until I either do everything myself or personally supervise every thing done even to an entry in the books,” he wrote to his father in September 1862. Those periods of helplessness were also the only times when the pressure from Junius let up, and Pierpont was forced to relax his own exacting standards. His vigor returned by the next summer, and on behalf of his father’s firm and his own, he was issuing short-term loans, brokering securities, and financing commodity trades. That year, he, like many men of means, paid a substitute three hundred dollars to take his place in the army. He went on to earn fifty-eight thousand dollars from his firm. Lincoln’s salary15 that year was twenty-five thousand dollars.
Pierpont supplemented his salary by manipulating the market for gold. He and a friend created an artificial shortage by shipping gold they had bought on credit to London. When prices in America went up, they sold, and each took a profit of sixty-six thousand dollars. Other Wall Street brokers admired the scheme. Junius was furious, believing Pierpont had been reckless and greedy and had violated the Morgan code of conduct. Junius at first threatened to cut professional ties, then decided instead to arrange for a senior partner to join his son in New York. For much of the next two decades, Pierpont would have to be the junior.
In March 1865, as the world watched the war draw down, Pierpont proposed to Frances Louisa Tracy. She was twenty-two; he was close to twenty-eight. They lived in the same neighborhood, worshipped at the same Episcopal church, occupied equally comfortable positions in Manhattan’s social hierarchy. Fanny, as she was called, enjoyed attending the opera and concerts with him, and he enjoyed the idea of being married again. The nation was still in mourning for the slain President Lincoln when, on May 31, Pierpont and Fanny wed at St. George’s Church. She gave birth to their first child, Louisa, nine months and ten days later.
They had three more children over the next seven years: John Pierpont Jr. (who always went by Jack), Juliet, and Anne. Fanny, too, could be overwhelmed by melancholy, but while Pierpont craved work and social distractions, she needed quiet. She wanted to move to the suburbs of New Jersey. He told her he couldn’t survive there. Eventually, they began to create separate lives for themselves in different homes, cities, sometimes continents.
By 1871, a new national optimism had taken hold, a confidence in an expanding economy of steel and oil and electric power, of perseverance and luck. It was a time that Mark Twain would soon call the Gilded Age. Americans paid16 to hear a lecture titled “The Aristocracy of the Dollar,” and Walt Whitman was paid one hundred dollars17 to compose “Song of the Exposition” in celebration of the country’s industrial strength. John Sherman, a Republican senator from Ohio, wrote to his brother, General William Tecumseh Sherman, of how the wealthy “talk of millions18 as confidently as formerly of thousands.” With the massively popular serialized novel Ragged Dick, Horatio Alger’s fictions of social mobility made it seem as if anyone who worked hard enough could elevate themselves. Personal thrift for some; stock market speculation for others.
Pierpont grew weary amid this thronging hopefulness. He was so strained by his dealmaking and worn out by his perfectionism that he wanted to retire at age thirty-three. His father refused to let him. Instead, Junius allowed Pierpont to take his family to Europe for a year.
When he returned, Pierpont started a new partnership with Anthony Drexel, head of a prominent Philadelphia banking family. Drexel, who was twelve years older than Pierpont, had a reputation sound enough to satisfy Junius. Drexel’s name came first at the firm, and Junius still held sway, but Pierpont was permitted to manage the New York office. He had more authority than he was used to, which allowed him to reveal his vaulting ambition. But Drexel, Morgan & Company it was for the next two decades, until Drexel died and Morgan renamed the firm.
Drexel set Morgan up nicely. He paid19 more than nine hundred thousand dollars, in gold, for several lots on Wall Street. Number 23 sat at the intersection with Broad Street across from the New York Stock Exchange, and when Drexel purchased the land in 1872, no comparable property in any city in the world had been sold for more. The six-story building was known simply as “the Corner.” It was constructed with white Vermont marble, a grand mansard roof, and statues representing Europe and America above the main entrance. Its interior was finished in black walnut and mahogany, with marble floors, steam heat, and, after Morgan financed Edison’s electric company, six hundred lightbulbs. It was among the first buildings to be illuminated entirely by electricity. The firm rented out office space on the upper floors, and several railroad companies relocated their headquarters to take up residence there.
Morgan’s days came to be consumed by the railroads: a sprawling, overextended, indebted industry that was growing with careless speed and changing everything it touched. It absorbed20 more money, mostly from European investors, than any enterprise before and more natural resources than any other in America. Some 170 million21 acres of the country’s public land would become the private property of the railroads, given, not sold, to them. Lincoln hoped transcontinental railroads would be a nation-building project after the Civil War. For every mile22 of track laid, the government awarded companies 12,800 acres, along with a bonus: any coal or iron underground.
The J. P. Morgan Building, 23 Wall Street, circa 1905
Railroads relied on the labor of Chinese immigrants in the West and Irish, Italian, and Greek immigrants in the East. They first brought Scandinavian immigrants to the Midwest, then Eastern Europeans. The cars carried citrus, timber, cotton, grain, gas, pigs, cattle, mail, and mail order catalogs across the country. They advocated for public schools to create a ready supply of clerks. Their need for precise train schedules helped standardize time itself.
Railroads altered the geography of opportunity. Their lines determined which towns became impoverished and which prospered. Billings, Cheyenne, Tacoma, Reno: these were not23 places that would have otherwise attracted populations of any size. The companies’ shipping rates, adjusted as owners saw fit, influenced the economics of small and big businesses. They handed out24 free passes to the politicians they hoped to sway. The railroads had a greater impact on people’s well-being than the government, and though Americans might not have liked that feeling of dependence, they had to live with it.
The possibilities for making a name and a fortune were so extravagant and, initially, the oversight so minimal that railroads naturally attracted uninformed investors and unscrupulous brokers to take advantage of them. They sold overpriced stocks and bonds to build lines with little prospect of success. Owners bribed politicians, bought off journalists, pushed aside Native American tribes, and dismissed environmental concerns as a matter of business.
Safety precautions were especially lax. Tens of thousands25 of railroad employees died or ended up mangled every year. “It was taken26 as a matter of course that the men must of necessity be maimed and killed,” wrote one railroad commissioner hoping to improve that record. Many of the railroads were built cheaply. Repairs weren’t timely. Lines ran in both directions on single tracks with rudimentary signal systems. Men had to climb on top of freight cars traveling 20 miles an hour to activate the hand brakes. Then they had to jump to the next car to do it again. If the train lurched, they could tumble to the ground. A low overhead bridge could knock them out. Men linked or unlinked cars by maneuvering in between, and inevitably some fell underneath.
In Winona,27 Minnesota, one day in February 1873, E. Campbell, the engineer on a passenger train, didn’t sound the alarm or apply the brakes when he saw a freight train on the tracks. The trains collided and both engines were smashed. Campbell jumped off in time. But J. C. Reilly, the baggage master, was badly burned when he fell onto the stove.
Construction of St. Paul, Minneapolis & Manitoba Railway, which became the Great Northern Railway, a key component of J. P. Morgan’s planned railroad empire
Conductor Arthur Lindsley28 lost his right arm after he was run over by a freight train at Janesville, Wisconsin, in April of the same year. Fireman R. Brown29 was killed in an accident at Vincent Station, Ohio, in July. In November, an employee named Amandas Hagerty30 was bent over the track repairing a switch at the Mauch Chunk station in Pennsylvania on a Wednesday afternoon. Maybe he heard the No. 4 passenger train backing in. Maybe he didn’t. But he didn’t have time to escape. Two wheels severed his body, and he died immediately.
The mere fact of working on the railroads shortened a man’s life expectancy. But if a brakeman or switchman or fireman proved himself and managed to avoid injury, he figured his job was secure.
Then, in 1873, one of the Morgans’ most prominent American rivals, Jay Cooke and Company, went bankrupt. Cooke, who had assembled his own army of agents to sell government bonds across the Union, was known as the financier of the Civil War. Afterward, he turned his considerable talents for promotion to the railroads. He would finance the construction of the Northern Pacific Railroad, meant to traverse the sparse, frigid lands of Minnesota, North Dakota, Montana, Idaho, and Washington. Cooke promised a temperate climate, tropical vegetation, and a broad fertile belt “within the parallels31 of latitude which in Europe, Asia, and America embrace the most enlightened, creative, conquering, and progressive populations.” Instead, the land through which the Northern Pacific would pass was disparagingly called “Jay Cooke’s banana belt.” When wheat prices fell and farmers failed, trouble followed for Cooke. He couldn’t find enough buyers for one hundred million dollars’ worth of bonds. His firm went under, and the shock set off a series of bank failures that caused a panic on Wall Street and shut down the stock exchange for ten days.
Banks collapsed. Businesses failed. People lost their savings and their homes. By 1876, an uncounted number of adults were unemployed and underemployed, and tens of thousands roamed the country looking for food and work, sleeping in police stations when they could. The railroad men’s expectation of lifetime positions was revealed as empty hope. Some tried to leave the country. Two hundred or so32 accepted work building a railroad in Brazil. After their ship sank off the coast of North Carolina, hundreds of other desperate men applied for the jobs.
The Long Depression ground on for six years, contributing to an international financial crisis. European investors lost six hundred million dollars in American railroad stocks. It was a scare for the Morgans. Pierpont’s health faltered; he stopped exercising. Friction in the office sank him lower. Amid the dreariness, he tried again to retire in 1876, and, failing to secure permission from his father, left for a summer abroad that lasted until the following spring.
In July 1877, firemen and brakemen in Martinsburg, West Virginia, walked off the job in a spontaneous protest against the second wage cut in a year by the Baltimore & Ohio. Railway workers across the country joined them, stopping train traffic in Baltimore, Philadelphia, Pittsburgh, Chicago. They took control of switches, uncoupled rail cars, blocked trains, and set fire to railway buildings and bridges. Breweries and flour mills idled in St. Louis. Banks closed. Bridges burned.
In Pennsylvania, anthracite coal miners stopped digging. The railroads oversaw the mines and transported the coal. “Bread is33 what we are after and, sir, we have not had enough to keep our families from suffering say for nearly two years, and it is written that man should not live by bread alone,” one miner told the governor after being granted an interview in his private rail car—an unusual gesture of conciliation. But to no avail. Coal fields flooded and steel mills shut down.
Executives called on state officials for help. “There are two34 military companies at Martinsburg, armed and supplied with ammunition,” the governor of West Virginia replied to a Baltimore & Ohio vice president. But the local militia sympathized with the strikers. The governor called for federal intervention. “Please send in35 addition 100 men and two pieces of artillery,” he said in a telegram to the secretary of war.
The military campaign against Native Americans out west had sapped the Army’s coffers. Pierpont—whose firm36 held almost a million dollars of the Baltimore & Ohio’s short-term debt, while his father’s firm held another four million—offered to lend the federal government money to pay Army officers. The military moved into the cities, subdued the streets, and took control of the railroads and mines.
Pierpont assessed the credit risk. The Baltimore & Ohio’s losses required it to take on longer-term debt, which he knew would be a hard sell. Instead, he and Junius organized a banking syndicate to buy and hold the railroad’s bonds until circumstances changed. “Affairs for a time37 looked very critical and gave me much anxiety for many days and nights,” Pierpont told one of his father’s partners that August. It took years to sell all the bonds.
More than one hundred thousand workers around the country protested that summer of 1877. One hundred were killed and a thousand jailed. The public called it a rebellion; the government called it a riot. Later, it came to be known as the Great Upheaval.
In November, the country’s business and political elite set aside any lingering worries and came together at Delmonico’s Restaurant on Fifth Avenue to commend Junius for upholding the nation’s credit and “honor in the38 commercial capital of the world.” That capital was still London. The Morgans had become trusted advisers on both sides of the Atlantic, just as Junius had wanted. “A kind Providence39 has been very bountiful to us,” Junius said. “And under this guidance, the future is in our own hands.”
By the 1880s, business was humming again. The railroads comprised40 80 percent of the listings on the New York Stock Exchange, brought in revenue about two times as great as the federal government’s, and added an average of seven thousand miles of track each year. They couldn’t all survive. But in their construction, promotion, and dissolution, they provided possibilities of all kinds. When William Vanderbilt wanted to secretly sell shares in the railroad his father, Cornelius, had built, Pierpont helped. Vanderbilt’s nearly exclusive ownership of the New York Central was becoming a liability, likely to provoke either new restrictions or taxes. He wanted to avoid both. Pierpont persuaded the British investors he and his father had cultivated to buy the shares and give him the voting power, which meant he could take a seat on the company’s board. He made half a million dollars in the process.
Pierpont’s firm41 had also made a killing easing the Long Island Railroad into and out of bankruptcy. His most conspicuous deal involved helping sell forty million dollars’ worth of Northern Pacific bonds in November 1880 so the company could lay down the final sixteen hundred miles of track required to reach the Pacific. It was the largest railroad bond offering in the country to date. Before the Panic of 1873, Jay Cooke’s aggressive salesmanship on behalf of the Northern Pacific had helped inflate the railroad bubble in the first place. Now Pierpont was reaping the rewards. The Northern Pacific would become pivotal to his ambitions—and his conflict with Roosevelt.
New York thrived too. Plans were set for the city’s most expansive apartment cooperative, a twelve-story redbrick Victorian Gothic pile on West Twenty-Third Street, with the top floor given over to artists’ studios. It would be the tallest building in the city. (Later, it would become the Chelsea Hotel.) The Brooklyn Bridge was almost complete after more than a decade under construction. Luxury department stores opened on Broadway, and carriages lined the streets of Ladies’ Mile.
Morgan’s share of his firm’s profits was eight hundred thousand dollars in 1880 and nearly one million the year after. He acquired his own notable address at 219 Madison Avenue, in a neighborhood where he already knew everyone. The brownstone was renovated to his uncompromising requirements: walnut doors at a new entrance on Thirty-Sixth Street; a stained-glass dome and stained-glass sliding panels opening onto the front hall; twin white oak staircases; a two-story safe in the butler’s pantry. The mansion was the first private residence to rely completely on Edison’s lights. Morgan installed a private telegraph wire connecting the house to 23 Wall Street. The telegraph was meant for business but proved useful at other times, including when he accidentally42 locked the family’s French poodle in the wine cellar and carried off the key.
The drawing room took up the entire west side of the house, with a ceiling painted to look like a mosaic. The library was decorated with octagonal panels of allegorical figures representing History and Poetry, painted by Christian Herter, the premier interior designer of the time. On the shelves43 were Robert Burton’s Anatomy of Melancholy from 1621, a copy of the John Eliot Indian Bible from 1663, sixty-six volumes on Napoleon and His Generals, and hundreds of other leather-bound treasures. Morgan wanted the best of everything—“Nothing but masterpieces,”44 a friend said. “And he can afford to have them.”
That year, Morgan also purchased his first yacht, Corsair. It was a 185-foot black-hulled steamer, the largest and most technically sophisticated in the country. His close friends began to call themselves the Corsair Club and Morgan himself the Commodore. During summer weekends, he would steam up the Hudson to Cragston, the country estate near West Point where his family lived in the hot months. There he maintained kennels for his show dogs, collies mostly; he liked to give their puppies as gifts, but only to those he held in the highest regard. On Sunday evenings45 he and his guests slept aboard the yacht so they could get under way at daybreak. By the time they arrived on the New Jersey side of the Hudson, a hearty breakfast was ready. As they finished, around nine, a launch pulled up alongside Corsair and everyone went ashore. Morgan’s carriage waited to take him to 23 Wall Street.
J. P. Morgan's home, 219 Madison Avenue, before 1903
He worked on the ground floor, in an office with glass walls, at a large desk, plain and businesslike. He kept the door open. Sometimes he could be seen swinging in his pivot chair, if anybody dared look. He usually had a long cigar, banded in gold, often unlit in his mouth or in his left hand. His Chesterfield topcoat and silver-tipped mahogany walking stick were set aside. Mr. Morgan, as everyone called him, attended to matters large and small: the daily flow of cash and accumulation of debt, the stream of potential dealmakers and advice seekers. He would concentrate intensely, maybe for a few moments, maybe for more, then arrive at a decision, dispatch instructions, and move on. That focus was his genius, but it was the genius of a monarch not a democrat. It kept him isolated, made him severe, and sometimes left him exhausted. Morgan said he could do a year’s work in nine months, but not twelve. His impatience could be withering. When a church organist gathered the nerve to ask a favor, Morgan gave him a minute. “I’m struggling to …”46 the man stammered. “So am I,” Morgan supposedly replied. “Keep struggling. Good day.” Then he walked back to his desk.
J. P. Morgan, circa 1902
Morgan became more than a banker in the 1880s. His transformation wasn’t gradual, it was absolute, and it happened in a day. Morgan worried that European railroad investors were wearying of American imprudence, of accounting fictions and expensive rivalries that wasted their money. He made up his mind to remedy some “sore spots”47 in the industry. One of them ran right past his summer home. The West Shore line had been built to compete with the New York Central, operating parallel to it from New York City to Buffalo on tracks close enough to be visible. There wasn’t enough freight traffic for two lines, though, so each reduced rates until the West Shore was insolvent and the Central was heading that way.
Morgan devised a plan48 whose legality might have made others hesitate, but he was willing to take the risk. He invited the railroad executives onto Corsair and didn’t let them off until they came to an agreement to end their hostilities. If they didn’t, they wouldn’t get any more money from him. They ate a lovely lunch and smoked cigars as they sailed to Sandy Hook, New Jersey, then up the Hudson to West Point, where they could view the military academy high on the bluffs, and back again. “You must come into this thing now,” Morgan said to the lone holdout, and then said little else. By day’s end they had a deal. The Central would buy the West Shore out of bankruptcy. In exchange, the West Shore owners could buy from the Central’s owners a line in Pennsylvania to combine with the one they already operated there. Because such a monopoly was unlawful in Pennsylvania, Morgan would step in as a proxy buyer.
That didn’t fool everyone. The Pennsylvania Supreme Court eventually ruled against the merger, but by then the rivalries between the railroads and the men had dissipated. Each had been able to raise their rates, and their stock prices and dividends soon followed. Only their customers paid.
Morgan continued to apply his remedies, and to be strained by his work. As he reached age fifty, even his father warned him to slow down and stop responding so intensely to every entreaty, however desperate. (“Let the49 ‘small fry’ go to some other Doctor,” Junius said.) But the business community had come to believe that Morgan was indispensable. He was seen as the one man who could convince antagonists to cooperate. Even though they didn’t always heed him, he would continue trying throughout the next decade. Morgan sought money and its rewards—the homes, the yacht, the art—but as America’s economy expanded, he sought something bigger and more fundamental, too. He wanted to rationalize the free-for-all of capitalism—to make it orderly and concentrated, directed from above by the powerful men who, he was certain, knew best.
Theodore Roosevelt was1 born a Knickerbocker, a descendant of Dutch immigrants his family called settlers, a member of New York’s aristocracy two hundred years in the making. By 1858, the Roosevelts owned an import business, acres of Manhattan real estate, a stake in a railroad, and a founding share of a bank. Their New York was privileged and pedigreed. It was calling cards and private clubs, opera, midnight dances, and summers in the country. It was morality and obligation. It was becoming Morgan’s New York, too. When he first arrived in the city, he lived just blocks from the Roosevelts, and as he claimed his position among the men of means, he would encounter Theodore’s father, the senior, in all the right places. In the years to come, they would help found the American Museum of Natural History—the charter was approved in the Roosevelts’ front parlor—and the Metropolitan Museum of Art.
Morgan never ventured into the other New York—the city of tumult, crammed tenements, shared outdoor latrines, slaughterhouses, and cigar factories. Theodore’s father approached it with what one friend called “maniacal benevolence.”2 He was essential to the creation of an orthopedic hospital to treat children with spinal disease; an organization to help homeless children, whose numbers likely exceeded twenty thousand; and a lodging house for several hundred boys, many of whom worked selling newspapers. He spent every Sunday with them.
Theodore learned about a Roosevelt’s responsibilities from his father, sometimes joining him on those Sundays. He wanted to be like his father, a man of consequence. Only after his father was gone did Theodore understand that he wanted to do even more. He wanted to govern.
Theodore Roosevelt was raised in a brownstone on East Twentieth Street with his younger brother, Elliott, and his sisters, Anna (nicknamed Bamie) and Corinne. Their mother, Martha Bulloch, had spent her childhood on a Georgia plantation with nineteen slaves, supported the Confederacy during the Civil War, pleaded with her husband not to fight in it, and, as Roosevelt later said, remained “entirely unreconstructed.”3 She was warm but could be distant, often retreating to spas—or her bedroom—to quiet her nerves.
Theodore Roosevelt Sr. was a disinterested businessman and committed philanthropist who nonetheless enjoyed his inherited wealth. He paid for a substitute to join the Union Army, and during the Draft Riots the family was summering at a New Jersey beach. The Panic of 1873 didn’t touch them directly; that was the year they moved into a grand new home on Fifty-Seventh Street. During the depression that followed, he tried a Knickerbocker form of politics, joining the Republican Reform Club to fight corruption in the civil service.
He was an exuberant presence. He romped around with his children, taught them to ride horses and take risks, and led the family on a year-long trip through Europe. He was especially attentive to his eldest daughter and son. Theodore admired his father above everyone else and dreaded disappointing him.
As a child, Theodore was frail, timid, and asthmatic—a “great little home-boy,” his older sister Bamie called him. When he struggled to breathe, his father took him on late night carriage rides in the fresh air; his mother calmed him with stories. Theodore tried steam baths, quinine with iron, ipecac, coffee, cigars. He was a worry to his family. He seemed to crave the care. Theodore was educated at home and protected beyond it by Elliott, who was sixteen months younger but strong enough and charming enough for both of them.
When he was well, Theodore collected bugs, studied birds, learned about Charles Darwin, and read wilderness tales. As he turned twelve, with his father’s urging, he began the very American act of self-creation. He lifted weights, swung on horizontal bars, bore down on a punching bag—trying, not entirely successfully, to build up his body. He boxed and wrestled with his brother. He adopted their father’s motto, “Get action.” It would eventually become an apt description of his whirling, turbulent energy. He would become a man of extreme enthusiasms and vitality. He read with near total recall, soaked up information from everyone he drew close, and then burst forth with opinions on the Byzantine Empire, the Volsunga Saga, Western irrigation, bird songs, the strenuous life. He never sat when he could stand. When provoked, he would thrust, and when he hit, he hit hard. Friends said he was steamed up, a swift and awful Chicago express, a wonder of nature.
But when Theodore entered Harvard at seventeen, he was still a scrawny, sheltered boy—and one with a snobbish sense of morality and outsized confidence. He boxed and wrestled there too, joined the exclusive Porcellian Club, served as vice president of the Natural History Society, and edited a literary magazine. Roosevelt was “forever at it,”4 a classmate said. He was a curiosity, always pushing and straining and admonishing friends around him to do the same.
Then came anguish. His father, just forty-six, fell ill with stomach cancer. Theodore returned home from Cambridge as soon as he received word but was too late. “Have had a good5 square breakdown, and feel much better for it,” he wrote in his diary in March 1878. And then a few days later: “Every now and then there are very bitter moments; if I had very much time to think I believe I should go crazy.” So he kept moving, frenetically. By summer, he regained his “very buoyant temper.”6 Corinne understood what that required: out in Oyster Bay, their Long Island home during the sweltering summer months, Theodore “loved to row7 in the hottest sun, over the roughest water, in the smallest boat.”
Back at Harvard for his junior year, Theodore relied on a trust fund8 to provide him with an annual income of eight thousand dollars, more than the university president was paid. He was wealthy and he was busy, but he wasn’t Harvard’s model man. That was his classmate Robert Bacon:9 captain of the football team, boxing champion, president of the Glee Club, and the most handsome and agreeable man on campus, according to pretty much everyone. If asked to guess which of the two would one day be President of the United States, most people would not have picked the short, scrappy New Yorker.
Theodore with Elliott, Corinne, and Edith Carow in Oyster Bay and at Harvard in his rowing outfit
Theodore hoped to graduate with distinction, but he had another preoccupation during those final years in Cambridge. He had fallen for Alice Hathaway Lee, nicknamed “Sunshine.” She was tall and athletic, and hailed from a prosperous Boston family. “I have been in love10 with her for nearly two years now; and have made everything subordinate to winning her,” he confided to a friend during his last semester on campus. He graduated in June 1880 and on October 27, his twenty-second birthday, he and Alice married. Elliott stood beside him as best man. That winter Theodore and Alice attended dinners at Mrs. Astor’s, dances, theater parties, society balls. That spring, they embarked on a five-month trip to Europe, during which Theodore worked on his first book, The Naval War of 1812. Then they settled into the Roosevelt home on Fifty-Seventh Street with his mother and sisters.
Roosevelt began to reconsider his future. He had thought he would be a lawyer like one of his uncles, but realized he didn’t want to serve corporate clients. He could have become a banker like Alice’s father, or a civic-minded businessman like his own. But he wasn’t interested in commerce, or money; the flow of currency didn’t feel like power, as it did for J. P. Morgan. Roosevelt decided instead to become a public man, representing his home district in the state assembly in Albany. He would bring his morality and energy to an institution he believed didn’t have enough of either. He expected to change society in the ways he had learned from his father, and he would need years to understand that to remedy the injustices of modern industrial life, being a Knickerbocker Roosevelt wasn’t enough.
The twenty-first, known as the silk stocking district, was the wealthiest in the state but wasn’t composed solely of the upper class. After securing11 the Republican nomination in a party caucus Roosevelt went to canvass for votes with two ward leaders. They walked into a saloon on Sixth Avenue near Fifty-Fifth Street, only blocks from his mother’s home. The owner complained that his liquor license was too expensive. When he mentioned the price, about two hundred dollars, Roosevelt said: “Well, that’s not right. I don’t think you pay enough. I thought it would be at least twice as much!” After that, one of his handlers told him to “see to the college boys and his friends on Fifth Avenue, the society folks.”12 They would take care of the other end.
The society folks—including many contemporaries of Roosevelt’s father, such as the prominent attorneys Elihu Root (later to become President McKinley’s secretary of war) and Joseph Choate—endorsed him. Roosevelt promised he “would obey no boss13 and serve no clique.” He won 3,490 votes, his opponent 1,989.
On his first day as a legislator in the state capitol, in January 1882, Roosevelt burst through the door of the gilded chambers carrying a gold-headed cane and a silk hat. “Who’s the dude?”14 asked a colleague. “What on earth15 will New York send us next?” an Albany reporter mumbled.
Roosevelt was twenty-three years old, stood five feet eight inches tall, and weighed about 140 pounds. His blond hair was slick and parted slightly off center. His mustache and sideburns were bushy. He dressed as if he were going to a Manhattan dinner party, with tight trousers that flared over his shoes. From his earliest days as a politician he wore thick gold-rimmed pince-nez that swung from a black silk cord. When he smiled, which was often, his teeth were everywhere. But it was his voice—high-pitched and percussive—combined with his habit of leaning forward as he spoke, arm outstretched, that colleagues and political cartoonists seized upon. “I do not speak16 enough from the chest so my voice is not as powerful as it ought to be,” he wrote to his mother.
Roosevelt could be affable. He was definitely energetic and often imperious, certain he knew what was right and that his upbringing and education would convince others of that. He bored into issues and people. He sponged up details. Most mornings, he brought a stack of newspapers to breakfast at the Albany hotel that was his home during the week. “He threw each paper17 as he finished it on the floor, unfolded, until at the end there was on either side of him a pile of newspapers as high as the table for the servants to clear away,” recalled one journalist.
Most of his colleagues in the assembly were farmers, small-town lawyers, merchants, mechanics, and tradesmen at least a decade older. A majority were Democrats. Politicians from both18 parties were willing to support legislation for a price or threaten regulation to get a corporate payoff. They were part of political machines that exchanged patronage and government assistance for votes on Election Day and traded favors and bribes afterward. To the victor belong the spoils.
Roosevelt began to peer into the workings of the New York elite, the politicians and judges and businessmen whose common cause was to entrench themselves in power and enrich themselves as a result. He called for an investigation of a judge accused of rigging the bankruptcy proceedings of the Manhattan Elevated Railway Company so that a notorious financier could take it over. Roosevelt’s was a singularly unpopular project. The investigation was a whitewash, and his attempt to impeach the judge failed. “He was just like a jack19 coming out of the box,” one of Roosevelt’s closest friends in Albany said. “When they attacked him, he would fire back with all the venom imaginable. He was the most indiscreet guy I ever met.”
As Roosevelt’s first term20 was coming to an end, another uncle—a businessman who helped manage the family money—invited him out for lunch to share some advice. “He explained that I had done well in the Legislature,” Roosevelt recalled. “But that I had gone far enough, and that now was the time to leave politics and identify myself with the right kind of people, the people who would always in the long run control others and obtain the real rewards.” He would take on that inner circle at his peril, the older man warned. It was a flag before a bull.
Roosevelt didn’t take the advice. In Albany, his social status and youth, and his “most refreshing habit21 of calling men and things by their right names,” won attention. Which he enjoyed. He resolved to run again.
When he was reelected in the fall of 1882 with 67 percent of the vote, his colleagues chose to make him their leader. It didn’t count for much since they didn’t control the Assembly. But for a moment they were Roosevelt Republicans. Outside of his home state, he gained notice as “the rising hope22 and chosen leader of a new generation.” He liked to hear that, too. “I rose like a rocket,”23 he said. It didn’t take long, though, before he sputtered. Roosevelt was unskilled at creating alliances, even temporary ones. He shouted and paced the aisles. He harangued. “I would listen24 to no argument, no advice. I took the isolated peak on every issue, and my people left me.” He would learn to compromise, which he called being practical, and to work with men as they were: “I turned in to help them, and they turned to and gave me a hand. And so we were able to get things done.”
Economic trouble25 began spreading through the country, brought on by railroads that were again spending wildly and factories that were producing more than customers required. Employers responded as they usually did, by cutting wages and then workers. The industrial depression would last three years. To help ease the hardship among Manhattan residents, the Assembly passed a bill to lower the fare on the elevated railway in the city by half, from ten cents to five cents. It was a priority for the legislators, but the new governor, Democrat Grover Cleveland, vetoed it. The law would violate the railway’s contract with New York, he said. “The state must not26 only be strictly just, but scrupulously fair.”
Roosevelt didn’t have to say anything. He could have let Cleveland have the last, unpopular, word, but he spoke up anyway. He believed the owners of the railway had illegally acquired it out of bankruptcy, and he had wanted to punish them by reducing their profits, he said. “I have to confess27 I weakly yielded, partly in a vindictive spirit toward the infernal thieves and conscienceless swindlers who have had the elevated railroad in charge and partly in answer to the popular voice of New York.” He was sympathetic to the demands for help, he said, but wanted to provide the right kind of help, a law that could withstand scrutiny. As for those thieves and swindlers in charge of the railroad, he said that “they belong to that most dangerous of all classes, the wealthy criminal class.”
Roosevelt’s quick turn was mocked and the veto criticized in the city—but that phrase stuck. Of course it did. The wealthy criminal class: It was a perfectly cutting comment on what many considered a bitter reality. It showed the emotion he was capable of invoking but may have signaled a more radical attitude than he was ready to act on. He was beginning to grasp the power of laying bare American nervousness, and even if sometimes his words were more satisfying than his deeds, he could set a new tone, high-minded and righteous.
Harper’s Weekly cartoon of New York’s reformers, Assemblyman Theodore Roosevelt and Governor Grover Cleveland
After that legislative failure, Roosevelt began a more promising project. He worked with Cleveland to pass a civil service reform bill that awarded jobs based on merit, not connections. Their hope was to weaken the party machines that regularly undermined efforts at good governance and left immigrants in particular at the mercy of political bosses.
Hundreds of thousands of immigrants lived in New York City’s lower east side in the 1880s, crowded into tenements with no running water, infrequent electricity, and air infected with soot and smoke. Entire families worked long hours in perilous conditions at poverty wages right in their own living quarters. Among the most noxious were the cigar manufacturers, who often owned the tenements, too. Samuel Gompers, a cigar maker turned labor activist, lobbied Albany to ban such work at home. Albany assigned a committee to investigate the situation. The representatives visited the tenements with Gompers, but Roosevelt was the only one to return there. He walked into a room shared by two families and a boarder. “The tobacco was stored28 about everywhere, alongside the foul bedding, and in a corner where there were scraps of food,” he recalled. “The men, women, and children in this room worked by day and far on into the evening, and they slept and ate there.”
Child asleep in a tenement in New York City’s Lower East Side
The notion that government should legislate how business operated contradicted the laissez-faire principles of Roosevelt’s class. He opposed bills to raise the minimum wage and increase the salaries of policemen and firemen. Restricting cigar manufacturers was a similarly unacceptable idea. “The respectable people I knew were against it,” he said. Roosevelt decided he was for it. The conditions in those rooms were too dire to dismiss. At his urging, the Assembly passed a bill to prohibit cigar manufacturing in the tenements, the Senate agreed, and Cleveland signed it into law. Less than a year later, the New York Court of Appeals ruled the ban itself unconstitutional.
It was the beginning of the end to Roosevelt’s Knickerbocker conviction. “Of course it took more than one experience such as this Tenement Cigar Case to shake me out of the attitude in which I was brought up,” he wrote. The meanness of daily work, with its coarse accounting of hours and pounds and miles, hadn’t fully roused Roosevelt. He and his political colleagues didn’t comprehend the gathering discontent. “We were as yet by no means as thoroughly awake as we ought to have been to the need of controlling big business and to the damage done by the combination of politics with big business.”
In the early 1880s, one of the best-selling books was Progress and Poverty, in which a newspaper editor named Henry George argued that industrial capitalism imperiled democracy because it worsened the wealth gap. Progress enriched some and impoverished others: “It is as though29 an immense wedge were being forced, not underneath society, but through society,” he wrote. “Those who are above the point of separation are elevated, but those who are below are crushed down.” George’s solution was to impose a single tax, on land, and abolish the rest. Roosevelt regarded that as immoderate, unfeasible. But he could see that something had to be done about the wedge.
Over the decade to come, Roosevelt’s experiences—especially in his family world—would continue to shake his inborn assumption of stability and control. He would understand in the most personal way that the foundations on which a seemingly secure life was built could, all at once and without warning, collapse.
On February 13, 1884, Roosevelt arrived at the Assembly with cigars for his colleagues. (Some habits were hard to break.) He was midway through his third term, deep into an investigation of corruption in New York City, and had just become a father. An early morning telegram had brought the news: his wife had given birth to a daughter, also named Alice Lee. His child was healthy. His wife “only fairly well.”30
That afternoon another telegram arrived for him at the Assembly. Roosevelt suddenly looked worried. He rushed out of the chambers to the train station. Both his wife and his mother were seriously ill.
A dense fog settled over the Northeast and slowed Roosevelt’s travel. The New York Times called it “suicidal weather31 … suggestive of death and decay in the dampness that fills the world.” It was midnight when he finally reached his family’s home on Fifty-Seventh Street. Elliott flung open the door. “There is a curse32 on this house!” he said.
Roosevelt climbed the stairs to Alice’s bedroom on the third floor where she lay, barely conscious. As he knelt beside her, Bamie told him that Alice was suffering from Bright’s disease, a chronic inflammation of the kidney that had gone undiagnosed. There was no cure.
At three in the morning, on the second floor of her home, with her children, Theodore, Bamie, Elliott, and Corinne, near, Martha Bulloch, forty-eight years old, died of acute typhoid fever. Alice died less than twelve hours later. She was twenty-two. Theodore drew a big black X on that page in his diary and wrote: “The light has gone out of my life.” He rarely spoke of Alice again.
The Dakota Badlands, a curious, forbidding wonder of timeworn rocks and water, held the last grassy stretches of a vanishing frontier. It was there that Roosevelt retreated in the summer of 1884. He needed its bleak expanses and raw, physical tests of endurance to chase away the depression bearing down on him. “Black care33 rarely sits behind a rider whose pace is fast enough,” he wrote.
He built a house, bought several thousand cattle, and became a rancher. The Northern Pacific Railroad cut through the territory and, to encourage business, promoted the creation of a new beef industry beyond the Texan plains. Roosevelt wrangled horses and herded cows. He slept outside, hunted bears, bucks, grouse, rabbits. He killed for food and sport and trophies, and the bloody thrill of pursuit helped blot out his despair. Social conventions were scarcely observed, personal histories left unspoken. Roosevelt later wrote34 that he practiced the diplomacy of the Badlands: not uttering one word that could be avoided.
Roosevelt didn’t entirely shed the privileges and inclinations of his old life. He wore35 a handmade buckskin shirt and chaps and alligator boots. His silver spurs were engraved with his initials, and his silver bowie knife came from Tiffany’s. He began work on a book, Hunting Trips of a Ranchman, in which he wrote of skylark songs and savage desolation, and dedicated it to “that keenest of sportsmen and truest of friends, my brother Elliott Roosevelt.” He created a new constituency. He was the unofficial deputy sheriff of his surrounding region and official delegate to the powerful Montana Stockgrowers Association. As his melancholy receded, he was able to enjoy “perfect freedom,”36 he wrote.
Still, he returned home. He had left his young daughter with Bamie, but there were other reasons to go east every few months. He had a political career to tend to, even though he frequently suggested, in public and in private, that it could already be over. Roosevelt’s three terms in the Assembly ensured he would be a delegate to the Republican national convention in Chicago the summer of 1884 if he wanted. He did. “I realize37 very thoroughly the absolutely ephemeral nature of the hold I have upon the people,” he said, “and a very real and positive hostility I have excited among the politicians.” By the fall of 1886, Roosevelt was back in New York City. He was about to turn twenty-eight, tanned, hardened, and revived. Ready. But for what?
The Republicans needed a candidate for an office no Republican was likely to win: Mayor of New York City. Roosevelt’s acquaintance Elihu Root had already turned the party down. Roosevelt said he’d campaign. His rivals were Abram Hewitt, a wealthy steel manufacturer with a reformist bent, and Henry George, who had decided to test his ideas at the ballot box.
The public38 was on edge. Divides were sharp. Earlier that year, on Saturday, May 1—May Day—three hundred fifty thousand workers around the country went on strike to demand an eight-hour workday with no pay cut. In New York, twenty-five thousand people marched along Broadway carrying torches.
Dramatic events in Chicago had rattled the whole nation. During the strike, the railroads were stalled, many businesses were unable to open and the stockyards were closed. The McCormick Reaper Works brought in strikebreakers, and police to defend them against the picketers. On May 3, as a crowd of strikers surged the factory gate at the end of the day, police fired. They wounded many and killed at least two.
Anarchists printed handbills in English and German—“Revenge! Workingmen, to Arms!!! They killed the poor wretches, because they, like you, had the courage to disobey the supreme will of your bosses”—and called for a meeting at Haymarket Square the next evening. Some two thousand people, the mayor among them, showed up to hear speeches that by all accounts were unobjectionable. By the time a more provocative speaker took the stage, it was late, a storm approached, the mayor had returned home, and only about three hundred people remained.
Then one hundred eighty policemen arrived in formation. A bomb exploded in their midst. The police fired into the crowd, wounding dozens and killing several. Sixty-seven officers were injured, many from friendly fire, and eight later died.
The prominent businessmen George Pullman and Marshall Field were among those who secretly funded the police investigation and the prosecution. Roosevelt, still in Medora in May, was unwilling to distinguish the strikers from the anarchists. He didn’t support their cause or approve of their methods. Social disorder alarmed him, a violent response didn’t. “My men here39 are hardworking, laboring men who work longer hours for no greater wages than many of the strikers,” he wrote to Bamie. “I believe nothing would give them greater pleasure than a chance with their rifles at one of the mobs.”
The police arrested anarchists around the city and charged ten with murder. A jury convicted the eight who stood trial. Four were hanged and one killed himself. (The other three were eventually pardoned by the governor of Illinois.)
In upstate New York40 that tumultuous year, a sixteen-year-old immigrant recently arrived from St. Petersburg, Russia, was unhappy at home, dissatisfied with her work as a seamstress, yearning for more. Then Emma Goldman read about the violence at Haymarket. It changed her life, propelling her to a career of radical political activism.
It was also that year that New York police charged41 a crowd during a strike by streetcar conductors, and men crawled away bloody from the beating. Mayoral candidate Henry George proclaimed: “We are beginning42 a movement for the abolition of industrial slavery.” Abram Hewitt called him an anarchist and nihilist who wanted to start a class war. Neither of them said much about Roosevelt. But when he spoke for himself, he promised radical municipal reform. That wasn’t much of a platform.
Roosevelt, for once, didn’t care if he lost. He was showing his party loyalty. He was also secretly in love. He had reunited with Edith Carow, a family friend and childhood sweetheart long devoted to him. She enjoyed riding, hiking, and camping with him. She read nearly as energetically. In other ways she seemed his opposite—haughty, reserved, and socially unadventurous. She was more shrewd about money, almost as willful, and prepared to make a home with someone who could feel as restless as a “caged wolf.”43 They were engaged for almost a year before they told anyone. Roosevelt was embarrassed to be remarrying so soon after Alice’s death, a violation of Knickerbocker romantic convention. Edith didn’t seem to share his concern.
On November 1, 1886, Roosevelt revealed to Henry Cabot Lodge, a friend and mentor in Boston, that he and Edith would soon marry.44 And then he sent another dispatch on Election Day: “Am badly defeated.45 Worse even than I feared.”
Not too long after, he and Bamie set sail for London under the alias Mr. and Miss Merrifield. Elliott saw them off. Edith was waiting on the other side of the ocean. On December 2, on a misty morning, in front of only a few family members, they were married at St. George’s Church in Hanover Square. Edith wore46 a lace gown and orange blossom veil. Theodore wore bright orange gloves.
Edith Kermit Carow Roosevelt, 1901
They toured Europe, returned to New York, and planned to live in the Oyster Bay home he had built for his first wife. He had changed the name from Leeholm to Sagamore Hill. Roosevelt had imagined himself a rancher and an author. He secured a contract to write a four-volume history, The Winning of the West. But his cattle business47 had failed after a harsh winter and he had lost at least half of his inheritance. Politics beckoned. During the presidential campaign of 1888, Roosevelt didn’t hesitate to accept an invitation to travel to Illinois, Michigan, and Minnesota to speak on behalf of the Republican candidate, Benjamin Harrison. “I always genuinely enjoy48 it and act as target and marksman alternately with immense zest,” he wrote to a friend.
After Harrison won, Roosevelt decided to establish himself in Washington. Lodge, then a congressman, lobbied the new president to appoint Roosevelt assistant secretary of state. Instead, Harrison named him to the Civil Service Commission, where the president hoped he could more easily contain Roosevelt’s natural enthusiasm for improvement. The civil service included departmental staff throughout the government, such as postal workers, printing and customs officials, and those administering services for the Indian tribes. The commission was charged with filling these posts with merit-based hires, but it was an inefficient bureaucracy run in undemocratic ways. A place in the system was usually secured by connections and bribes rather than qualifications. Outside the power centers, people saw the civil service as a suspect enterprise, and its reform was a popular cause. A perfect realm to occupy Roosevelt.
Pennsylvania Avenue, Washington, D.C., circa 1890s
In the spring after Harrison’s inauguration, he moved to Washington. The city in 1889 was gracious and airy, surrounded by trees. Edith joined him that winter with their two young children, Ted and Kermit, as well as Theodore’s firstborn, five-year-old Alice Lee, who Edith insisted live with them. Over the next few years, Edith would give birth to Ethel and Archibald and hold her own in a swirl of dinners, teas, dances, and rides with Washington’s elite.
Roosevelt’s mandate included oversight of only twenty-eight thousand of the one hundred forty thousand positions the Civil Service Commission managed, but he made the most of what power he had. President Harrison privately complained that Roosevelt “wanted to put an end49 to all the evil in the world between sunrise and sunset.” Roosevelt in turn wrote to Lodge: “It is horribly50 disheartening to work under such a Chief. However, the very fact that he takes so little interest gives me a free hand to do some things.”
Roosevelt’s family spent the summer and early autumn at Sagamore Hill. Theodore’s always attentive sisters were frequent, cheery guests. But their brother, Elliott, was a constant source of anxiety. For years, inexplicable seizures had plagued him, and he drank. Theodore and Bamie51 confined him to a mental hospital against his will, but whatever treatment he received for his alcoholism was ineffective. More galling to Theodore was that Elliott seemed unrepentant.
In the end, Theodore gave up on him, on the brother who had been a companion and protector and rival and now threatened to become a public scandal. Elliott had a wife, whose death brought him many dark nights; several mistresses; two surviving children52 he called his own (the elder was Eleanor Roosevelt) and one son he didn’t. In August 1894, Elliott, too, would die, at age thirty-four. “Theodore was more overcome53 than I have ever seen him and cried like a little child for a long time,” Corinne wrote.
Roosevelt headed west. He was grieving, ill, and frustrated. A couple of weeks before his brother’s death, he had passed up a chance to run for New York City mayor again. Edith had insisted. Campaigning cost money and they were pinched, and if he lost, they’d have no income at all. Now, on the range, he desperately wished he had pushed aside her objections. He was sure he had given up his last opportunity for elected office.
When white settlers1 first trekked to the southeast plains of Nebraska, they came for the salt marshes. They also found rolling prairies, river-carved valleys, and fertile soil. There were antelope, deer, and elk; maple, walnut, cottonwood, and fruit trees; blackberry vines. The Pawnee2 called the area around the salt creek Káʾit Kiicu’. A representative from a Pennsylvania salt company named it Lancaster in 1856. By 1860, some twenty-nine thousand people lived in the territory. After the federal government promised homesteaders 160 acres each, practically for free, tens of thousands more arrived, and Nebraska became a state in 1867.
The Pflug Brothers3 were among the first to open a store in the capital, Lincoln. They sold groceries, whiskey, and hardware. James Sweet set up the first bank in the first commercial building, and when he became state treasurer a few years later, he operated the treasury out of there too. The Bain Brothers sold clothes; the Bohanan Brothers sold meat; D. B. Cropsey sold real estate; R. R. Tingley sold drugs. An African American man called Moore ran the barber shop. New arrivals opened a saloon, a shoe store, a stone schoolhouse. The newspaper changed its name to the Nebraska State Journal, and in 1869 the University of Nebraska was founded. For all that, it was still frontier. Those seeking justice in the capital had only a couple of lawyers to rely on to settle disputes. The judge moonlighted as a merchant, and a milk house doubled as the city and county jail.
Lincoln had no major waterways, no oil or coal or iron deposits, no natural advantages other than its soil and its salt, and no one could figure out how to extract the salt profitably for long. The grasshoppers came in 1873, the floods came the next year. By then the railroads had come too, having determined that Lincoln did have one other natural advantage: its location. It was halfway between the industrial pole of Chicago—more than three hundred thousand4 strong, rapidly rebuilding and expanding after the Great Fire of 1871—and Denver, growing rich from Colorado’s gold mines. Lincoln was perfectly situated between St. Louis, the nation’s fourth-biggest city, and a tiny outpost in Montana that would become Billings, named for the railway president who selected it as a transportation hub for the state’s agricultural produce.
The Burlington railroad5 was the first to lay tracks in Lincoln, in 1870, and over the next two decades would operate six lines out of the city. The company recruited people to eastern Nebraska and sold them land it had been given by the federal government. An advertisement6 from 1882 promised that twenty thousand merchants, farmers, artisans, and professional men could “testify that they are pleased with the country and climate, and that the soil cannot be excelled,” and that the school system was wonderful as well. “The roads have reason7 to push the city, and they will do so,” a resident of Lincoln wrote.
The Lancaster County courthouse was built in 1888. The next year, a young lawyer named William Jennings Bryan, who had moved to town from Illinois, became the first Democratic congressman elected in Nebraska.
By then Lincoln had a post office, a gas light company, paved roads, public water, a public library with five thousand volumes, and a telephone exchange with more than six hundred phones connected. Funke’s Opera House was open. The Commercial Hotel became the city’s biggest, with accommodations for three hundred guests. There were banks and businesses of all kinds that repaired locomotives, processed grain heading east from the country’s western farmlands, packed pork and beef from the surrounding states, and sold farm equipment to them all. More than sixty trains arrived and departed daily.
The Burlington was owned8 by J. M. Forbes, a conservative financier in Boston who would eventually combine some two hundred separate railroad companies into the Chicago, Burlington & Quincy. It operated almost eight thousand miles of track stretching from Michigan across the Mississippi to the fertile plains of Iowa and Nebraska, up to the forests of Minnesota, out to the mines of Colorado and ranch lands of South Dakota and Wyoming. It connected almost every important commercial center between Chicago and the Rocky Mountains: St. Louis, St. Paul and Minneapolis, Kansas City, Lincoln, Denver, and Billings.
Far from Lincoln, on Wall Street, J. P. Morgan would one day formulate a plan to create something never seen before—a truly global transportation network. To do so, he would need a reputable Western railroad that reached into Chicago, and he set his sights on the Burlington. But he wouldn’t be the only one who wanted it.
In January 1889,9 as Theodore Roosevelt was planning his move to Washington, Morgan summoned twenty-two Western railroad bosses, and the five private bankers who supplied their financing, to his home at 219 Madison Avenue. The meeting was too big to keep secret. Reporters hovered around the mansion, and one of the executives said, “The public are sure to10 think we are conspiring to do something that we ought not to do.” Morgan still kept the doors closed.
They were conspiring, or at least Morgan hoped they would. The government had created the Interstate Commerce Commission in 1887 to supervise railroad rates, but it was proving ineffective. Competition—bitter and sometimes dishonest—was still unsettling the industry. The new law required companies to set reasonable prices and publicize them. Big shippers could still insist on lower rates, though, and the railroads themselves found ways to lure customers from rivals with illegal discounts. A company might employ a broker to sell its own tickets at half their value or it might post its official rate list in the woods where few would see it and then offer to carry freight for much less. Farmers could11 sometimes benefit—where a railroad had a monopoly, prices could be twice as high. Travelers could12 benefit—the fare from New York to Chicago was sometimes as low as one dollar.
Morgan’s investors were suffering, though. Profits were diminishing, and with them the value of his clients’ holdings and the soundness of his firm’s credit. In 1888,13 the hundred or so biggest railroads did twenty million dollars more business than the previous year and made fourteen million dollars less. Small investors who weren’t Morgan’s clients were hurting too. “A number of innocent investors14 in railway stocks have been reduced to penury, and in some cases to actual destitution,” the New York Sun said. “The gentlemen who have accomplished this magnificent result are still receiving large salaries; salaries which allow them to live in opulence.”
Morgan couldn’t let business rivalries bankrupt an industry so essential to the nation’s promise—and to his position in the financial world. He decided to establish his own commission, the Interstate Commerce Railway Association, to encourage the railroad men to cooperate instead of compete. He wanted to fix prices, spread profits, and ensure dividends. He said nothing about their salaries.
The men he invited to his home were expected to follow his directions. He gave them a gracious welcome and brought them to his library, with its stained-glass windows, room-sized carpet, and mosaic-tiled fireplace. Then he got down to business. “The purpose of this meeting15 is to cause the members of this association to no longer take the law into their own hands when they suspect they have been wronged,” he said. No more rebates, no more secret pacts, no more scalping tickets. They would give their word in a gentlemen’s agreement.
When one of the gentlemen complained later about Morgan’s interference in their roads, Morgan snapped: “Your roads16? Your roads belong to my clients.” Not all of them, however. The Burlington remained independent, able to pay its own way.
The agreement wouldn’t last. The railroad men were too quarrelsome and suspicious, and, essentially, too competitive, to cooperate.
Newspapers tried to predict Morgan’s next move. “Morgan began to be17 looked upon as a rescuer of investors, a solver of difficult financial problems,” John Moody, the financial analyst, wrote. “And he stood alone in this regard.” Morgan had become a national figure whose financial decisions had political consequences. This sudden scrutiny perplexed him. “I have done nothing18 except stop men fighting,” he said. “I don’t like to see men fighting. There is too much waste.”
Morgan believed in free enterprise, but he thought business worked best when it operated on an industrial scale. He preferred alliances to rivalries, self-regulation over government regulation, and above all, order and stability. Some on Wall Street speculated that Morgan’s solution to the railroad crisis would be to form a trust. This would have solved some of his problems. A trust relied on19 control through ownership; it was a legal means to force cooperation. Shareholders of competing companies would turn over their stock to trustees in exchange for certificates entitling them to dividends. Then these trustees could see that all the companies played nicely together. A trust wasn’t technically a corporation. It didn’t require a state license to exist. It wasn’t—yet—subject to state regulation.
But trusts had come to represent everything skeptical, restless Americans feared about the influence of Wall Street, concentrated power, and income inequality. Trusts had enough influence over their markets to force suppliers to lower prices while charging customers more. Trusts could restrict production. They could sway politicians, providing campaign contributions and investment opportunities and using economic muscle when necessary.
Standard Oil was20 the trust par excellence. It combined fifty-two refineries spread over dozens of states and closed thirty-one of them within three years. Thousands lost their jobs and their businesses. In New York, where some competitors remained, Standard sold oil for ten and a half cents a gallon and still made a profit, while in Chicago, where none of its rivals survived, it charged nearly twenty cents. John D. Rockefeller said his company was efficient. Critics said it was untouchable. “The Standard has done everything with the Pennsylvania Legislature, except refine it,” Henry Demarest Lloyd wrote in the Atlantic Monthly. His exposé, “The Story of a Great Monopoly,” was so popular that the magazine reprinted the issue21 six times.
Standard Oil was hardly the only example of this kind of dominance. The Sugar Trust shut down seven of its eighteen refineries and merged eight others into larger plants. Thousands more lost their jobs.
But an uncertain regulatory environment made forming a trust a risky proposition now. Back in Washington, Senator John Sherman—financial statesman of the Republican Party—proposed a law to curb the political and economic might of these megacorporations. “The popular mind22 is agitated with problems that may disturb social order,” he told his colleagues. He had a solution: an act of Congress to overpower monopolies. No problem “is more threatening than the inequality of condition, of wealth, and opportunity,” Sherman said. “If the concerted powers of this combination are entrusted to a single man, it is a kingly prerogative, inconsistent with our form of government.” Congressmen could believe as they chose, ally themselves with magnates as they saw fit, but they had to reckon with public hostility. The easiest way to get a rise out of an opponent—Democrat or Republican—was to accuse him of defending the trusts. Then, whether he believed it or not, he’d say something such as “They are abhorrent to me;23 they are malicious; they are destructive of the good of the country, and they ought to be destroyed.”
Thirteen states24—Iowa was first—wrote their own laws prohibiting combinations organized in order to raise prices or lower production. A few specifically banned trusts altogether. Sherman took a different approach. He used the broad language of the common law, old and well-established principles, to assure conservative senators that they weren’t creating new rules but merely enabling the federal courts to apply existing standards to the new economy. The Sherman Antitrust Act declared illegal every contract, combination of companies, or conspiracy that restrained or monopolized interstate trade or commerce. And then, as the state laws did, it imposed criminal penalties: Those found guilty of forming such combinations were subject to fines of up to five thousand dollars and a year in jail. Those suffering losses because of the trusts could sue for triple damages. That was not a well-established principle.
The bill passed the Senate on April 8, 1890. Fifty-two senators25 voted for it, twenty-nine were absent, and Rufus Blodgett, a Democrat from New Jersey with ties to the railroads, voted against it. One senator26—a cynic or a realist—said that his colleagues were interested only in the optics, in “some bill headed, ‘A Bill to Punish Trusts’ with which to go the country.” The House passed the bill unanimously. President Harrison signed it into law on July 2, 1890.
But even as antitrust laws won support throughout the country, clever minds were hard at work devising ways around them. In 1889, Robert Green, the governor of New Jersey, asked a “cheerful, rosy-faced lawyer”27 if he had any ideas how the state might increase its revenues to pay off its Civil War debts. James Dill suggested New Jersey become a safe haven for big business by offering an alternative to the trust. The state could pass a sweeping law permitting one corporation to hold the stock of any other—an idea once considered a conflict of interest but that now, amid large-scale industrial development, seemed inevitable. New Jersey conjured the holding company into existence, a feat for which critics dubbed it a “traitor state.”28
Businessmen quickly realized how much they wanted to do business in New Jersey. They could create legal combinations that weren’t strictly trusts but offered just as much control. Usually, a holding company would buy up small companies for more than they were worth, then issue new stock and sell it for more than it was worth. Investors had little information to go by and no protection against false optimism. Dill didn’t suggest any new regulations to deal with that.
In 1892, Dill and Governor29 Leon Abbett, Green’s successor, formed a company of their own, Corporation Trust, which provided firms based outside New Jersey everything they needed to establish residency in the state: a mailing address, safe deposit boxes, and the use of a tiny room in Dill and Abbett’s office in Jersey City. Business was good for the state, which collected incorporation fees and franchise taxes, and for the governor and the lawyer. Dill once began a lecture at Harvard Law School: “I am the lawyer30 for a billion dollars of invested capital.”
The Sherman Antitrust Act31 itself had weaknesses. It was a federal law that largely depended on states to enforce it by initiating legal proceedings against suspect organizations. But state attorneys general only sporadically challenged the offenders, and when they did they often lost. Companies took advantage of the ambiguities of the law, which didn’t define trusts or monopolies or conspiracies or combinations; the biggest among them could rely on the best attorneys to help.
The state of Ohio did prevail over Standard Oil in 1892, and the company was ordered to end its trust agreement. But the court gave Rockefeller plenty of time to comply, during which he was able to purchase most of the remaining independent oil companies and incorporate as a holding company in New Jersey before the deadline.
Morgan and his lawyers took note.
On February 20, 1893, the Philadelphia & Reading Railway Company went bankrupt. It had forty million dollars in capital and one hundred twenty-five million dollars of debt. “Fear irregularities32 and scandals,” Morgan cabled a partner. His firm had bailed out the railroad before.
The Reading’s collapse was the first signal of the trouble to come. In the next sixteen months, one hundred ninety-one33 other railroads failed. They operated almost forty-one thousand miles of track, represented one fourth of the country’s rail system, and were worth two and a half billion dollars.
Though the memory was a generation old, the pain of 1873 had not lost its sting. People panicked, and institutions they once entrusted with their money seemed unsafe. In 1893, as many families, especially in interior towns, tried to withdraw their cash, they came up hard against a financial system that favored the East. Their money was on deposit in the cities, and the sudden demand for it forced the Eastern banks to call in loans made to farmers and small businessmen, causing cascading economic ruin that was highly regional in effect. One hundred fifty-eight34 national banks failed; one hundred fifty-three of them were in the West and South. Without access to credit, businesses had to shut down, steel mills went dormant, and farms lay fallow. Fifteen percent35 of the work force was unemployed.
Those workers were stranded. They had no unemployment insurance, no food or medical assistance from the government, and few charities to help them. People begged36 on the streets; some of the homeless were sentenced to hard labor as punishment. As the financial structure collapsed around them, an anger emerged that would define itself as anti-elite, anti-urban, anti–East Coast populism. Twenty years earlier, the country was just beginning to industrialize and the frustration at its failures and excesses was inchoate. By 1893, that frustration had a focus. It had leaders and it had enemies.
Many of the wealthy seemed oblivious. They raised money at Hard Times Balls,37 where the guest wearing the most convincing hobo costume won a sack of flour. “Everything here38 continues as blue as indigo,” Morgan wrote that July. “Hope we shall soon have some change for the better, for it is very depressing and very exhausting.” He spent that summer living mostly aboard his yacht.
The depression led to labor unrest. Workers at the Pullman Palace Car Company staged a strike that turned bloody. An Ohio businessman named Jacob Coxey led a march to Washington to protest the wealth gap. He called on the government to “heed the voice39 of despair and distress” coming up around the country. He had a specific suggestion: a Good Roads Bill, a five-hundred-million-dollar program to create jobs for the unemployed and improve the nation’s infrastructure. A thousand or so out-of-work men and women, white and black, from all over America, thought that sounded like a pretty good idea. They joined Coxey’s Army in 1894 and headed to the capital to urge Congress to pass the bill.
To those with means, this looked like the beginning of an uprising. Officials in Chicago and Pittsburgh banned the marchers from entering their cities, and the Virginia militia burned their camp. Nonetheless, on May 1, Coxey’s Army arrived in Washington. President Grover Cleveland ordered Treasury Department officials to arm themselves with rifles. Tens of thousands came out to watch as Coxey tried to read his bill on the Capitol steps. He was stopped by police, who then swung their sticks at the crowd. Everyone fled. Coxey and a co-leader were sentenced to twenty days in prison for damaging the congressional lawn.
Workers walked off the job at the Pullman factory outside Chicago later that month. They built the sleeping coaches the wealthy traveled in, decorated with thick carpeting, glass chandeliers, wood-paneled walls, and baroque, upholstered armchairs. More than eight thousand40 people lived in a company town built by George Pullman, in residences that reflected their status: apartments for unskilled workers, row houses for the foremen, modest Victorians for the executives, and, for visitors, a luxurious hotel named after his daughter Florence. Pullman oversaw the one church, which charged a rent so high it was unoccupied. Libraries around the country were often free to enter; Pullman required a membership fee at his. The company owned the bank and ran the stores. Pullman set the workers’ rent and automatically deducted it from their paychecks. He thought he had built a model town. “It is not the American ideal,” an economist pronounced in Harper’s magazine after a visit. “It is benevolent, well-wishing feudalism.”
As business contracted during the depression, Pullman laid off thousands of workers and cut the wages of those who remained. But he didn’t lower their rents or the prices at his stores. After employees went on strike, railway men across the country, organized by the newly formed American Railway Union, refused to work on trains carrying the sleeping cars. More than two hundred thousand41 workers boycotted the railroads. The Baltimore & Ohio, the Northern Pacific, the Burlington, and most other lines were stalled. Carloads of bananas, strawberries, and cherries rotted on the tracks. Milk spoiled. Meat stank. Cities slowed.
President Cleveland—who had served one term, joined a New York law practice, and now was in the middle of his second—was already on edge from Coxey’s march. Encouraged by railroad executives and his own attorney general, Richard Olney, Cleveland declared the strike a federal crime under the Sherman Antitrust and Interstate Commerce Acts. He deployed troops to end it. Simmering violence42 turned into riots and fires and gunshots and at least thirty dead. By August the strikers had been beaten down. Workers who weren’t blacklisted returned to their jobs. The railway union had to disband, and one of its founders, Eugene Debs, went to jail, proclaiming that the union “put forth its efforts43 to rescue Pullman’s famine-cursed wage slaves from the grasp of an employer as heartless as a stone, as remorseless as a savage and as unpitying as an incarnate fiend.”
That summer a weary President Cleveland made a symbolic gesture. He established a federal holiday in honor of workers. On Monday, September 3, 1894, the country celebrated the first national Labor Day.
Where others saw only turmoil, Morgan also saw opportunity. He had tried cajoling the railroad executives to view the industry as he did. Now he could force them to. Before, he had tried to broker gentlemen’s agreements, and now he could dictate the rules. Now he became Jupiter.
Among the lines44 that failed were some of the country’s smallest and many of its largest, including the Northern Pacific, the Union Pacific, and the Baltimore & Ohio. Few could be abandoned altogether without destroying the towns they had helped establish. The railroads had to be reorganized. The railroad bosses, having amply demonstrated their inability to balance the books in the first place, weren’t up to the job. Investors required the assistance of investment bankers.
Morgan became the railroad investment banker and much more than that. He was familiar with the industry’s finances and trusted by those who would still have to fund the roads. His presence was reassuring and his confidence unyielding. He always kept his word, though he made as few promises as possible. He began to accumulate the troubled railroads, sort them out, and put them together into voting trusts, which involved persuading shareholders to transfer their stock and voting rights for several years to trustees he carefully selected. Then he put his people—and sometimes himself—on the boards and in the executive offices. The process became known as “Morganization.” The result was incomparable commercial power with little accountability.
Morgan, in his fifties, also became his own man. Juliet and Junius were gone: she of a seizure when she was sixty-seven, he after a carriage accident in Monaco at age seventy-six. Anthony Drexel had died suddenly too. Morgan was now fully in command at 23 Wall Street, decisive, visible, and accessible. Though brusque with outsiders, he was convivial with his partners. But what he demanded of himself, he also required of them. The reorganizing work was complex: in one case, transferring companies and properties from a bankrupt system to a new one involved “executing two trustees’ sales,45 one receivers’ sale, ten foreclosure sales, six conveyances without foreclosure, and all manner of other contracts and agreements.”
The partner Morgan relied on the most was Charles Coster, scrupulous and energetic, “a white-faced,46 nervous man, hurrying from meeting to meeting and at evening carrying home his portfolios,” as one acquaintance recalled. Admirers of Coster called him Morgan’s “right arm” and one of the “great organizing minds” on Wall Street. (In 1900, at age forty-seven, Coster would succumb to pneumonia brought on by a bad cold and his state of constant exhaustion. An obituary noted that he was serving on fifty-nine corporate boards that year.)
Coster mastered the details. That allowed Morgan himself to master the men involved. “Probably it will not do47 for us to oppose Mr. Morgan, we would scarcely wish to do so unless really necessary,” one banker said to another about a financing plan. Morgan gave a proposal a yes or a no, and he rarely explained why. His reserve was regal. His anger could be majestic. If a banker or broker declined to participate in one stock or bond offering, Morgan made clear no other opportunities would be coming.
Within five years,48 the Morganized railroads’ stock and debt were worth more than two and a half billion dollars. They comprised thirty-three thousand miles, one sixth of the country’s total. They earned about three hundred million dollars annually—the federal government’s revenue in 1898 was about four hundred million.
As hard-up railroads were forced to reckon with their many deficiencies in the 1890s, the Burlington continued to prosper. It hadn’t gone into debt building lines that went from nowhere to nowhere or went to somewhere that people could already travel to. The company maintained its tracks and locomotives. Happy customers said the CB&Q stood for “the Cheapest, Best and Quickest.”49 It didn’t need to be Morganized.
But Morgan wanted it. And so did two rival railroad barons: James J. Hill, and Edward H. Harriman.
Hill had built50 the Great Northern, which started at Lake Superior and ended in Seattle, with deliberate thrift and brutal efficiency. He never sought land grants from the government, but benefited from them nonetheless. During the Long Depression, he bought up failed lines that had taken advantage of federal and state help, and he added to them when money was easy to obtain. He promised that the cars on the Great Northern were among the best available—the diners and sleepers finished in polished oak, the observation car decorated with rich carpets, ornate lamps, and intricate wrought-iron details. His railroad would become among the most profitable in the Northwest. He didn’t need Morgan the way other railroad executives did.
Hill was short51 and stocky, blind in his right eye, and long-haired at a time when most men weren’t. Raised on a farm in Ontario, he moved to America as a teen, started out as a steamboat agent, and was a multimillionaire by the time he was forty. He joined Morgan’s private resort on Jekyll Island, a strip of land ten miles long and one mile wide off the coast of Georgia, and Morgan’s Metropolitan Club, off Fifth Avenue.
Pounding the last spike of the Great Northern Railway, near Scenic, Washington, in the Cascade Mountains, January 6, 1893
Hill built a mansion52 on a bluff in St. Paul, Minnesota, for his wife, Mary, and their ten children. They shared forty-two rooms and thirteen bathrooms designed with the latest technology—hot and cold running water and showers with adjustable pressure. Hill insisted on a private telephone system and electrical plant. The grounds included a cave to grow mushrooms. The entire property was guarded and alarmed and cost Hill more than nine hundred thousand dollars. The municipality of St. Paul spent only six hundred thousand to build its Kasota stone courthouse and city hall in 1889. The bill for the St. Paul Union Depot, where Hill’s trains would stop along their journey to Seattle, came to a paltry one hundred twenty-five thousand.
James J. Hill
Hill was like53 a lot of other rich men when it came to money. He wanted to make sure he was paying as little as possible but still getting everything he wanted. During the Panic of 1893, he ordered his operating chief to lay off workers and reduce the day laborers’ wage to a single dollar. “There will be plenty of men to work at those rates,” he said. Someone sent hate mail to Hill’s home in response: “It would be54 a fitting climax if you should be taken by your employees and hung by the neck till dead, from one of the triumphal arches so recently erected at the expense of the very people you are now defrauding of their hard earnings.”
Hill kept track of everything: grudges, slights, affronts, mistakes. He bullied55 other executives, second-guessed his own, cursed, kicked doors, and once shattered a desk. He had a nervous habit of playing with a handful of rough stones he carried in his pocket. He didn’t trust politicians—or most of Wall Street’s statesmen—to do right by the railroads. He also knew he couldn’t ignore Morgan.
That’s because Morgan controlled the Northern Pacific, the railroad once financed by his rival Jay Cooke. After its first bankruptcy, the Northern Pacific fell into the hands of a new owner, Henry Villard. But he, too, failed. The company foundered yet again in 1893, and desperate investors pleaded with Morgan to step in. He and Coster refinanced the company’s debt, replaced its executives, and hoped to reduce competition in the northwest.
So did Hill. In May 1895, after two years of negotiations, Morgan and Hill completed a merger of their two railroads that would put Hill in charge of operating both. It was a risky move, and lawyers for both men weren’t sure they could defend the deal in court. They hoped they wouldn’t have to. But Hill ignored56 their advice and arranged for a shareholder to test the legality of combining two competing lines. A Minnesota Circuit Court judge ruled that the deal could stand. Instead of accepting that victory, Hill pushed the case to the Supreme Court for the ultimate validation. He didn’t win it. In March 1896, the court ruled that the merger put “the public at the mercy of the corporation.”
A construction crew at Hill’s St. Paul mansion, 1891
Now the two partners knew for certain that they had to be craftier. Right after the decision came down, Hill crossed the Atlantic aboard the Lucania and Morgan crossed on his new yacht, still called Corsair. (He had traded up for a bigger model.) They met in a mansion on St. James’s Place to sign the “London memorandum,”57 an accord to aggressively protect the interests of both the Great Northern and Northern Pacific. A shadow merger. Hill and his allies bought shares in the Northern Pacific from Morgan, enough to make them the largest group of investors in the company. Morgan kept control over the voting trust and kept his men at the Northern Pacific. He wanted to maintain appearances and reward loyalty. “You will have to be58 as wise as a serpent and as harmless as a dove,” a friendly banker advised Hill.
One failed railroad seemed impenetrable even to Morganization: the Union Pacific, the first transcontinental line. The company allowed its tracks to disintegrate and its subsidiaries to remain tangled. The federal government demanded the company make good on its debt, with interest that had accrued over thirty years. Morgan called the Union Pacific “two streaks59 of iron rust across the plains” and walked away. It was a big mistake.
Edward H. Harriman took over the Union Pacific. For financing, he turned to James Stillman, the president of National City Bank—otherwise known as the Standard Oil Bank, with deep reserves of Rockefeller money. Harriman had started his career in 1870 as a stockbroker, with a seat on the New York Stock Exchange (purchased with a three-thousand-dollar loan from his uncle) and a small office down the street from Morgan’s. He made money during panics in the market and invested in small, troubled railroads. He was usually called furtive. His “was the genius60 of the conqueror,” a colleague said. “He was brusk [sic], short-tempered, with extraordinary faculty for doing the very thing, rubbing people the wrong way.” Harriman said he couldn’t change. “They will have to take me as I am or drop me.”
Among those he rubbed the wrong way was Morgan. Harriman thwarted one of Morgan’s railroad reorganizations and later tried to block another. Morgan considered him a “punk.”61
Harriman spent tens of millions to upgrade and expand the Union Pacific. The line had become “bold, energetic,62 and a dangerous rival” to the Great Northern, a newspaper editor and friend of Hill’s wrote.
Two years into the depression—amid bank failures, fear that the country’s paper currency could be worthless, and a run on gold, which backed the dollar—the Treasury’s reserves were dangerously low. The government usually kept one hundred million dollars’ worth of gold available; by February 1895 it had less than forty-five million and was losing two million dollars a day. A fractious Congress couldn’t find a solution. It seemed not only possible, but unavoidable, that the government itself would have to declare insolvency.
Morgan thought63 he could prevent that. He had quietly suggested to Treasury officials that the government sell bonds directly to him and his syndicate of buyers rather than to the public, which he said would take too long and might not be successful. In exchange, Morgan would give the Treasury the hundred million in gold it required. All that was left to be decided were the specific terms.
When rumors of the deal reached Wall Street brokers, they wanted to be involved too. Morgan refused. “It was absolutely64 impossible for more than one party to negotiate,” he later said. “It would only have made competition.” He dismissed anyone else’s ability to pull off the sale: “They could not do it.” When journalists heard about Morgan’s proposal, they accused President Cleveland of letting the money men profit at the expense of the nation.
Cleveland reconsidered. John Carlisle, the secretary of the treasury, told Morgan he was ending their discussions. The administration would rely on Congress to authorize gold bonds to sell directly to the public instead. “We consider65 situation critical, politicians appear to have absolute control,” Morgan cabled his London office.
Morgan decided to speak with the president himself. He traveled to Washington on Monday, February 4. At his side was one of his firm’s bright-eyed new hires: Robert Bacon, Theodore Roosevelt’s Harvard classmate and friend. When Bacon had been employed by a Boston brokerage firm that handled Morgan’s business, Morgan had come to appreciate his charm, tact, and industriousness—the financier had “fallen in love,”66 one of the firm’s partners said—and insisted on having the young man near him. At first Bacon was reluctant to accept the job offer, but Morgan persisted, and in 1894 he succeeded in poaching Bacon away to New York. Before Bacon left Boston, his mentor offered advice: “Don’t overwork67 like Coster just because you can and like to do it. He is wonderful—and unwise—to do so.”
Robert Bacon, a partner in J. P. Morgan’s firm and a friend of Roosevelt’s
Morgan and Bacon arrived in the capital uninvited. President Cleveland wished they would just go away and sent one of his closest advisers, Secretary of War Daniel Lamont, to the railroad station to try to persuade them to. Lamont told them Cleveland didn’t want to meet and wouldn’t consider a private bond sale. “I have come down68 to see the president,” Morgan told Lamont. “And I am going to stay here until I see him.”
Late that evening, Morgan talked to Attorney General Olney, who talked to President Cleveland, who relented. Cleveland, the first Democrat elected after the Civil War, had been an almost model Republican on most issues. Morgan had no quarrel with him. Morgan’s counsel, Francis Stetson, had been Cleveland’s law partner and was a frequent, confidential visitor to the Executive Mansion. He later became known as Morgan’s own attorney general.
At nine thirty the next morning, Morgan arrived at the Executive Mansion with Bacon and Stetson on either side. Another New Yorker was already there. August Belmont, representative of the Rothschilds, the powerful British bankers, had been working with Morgan on the bond plan. The president sat them all in the corner of his library. And then he ignored them as he conferred with his own men.
White House and Treasury Building, 1890s
Eventually, Cleveland walked over to them. Morgan, as was his habit, got to the point. He told the president that demands from New York could empty the treasury reserves that very day. They had no more time to negotiate. “Have you anything69 to suggest?” Cleveland asked. Morgan did. To avoid the wait for Congress to approve the deal, he said, the loan could be considered a purchase of coin rather than a sale of bonds, an obscure legal loophole that granted the president the right to make the deal on his own.
“I never was so excited70 in my life as at the interview,” Morgan told a friend. “Everything depended on my changing Mr. Cleveland’s mind. When I went into the room, I had an unlighted cigar in my hand; as I arose from the chair to go, I had no cigar but saw on the floor a little pile of snuff.” Cleveland begrudgingly agreed to Morgan’s plan, insisting, though, that the government would be fine with just sixty-five million. Then the president pulled a box of cigars from his desk and asked Morgan to stay while he dictated a note to Congress.
The plan worked. But when Morgan refused to reveal his profits on the deal—about three hundred thousand dollars71—Cleveland’s fellow Democrats excoriated him. It was bad enough that Morgan, king of Wall Street, had extended his command to the heartland. Now he was giving instructions to Washington.
Morgan believed the country’s financial and business structure should be controlled, and propped up when necessary, by the country’s financial and businessmen. They knew best. Or really, he knew best. He alone could protect the national interest, the soundness of America’s reputation, and even though he had a singular personal interest in doing so, he expected Americans to trust his motive. His patriotism called him to act. A “fascinating72 and lucrative patriotism,” one Wall Street broker said.
In his world, when there was a problem, Morgan could call men together in a drawing room or on his yacht. In the rest of the world, the growing antagonism toward the rich was a problem Morgan couldn’t understand. He didn’t want to adjust to it. When asked about it, he sometimes quoted his first father-in-law, Jonathan Sturges: “If God had intended73 that you should be the steward, he would probably have given you and not me the wealth.”
Manhattan, a June night, 2 A.M.: A man emerges1 from the Union League Club on Fifth Avenue, pulls up the collar of his coat, lowers the brim of his slouch hat, and sets off east on Forty-Second Street. It is Theodore Roosevelt, out to check on his police officers.
In 1895, after six years on the Civil Service Commission, Roosevelt had decided his work was done. He had stuck it out through Harrison’s term and into Cleveland’s too. Roosevelt took on an egregiously corrupt postmaster from Harrison’s hometown of Indianapolis; exposed wrongdoing in the prominent Baltimore post office; and encouraged promotions based not on favor but achievement. His greatest contribution2 may have been bringing ample public attention and his own private stores of energy to a once unproductive commission.
He cast about for a position back in New York City, with the thought of one day becoming a senator. The newly elected mayor suggested he start as street cleaning commissioner. After some gentle pressure from Roosevelt’s friends, the mayor offered him a position as a police and health commissioner instead. In the new role, his nighttime inspections became a cherished part of his routine. He usually invited a reporter along. On this June night,3 he came across three officers talking in front of a saloon, and others eating, sleeping, and chatting up a prostitute. Roosevelt couldn’t find their supervisor anywhere.
The consequences of these impromptu reviews weren’t uniform: Some officers received warnings, some paid fines, and some started to work their beats. “These midnight rambles4 are great fun,” Roosevelt said. Roosevelt is “the biggest man5 in New York,” a newspaper said.
The street patrols showed Roosevelt the city of shadows. His health inspections revealed the city of gloom, of darkened rooms and stale air. “My whole work6 brings me in contact with every class of people in New York, and I get a glimpse of the real life of the swarming millions,” he wrote to Bamie. One of his frequent companions was Jacob Riis, the photojournalist whose groundbreaking report about New York City’s slums, How the Other Half Lives, had been published in 1890. Shortly afterward, Roosevelt visited the Evening Sun office where Riis worked and left his card with a note on the back: “I have read your book7 and I have come to help.” Roosevelt was working on the Civil Service Commission then, so there wasn’t much he could do, but the two became friends. Five years later, as health commissioner, Roosevelt saw that living conditions for the working poor were unimproved since then, or even since his time as legislator, when his fact-finding missions among tenement dwellers had first challenged his perspective on the underclass.
His political pronouncements became more forceful. “There is not8 in the world a more ignoble character than the mere money-getting American, insensible to every duty, regardless of every principle, bent only on amassing a fortune,” Roosevelt wrote in a magazine article in 1895. “These men are equally careless of the workingmen, whom they oppress, and of the State, whose existence they imperil.”
As president of the commission, Roosevelt condemned rotten tenements and took on abusive landlords. He insisted on requiring an exam, instead of a bribe, for entry into the police force. He refused to consider religious or political affiliations for appointments. He put new officers on probation and gave on-the-spot promotions for heroism. He also bickered with the three other commissioners; he rarely thought they moved quickly enough. “The actual work9 is hard; but far harder is the intense strain,” he wrote to Bamie. “I have the most important, and most corrupt, department in New York on my hands.”
Bribes, payoffs, kickbacks, shakedowns, tips, protection: there were many ways to describe the shady transactions that police instigated to supplement their salaries. Proprietors paid something extra to open a brothel, run a gambling operation or a grocery store, sell fruit on the streets. They paid to keep their saloons open on Sundays. That violation was particularly lucrative and brazen, and ending it was personal for Roosevelt. Elliott had died10 an alcoholic just a year earlier. When Roosevelt began enforcing the law, the businesses lost a sizable amount of their weekly profits. Some newspapers and their readers regarded the crackdown as too harsh, and German Americans, many among them regular patrons on Sundays, their one day off, defected to the Democrats.
This placed Roosevelt11 in direct conflict with Thomas Platt, the head of the Republican Party in New York. “Easy Boss” Platt, as he was usually known, enjoyed national recognition and the backing of Morgan and Wall Street. Thin and pressed-looking in his early sixties, Platt was soft-spoken but tenacious, and Roosevelt’s actions had infuriated him. “As for my being12 a United States Senator, I have, as I wrote you, just about as much chance of being Czar of Russia,” Roosevelt told Lodge.
One Sunday morning in January 1896, Roosevelt was granted a meeting with Platt, at the Fifth Avenue Hotel, where he lived, just across from Madison Square Garden. The police commissioner had heard some disturbing rumors. The party boss confirmed them. Albany was combining the counties around Manhattan into one great city—New York City—with a municipal police leadership that wouldn’t include Roosevelt. The Republicans’ primary goal was to gerrymander as wide a swath as possible; abolishing Roosevelt’s commission in the process was an additional benefit. Roosevelt would be removed from his position in two months. He thought he had more time. “We got along13 very well, in an entirely pleasant and cold-blooded manner,” he recounted to Lodge. “They intend to legislate me out in about 60 days.” But after the New York Times published an investigative series called “The Republican Plot to Oust Roosevelt,” Platt backed down. If Roosevelt tipped off the paper, he kept it to himself.
One-hundred-degree heat14 scorched the city in the summer of 1896. As many as one thousand three hundred people from the tenements died. Most of the victims suffered heat stroke and dehydration. A few, seeking fresher night air and escape from their stifling rooms, fell from their roof tops in their sleep. The body count was as high as if a cholera epidemic had swept through. Horses collapsed by the thousands, making it impossible to transport all the carcasses to the rendering plants on Barren Island. Many of the beasts rotted on the streets. “They added15 a genuine flavor of pestilence,” Roosevelt wrote.
The mayor didn’t call an emergency meeting until nine days had passed. One health commissioner promised to at least make sure the streets were hosed down regularly. Roosevelt announced that he himself would help distribute ice from the police stations. A monopoly was keeping the price of ice artificially high. Giving it away was an unusual gesture—a handout from the government—and an implicit rebuke of the nation’s governing philosophy. “While the people16 should patriotically and cheerfully support their Government,” President Cleveland said, “its functions do not include the support of the people.”
But as the 1896 presidential race kicked off amid the backlash from Morgan’s bailout plan, Roosevelt wasn’t the only politician interested in renegotiating the compact between the government and the people. At its national convention that summer, Cleveland’s Democratic Party backed William Jennings Bryan, the fiery thirty-six-year-old populist from Lincoln, Nebraska. He was tall and dark-eyed and had a voice that could reach the last rows. He was called the Great Commoner. He advocated using silver as a legitimate currency alongside gold to help Westerners out of their financial troubles. “Free Silver” would expand the money supply, creating inflation and higher prices for crops and livestock. Farmers and ranchers could pay off their debts with cheaper dollars. Miners could mint their supply of silver bullion into coins. “You come to us17 and tell us that the great cities are in favor of the gold standard; we reply that the great cities rest upon our broad and fertile prairies,” he said to his critics. “Burn down your cities and leave our farms, and your cities will spring up again as if by magic; but destroy our farms and the grass will grow in the streets of every city in the country.” Bryan brought the speech to a dramatic end. He stretched out his arms, lowered his head, and said: “You shall not crucify mankind upon a cross of gold.” The crowd swelled18 with shrieks and cries and cheers.
Bryan traveled19 the country with his wife, Mary, and few of the usual political pretensions. He wore easy-to-clean alpaca suits and string ties and snacked on radishes. He spoke to a total audience of some five million20 people. He was mesmerizing and inspiring, and the Republican candidate knew he would be no match on the trail. William McKinley was fifty-three years old, a Civil War veteran from Ohio whom many still called Major. He had been a lawyer, a congressman, and a governor. His two daughters had died young, and his wife, Ida, had been unwell ever since. Voters knew that McKinley was responsible for Ida’s care, but that wasn’t the only reason he decided to campaign from his front porch in Canton. “I might just21 as well put up a trapeze on my front lawn and compete with some professional athlete as go out speaking against Bryan,” he said.
Poster from William McKinley’s 1896 presidential campaign
McKinley appealed to the desire for stability and unity after the upsets of the 1893 depression. He promised to protect American enterprise by maintaining the gold standard and restoring high tariffs. He offered a conciliatory vision of American opportunity. “All of us want22 good times, good wages, good prices, good markets, and then we want good money, too,” he said. Bryan didn’t think that was possible. For Wall Street23 and the business community, there was really no choice. If McKinley was refusing to go out on the campaign trail, then they would bring the campaign trail to him. The railroads cooperated24 to offer discounts that allowed three quarters of a million people—men mostly, but some women—to hear the Republican candidate. A Democratic newspaper sneered that it was cheaper to travel to Canton than to stay home.
Meanwhile, James Hill introduced25 McKinley’s campaign manager and fellow Ohioan Mark Hanna to the east coast magnates who might help with finances. J. P. Morgan, Hill’s business partner, contributed, and so did Andrew Carnegie. John D. Rockefeller, a childhood friend of Hanna’s, donated a quarter of a million dollars in corporate funds and wrote a personal check for twenty-five hundred. In total, Hanna raised three and a half million dollars—three million of it in New York—and proceeded to direct the most expensive campaign the country had ever seen. It included more than a hundred million pieces of literature, printed in ten languages; parades and fairs; and a silent film, McKinley at Home, that debuted in New York and then was screened in theaters across the country.
Roosevelt, with an eye toward his own political future, had introduced himself to Hanna that summer. Roosevelt wasn’t always the best judge of people, but his description of the businessman from Cleveland was just right—“a good natured,26 well meaning, coarse man, shrewd and hard-headed but neither very farsighted nor very broad-minded.” Someone, he thought, who must be handled with care. Roosevelt offered to join those already out stumping for McKinley. Hanna knew that Roosevelt’s vigorous presence would counter Bryan’s and so off went Roosevelt.
In the last days27 of the campaign, tens of thousands of people—merchants, brokers, brewers, railroad men, electricians, lawyers, and grocers—paraded along the main thoroughfares of their cities in a remarkable demonstration of support. They were marching for gold.
On November 3, 1896, McKinley won the election with 51 percent of the vote.
Roosevelt worried that he might end up unemployed if he remained in New York, a “melancholy spectre”28 and “idle father, writing books that do not sell.” A more promising future lay in Washington. Since he had written The Naval War of 1812, Roosevelt thought he might make an ideal assistant secretary of the Navy. Friends had already been lobbying on his behalf.
McKinley agreed to appoint Roosevelt to the position he sought, but wanted Boss Platt’s approval first. “He has been29 a disturbing element in every situation,” Platt said. But if McKinley wanted to put Roosevelt somewhere, the Navy would be a safe spot.
Roosevelt was returning to Washington.
McKinley was inaugurated in March, Roosevelt arrived in late April, and by the end of May the two were taking afternoon buggy rides30 around the city. During the summer, Roosevelt’s boss retreated from the city’s heat, leaving his assistant secretary in charge. “I am having31 immense fun running the Navy,” Roosevelt wrote to a friend. Through the autumn and winter of 1897, newspaper stories of Spain’s brutal rule in Cuba convinced many that America should help the revolutionaries fighting for independence. Some believed increasing humanitarian assistance on the island would be sufficient; others warned that military intervention could be required. Roosevelt was first32 among them. He argued that the Navy needed to better prepare for the possibility and carried on a campaign of persuasion at the White House. But McKinley wasn’t ready to join the battle.
On the evening of February 15, 1898, a mysterious explosion destroyed the battleship Maine, which the U.S. Navy had sent to Havana Harbor to protect American lives and property. Investigations never determined exactly what happened; most likely it was some sort of accident. But Roosevelt—cheered on by Joseph Pulitzer and William Randolph Hearst’s newspapers—said the sinking was a provocation that couldn’t be ignored. “The defective imaginations33 of many good people here, the limited mental horizon of others, and the craven fear and brutal selfishness of the mere money-getters, have combined to prevent us from doing our duty,” he wrote. The time had come to go to war, expand America’s reach, and upset the imperial order.
For Roosevelt, the pull of the war—of physical tests, of action—was irresistible. He was thirty-nine years old. The previous November, Edith had given birth to their fifth child, Quentin, then had been sick all winter, and was recovering from surgery for an abscess near her hip. Their two eldest sons were also unwell. But Roosevelt would not be dissuaded. He quit the Navy and got permission to help raise a volunteer cavalry unit for what John Hay, then ambassador to England, called “a splendid little war.”34 Some thousand men35 turned out by May. New York clubmen and Harvard men seeking adventure, cowboys eager to fight, merchants, clerks, brokers, and cops: the Rough Riders. Roosevelt had himself named lieutenant colonel. He sported36 the same khaki uniform as his commanding officer; he wore a blue polka-dotted bandana, too, like many of the other recruits. But he did carry some distinctly irregular gear: a Stetson hat with two pairs of glasses sewn into it, a revolver salvaged from the Maine, an officer’s saber with a sharkskin hilt, and a custom-made Winchester carbine. His regiment didn’t have to rely on standard equipment, either. The Rough Riders fought with a pair of Colt machine guns, provided by two of the millionaire soldiers.
For another millionaire, hard at work tending to his railroad investments, the conflict was a mere inconvenience. “I knew that37 if we had war, that would be the last of Havana cigars,” Morgan told a friend. “I had somebody in Washington ready to cable me of the declaration of war. I received my cable before it was made public.” That gave him time to drive to every cigar store in Manhattan that sold his favorites and buy them all.
He did make one sacrifice toward the war effort: Corsair. The Navy was purchasing the yachts of the wealthy and converting them to gunboats to fill out its fleet. Morgan “tried to38 put them off in every way and offered to build a vessel for the Government,” his son-in-law wrote. But there wasn’t time for that. The Navy paid Morgan two hundred twenty-five thousand dollars, and his second Corsair became the USS Gloucester. Within a month, Morgan had commissioned an even bigger third Corsair.
At the front, Roosevelt complained39 of the military’s blunders and inefficiency. The ships were overcrowded. Few men had been able to bring their horses across to the island. There were supply-line shortages of food, water, and ammunition. The heat was brutal. Malaria, yellow fever, and typhoid were rampant. In the battle40 for San Juan Heights, seventeen of his men died and eighty-six were wounded. Yet Roosevelt charged up Kettle Hill and became a war hero.
When he returned to New York later that summer, Platt was waiting with an offer to nominate him as governor of the most populous state in the nation, prosperous from trading, manufacturing, and Wall Street stock making. Platt’s opinion of Roosevelt was unchanged—and when the greater New York City of Platt’s hopes did come into existence that year, the first police chief41 did away with many of Roosevelt’s reforms. But Platt was desperate. The current occupant of the office, Republican Frank Black, faced accusations of corruption. Roosevelt had a sterling reputation in that regard; if he ran, the party could proclaim to voters that “every thief42 will be caught and punished, and every dollar that can be found will be restored to the public treasury.”
In early October43 1898, eight thousand, maybe ten thousand people pressed into Carnegie Hall and out onto the wet streets to see the war hero launch his campaign. Rough Riders marched down the main aisle. Magnificently dressed women and suited men cheered. Mark Hanna occupied a box seat and didn’t once look away from Roosevelt. “A soft, easy life is not worth living, if it impairs the fiber of brain and heart and muscle,” the candidate said. “We must dare to be great.”
Roosevelt was running against another Knickerbocker, former judge Augustus Van Wyck, and it turned out to be a closer race than the Republicans expected. In the final days of the campaign, the state party head told Platt and Roosevelt that he needed more money. Platt made a list44 of six contributors, with Morgan at the top, and said each would give ten thousand dollars. Roosevelt protested: “I cannot accept contributions from the men you mention. Really, I must decline.” Platt reminded him who was running the campaign and what was at stake, then headed down to Wall Street.
On Sunday,45 January 1, 1899, Governor Roosevelt stood alone on the veranda of the Executive Mansion in Albany’s bitter night cold. He had stayed out late, still exuberant over his victory, bubbling with plans and talk, and returned to his new home on Eagle Street to find it dark, silent, and locked. When he couldn’t rouse the watchman, Roosevelt smashed one of the large front windows to get in.
The next morning,46 thousands of people stood in the snow along the procession route to the just-completed state capitol. Roosevelt rode there in a sleigh. At 11:15 A.M. he walked into the Assembly chamber, which had been decorated in red velvet embroidered with gold, bowed to his wife, waved to his children, then sat behind a mahogany desk and turned his attention to the ceremony. Roosevelt had been sworn in as governor in a small event two days before. Now he gave his first speech. “Under no form47 of government is it so necessary thus to combine efficiency and morality, high principle and rough common sense, justice and the sturdiest physical and moral courage, as in a republic,” he said. This would be his governing code: optimistic, forceful, unnerving to critics. At a reception that afternoon, he shook hands with six thousand guests.
The next day48 he began the practice of inviting reporters into his office for fifteen minutes in the morning and afternoon to gossip and chat. He won their confidence despite only occasionally answering their questions. His aim, he wrote later, was to break down the secrecy that allowed the “invisible empire”49 of politicians and high capitalists to thrive.
By the end50 of the legislative session in April, Roosevelt had signed bills that promised stricter regulation of working conditions in the tenements, gave factory inspectors more authority and resources, and restricted state employees’ labor to eight hours a day.
He also alienated New York’s Republican establishment, along with its financial backers, by supporting a proposal to curtail corporate privileges by imposing a franchise tax. If companies received rich concessions from the state—to supply utilities such as gas or elevated railways—they should pay taxes on their revenue. That, Roosevelt said, would “even things up.”51
As the debate got under way in the legislature, Morgan’s deputies made what they considered a reasonable request: an exemption for the New York Central Railroad, one of the largest in the northeast. The Vanderbilts still owned a significant part of it, but most knew that Morgan controlled it. Roosevelt confided to a friend: “I like Pierpont Morgan52 and his partner Bacon is my classmate and close friend, but of course I cannot consider that in connection with this bill.”
After Roosevelt pushed the bill through, Platt suggested that he had undermined his chances to be renominated for governor—a contest still more than a year away. “I had heard53 from a good many sources that you were a little loose on the relations of capital and labor, on trusts and combinations, and, indeed, on those numerous questions which have recently arisen in politics affecting the security of earnings and the right of a man to run his own business in his own way,” Platt wrote. Roosevelt replied that as Republicans they should set themselves “as resolutely54 against improper corporate influence on the one hand as against demagogy and mob rule on the other.” Platt had said all he needed to. Several corporations, “howling like mad”55 at Roosevelt, challenged the legality of the tax measure. (In 1903 the law would be upheld by the Supreme Court.)
As the century was drawing to a close, an astonishing era of corporate expansion was beginning. Manufacturing plants combined, incorporated, and sold stock to a newly credulous public. So did railways:56 sixty-seven million dollars’ worth in 1898 and shares valued at one hundred seven million dollars in 1899.
To farmers it seemed that they had more opportunities to sell their produce to distant buyers but less control over their futures. Factory workers were free from the unpredictability of droughts and pests but left to defend themselves against the danger and drudgery of industrial jobs and the irascibility of bosses who could fire them or cut their pay with little explanation. President McKinley touted57 the nation’s burgeoning prosperity, but in the great scramble for a foothold, the striving middle classes—clerks and managers, teachers, and foremen—also felt forgotten as their independence dimmed. Many were unsettled by the arrival in their cities and towns of migrants from southern and eastern Europe. Anti-immigrant racism gained purchase.
“Would you mind58 giving me a hint about trusts? I have been in a great quandary over them,” Roosevelt wrote to a friend in Kansas during the summer of 1899. “I do not intend to play a demagogue. On the other hand, I do intend to, so far as in me lies, see that the rich man is held to the same accountability as the poor man, and when the rich man is rich enough to buy unscrupulous advice from very able lawyers, this is not always easy.” The Supreme Court was skeptical of executive power, and Congress uneasy about extending a president’s authority to the world of business. The trusts were a quandary that McKinley was willing to set aside. His populist opponents made it into a cause.
Roosevelt wrote letters and talked to business leaders, politicians, journalists, academics, historians. By the time59 he gave his second annual message as governor, in January 1900, he had refined his position on the trusts. He advocated government regulation, the right to intervene against monopolies, and the authority to demand corporations publicly report their earnings. It was an ambitious agenda, well received by the public, and unlikely to be fulfilled by the state legislature.
Roosevelt hoped he would have a second term as governor to make good on these promises. Circumstances—man-made and natural—prevented that. Platt recognized the limits of his control over Roosevelt. “I can’t do60 what I want with him, he is willful as Hell,” he told a friend. When Vice President Garret Hobart died in November 1899, Platt saw a chance to remove the governor who had become a liability and a threat. He pushed Roosevelt as McKinley’s running mate for the 1900 campaign. As vice president, Roosevelt would have no power and no constituency.
“All the big-monied interests61 that make campaign contributions of large size and feel that they should have favors in return, are extremely anxious to get me out of the State,” Roosevelt wrote to Lodge. He called the vice presidency an “irksome, wearisome place62 where I could do nothing,” and told Platt he would rather be a professor of history.63
That spring of 1900 Roosevelt set himself the task of dissuading McKinley and Hanna from considering him for the job. It was easier than he thought. “I think you are64 unduly alarmed,” Secretary of State Hay wrote to one of Roosevelt’s friends who had passed along his objections. “There is no instance on record of an election of Vice-President by violence, and I think people here are looking in quite another direction.” After Roosevelt himself went to Washington, Hay wrote of his visit: “He came down65 with a sombre resolution thrown on his strenuous brow to let McKinley and Hanna know once and for all that he would not be Vice-President, and found to his stupefaction that nobody in Washington except Platt had ever dreamed such a thing.”
But to many outside Washington, Roosevelt wasn’t impetuous or capricious; he didn’t seem beholden or bought. He wasn’t a crank, he was a reformer. A cowboy. A Rough Rider. As Republicans prepared for their national convention in Philadelphia that June, they couldn’t deny the enthusiasm for Roosevelt.
McKinley thought it unseemly to involve himself in a decision meant to reflect the will of the convention. Roosevelt would be there, among New York’s delegates. Platt had already seen to that. He kept up the pressure on the other states to support Roosevelt’s nomination, aided by Republican senators hostile to Hanna and eager to see his stature diminished.
In the days before the convention, Alton B. Parker, chief justice of the New York Court of Appeals, came for dinner at the governor’s mansion in Albany. Edith asked what to expect in Philadelphia. “You will see66 your handsome husband come in and bedlam will at once break loose, and he will receive such a demonstration of applause … as no one else will receive,” Parker told her. Roosevelt wouldn’t be able to refuse a place on the Republican ticket. “You disagreeable thing,” Edith interrupted. “I don’t want to see him nominated for the vice-presidency.”
When Roosevelt entered the Hotel Walton at a brisk march, through two massive stone arches and into the lobby, the crowd milling around came to. “T.R.’s name67 was on every lip,” a friend recalled. Some delegates already wore McKinley-Roosevelt campaign buttons. The June days in Philadelphia were hot, and the hotel’s corridors swarming. Bands blared. Delegations paraded from floor to floor. For a while68 Roosevelt sat at the window of his corner room, enjoying the breeze as he read the The Works of Flavius Josephus.
On Monday,69 June 18, Roosevelt called a press conference in his room, the unofficial headquarters of his unwelcome campaign. So many journalists and supporters crowded in that some stood on the bed. Roosevelt thanked the delegates for an honor he would rather not accept. He pleaded with them to respect his judgment that he could do more for the party as governor than as vice president. But he did say that the vice presidency was “well worthy of the ambition of any man in the United States.” Those closest to Roosevelt knew he had conceded. Decode his message and it revealed Roosevelt’s promise not to snub the party leaders, even as some wished they could do just that to him.
Nearly fifteen thousand70 people gathered in the Convention Hall on the morning of June 21, boisterous, shouting, already celebrating. McKinley’s position was assured. In keeping with precedent, he remained in Washington at the Executive Mansion. Roosevelt strode in at ten o’clock wearing a neat black cutaway coat, dark striped trousers, a blue necktie, and a delegate’s badge. Cheers and outstretched hands prodded him as he made his way to where his fellow New Yorkers waited. Moments later, Hanna arrived to equally loud applause. He approached Roosevelt, put an arm on his shoulder and whispered into his ear. Roosevelt nodded. Hanna, certain his party was making a grievous mistake, smiled and waved to the crowd.
On stage, Ohio senator Joseph Foraker nominated McKinley for president. Roosevelt listened to the speech, foreboding on his face. When he rose to his feet at the conclusion, he remained silent, hands in his pockets. Foraker called him to the stage to second the nomination. He stood unsmiling amid the thrum of enthusiasm in the audience. He began his speech by condemning the Ice Trust, with which he had tangled during New York City’s heat wave of 1896. “That’s right, Teddy!” delegates yelled in response. Later in his speech, Roosevelt previewed a campaign theme: “We did not promise the impossible … [that] there would come prosperity to all men; but we did say that each man should have a better chance to win prosperity than he had ever yet had.” Then, as whoops and applause filled the hall, he smiled.
Opening of the Republican National Convention, June 1900
Roosevelt returned to his seat, waving to the crowd along the way. He caught a glimpse of Edith, sitting in a gallery box, wearing a pink gown, pearl necklace, and black hat with feathers, the “cynosure of all eyes,” one reporter wrote. He smiled again. When the crowd finally quieted, the head of Iowa’s delegation nominated Roosevelt as vice president. All around him men threw their hats into the air, raised their state flags, pulled out banners with his name, and came roaring to their feet. The only female delegate71 on the floor, identified in the papers as Mrs. William Henry Jones from Salt Lake City, presented Roosevelt with roses. He bowed as he accepted them. The band played what had become his theme song, “A Hot Time in the Old Town Tonight,” and delegates marched past Roosevelt, who sat imperturbable. Of the 926 delegates at the convention, 925 voted for Roosevelt to be the Republican nominee for vice president. He abstained.
The “chair” Roosevelt used as a delegate from New York
After the convention, Hanna wrote to McKinley: “Your duty72 to the country is to live for four years.”
In October,73 shortly before the election, Morgan and Hill boarded Corsair one evening for an overdue reconciliation. Morgan was frustrated with Hill. He didn’t get along with Morgan’s man at the Northern Pacific, Charles Mellen, and the feeling was mutual. After a meeting in St. Paul in February 1900, Mellen reported back confidentially to New York: “You know how difficult74 it is to get anything tangible from Mr. Hill in connection with any matter. He does not write me, but prefers to conduct his negotiations by personal interview, and his memory is treacherous regarding what transpires.” The situation was made worse by Coster’s death that March; one of his many roles at Morgan’s firm had been to make sure Hill didn’t interfere too much in the Northern Pacific.
That fall, when a friend75 suggested to Morgan that Hill probably wanted to repair their relationship, Morgan replied: “Yes, I should think he would.” They talked until two in the morning.
They decided to extend their not-so-secret, not-technically-illegal railroad system eastward to Chicago, where both lines could connect to the New York Central. That would give them a route from coast to coast.
Chicago at the turn76 of the century had a population of 1.7 million, making it the second-largest city in the nation after New York. The five biggest meat packers operated in Chicago. So did iron and steel mills, breweries, and food companies. Chicago was home to the two most important mail order catalog companies, Montgomery Ward and Sears, Roebuck, and its publishing and printing industry was second only to New York’s. William Wrigley had given up on baking soda and sold chewing gum instead. Frank Lloyd Wright worked in an architectural studio connected to his home in the suburb of Oak Park. Jane Addams opened Hull House as a social services agency.
The Northwestern lines wouldn’t build their way to Chicago; they would buy their way in. Hill decided that he and Morgan needed to acquire the Burlington—independently run, publicly held, and uninterested in expanding further on its own. Securing those eight thousand miles of track would lead to one of the most contentious corporate battles the public had ever witnessed. That’s because Harriman, who owned the railroad that dominated the Southwest, decided he needed the Burlington too.
The wedding was1 scheduled for three thirty on the afternoon of Thursday, November 15, 1900. Spectators congregated in the streets and park near the church two hours before, in such a crush that a police squad was called to hold them back. St. George’s, the largest Episcopal chapel in New York, with seats for two thousand, was full. Morgan accompanied his eldest and favorite daughter, Louisa, down the aisle as an organist played the Lohengrin Wedding March. Pierpont was tall, but Louisa might have been just a little taller.
She wore a white satin dress with Alençon lace2 so elaborate the technique required ten years of training to master. Her veil was held in place with orange blossoms and a large spray of diamonds. Her corsage was surrounded by a diamond sunburst and brooch. Her father bought3 the wedding gown with her during a spring trip to Europe. He selected her bouquet (lilies of the valley, white roses, and orchids), all the decorations, and the guests (drawn from the social register and political elite). Louisa, thirty-four and involved in charitable work none of the papers bothered to describe, had long ago ceded the privilege of making her own decisions. Her husband, Herbert Satterlee, a thirty-seven-year-old lawyer, learned to accept his father-in-law’s singular munificence. Morgan told Herbert he intended to provide Louisa with a ten-thousand-dollar-a-year allowance even after they married. That about equaled Herbert’s salary as a lawyer. He told Morgan that wouldn’t be necessary. “I tried to4 head him off, but it was no use!” Herbert reported back to Louisa. She got her allowance. Morgan also gave the couple a country home on the Hudson near his. Later, he would build Louisa and Herbert a city home near his as well.
Morgan invited5 six hundred of the wedding guests to the family’s mansion at 219 Madison Avenue for the reception. Some chose to use the servants’ entrance to avoid the press of people in the grand foyer. Morgan had anticipated the crowd. He’d had a large ballroom built on an empty lot behind his home. Its floor was carpeted in royal red, the walls were the same color, and on them hung eight tapestries depicting the story of the sun god Apollo. The ceiling was covered with pleated cream-colored cloth that formed a sunburst. Strings of electric bulbs were suspended from it.
Neapolitan orchestras played ragtime and opera. Morgan was seen issuing instructions to the staff of waiters he hired from Sherry’s, the city’s finest restaurant. Herbert and Louisa stood in the drawing room to receive the guests:6 Rockefellers, Astors, and Vanderbilts; Secretary of War Elihu Root and his wife, Clara; Chauncey Depew, once the president of the New York Central Railroad, now a senator. James Hill couldn’t be there but sent Louisa7 bear, otter, and sable skins from the Northwest.
By seven in the evening the party was over. Morgan threw a white silk shoe in celebration as the newlyweds left for their honeymoon. The ballroom would likely be demolished before they returned.
The wedding took place just nine days after the 1900 presidential election. The people had again voted for McKinley over Bryan. Morgan invited the president and his wife, both of whom declined to attend. He also invited the new vice-president-elect and his wife. Only Edith,8 it seems, considered accepting.
In early December, Roosevelt—finishing his term as governor of New York—planned a banquet of his own. It was in honor of Morgan. Roosevelt wanted to show his appreciation for the banker’s support in the presidential campaign.
My dear Mr. Morgan,9
I will have the dinner at the Union League Club, Saturday, December 29th at 8 pm. With great regard,
Sincerely yours, Theodore Roosevelt.
P.S. I inclose [sic] an invitation to your son. I have always known him as “Jack” and I am not certain whether he is J. Pierpont Morgan Jr. or not.
He was still Jack.
Roosevelt also sent a note to Root, who had just finished a term as president of the club. Roosevelt asked Root to attend the dinner, which he said “represents an effort10 on my part to become a conservative man, in touch with the influential classes, and I think I deserve encouragement. Hitherto I have given dinners only to professional politicians or more or less wild-eyed reformers. Now I am hard at work endeavoring to assume the Vice Presidential poise.” Root offered encouragement but sent regrets. He said he had too much work to complete in Washington.
Located on Fifth Avenue11 and Thirty-Ninth Street, just blocks from Morgan’s own residence, the Union League Club was a fanciful mix of red brick and brownstone, gables, columns, chimneys and balconies. Louis Tiffany, the artist and glassmaker, helped design the interior. Membership was limited. The admission fee was, for all concerned, an insignificant three hundred dollars and annual dues a mere seventy-five. The rules were strict: no tipping, no card games, no smoking pipes, no women (except on Fridays and Saturdays before five).
Roosevelt’s father and Morgan’s first father-in-law12 helped found the club during the Civil War. Roosevelt was admitted when he was an assemblyman and managed his early political career from its rooms. He would soon serve as a vice president of the club as well.
On the evening of the twenty-ninth, an exhibit of modern painters hung in the art gallery, featuring Thomas Moran’s just-completed Shoshone Falls on the Snake River. The meal, the twenty-one guests, the surroundings—the familiar comforts of a privileged world—seemed to acknowledge Morgan’s rightful place atop it.
Around the country a sense of wonder at America’s prosperity—the gross national product13 had increased almost 30 percent in McKinley’s first term—mixed with a quickening sense of inequity. Businessmen saw a rosy future uninterrupted by “vexatious” legislation.14 On Wall Street, investors were alert. More than twelve hundred15 companies were bought up in 1899, and a thousand or so more in 1900, enriching their owners and shareholders in the process. Rumors of railroad deals kept trading brisk. Now the new year was bearing down, and with it, new and aggressive moves from within the House of Morgan.
On March 3, just before Roosevelt stepped into the vice presidency, a new company, U.S. Steel, captured almost as much attention. Morgan had assembled the conglomerate—capitalized at $1.4 billion, incorporated in New Jersey—in parallel to his efforts to combine railroads. It was responsible16 for more than half the country’s steel production and almost one hundred fifty thousand workers. Speculators went mad for the stock. Orders came from17 global centers of commerce, and from hundreds of American towns. So many checks18 and pledges poured into 23 Wall Street that the firm had to hire extra clerks to handle the mail. Millionaires came in person to ask to get into the syndicate. Many government officials—Republican senators in particular—were also tied up in Morgan’s steel enterprise, the World wrote in an editorial. “Mr. Morgan’s power19 over the Senate is more sinister than his power over Mr. McKinley. With the President he is simply an adviser, whose advice is usually heeded. With the Senate Mr. Morgan can exert the rude might of Money.”
“Pierpont Morgan is20 apparently trying to swallow the sun,” Henry Adams, the well-known historian and gossip, wrote to a friend. Adams seemed merely amused. “America is good enough21 for me,” Morgan reportedly told one paper. “Whenever he doesn’t like it, he can give it back to us,” the editor replied.
The new year brought a new face at 23 Wall Street as well. Just days after U.S. Steel opened for business, George Perkins22 officially joined the firm. He and Morgan had met in 1900, when Perkins, thirty-eight at the time and a senior executive at New York Life Insurance, had approached the financier for a contribution to a campaign to save the Hudson River Palisades. (The fundraising drive was then-Governor Roosevelt’s idea.) It was good timing. Morgan wanted something from Perkins as well. Morgan promised to provide the full amount to the Palisades project on one condition—that Perkins come work for him.
“Take that desk over there,” Morgan said, pointing to an empty one among the partners’.
“I have a pretty good desk up at the New York Life,” Perkins answered.
That position, and some degree of independence, was important enough to Perkins that Morgan reluctantly agreed to let him keep it when he finally did join the firm two months later. The only request Morgan refused to honor was to give Perkins’s secretary, Mary Kihm, a desk. Morgan didn’t allow women to work at the bank. Perkins set her up in a rented office nearby instead.
Perkins didn’t care much about promoting stocks and bonds. He was interested in creating the political environment he believed necessary to achieve the corporate efficiency he demanded. Like Morgan, he thought the surest route to profitability was to centralize power and cooperate with would-be rivals. Competition seemed so wasteful. Perkins would become Morgan’s strategist, mediator, lobbyist, and publicist as the firm entered into increasingly sensitive public negotiations and private reorganizations. Perkins, who had run his family’s grocery store, would earn more than a million dollars some years, and yet Morgan left him cold. “I began life23 sorting lemons,” he wrote a friend. “I have been doing it ever since.”
George Perkins, Morgan’s “secretary of state”
On March 11, 1901, at the end of Perkins’s first week at Morgan & Co., Vice President Roosevelt sent him a telegram of congratulations24 and greetings to his boss. As with the Union League dinner, Roosevelt still intended to stay in the good graces of Wall Street’s most influential man. Morgan seemed at the height of his powers, unshakable. But his railroad deals—the juddering pistons driving him and his firm forward—were about to give Wall Street an unexpected shock.
That same month, the president of the Burlington Railroad accepted Hill and Morgan’s third offer for the company. They had started at one hundred forty dollars a share and shook hands at two hundred. “It was the only25 price at which it could be bought and we had great difficulty in getting it at that,” Morgan said. They did receive one concession: the Burlington accepted bonds rather than cash.
Soon afterward, Jacob Schiff, the head of the firm Kuhn, Loeb & Co., asked to speak with Morgan. Wall Street’s anti-Semitism was unabashed and mostly unquestioned; Schiff was one of the few Jewish bankers Morgan seemed to respect. Still, Robert Bacon and not Morgan would be the one to take the meeting.
Schiff did business with both Harriman and Hill. They were among the most prominent railroad tycoons, and if he could avoid having to choose one over the other he would. But when it came to the Burlington, they were opposed, and he was on Harriman’s side. Harriman had bid26 for the Burlington in 1899 but was refused; then he tried to gain control in the open market but couldn’t find enough stockholders willing to sell. Now Schiff argued that, to keep the peace, Morgan and Hill should sell Harriman one-third of the rail line. He would pay cash. Bacon said it was too late. Schiff told Bacon his rebuff was a “grave mistake,”27 and Harriman’s Union Pacific “would have to protect itself.” Bacon didn’t seem worried.
In early April, just weeks after U.S. Steel had gone public and McKinley had taken the oath of office again, Morgan boarded28 the White Star Liner the Teutonic with his sister and a female friend. A plain-clothed police escort accompanied them to the gangway. Morgan and his guests settled into first-class staterooms, and then they were off to Europe. At 23 Wall Street, Bacon and Perkins, on the job for just a month, were in charge of business.
Harriman and Schiff made29 one more attempt to get in on the Burlington deal. On Easter Sunday, April 7, Hill was dining at the Madison Avenue home of George Baker, the head of First National Bank and one of the richest men in the country. At midnight they planned to board a train to Boston to complete the purchase of the Burlington. As they finished their meal, Harriman and Schiff showed up. Hill again turned down Harriman’s offer, and Harriman again threatened to retaliate. “Very well, then, this is an invasion of Union Pacific territory, a hostile act, and you will have to take the consequences,” he said. He wasn’t done. He and Schiff jumped into the carriage with Hill and Baker and were still talking as the men walked onto the platform at Grand Central. Hill and Baker hurried onto the train and headed north.
Edward H. Harriman
On April 14, Hill returned to St. Paul briefly before heading out west with two important Great Northern shareholders and two company executives. He wanted to show off his railroad. “Papa has had30 another busy day. No let up,” Hill’s wife, Mary, wrote in her diary of his Sunday at home.
“We see by papers that Papa is hurrying back from the Coast,” she wrote on Thursday. The Minneapolis Journal reported that as soon as Hill and his party had arrived in Seattle, he had immediately wired St. Paul that he wanted “fast time”31 home. The tracks were cleared and the three-car train—“President Hill’s magnificent car, made of steel throughout, a baggage car and a strong engine”—would stop only for coal and water. Normally the eighteen-hundred-mile route required sixty-six hours to traverse. They made it in just under forty-six hours, breaking all Great Northern records, the paper noted. When the train reached a top speed of 85 miles an hour, the vibrations of the engine made it impossible for the fireman to stand, so he sat down to shovel the coal.
As Hill stepped onto the platform in St. Paul, his secretary gave him a coded telegram from Daniel Lamont—Cleveland’s former secretary of war was now a Northern Pacific executive: “Is it Louisa32 Pomegranate to Comport Hopingly Nursery Wooden?” It was a request that Hill return to New York to conclude the Burlington deal.
While Hill traveled out west and Morgan acquired a Raphael Madonna in Paris, Harriman and Schiff secretly bought up shares in Northern Pacific. This was their revenge. Hill and Morgan had effective control over the Northern Pacific, but they didn’t own a majority of the shares. That was common practice among railroad executives and their bankers, and Morgan in particular had never found it necessary to own a company outright in order to exert influence. No one around Morgan—and certainly not the man himself—believed a raid on a Morgan company in the open market would succeed. They couldn’t imagine who would dare. Harriman dared.
The Northern Pacific’s stock price rose as a result of the stealth purchases, but that didn’t surprise anyone at 23 Wall Street. U.S. Steel had begun operations, investors were optimistic, speculators were busy. “A stream of33 excited customers, of every description, brought their money down to Wall Street, and spent their days in offices near the Stock Exchange,” the financial journalist Alexander Noyes wrote. “The newspapers were full of stories of hotel waiters, clerks in business offices, even doorkeepers and dressmakers, who had won considerable fortunes in their speculations.”
Bacon and the Northern Pacific34 board decided to cash in and sold some of the railroad’s stock. Morgan’s firm unwittingly sold a million dollars’ worth, too.
“The reckoning comes35 from an unexpected cause,” Noyes wrote, “at the moment when the public and the speculators have reached the conclusion that it can never come.”
Visitors, “including a multitude36 of women in spring costumes,” filled the galleries of the New York Stock Exchange when the gong rang out at three in the afternoon on Friday, April 26. Many old members who hadn’t been there for years were on the floor. When trading ended, they all cheered. It was the last day of business in the thirty-five-year-old building. The exchange needed a bigger space that reflected the country’s new global financial dominance.
Business resumed Monday in temporary quarters in the New York Produce Exchange, a five-minute walk away. Workmen installed four hundred fifty phones and dozens of cables in preparation.
Signs of exuberance were everywhere. The price of seats on the floor had increased from one hundred seventy-five dollars to three hundred in a matter of days. Tuesday, April 30, was the first session in which stock transactions had ever totaled more than three million shares. By Thursday, so much stock was trading hands that specialists had to work late, some through the night, to record all the transactions.
Still, something didn’t seem quite right. Bacon began to suspect that Harriman and Schiff were behind the purchases of Northern Pacific stock. He cabled Morgan that they might be seeking a seat or two on the board, a prospect that alarmed no one at the firm.
But Hill was alarmed. He had come to New York and on Friday, May 3, went to Schiff’s office, conveniently located a few floors below his. Schiff told him everything.37 He and Harriman owned 50 percent of Northern Pacific’s stock, both common and preferred shares. They intended to combine the railroads Hill and Morgan controlled with those Harriman owned. Hill could run the whole system if he abandoned Morgan and added his stock to theirs. Harriman promised to stay out of his way. Hill didn’t give the idea a moment’s thought. He had built the Great Northern and negotiated for the Burlington, and there was no way he was giving up either without a fight.
“They actually had38 the gall to suppose that I would consider such a proposal,” he wrote to a friend. Hill turned down the offer. But he accepted Schiff’s invitation to dinner that evening at his home high on Fifth Avenue.
Then Hill went straight from 27 Pine Street to 23 Wall Street to warn Bacon and Perkins. They summoned every assistant in the office to count shares to determine if Hill and Morgan had really lost the Northern Pacific. As they scoured the record books, Hill recalled an unusual provision of the company charter they might use to thwart Harriman. The dread in the office briefly lifted. Harriman and Schiff had bought 50 percent of Northern Pacific’s stock, but they held more preferred shares than common shares. Both had voting rights, but at Northern Pacific common shares gave their owners more control. The board of directors had the power to essentially null the preferred stock come the first of the year. And the directors were almost all Morgan men. A new board was supposed to be elected on the first of October 1901. If Morgan and Hill could gain a majority of the common stock, they could keep control of the board, which could then retire the preferred shares.
It wasn’t an elegant solution—and would likely be challenged in the courts—but it seemed the only way to prevent Harriman from taking over.
Now they needed to buy common shares. For permission to do so, Bacon had to interrupt his boss’s vacation. He sent a telegram to Morgan—codenamed Flitch39—seeking approval to purchase one hundred fifty thousand more shares of Northern Pacific. This was the first Morgan was hearing of the raid and he was growling mad. He dictated a curt reply in code: Buy at any price. Starting Monday, they would.
Before then, Schiff would40 again attempt to end the hostilities. Hill arrived for Friday night dinner with the banker, his wife, Therese, and their children. Once his family left the room, Schiff said he and Harriman would stop buying Northern Pacific stock if Hill made Harriman a director of the Burlington. Hill trusted Schiff but not Harriman. They talked for hours, and when Hill finally left it was close to midnight. He made no promises.
Harriman called41 Schiff’s office the next morning to instruct him to buy forty thousand shares of Northern Pacific’s common stock before the exchange closed at noon. Harriman seemed to have discovered the loophole, too. With that last batch, he could be assured of control even if the company’s board took the drastic action of doing away with the preferred stock he had been accumulating. Schiff was at Temple Emanu-El when he received a note with Harriman’s message. He ignored it. He never explained why. He didn’t seem to understand how vulnerable their position was. Certainly Hill had been careful not to give Schiff any indication that he had found a flaw in their plan. “We are letting42 the enemy think they have control,” Hill wrote to a friend and investor.
Hill and the House of Morgan could afford no more miscalculations. Hill cabled his friends in England to hold onto their Northern Pacific stock. But Bacon was frantic over the possibility that more shares might inadvertently slip away. “Damn it,43 Bacon, don’t worry,” Hill told him. “My friends will stand without hitching.”
Meanwhile, Bacon contacted44 Jack Morgan, who ran the firm’s London operations: “Most important you or friends should not sell NP common at any price without consulting JPM.”
“What is happening?” Jack wrote back.
On Monday, May 6,45 Morgan & Co. sent Jim Keene, a notorious stock manipulator, into the market to secure the shares it needed to retain control of the Northern Pacific. By Tuesday, the exchange was teeming with Keene’s brokers, some of whom were buying Northern Pacific shares that, it turned out, didn’t exactly exist. The price increased so sharply—it had been trading at one hundred ten on Saturday and by Tuesday had reached one hundred forty-nine—that traders were selling the stock short. That is, they were selling stock they didn’t yet own, expecting that later, as shares flooded the market in response to demand, they could purchase what they needed at a lower price—thus making good on their commitment and making a profit. But traders discovered there was little stock to borrow and almost none to buy. And the price was not falling.
Speculators had to liquidate their shares of other companies to pay for the borrowed Northern Pacific shares. By Wednesday, May 8, the entire exchange was crashing. Many investors stayed in town long after the market’s close to gossip and glean what information they could at the Waldorf-Astoria, the preferred public gathering spot for the Wall Street elite. They had borrowed money at staggering rates of interest and paid small fortunes to borrow the stock. “The air was thick46 with rumors, with tobacco smoke, and with the fumes of various fluids which the brokers, bankers and financiers were consuming in order to steady their nerves,” one reporter wrote. Loss, maybe ruin, were waiting for them.
The Produce Exchange, with its arched windows and stained-glass skylight high above the floor, usually felt bright with promise. Thursday, May 9, was a day of shadows and despair. At a quarter past eleven, a single share of Northern Pacific stock reached the shattering price of one thousand dollars. Then somewhere, someone heard the music slowing and understood what would happen when it stopped. Somewhere, someone decided to get ahead of the impending crash. Suddenly, the price of Northern Pacific shares dropped four hundred dollars47 in a single trade.
Everyone rushed to sell. Men who were strong enough threw smaller ones out of their way. They elbowed themselves back into the crowd, grabbed coats and collars, and pushed on.
At one in the afternoon, prices were still dropping. The value of48 Morgan’s U.S. Steel fell by half. A second’s delay could mean thousands of dollars lost. Traders were desperate as their riches vanished and brokers helpless as their customers’ investments shrunk by the moment. The spectators in the gallery were escorted out. A rumor spread that uniformed guards might be required to protect brokers on the floor from being attacked by distressed customers.
At a quarter past two, Schiff’s firm and Morgan’s tried to still the chaos by announcing they wouldn’t expect brokers to deliver Northern Pacific stock due the next day. That wasn’t enough.
Morgan had been enjoying49 the spa treatments and sulfur baths at the Grand Hotel in Aix-les-Bains when he received word of the panic. He had no choice and he hated having no choices. He had to give up on his holiday there. Morgan traveled to the Paris office, and sent word to Bacon to end the trouble with a settlement—otherwise he would return to New York to do so himself. In the meantime, he remained in contact50 with his partner, dictating telegrams early in the morning from his bed. Later, sitting in a Parisian park, he looked deep in thought. He was said to be in a “snarling mood.”
On May 10, as he instructed, Hill, Harriman, and Schiff agreed to accept one hundred fifty dollars for a share of Northern Pacific stock to allow short sellers to clear their accounts. That still wasn’t enough. A good part51 of Wall Street was technically insolvent for a couple of hours that day. Morgan directed that six million dollars be available for immediate loans, New York banks offered another twenty million, and no firm went bankrupt. This was little comfort to the many small investors who wouldn’t recover as easily. “The spell was broken,”52 said the Commercial and Financial Chronicle. Speculative fortunes could be unmade as quickly as made. “Belief in the invulnerability of any such movement is therefore a delusion,” the paper warned. Some called it the hysteria of stock gamblers.
The Panic of 1901 was the biggest market crash in a century.53 Many held Morgan responsible for allowing a fight among tycoons to wreak public havoc. Undaunted, he resumed his European vacation once the panic subsided. In June, he dined at Windsor Castle with the new king, Edward VII.
In New York,54 amidst the worst of the frenzy, Hill remained in his office. It had no stock ticker, no telephone, just a box of expensive cigars on his desk and a few pictures of locomotives on the walls. From there he told reporters: “All I can do is to liken it to a ghost dance. The Indians began their dance and don’t know why they are doing it. They whirl about until they are almost crazy. It is so when these Wall Street people get the speculative fever. Perhaps they imagine they have a motive in that they see two sets of powerful interests which may be said to be clashing.”
“Those lambs were getting too ‘chesty,’ ” Harper’s Weekly cover after the May 1901 stock market panic
A few days later, he said that the Great Northern was “quite able to skin its own rabbits,” and denied that he and Morgan were working together. But both he55 and one of Schiff’s partners, Otto Kahn, said that none of this would have—could have—happened if Morgan had been in town. He would have detected trouble sooner and put an end to it faster. “We are all a little ashamed of ourselves,” Kahn admitted. Hill admitted nothing.
“We appreciate56 very much all you have done for us in this miserable business,” Bacon cabled Jack Morgan in mid-May.
By then, Roosevelt had long left Washington for Sagamore Hill, his home on Long Island’s Oyster Bay, intending to return to his new job in October. He joked that as vice president he had “taken the veil.”57 He thought political oblivion waited for him. He considered studying the law while in office to prepare for it.
But first, summer with Edith and the children. Marshes, beaches, pastures, and woods spread over 89 acres.58 Winter wrens, great crested flycatchers, yellow-billed cuckoos, and ruby-crowned kinglets. A library with southern light. A gun room facing north over the bay. No electricity. Rocking chairs on the veranda. “I am rather ashamed59 to say that I am enjoying the perfect ease of my life at present,” he wrote to William Howard Taft, who was about to become the colonial governor of the Philippines. “I am just living out in the country, doing nothing but ride and row with Mrs. Roosevelt, and walk and play with the children; chop trees in the afternoon and read books by a wood fire in the evening.”
The Metropolitan Club60 was the most luxurious social club in New York, constructed during the depression of the 1890s at a cost of almost two million dollars on land once owned by Consuelo Vanderbilt, before she became the Duchess of Marlborough. Morgan was its first president. On May 31, 1901, after weeks of negotiations, Bacon, Hill, Harriman, and Schiff met in the club’s private dining room to sign a truce. Morgan’s firm would create a new board of directors for the Northern Pacific that included Harriman. Hill would run the Great Northern, Northern Pacific, and Burlington lines with “uniform methods61 of management and accounting.” The rivals were making peace.
On July 4, Morgan returned to the United States aboard the Deutschland. He had been in Europe for three of the most tumultuous months on Wall Street. When the ship docked at Hoboken, Corsair was waiting to ferry him up the Hudson to Cragston, his country estate. So were reporters. “Mr. Morgan62 as is his custom was most outspoken—on subjects that are not connected with the business world and that he can discuss without danger of anybody knowing what he proposes to do,” his son-in-law noted.
Two weeks later, Morgan announced the new board members of the Northern Pacific, a company he had refinanced twice and defended at the cost of his public reputation. Hill, of course, would be a member and, said Morgan, “We will put63 Mr. Harriman on this board, and Mr. Schiff, too, to show them we are not afraid of them.”
Morgan kept quiet about what else he and Hill proposed to do—set up a holding company to protect the railroads from anyone else, or even Harriman himself, who might try again to seize control. The larger the company, the more difficult it would be to secure a majority of it. New Jersey beckoned, with its promises to fast track applications, impose few burdens, and provide “freedom from64 undue publicity.”
But first, Morgan and Hill had to placate Harriman. He had embarrassed and almost outmaneuvered them, and they still regarded him as an impetuous outsider. As Harriman suspected he would, Morgan instructed the board to implement his plan of last resort. Preferred shares had to be converted to common by January 1, 1902. Morgan and Hill’s control of the Northern Pacific wouldn’t be certain until Harriman handed over the paper proxies for his shares.
Morgan invited Hill65 and Harriman to Bar Harbor on Corsair to persuade the adversaries to set aside their complaints and antagonisms. Harriman invited Hill to Arden, his sprawling estate in New York. On September 1, at Arden, Harriman finally agreed to surrender the proxies. Within a week a courier arrived at 23 Wall Street to deliver them.
These were the secret contents of the package Morgan received on the morning of Friday, September 6. That afternoon, President McKinley was shot.
Roosevelt hadn’t seemed the vice presidential type. That summer, as he considered his future, a friend said: “I would not like66 to be in McKinley’s shoes. He has a man of destiny behind him.” Destiny arrived sooner and with more force than anyone expected. Those first days in power, among his confidants, Roosevelt was voluble, vehement. He walked faster than usual. He was already anxious that the compromises required to secure a second term would be too great: “I rather be67 a full President for three years than half a President for seven years.”
Morgan carried on as planned. He took his trip to the west coast for the Episcopal Church convention in San Francisco (and to inspect his railroad properties). When he returned to Wall Street in late October, he directed a holding company—Northern Securities—be formed for the stock of the Northern Pacific, Great Northern, and Burlington lines. Morgan brushed off68 concerns that the new company might violate antitrust laws. Maybe he regarded the Sherman Act as inconsequential, largely unenforceable, a sop to an ill-informed public. Maybe he assumed Roosevelt did too. But his lawyers were worried. “What do you want to do?” one said. “Do you want to go to jail?”
Complicating matters69 was the fact that Morgan’s favored partner was unwell. The May panic had strained Bob Bacon. Overworked since Coster’s death and clashing with Perkins, he had suffered a nervous breakdown. Morgan granted him a year’s leave, and on November 6, Bacon sailed for Europe. (When he returned to New York at the end of 1902, he resigned from Morgan & Co. Including the sabbatical, he had lasted eight years.)
On the night70 of November 11, 1901, Harriman, Hill, and Perkins gathered at the Corner long after normal business had concluded. They haggled over the final details of their arrangement. Sometime past two in the morning, the men got into their carriages and stole into the moonless night.
At noon on November 13, the Northern Securities Company was incorporated in Trenton. Morgan signed71 the eighty-thousand-dollar check for the filing fee himself. That afternoon, the company held its first board meeting; Hill was elected chairman and presented with a twenty-dollar gold piece. He gave72 the coin to his wife. “Smithy very73 habitation,” he wrote in code to a friend. “Situation very gratifying.”
The Roosevelt family—six children aged three to seventeen and their stilts, roller skates, bicycles, their guinea pig1 named Admiral Dewey, their Manchester terrier, Jack, and Tom Quartz the cat—packed up at Sagamore Hill and moved into the Executive Mansion. Ike Hoover, the chief usher, called it “the wildest2 scramble in the history of the White House.”
They found themselves in a glorious Victorian relic:3 drafty and fusty with ornate but uncleaned ceiling frescoes, elaborate but fraying wallpaper, imposing furniture, bad plumbing, and little privacy. The family quarters were on the same floor as the executive offices. “Edie says4 it’s like living over the store!” Roosevelt told a friend. The Executive Mansion in 1901 didn’t yet reflect the aspirations of its chief occupant: to lead a government with a vitality equal to the nation’s. Roosevelt soon changed its official name to the White House, and by summer, he and Edith had selected Charles McKim,5 the architect who designed Columbia University, to renovate it.
Roosevelt settled6 into a routine. He ate breakfast with his family and lunch with Edith and several guests, often invited at the last minute. Congressmen and cabinet members who had come on appointment, friends who were in town, the academics, writers, reformers, labor leaders, occasional businessman, explorers, and big game hunters whom he invited to visit—they all waited as the table was configured to fit everyone. Dinner invitations were only slightly more formal.
Among his early7 guests was Booker T. Washington, the head of the Tuskegee Institute and the first African American man to be invited to dine at the White House. Roosevelt wanted to talk about political appointments in the South and the black vote; the next day Southern racists were so enraged some called for his impeachment. Nothing came of it, but Roosevelt didn’t extend another dinner invitation to Washington.
Evenings included Roosevelt’s sort of family time. “I play bear8 with the children almost every night, and some child is invariably fearfully damaged in the play; but this does not seem to affect the ardor of their enjoyment,” the president wrote to Alice, who was about to make her society debut and was often with friends in New York.
Roosevelt consumed nearly a gallon of sweetened coffee a day along with generous portions of plainly prepared food: chicken, fish, or a chop, soup, biscuits with currants called Fat Rascals. “The Roosevelts lived9 in middle-class simplicity,” one regular guest said. The household was boisterous, and Roosevelt—caffeinated, exclaiming, often completing others’ sentences—was the most animated of them all. He commanded the table and the room. Roosevelt said10 that his entire salary, a substantial fifty thousand dollars a year, went to funding their social life, which otherwise wasn’t provided for in any White House budget. He relied on Edith to figure out how to make all the ends meet.
Most mornings, he dispatched with dozens of visitors in the reception room near his second-floor office. He gave each a handshake, a welcome, and an abrupt reminder to skip any formalities. No compliments, either, or they’d hear: “Never mind that.11 Come to the point.” He responded in a loud voice to whispered requests he didn’t want to honor or judgments he didn’t think fair. If he had a spare moment, he turned to a book.
In the late afternoons, he often went riding on Bleistein. He named the horse for the friend—a businessman in Buffalo and fellow member of the Mason Lodge—who responded to his request for a suitable mount. “I want him12 to be big and powerful … with good manners and afraid of nothing,” Roosevelt wrote. “There must be no chance of his misbehaving himself, as the President must not take the position of ‘broncho buster.’ ” When Edith joined him, they would make a show of driving in a carriage engraved with the presidential initials to the city’s edge, where their horses were waiting. They galloped through the hills of Maryland and Virginia. When Roosevelt rode with friends, he followed a different protocol. They all mounted their horses at the side door of the White House. Roosevelt protested13 that he didn’t need bodyguards during these afternoon excursions—he carried his own revolver—but the Secret Service, and Edith, eventually prevailed.
President Roosevelt with the cabinet he inherited, clockwise: Lyman Gage, Philander Knox, John Long, James Wilson, Ethan Hitchcock, Charles Smith, Elihu Root, and John Hay, November 16, 1901
He took vigorous cross-country jaunts through Rock Creek Park with visiting dignitaries and friends. He ordered14 the White House lawn trimmed and a rolled dirt tennis court constructed outside the executive offices. He trained with wrestlers, boxers, and jujitsu masters and often shared amused accounts of his mishaps: swollen bruises, bloody gashes, sopping wet and muddy clothes, stiff and sore limbs.
“He has made15 a splendid impression on public opinion,” said Secretary of State John Hay, calling him “a young fellow16 of infinite dash and originality.” Roosevelt charged the presidency with a new velocity. The world was speeding up, and he was a man of his time.
Roosevelt’s personal barber17 arrived at the White House just before lunch, as he did most days, to give the president a shave. Roosevelt perched in a straight-backed armchair, a Tiffany lamp next to him, in a small room between his office and that of his secretary. With shaving cream on his face and a razor close, he often gossiped with journalists or held informal, off-the-record press conferences. Sometimes he dictated letters. Rarely did he keep still.
This particular afternoon he was preoccupied, alone, quiet. It was Wednesday, November 13, 1901. Pierpont Morgan had just announced that the controversial takeover fight for the Northern Pacific had been settled. He didn’t say how, not yet. But if Morgan revealed that a business dispute had ended in a deal, that usually meant it had gone according to his instructions.
Roosevelt and the nation learned the details of that deal hours later: a four-hundred-million-dollar railroad colossus called Northern Securities.
Now it seemed as if a small group of the very wealthy, concentrated in the precincts of Wall Street, could issue decrees and determine the destinies of the most important parts of the nation’s economy. They pulled the strings, everyone else jumped. Americans were skeptical of these men, discontent with these vast rearrangements, and felt unable to stop them.
Roosevelt said nothing. But after his shave on that November day he ate lunch with his attorney general, Philander Chase Knox.
Roosevelt showed Knox the just-finished draft of his first state of the union speech. His predecessors had relied on cabinet members to write passages that did little but recount accomplishments. He intended to use this address to set the agenda for his unexpected presidency. A clerk would read his words, all twenty thousand of them, to Congress on Tuesday, December 3. An anxious nation waited.
In the early weeks of autumn, Roosevelt had devoted much of his time to writing the address, especially the language describing the central economic concern of the moment—the shadowy power of industrialists and bankers who were accumulating wealth at astounding rates with little government supervision.
Roosevelt wanted to assert Washington’s supremacy over this secretive system and assure those venturing to find their places in the modern economy that he would be their champion. He needed to carefully calibrate his tone to appeal to progressives and conservatives. He wanted to arouse confidence and understanding, not suspicion or antagonism. He hoped for mutual agreement that the country required new rules for a new century: that the government must be able to regulate businesses, hold businessmen to account, and promise to be fair. Roosevelt had to mediate18 between the assumptions of the past and the hopes for the future. He had to consider his principles and the circumstances. Most of all, he had to strive for the possible.
Allies, supporters, Republican leaders, and Wall Street and railroad executives all sought to influence Roosevelt in the first months of his presidency. He didn’t turn anyone away. In every job Roosevelt had held, he had gathered information and opinion, sought preapproval when he could. Hanna had known only of Roosevelt’s swagger, not his hard practicality. Now Hanna thought he saw something fresh and promising in Roosevelt’s method—an indication of maturity and pliability. “President Roosevelt19 is a different man than he was a few weeks ago,” the senator declared to the New York Times. “The new and great responsibilities that have been so suddenly thrust upon his shoulders have given him equipoise and conservatism … I believe that he will live up to the expectations of his dearest friends.”
Among the first of those dearest friends to visit Roosevelt in October happened to be emissaries from the House of Morgan. George Perkins, slick, energetic, and charming, and Roosevelt’s classmate from Harvard, Robert Bacon (in his last weeks on the job before his escape to Europe) arrived with a message: Leave business matters to the businessmen. Perkins and Bacon counseled the president to “sit back20 in the harness.” Great combinations of business and wealth perturbed the nation, but Perkins said Roosevelt need only offer platitudes. Before long both Perkins and Bacon would have seats on the board of the newest of those perturbations, Northern Securities.
After they left, Roosevelt wrote to his brother-in-law Douglas Robinson. Although Roosevelt was fond of Bacon and Perkins, they were nonetheless, “arguing like21 attorneys for a bad case, and at the bottom of their hearts each would know this … if he were not the representative of a man so strong and dominant a character as Pierpont Morgan.”
Transparency was the first order of business. Roosevelt wanted the government to have the right to inspect the workings of big companies. “Knowledge of the facts22—publicity,” then regulation through federal legislation. Perkins argued that Morgan’s companies were already voluntarily disclosing their earnings and losses. Perkins wants us to “accept the publication23 of what some particular company chooses to publish, as a favor, instead of demanding what we think ought to be published from all companies as a right,” Roosevelt wrote to Robinson.
Soon after, Roosevelt also found himself in the company of two of the railroad tycoons most personally involved in the May panic. James Hill invited24 himself to dinner on November 1, ostensibly to discuss his railroads’ value in the West. At eleven, he, Roosevelt, and Secretary of State Hay were still talking. The president himself contacted Harriman, whom he had known for years. Harriman was a Republican campaign donor with a particular interest in New York state politics. On November 12, the day before Harriman, Hill, and Morgan announced the formation of Northern Securities, Roosevelt wrote to Harriman, thanking him for sending the first volume of a scientific exploration of Alaska’s coast that he had funded. Roosevelt also took the opportunity to invite Harriman to dinner in Washington to “talk over various matters.”25 Harriman didn’t take the president up on the offer right away.
In the speech he was still busily revising, Roosevelt called the railroads a “public servant,” obliged to serve all customers fairly. But he said he would leave it up to Congress to determine the precise means of regulating rates.
Hanna read his copy of the president’s message in New York, where he was staying at the Waldorf-Astoria. Hanna replied with a handwritten four-page letter that began, “I have been26 thinking (hard) about that portion of your message regarding ‘Trusts.’ ”
In addition to Hanna’s jobs as senator and industrialist, he also served as the first president of the National Civic Federation, a group of business and labor leaders who believed in the right of workers to organize but wanted to soften what they considered the unions’ rough tactics. Hanna argued for inaction on their behalf. “We can hold our power in politics as long as we can retain the confidence of this element,” he wrote of union members. “They are not worried over the ‘Trusts’ question and I do not believe they want to see it made a political issue.”
Hanna believed that industrial efficiency required regulatory guarantees and the consolidation of power and resources. Protecting the right of workers to organize also meant protecting the right of capital to organize. (The courts held the inverse to be true: if trusts could be prosecuted under the Sherman Act, then unions could be too.) Big Labor was inextricably linked to Big Business, and Hanna was for both. But he failed to convince Roosevelt.
Hanna, like his friend Perkins, was also concerned about Roosevelt’s demand that companies disclose financial information to the government. “The inquisition feature is most objectionable,” he wrote at the end of his letter. “I see dynamite in it.” Roosevelt kept that feature in.
During his final weeks of preparation, Roosevelt also read the speech to members of his cabinet and sent sections of it to newspaper editors. Many warned the president that what they saw as government interference in the conduct of business could endanger America’s expanding affluence. “You have no27 conception of the revolt that would be caused if I did nothing,” Roosevelt replied to Paul Dana, the conservative editor of the New York Sun. “The message has been prepared in collaboration with Knox, I have gone over it carefully with Root and have submitted it to the most influential Senators and to at least a dozen prominent businessmen. I am very sorry to disagree with you.”
Knox and Root—Elihu Root, the secretary of war—were Roosevelt’s closest advisers in his inherited cabinet. Roosevelt liked them, trusted them, but didn’t always rely on them. They were corporate attorneys: Knox was intimately familiar with the most formidable industrialists of the time; Root, with the financiers. They would serve their new client. But they would test the scope of the country’s trust laws only if he asked.
Attorney General Philander Knox, circa 1902
Knox was just28 five and a half feet tall, clean-shaven and well appointed. When he first arrived from Pittsburgh in the spring of 1901 to serve in McKinley’s cabinet, reporters in the capital noted how fine his horses were and how beautifully he dressed, down to the pearls in his cuffs. His habit of seesawing back and forth on his toes seemed to hint at some hesitation, and the droop of his eyelids suggested a certain lassitude. Critics dubbed him Sleepy Phil, but in fact Knox was alert, confident, quick-stepping, charged with energy. When he argued in court, he was precise, unemotional. “One of our29 more highly finished domestic products,” as a journalist described him.
Knox had come30 to the late President McKinley’s attention as a student. In 1870, McKinley was a county prosecutor in Ohio and college debate judge. Knox was a champion debater. McKinley was impressed enough to offer him career advice: become a lawyer. Knox, already planning to do just that, went on to become among the best-known and best-paid attorneys in Pittsburgh. His practice was so lucrative that he turned down McKinley’s first offer to become attorney general in 1897. Pittsburgh by then was gathering its industrial might, powered by steel, controlled by Andrew Carnegie, his right-hand man, Henry Clay Frick, and the banker Andrew Mellon. All three were Knox’s clients.
Knox occupied a comfortable position among the city’s elite. When Mellon and Frick were interested in buying a controlling stake in the Pittsburgh National Bank of Commerce in 1881, Knox helped.31 He was not just their lawyer, he was also one of the bank’s directors. When Mellon organized the Union Trust Company, he put Frick and Knox on the board. Knox joined Frick’s regular Thursday night poker game and an exclusive hunting club outside Johnstown, Pennsylvania. Knox’s professional expertise would soon be called on by some of the club’s members.
Sixteen of them32 had built cottages in the woods around an unused reservoir with a dam. The club modified the structure and was supposed to maintain it, but in 1889, after torrential rains, the dam broke, flooding the town below and killing more than two thousand residents. The Red Cross led the relief effort in Johnstown. Knox defended his friends against claims from the flood’s survivors, arguing that the dam’s collapse was an act of God. An engineers’ report concluded negligence. But no judge or jury held anyone responsible or awarded the survivors any compensation. Some families received donations from club members. Carnegie built a new library in the town. No one there thought any of that was enough.
Knox would have other occasions to fight on behalf of these magnates. Early in the summer33 of 1892, as Knox was administering the merger of several firms into Carnegie Steel and Carnegie himself was vacationing in Scotland, Frick built a fence three miles long and twelve feet high around the Homestead Steel Works. He topped the fence with barbed wire and cut out holes for rifles. On June 29, he locked out the thirty-eight hundred workers after their union refused to accept proposed wage cuts. Frick claimed that a slowing economy and falling prices made the reductions necessary. He was also eager to crush a labor organization that he considered too sure of itself. When the workers still wouldn’t accept lower wages, he fired them all.
The men surrounded the idled mill and sealed off the town of Homestead, established by Carnegie along a bend of the south bank of the Monongahela River, about six miles upstream from Pittsburgh. The town and the mill had prospered together; conflicts had been negotiated, compromises made. Frick wasn’t interested in conducting business that way.
He secretly hired three hundred armed guards from Pinkerton’s, the private police force that provided intelligence to the Union Army and, afterward, muscle to companies that wanted to break strikes. The agency told the guards their assignment wasn’t dangerous. They would be protecting property. They didn’t need to know where. They were also, thanks to Knox’s efforts, supposed to be operating under the auspices of the county sheriff once they arrived. The sheriff had ordered the workers to give up their protest outside the mill, and when they didn’t he counted on the Pinkertons to enforce his command. The Pinkertons arrived by riverboat in the early morning darkness of July 6. The steelworkers were prepared to repel anyone who tried to enter Homestead without their permission. Thousands of men, women, and children from the town—armed with bricks, clubs, shotguns, revolvers and Civil War muskets—joined them on the riverbank. Someone fired a first shot. The Pinkertons and the Homesteaders plunged into a battle: Sharpshooters on the barges. Men barricaded on land. Bullets, scrap metal, and cannon balls flying in the smoke and powder. By the end of the day, seven steelworkers and three guards had died. The wearied and fearful Pinkertons raised a white flag. They were marched through the town—harassed, threatened, poked and prodded along the way—until they reached the Opera House, where they were held until they could safely depart the area by train. The townspeople burned their barges.
Frick did not surrender, though. He prevailed on the governor to call in eighty-five hundred National Guardsmen—armed with the latest rifles and two Gatling guns34—to retake the town and mill and protect strikebreakers. The troops remained in Homestead for three months.
On July 23,35 Frick returned to his office in Pittsburgh after lunch with a friend. Alexander Berkman, a stern and single-minded anarchist, was waiting. Berkman wore a new gray suit, purchased with funds from his sometime lover, Emma Goldman. He posed as the head of a New York employment agency eager to supply Frick with strikebreakers.
As soon as Berkman was admitted in, he drew a revolver, and fired three shots. The first two hit Frick’s neck and lodged in his shoulders, one bullet on the right, the other on the left. A colleague in the room grabbed Berkman’s wrist as he fired again. That bullet hit the ceiling. Frick, bloody and stunned, helped knock his assailant to the ground. Berkman managed to pull from his pocket a handmade dagger with a twelve-inch blade and gash Frick’s legs. It took a blow to the head with a hammer and a gun aimed at him before Berkman gave up. Frick survived the assassination attempt. Berkman, twenty-one years old, was found guilty of attempted murder and sentenced to twenty-two years in prison.
In late November, the steelworkers called off the strike and returned to the mill on the company’s terms. Their leaders were blacklisted. Carnegie Steel eliminated five hundred jobs, cut wages, and imposed twelve-hour workdays.
Knox argued that the rioting strikers could be prosecuted for treason because they had violently resisted the sheriff’s orders. “This case will36 attract as much, if not more interest, than did the famous trial of Aaron Burr,” Knox said after filing charges. “The [union’s advisory] committee took the law in their own hands, ignoring the government of the state. We think this constitutes treason.” The court thought otherwise, and no indictments were brought against the workers.
In 1901, the businessmen and financiers who benefited from Knox’s exertions again eagerly supported his nomination as attorney general. Carnegie and Frick both took credit for it. Carnegie described Knox as a “veritable little giant.”37 Labor groups opposed Knox’s candidacy almost as vigorously, but Knox explained that in helping to break the Homestead strike he was simply acting on behalf of his client. That client went on to sell his company to Pierpont Morgan, who turned it into U.S. Steel in March 1901. By April Knox had another client, the president.
McKinley didn’t test the skills of his attorney general. In his nomination acceptance speech, McKinley included a passage about trusts carefully written by Hanna. Trusts are “dangerous conspiracies38 against the public good and should be made the subject of prohibitory or penal legislation,” McKinley said, believing that voters, generally satisfied with a growing economy, would wait for appropriately measured, likely ineffective legislation. But McKinley never proposed any legislation. He didn’t bring any antitrust cases. He and Knox seemed content to wait until some egregious illegality forced them to act, confident they would win. The New York Evening World described the attorney general as a “distinguished practitioner”39 of “trust lawlessness.”
Five months later, Knox was working for a new president he didn’t really know and wasn’t sure he could trust. But in spite of everything, the forty-eight-year-old Knox (the cabinet’s youngest member) quickly fell in with the even younger Roosevelt. They often rode together on the forested paths winding through Rock Creek Park. Knox liked fast horses as much as Roosevelt did. The president called his attorney general his “playmate.”40 Knox also became Roosevelt’s dispassionate confederate in the fight to make the domineering businessmen the lawyer once worked for—and still admired—yield to the government he now served. He would enforce the laws to benefit his client just as before he had tried to bend them. Knox was always eager to demonstrate his ingenuity.
Secretary of War Elihu Root, circa 1902
Root was already one of Roosevelt’s trusted advisers. As a lawyer41 in New York, he had represented and vouched for Roosevelt during his campaigns for mayor and governor. In 1898, the press raised legitimate questions about Roosevelt’s eligibility to run since he had been residing in Washington. Root answered with enough force to help Roosevelt secure the nomination.
Root provided the same service to New York publishers and the state and city governments, as well as the Sugar Trust, the Lead Trust, the Whiskey Trust, the Watch Trust, the Rockefellers’ Standard Oil Company, and at least six railroad companies.
McKinley appointed Root as secretary of war with a mandate to curtail the corruption and inefficiencies, jealousies and spite, that weakened the department during the Spanish-American War. Root was also supposed to improve the department’s colonial administration of the Philippines and Cuba. After his first day in Washington, in July 1899, he wrote to a friend: “I feel like42 a cat just about to walk along a wall with broken bottles on the top.” Roosevelt himself would gladly have undertaken the assignment, but McKinley never offered it to him.
Root was fourteen years older than Roosevelt and kept an almost paternalistic eye on him in the White House. Root was athletic and witty.43 He loved good horses and cigars. He and Roosevelt shared meals, afternoon rides, and some of the same friends, but none of the same opponents. Root was a problem solver; his was an ordered, impersonal mind. To him, inequity was a matter of math, and changing the formula demanded the utmost precision. He didn’t think Roosevelt was the one who should try. Roosevelt said that44 when dealing with the trusts, he used Knox as the driving force and Root as the brake.
The Fifty-Seventh Congress—Republican-controlled, with four newcomers in the Senate and none the press deemed noteworthy in the House—opened on Monday, December 2. Many found45 extravagant flower arrangements on their desks, tributes from constituents, maybe reminders from donors, and most asked that the bouquets be removed and brought to their homes. The new senator from South Dakota received an arrangement so large it took two men to carry it in and then, presumably, out again. The room had been redecorated in their nine months’ absence: the new carpet was green with gold figures; the desks were replaced, the chairs reupholstered. Families and visitors mingled, roll call was taken, and then Congress adjourned until it was time to hear the president’s message.
A cold rainstorm blew through Washington the next morning but nearly every seat in the congressional chambers and the public galleries was filled. Just after noon,46 Octavius Pruden, the president’s assistant secretary, pulled up at the House in a monogrammed carriage carrying Roosevelt’s speech—eighty pages, silk-lined, bound in brown morocco, gold-stamped “Message in Congress.” Roosevelt insisted the speech be printed rather than handwritten. He wanted the text available so that everyone listening could easily follow along, which they did, and so that it could be sent in advance to editors around the country and in Europe who would report on it right away, which they did.
The clerk of the House took his place behind a mahogany desk. In a voice purposely devoid of emotion, he began reading aloud. The first sentence, bold and direct, caused a stir: “The Congress assembles this year in the shadow of a great calamity.” McKinley’s speeches had been stilted; Roosevelt knew how to grab attention. In that first section, he gave tribute to McKinley. “The blow was not aimed at tyranny or wealth. It was aimed at one of the strongest champions the wage-worker has ever had,” Roosevelt said. “His one anxiety in every crisis was to keep in closest touch with the people—to find out what they thought and to endeavor to give expression to their thought, after having endeavored to guide that thought aright.”
Roosevelt condemned the assassin and his creed. “Anarchy is no more an expression of ‘social discontent’ than picking pockets or wife-beating,” he said. “For the anarchist himself, whether he preaches or practices his doctrines, we need not have one particle more concern than for any ordinary murderer. He is not the victim of social or political injustice. There are no wrongs to remedy in his case.”
The speech, more than two hours long, required several clerks in the House and Senate to take turns reading. Few of the men47 and women who had secured seats in the galleries walked out for a smoke or a snack. The audience listened and learned Roosevelt’s rhythms—a rebuke to business, a warning to labor, a promise, a caution, balance. Here was a president who trusted his instincts, had called mere money-getting Americans curses to the country, and called himself a practical man—who dined with Morgan, who conferred with Hanna—laying out his governing philosophy about American capitalism. He sought a narrow rail.
America’s new wealth wouldn’t have been possible without big business, Roosevelt said, but now was the time to control those corporations benefiting only a privileged few. “The captains of industry who have driven the railway systems across this continent, who have built up our commerce, who have developed our manufactures, have on the whole done great good to our people,” he said. America was becoming a global power, citizens were enjoying a better standard of living than they ever had. No president would jeopardize that.
Roosevelt encouraged Americans not to begrudge business success or envy the moneyed class, even as he conceded that the economy’s boons and burdens were shared unequally. In prosperous times some would accumulate more and in times of adversity some would suffer more: “The capitalist may be shorn of his luxuries; but the wage-worker may be deprived of even bare necessities.”
He heard the American people’s cries that the giant corporations seemed above the law, too big to be restrained, too powerful to be punished. Should they be prohibited altogether? Roosevelt said Americans were too sensible to want that. Instead, they believed that combinations should be “supervised and within reasonable limits controlled.” He did, too.
Many farmers, laborers, and entrepreneurs who once regarded Washington’s power with suspicion, if not fear, now appealed to the national government as the only authority that could control the combinations taking hold of the economy. “Great corporations exist only because they are created and safeguarded by our institutions; and it is therefore our right and our duty to see that they work in harmony with these institutions,” Roosevelt said.
“The old laws, and the old customs which had almost the binding force of law, were once quite sufficient to regulate the accumulation and distribution of wealth,” Roosevelt said. “Since the industrial changes which have so enormously increased the productive power of mankind, they are no longer sufficient.”
The national government should assume the power of regulation and supervision over the trusts, he said. “It has in practice proved impossible to get adequate regulation through State action.” Trusts didn’t confine their business to a single state. They operated across boundaries, and often they didn’t operate at all in the state where they were chartered. Washington had to step in.
Roosevelt promised the government would be rational, practical, and resolute. Its rules would be uniform. He even said “it is probable that supervision of corporations by the National Government need not go as far as is now the case with supervision exercised over them by so conservative a State as Massachusetts, in order to produce excellent results.”
The government would begin by requiring companies to disclose financial information usually kept private. Roosevelt urged Congress to create a Department of Commerce and Industries, led by a cabinet secretary, and within it a Bureau of Corporations to take on these new responsibilities. “Publicity is the only sure remedy which we can now invoke.”
Roosevelt turned his attention from capital to labor. “If the farmer and wage-worker are well off, it is absolutely certain that all others will be well off too,” he said. He called on the government to offer eight-hour workdays to its employees and for all government contractors to ensure work was done under fair conditions. He supported the law excluding Chinese laborers—they were willing to work too cheaply, he said—and proposed changing broader immigration laws to require “proper proof of personal capacity to earn an American living and enough money to insure a decent start under American conditions.” He hoped to decrease the competition for jobs that gave rise to so much bitterness in American industrial life and to “dry up the pestilential social conditions” in the cities. He didn’t, however, suggest that employers pay decent wages.
But in tone and substance Roosevelt’s speech was, as one paper, noted “more devoted to business48 and fruitful, practical suggestions on every-day affairs than we have ever seen in a President’s message.” Roosevelt promised the working class, and signaled to big business, that the government would not be a spectator in the new economy.
The audience in the gallery cheered. Roosevelt, in the family’s quarters at the White House, clapped when he learned of the response. Investors, reacting only to Roosevelt’s praise of industrialization and already familiar with his plans to seek more disclosure, sent the stock market soaring. Some of their Republican allies in the Senate admitted that “the young49 and supposedly impetuous President had discussed the trust question with rare discrimination,” reported the Chicago Daily Tribune. Which is why others among the Democrats would have preferred that he “had dipped50 his pen in vitriol before he started to write about the trusts.”
In all of his twenty thousand words, the president hadn’t once mentioned Northern Securities or referred to the Sherman Antitrust Act.
One paper described the president’s moderated approach as “conservative and51 yet progressive, constructive and not destructive,” and the message as like Roosevelt himself: “thoughtful, vigorous, well written and markedly individual.”
That evening, Roosevelt hosted a celebratory dinner for the Republican leadership, who nonetheless remained uneasy about what their young, publicity-seeking president might do.
Afterward, Roosevelt dispatched Knox to Florida, publicly ordering him to rest in the southern warmth—and privately instructing him to review recent business combinations to see if any defied the antitrust law. Knox was to tell no one, not even other officials, and especially not Root. “This is not52 a Cabinet secret,” the president said to his attorney general. Roosevelt didn’t want to be dissuaded, and he didn’t want to give Wall Street any warning, other than the traces of his public declarations so far.
Knox sent a telegram to the president from St. Augustine on December 11 about the case that would shake Wall Street and its sovereign power: “It is desirable53 that you and I should first determine some important points relative to scope of action. If you are to take legislative responsibility. All its bearings must be carefully considered. The intervening time is not being wasted. Am giving it constant consideration to the end that your wishes with which I am in full sympathy can be creditably executed.”
Philander Chase Knox emerged from seclusion on February 10, 1902. He had returned from his vacation in Florida still uncertain he could persuade the courts that Northern Securities had defied the law by its very existence. Roosevelt urged him to keep working until he could argue that it had. Knox promptly canceled all his appointments and retreated to his mansion on K Street.
Roosevelt promised Americans that the government—his government—could limit the dominion of business. Northern Securities seemed an ideal example. It comprised three lines and some eighteen thousand1 miles of track that stretched from Seattle to Chicago—routes cattlemen, farmers, and miners relied on, and businessmen, clerks, and politicians traveled on. The men at its head had put their own interests well above any public interest in May, producing a stock market panic, and then had done so again in November with Northern Securities’ imperious founding. If Morgan, Hill, and Harriman expected “to profit2 by the governmental impotence,” as Roosevelt put it, they were in for a shock.
Congress’s initial attempt to oversee the railroads through the Interstate Commerce Commission was compromised from the start. The regulatory agency—the country’s first—was created in 1887 because of the outrage over price fixing and political favoritism by the railroads. But the commission’s3 decisions were subject to review by unsympathetic courts. When shippers complained about railroad rates, they had to be prepared for costly legal fights against some of the best attorneys in the country. “The Commission … is, or can be made, of great use to the railroads,” Attorney General Richard Olney, a railroad lawyer himself, later said. “It satisfies the popular clamor for a government supervision of the railroads, at the same time that supervision is almost entirely nominal.”
Olney—born in Massachusetts, educated at Brown and Harvard—had come to Grover Cleveland’s attention as he considered a second campaign for president in 1892, and the only wonder was that they hadn’t become acquainted earlier. Their country estates, at Buzzards Bay and Falmouth, were just a few miles apart. After Olney accepted Cleveland’s offer to run the Department of Justice, he continued to give legal advice4 to the Burlington Railroad and receive a salary for it.
In 1895, the Supreme Court seemed to repudiate Congress’s second attempt to limit big business, the Sherman Antitrust Act. The court refused to break up the holding company, incorporated in New Jersey, that controlled 98 percent of the country’s sugar refineries. In the Knight case, as it came to be known, the court determined that the exchange of stock, and consolidation of competitors, used to create the Sugar Trust was legal under New Jersey law and that the government didn’t have the right to regulate the manufacturing of local products—that, too, was the province of the states.
The trust, however, didn’t confine its business to New Jersey. It sold sugar throughout the country and had a near complete hold on the supply. If he had been5 of a mind to, Olney could have advanced that argument before the Court. But he didn’t make any claims for federal jurisdiction, having inherited a case that relied on a law he didn’t think should be enforced against companies. He had, however, invoked the Sherman Act during the Pullman strike, claiming the railway union was a combination created to hinder trade. After the government’s defeat in the Knight case, Olney wrote: “I have taken6 the responsibility of not prosecuting under a law I believed to be no good.”
The lone voice of dissent on the Court belonged to John Marshall Harlan, a Republican from Kentucky, who was still on the bench in 1902. Knox studied Harlan’s argument, hoping to incorporate it into his own. Harlan argued that his fellow justices’ narrow interpretation of the law was better suited to a preindustrial America where interstate commerce was naturally restricted by geography. Their reasoning left the federal government “in such a condition7 of helplessness that it must fold its arms and remain inactive while capital combines, under the name of a corporation, to destroy competition, not in one state only, but throughout the entire country.” The only power that can protect the public from companies that want to control the production of such essentials as sugar, salt, flour, cotton, even oil, Harlan wrote, is national power.
Knox brought a fourteen-page typed document to the White House that Monday, February 10. He was ready to take on Northern Securities. “These views are submitted8 with a full appreciation of the startling consequences which would flow from their adoption by the courts and of the vigorous and possibly successful opposition with which they will be met,” he wrote. “I see no reason, however, why the responsibility should not, in the present instance, be thrown upon the courts.” The brief was coolly reasoned and sufficiently optimistic, and Knox was even more reassuring in person, telling the president, “If you instruct me9 to bring such a suit, I can promise you we shall win it.”
By that point, Knox was not the only one crafting a legal challenge to Northern Securities. In November, shortly after its creation was publicly announced, Governor Samuel Van Sant of Minnesota had declared that Northern Securities was an obvious violation of the state’s antitrust law. “It should10 and will be a fight to the finish.”
The state had assented to Hill’s plan to combine the Great Northern and Northern Pacific five years earlier. Hill’s ill-advised determination to test that merger in the Supreme Court had proved disastrous then; now suspicion of trusts had grown and the Great Northern’s general counsel warned his boss not to aggravate the situation while Van Sant considered his options. The lawyer sent11 a coded cable to Hill that translated: Don’t do anything rash.
Hill had expected the citizens and politicians in the Northwest to be grateful. He had built up the region, protected it from the predations of Harriman, even sided with the most influential banker in the world. Yet now legislators talked12 about living under the yoke of capitalistic domination. Sold into commercial slavery. They said the merger silenced competition. That even if rates remained steady the mere possession of such power to control them was a menace to the country. “All I ask13 is fair play,” Hill said. “Let time determine whether the public will be benefited or injured by what we have done and will continue to do.”
Hill didn’t wait. In December he, his son (his assistant at the company), and a Northern Pacific lawyer began a covert campaign to influence the press to support the Northern Securities merger. “You should spend14 Forty or Fifty or Seventy-five thousand, if necessary, to good advantage. Get this going as rapidly as you can,” Hill told him. When those efforts proved ineffective, they considered sponsoring a challenger to Governor Van Sant. “Such a man15 could swing the papers better than the Railroads as the press would take more kindly to supporting a politician than backing a railroad.” That didn’t work either.
In early January, as Knox was reviewing antitrust law, the Minnesota attorney general applied to the Supreme Court to file a case of its own against Northern Securities. Knox reviewed those files too. If Minnesota won the right to bring a case directly to the Court, that would bolster the federal government’s. If the state lost, as seemed more likely, then the federal government would have even greater reason to act. Washington—Roosevelt—would come to the defense of the aggrieved.
Hill spoke at a convention in Fargo a few days later. Three thousand farmers and ranchers gathered at the opera house gave him a standing ovation. They might oppose Northern Securities, but they still appreciated his resourcefulness. “Remember that16 whatever helps you helps the railroad, and whatever hurts you or restricts your growth, restricts the growth of the railroad serving you,” he told them. “We will always prosper together or be poor together.”
A ferocious storm17 swept into New York City late on Monday night, February 17, 1902. The early evening was calm, and at nine the sky was still clear, but by midnight the wind was gusting. Snow came down in blinding clouds at four in the morning, and when New Yorkers began to wake a few hours later, nine inches of snow had already fallen. Giant drifts piled up and in some cases were flung against house walls, windows, and doors. Street cleaners struggled to keep up. Until the tempest subsided in the afternoon, streetcars were stalled, suburban trolleys were out of service, and trains were delayed.
Yet commerce in the city of three and a half million18 continued. Snow shovels—hardwood and steel-edged—were on sale for twenty-five cents. Men’s fur gloves were going for $3.75, almost half price, at Siegel-Cooper, the six-floor department store downtown. Uptown, Bloomingdale’s offered fifteen-dollar women’s seal plush jackets for $8.90 on clearance and Persian lamb fur coats for thirty-nine dollars. Stores advertised American and German flags for those planning to celebrate George Washington’s birthday and the arrival later in the week of the kaiser’s representative, Prince Henry.
The New York19 Stock Exchange opened for business on time. Enough brokers showed up to work, and it turned out to be a pretty good day. Stock prices mostly went up. That was a noticeable improvement, the New York Times noted, after weeks of enforced inactivity as financial firms waited to see what Roosevelt might do about the trusts. Speculation in the stocks of the Sugar Trust and the Copper Trust contributed to the market’s performance that day. The paper called their price rises manipulation, warning that “being equal mysteries, they are equally dangerous.”
Morgan’s U.S. Steel Company20 held its first annual shareholders’ meeting that Monday, in an unpretentious room in an office in Hoboken, New Jersey. About forty people showed up, many of them newspaper reporters. As George Perkins promised Roosevelt, the company made a show of opening its financial records to any of its investors. A man who claimed ten shares said he’d like to “copy from the books,” and was permitted to. “The most striking thing about the whole proceeding was the apparent openness of it all—the willingness of the management to reveal the inside workings of the trust,” the New York Times reported. At the close of the meeting, the shareholders elected Morgan, Perkins, John D. Rockefeller, Henry Frick, and Marshall Field, among others, to the board of directors.
Morgan had been21 communicating with Charles Mellen, the president of the Northern Pacific, in secret for weeks. Mellen heard that, in the governor’s annual message that month, Van Sant planned to call for legislation of railroad rates. Mellen worried that the unpopularity of the Northern Securities merger—and, he claimed, of James Hill himself—made this more likely. “I assume you want success, or rather, in this instance, immunity, and the method is not so important as the result,” Mellen wrote from St. Paul. He had already spent five thousand dollars on lobbyists. Now he told Morgan he would require “unlimited use of money” to overcome both the resentment toward Hill and the states’ tightening control of the railroads. When pressed, Mellen said twenty-five thousand dollars would be sufficient. While the governor seemed incorruptible, some on his staff might be more amenable to financial incentives. “All right, do whatever is necessary,” Morgan replied on the eighteenth.
Hill testified in a shareholder suit against Northern Securities that he regarded as frivolous. He said he didn’t mean to be evasive, but mostly he was. Afterward, he sent a telegram to his wife, Mary, who was in New York: “All well here.22 How are you?”
These were the last moments of the old order—protected, conniving, banal. The presumptions of the nineteenth century were about to give way.
In Washington,23 Roosevelt ate breakfast with Hanna that Tuesday morning. “What do you think about the Northern Securities Company?” the president asked. He didn’t know that soon after the company came into existence, Hanna invested in it. The senator had obtained some shares from Hill, but he wanted more. “I am so on the outside that I don’t get a chance at such things while I am ‘serving the Country,’ ” Hanna wrote to Perkins. “I wish you would look ‘a little out’ for me.” Perkins did. When Roosevelt asked about Northern Securities, Hanna confidently said it was the “best thing” for the Northwest.
Later that day, Hanna traveled by train to New York, and Roosevelt held his weekly cabinet meeting at the White House. Knox didn’t say a word about Northern Securities when he updated his colleagues about his department’s work. Roosevelt didn’t ask.
Morgan was24 at home the next evening, hosting a dinner for several business associates. As the men took their places in the dining room, Morgan was called to the telephone. A journalist shared some unnerving news from Washington. The president had asked his attorney general to prosecute Northern Securities for violating the Sherman Act. Morgan returned to the table in a state of “appalled dismay,”25 a journalist later recounted. Roosevelt should have26 warned him, Morgan grumbled. They could have worked out a deal in private.
Roosevelt at his desk in the White House, 1902
Presidents didn’t keep secrets from the captains of industry, and the House of Morgan had never before been surprised by the White House. Morgan traded in confidences and negotiated on shared assumptions. He had considered Roosevelt a gentleman. Now he called the president a “lunatic.”27 Roosevelt had changed the rules on the sly. For someone whose view of the world was as unvarying as Morgan’s, there was hardly a greater affront. Morgan would never forgive him.
The dinner28 at Madison Avenue ended abruptly. No one lingered in the library and smoked expensive Cuban cigars. Morgan didn’t play his usual game of patience once the guests left. Consumed by indignation, he conferred with his partners and attorneys in his grand study through the night. Their meetings continued at 23 Wall Street the next day.
By then the official statement from Knox was public. It was brief, lawyerly, bloodless. But it was enough. The attorney general believed that Northern Securities should be dissolved. This was the first time since 1895 that the government had invoked the antitrust law against such a prominent company. As word filtered out from Washington, some in the financial district insisted the reporters must have it wrong.
Hanna got the news29 in the parlor car of a train returning him to the capital. The messenger was John Griggs, McKinley’s first attorney general. Griggs had news of his own: He now represented Northern Securities. Hanna was so shocked by Roosevelt’s secrecy and bewildered by Knox’s willingness to bring charges that he couldn’t say a word. He felt old. Secretary of State Hay was perturbed. When Roosevelt wasn’t around, he called the Sherman Act “an idiotic30 law which had been wisely allowed to remain dormant.” Root believed he had been betrayed. He expected Roosevelt to seek his counsel.
Lawyers for Northern Securities promised a long legal fight. “We do not31 propose to be made scapegoats of by President Roosevelt, Attorney-General Knox or anyone else,” they said. “There are many other instances of existing mergers which have been entirely overlooked by the President. But they will all have to join us in this fight.”
One Minnesota paper noted that railroad officials were angry about the lawsuit—and the more authority they wielded, the angrier they seemed. Railroad employees were more appreciative of the attempt to hold their bosses to account. Roosevelt defended “the interests of32 the people in whatever way they may be threatened,” the editorial said. He also acted with due regard for his own reputation.
On February 19, James Hill was33 suddenly ill with a severe cold and confined to his bed, in his mansion overlooking the Mississippi River Valley. The next day, though, he was feeling well enough to accomplish a number of things. He wrote to an associate in London assuring him that if Northern Securities were somehow forced to dissolve, he and Morgan could still maintain control by selling shares to their friends. He wrote to Hanna that the political situation in the Northwest, particularly in his home state, was worrying and that he hoped to see the senator when he was in Washington the next week. And he threatened the president and attorney general that “if they do fight they will have their hands full, and will wish they had never been born before they get through.” The president had some choice words for Hill, expressed privately. “He detests me,34 but I admire him,” Roosevelt said. “He will detest me much more before I have done with him.”
The men who35 traded, speculated, and shorted thousands of dollars of stocks, who measured success in hundreds of thousands and dreamed in millions were “dazed, incredulous and indignant.” They described Roosevelt’s attack as a “thunderbolt out of a clear sky,” unreasonable, beyond comprehension, dangerous, theatrical. One broker was ready to bet a thousand dollars that Roosevelt wouldn’t receive the nomination for the presidency in 1904. A banker close to Morgan’s firm sneered: “The business of the country appears to be conducted in Washington now.”
When the gong sounded to open trading on the New York Stock Exchange on Thursday, February 20, brokers scrambled to sell shares, especially in railroad companies. It was the busiest first hour of the year. “Not since the assassination of President McKinley has the stock market had such a sudden and severe shock,” noted the New York Tribune. One investor complained to the attorney general about his potential losses. “There is no36 stock ticker in the Department of Justice,” Knox replied. By midmorning, Morgan & Co. was buying stock in Northern Securities—which hadn’t yet been admitted into the exchange but was being traded in the “curb market”—to keep the price up and prevent brokers and investors from panicking. It kept close watch on the exchange of U.S. Steel’s shares, too.
In Washington, in the waning light of late afternoon, Knox and Roosevelt went for a two-hour ride37 in Knox’s carriage, drawn by two of his finest horses.
Morgan dispatched38 Perkins, his “secretary of state,” to meet with the president in Washington on Friday, February 21. His brief: to reason with Roosevelt. As improbable as it seemed to most everyone else who knew the president, inside the House of Morgan there was hope that they might still have time to reestablish the old order. Knox had announced he would file a lawsuit, but he hadn’t yet done so. Maybe Perkins and Roosevelt could come up with alternatives to the prosecution of Northern Securities. Maybe they could strike some kind of deal. Maybe Roosevelt would back down.
It was a short conversation.
That evening, Perkins met Hanna at the hotel where they were both staying. The Arlington was then the most elegant and exclusive in Washington, located down the block from the White House. Perkins asked him why he hadn’t warned anyone at the firm about the possibility of a lawsuit. How could he, Hanna replied, since he had no warning himself. Then it was Perkins who was perplexed. During their discussion, Roosevelt told Perkins that he had “consulted”39 Hanna the day before the announcement. Hanna probably gave more thought to how much he ate for breakfast that morning than how to respond to the casual question about Northern Securities. “I’m sorry for Hill,”40 Hanna said, “but just what do you gentlemen think I can do?”
Morgan, who was41 due at the White House Monday evening for a state dinner in honor of the German prince, decided to confront the president directly. He and six associates arrived in the capital in a private train on Saturday. Ice, sleet, and slush had slowed their journey, and they were “in an ulcerated42 state of inflammation,” noted Henry Adams, who knew the Wall Street men well. They, too, headed to the Arlington. Morgan was an investor in the hotel and kept a suite of rooms there designed according to his specifications.
Dinner was43 at the Corcoran House, the grand palazzo on Lafayette Square, the most fashionable blocks in Washington, with views of the White House. Morgan’s host was Chauncey Depew, the senator from New York who had been president of the New York Central Railroad and still served on the boards of some fifty transportation companies. Like many in Congress, he was renting.
The guests were members of Morgan’s informal cabinet, the “Corsair Club.” Members discussed anything other than the businesses that made them so wealthy, Depew explained to a reporter. The only other rule: never reveal anything more than that.
The Corsairs sat at a great square table in the oak-paneled dining room. Two months earlier,44 Depew had organized a bachelor party for himself in the same room, and Roosevelt was among those who had celebrated with the senator. But now the “whole party45 was black,” Adams wrote, and Morgan was in a mood.
At ten o’clock,46 the phone rang. It was the president. He asked the thirteen men to come to the White House. No one could refuse such an invitation, but still they had to cajole Morgan into going. As snow fell, they traveled the few blocks to the White House in cars and carriages and entered the otherwise quiet mansion. Roosevelt greeted them formally, and they responded with chilly politeness. Among them were two senators, the secretary of war, and William Rockefeller. They were the establishment, barbed with privilege, unused to being challenged, uncomfortable being summoned. They had all watched Roosevelt rise—Morgan and Rockefeller had even helped fund some of his political campaigns. None had suspected that he would move against them so suddenly. Hanna and Root believed they had successfully convinced the new president not to.
The gathering lasted an hour and it seems47 that no one mentioned the lawsuit on everyone’s mind or acknowledged the obvious tension between the irrepressible president and their ill-tempered commodore. Everyone knew their relationship was, at best, one of utility. They could cooperate when necessary; otherwise, they could avoid one another. Roosevelt wrote he’d rather have a political career that “ended with a failure than the career of Pierpont Morgan,” and the thought of spending the day on a yacht with him or any of the other New York money men filled Roosevelt “with frank horror”48—not that any had extended an invitation. Morgan was no more eager to spend the day with Roosevelt. They didn’t have to like each other. But they had never clashed openly. Now the president had struck the king of Wall Street with “an awful blow49 square in the face.”
As Depew left the White House with his dinner guests, a reporter asked if they had discussed Northern Securities. “No. Not a word50 of it,” he said. “It was a social call.”
Commodore Morgan, circa 1890s
The next morning,51 Morgan returned to the White House, a somber figure amid Washington residents enjoying the first bright sun in weeks. Morgan, cold-eyed, fierce, peremptory, still expected to convince Roosevelt to back down. When he met the president, Knox was by his side. As soon as they had taken their seats, Morgan began to speak. He demanded52 to know why Roosevelt hadn’t warned him.
“This is just what we did not want to do,” said Roosevelt.
“If we have done anything wrong,” Morgan replied, “send your man to my man and they can fix it up.”
“That can’t be done.”
“We don’t want to fix it up,” Knox interjected. “We want to stop it.”
“Are you going to attack my other interests, the Steel Trust and the others?”
“Certainly not,” said Roosevelt, “unless we find out that in any case they have done something that we regard as wrong.”
After Morgan left, Roosevelt marveled at the financier’s impudence. “That is the most illuminating illustration of the Wall Street point of view,” he said to Knox. “Mr. Morgan could not help regarding me as a big rival operator, who either intended to ruin all his interests or else could be induced to come to an agreement to ruin none.” “Theodore laughs53 at Pierpont,” Adams wrote,54 “and Pierpont acts like a sulky child.”
Morgan was fuming when he returned to his hotel suite. He composed an indignant, threatening letter to Roosevelt, but his lawyer persuaded him not to send it. No one, though, would be able to convince Morgan that “Roosevelt was anything55 other than a double-faced demagogue,” a friend wrote. Those close to him who believed otherwise learned to avoid mentioning the president’s name at all.
The Supreme Court signaled the next morning that it had come to a decision about Minnesota’s antimonopoly lawsuit against Northern Securities. Morgan entered56 the north wing of the Capitol (where the Court sat before it had a building of its own) and walked into the chambers as the session was already under way. He took a seat, reserved for lawyers, in the front. Directly across from him were the nine judges. As both Knox and Morgan’s own attorneys had expected, the Court declined to consider the case for lack of jurisdiction and sent it back to the Minnesota court: a brief victory for Morgan.
Washington’s attention turned to the visit of Prince Henry. He was in the United States to receive and launch the emperor’s racing schooner, the Meteor III, and to present a friendlier image to the new administration than his more bellicose brother could. That evening the Roosevelts would host their first state dinner. Theodore and Edith—as well as Alice, who would christen the Meteor—prepared for more than a month for the occasion.
Earlier in February, Roosevelt had written to Nicholas Murray Butler, the president of Columbia University, about the prince’s visit. Roosevelt told him that in order to avoid upsetting any of their business friends—by choosing one over the other “as the big57 representative man of New York” for the banquet—he had selected the only person no one would complain about: Pierpont Morgan.
Morgan had accepted the offer. Now, in a fit of pique after the Northern Securities lawsuit was announced, he wanted to decline the dinner invitation. But he grudgingly attended. The seventy guests—men only, and among them Adolphus Busch, the millionaire St. Louis brewer, as well as Knox, Root, and Hanna—gathered just before eight in the East Room. Edith had supervised the decorations. The chandeliers were entwined with Southern smilax, and strands of it hung from the ceilings, braided with strings of electric lights. Silver candelabra with pink shades lit the table. The Marine band played “Hands Across the Sea” by John Philip Sousa and a selection from Richard Wagner’s “Grand Fantasia.” The meal began with oysters on the half-shell and Baltimore terrapin and ended with ice cream. At ten, Roosevelt led his guests to the Red Room for coffee, beer, and cigars.
Two days later,58 Morgan was back in New York, hosting a lunch at Sherry’s Restaurant for the prince and more than a hundred of the city’s business leaders. At the end of the hour-long meal, he rose from his seat next to the guest of honor to offer four toasts. The first was to President Roosevelt. Everyone stood and drank in silence.
“I am a little59 concerned over some of the things I hear from New York,” Roosevelt wrote to the editor of the Sun in early March. “It is very important we should not lose this fall.” Roosevelt was referring to the midterm elections and had underlined the word “very.” His attack on the trusts brought him all manner of compliments and unequivocal promises of support—except from his home state of New York, where, Roosevelt feared, Wall Street’s influence exceeded Washington’s.
In the weeks after Morgan and Perkins failed to dissuade the president from following through on his threat, the House of Morgan urged the White House to at least spare the financier the humiliation of being named in the lawsuit and called on to testify in public. Faith in Morgan, they said, was vital to the nation’s financial standing. Roosevelt, with an eye on the upcoming elections, wavered. He asked Knox if it was necessary to include Morgan in the suit. “Well, Mr. President,60 if you direct me to leave his name out I will do it,” the attorney general said. “But I want to say that in that case I will not sign my name to the bill.”
Knox prepared the formal complaint against Northern Securities to be filed March 10. Morgan was named as one of the defendants.
At five61 that afternoon the United States District Attorney for Minnesota, Milton Dwight Purdy, walked into the Federal Court House in St. Paul carrying a stack of documents. Construction had just been completed and the formal opening was still weeks away. But the five-story, pink granite building—with turrets, gables, steeply peaked roofs and two towers—provided a dramatic setting that suited Knox and Roosevelt. Purdy climbed the four flights of marble stairs and presented the brief. At just that moment, word went out that the government had filed its lawsuit against Northern Securities. The city where Hill had lived for almost fifty years would be the first to hear of it, just as Knox had planned.
Knox’s detailed complaint was printed in full in papers around the country, including in the St. Paul Globe, which featured it on the front page. “The Northern Securities Company62 was not organized in good faith,” the petition stated. It was a conspiracy to restrain trade. Knox argued that if the government failed to prevent the combination of the Great Northern and Northern Pacific railroads, the holding company would have monopoly power, could destroy any competition, and would show how to circumvent the Sherman Act through this sort of “corporate scheme.” Knox declared that “all transcontinental lines, indeed the entire railway systems of the country, may be absorbed, merged, and consolidated, thus placing the public at the absolute mercy of the holding corporation.”
“It really seems hard,” Hill wrote to a friend, “that we should be compelled to fight for our lives against the political adventurers who have never done anything but pose and draw a salary.” He alone among Morgan’s associates considered the attack on Northern Securities a personal insult. He had built the Great Northern, traveled the rails, monitored the trains, supervised the employees. Morgan maintained his control from a distance.
Hill had read the petition in New York, where he was supposed to attend a shareholder meeting. He didn’t bother to suppress his fury. “When we get through63 with the charge against us its own father won’t know it,” he told a local reporter. The Minneapolis Journal reprinted the remarks with the headline JAMES J. SEEMS TO TALK MUCH MORE FREELY IN NEW YORK THAN IN MINNESOTA.
Morgan and his family64 left New York soon afterward, taking a private train to his private club on Jekyll Island. There he could be temporarily lulled by Gulf stream breezes, a semitropical climate, palmettos and magnolias, and the assurance that “no unwanted foot ever touched the island.” It was a wonderful place to hide. Members hunted (deer, quail, and wild turkey), fished, and golfed, but Morgan usually smoked, talked with his friends, or played solitaire. A one-hundred-twenty-five-room clubhouse was the center of social life on the island. Next to it was what might have been the country’s first condominium, called the Sans Souci; Morgan’s apartment was on the third floor, William Rockefeller’s on the second. Morgan didn’t found the Jekyll Island Club, but after a few years it was said there were only three ways to gain admission: by marriage, inheritance, or ties to Morgan.
A private train brought the family to Washington on March 20. Morgan met Hanna for lunch, still hoping to find a way to settle his Northern Securities trouble. No luck. Instead, when he returned to New York, Morgan was served a subpoena to testify in another suit against the holding company. A messenger from the law firm called at No. 219 in the evening, sending word that he had a personal message from Morgan’s own attorney, Francis Stetson. It was a ruse. “A very questionable65 expedient,” Morgan’s son-in-law, Satterlee, called the deception.
A disgruntled66 Northern Pacific shareholder named Peter Power had filed a complaint in Minnesota about the stock exchange plan Morgan and Hill had devised to create Northern Securities. Hill had offered few details when he testified in February. Morgan considered the suit more nuisance than threat, but Stetson believed the financier could provide testimony compelling enough to swing public opinion their way.
Morgan never gave speeches, only rarely made public toasts, and even less frequently spoke to journalists. The chance to hear him speak in the open, about one of his most controversial deals, drew so many people that the Circuit Court room in the Manhattan Post Office Building filled to capacity in minutes. The hearing, presided over by a special examiner appointed by the Minnesota court, was scheduled to begin at eleven thirty on Wednesday, March 26. Morgan arrived fifteen minutes late. As soon as he saw the photographers hovering around the table where he was supposed to sit, he asked that they be banned from the room altogether. The U.S. marshal had them escorted out.
Morgan answered questions for three hours, in a chair beside the table full of his lawyers. When he wasn’t talking, he turned his back on them and looked out the window. At one point, when he couldn’t provide even an estimate of how many Northern Pacific shareholders there were at the end of 1900, he assured George Lamb, the opposing attorney, that he wasn’t trying to dodge the question. “There is nothing under heaven connected with the transaction that I know that I won’t tell you,” he said. “And I will tell you how to get the rest.” That prompted laughter from everyone, including Morgan himself. When Lamb asked what Morgan’s firm was paid for organizing a Northern Pacific stock deal, the financier replied, “Nothing whatever.” Apparently sometimes “things had to be done for nothing.” That also amused those in the room. As did Morgan’s characterization of a transaction worth twenty-six million dollars as not such a big deal.
Morgan recounted his official history of Northern Securities, describing it as a way to maintain “moral control,” not practical control, over the Great Northern and Northern Pacific. When Lamb suggested that because the two railroads together purchased a third (the Burlington) they would be less inclined to compete, Morgan replied: “Not necessarily.” That too should have elicited a few surprised chuckles among the audience, but the papers didn’t mention any. What did please Morgan, at least, was his own definition of a so-called community of interest: “That a certain number of men who own property can do what they like with it.” And what they wanted to do was avoid profit-draining conflict. The free market meant freedom to cooperate and organize.
When Lamb asked again why Morgan wanted to form a holding company, he answered bluntly, heedless of the temper of the country. The convulsions of the May panic had been unsettling—to him. He noted only briefly the effect on ordinary investors. “I wanted it so that I could go to Europe and not hear the next day that somebody had bought it for the Boston and Maine, or I don’t know what other company,” he said. “There is no interest that I know of today that can control the Northern Securities Company.” He argued that he and Hill and Harriman had not agreed to maintain rates or restrain competition. “It never entered my head,” Morgan said. Yet it was definitely a possibility.
At the conclusion of his testimony, Morgan said he was leaving for Europe in a week and wouldn’t be available to answer further questions. If any other subpoenas were coming his way, he asked to be served at his office, not his home.
The conflict between the House of Morgan and the White House, and the uncertain prospect of stricter regulation of one of the country’s biggest industries, rattled investors. “Wall Street67 is in a desperate state of mind,” Henry Adams wrote, adding that Morgan and Hanna insisted their allies in the cabinet, Root and Hay, remain there “until they have worked Roosevelt into a harness.” Hanna himself complained that Roosevelt’s actions hurt his company’s business as a coal and iron ore broker. Customers hadn’t placed a single order beyond November.
But the House of Morgan kept itself busy. In April, Perkins negotiated to buy stock in a rail line that ran parallel to one the firm already controlled and planned to create another holding company for the railroads. “The lawyers say68 there is absolutely nothing to prevent this being done,” he wrote to Morgan.
By then69 Morgan had crossed the Atlantic on the White Star Line, and for the first time, he had ordered his yacht to sail over as well. When he arrived at Southampton, a private railway carriage brought him to London, where he began making deals to create an international shipping line. While he was in the city, he also hinted that he was interested in plans to extend its subway. On the street peddlers sold a “License to stay on the Earth,” signed “J. Pierpont Morgan.” The cost: a penny.
Roosevelt, too, was traveling. He and Edith had gone to South Carolina for another exposition, this time in Charleston. Their day began with a military parade from their hotel to the fairgrounds; thousands lined up along the route and crowded onto porches and at windows to see Roosevelt, a president from whom 90 percent of them differed politically. Another ten thousand were waiting for him in the auditorium. He dressed for the occasion, wearing what a local paper described as “a well-fitting70 Prince Albert, cut rather high in the neck and buttoned closely, showing only a small section of a turndown collar and a blue and white four in hand tie.”
Morgan’s yacht, Corsair, in Venice
He spoke about the need for national supervision of the richest corporations as well as the most powerful labor unions. “Our astounding71 material prosperity, the sweep and rush rather than the mere march of our progressive material development, have brought grave troubles in their train,” he said. And then, more forcefully than he had in his annual message, he argued the inequities couldn’t be solved by the policies of the demagogue who raves against wealth and incites hatred. Or by following “those who fear to recognize injustice and to endeavor to cut it out because the task is difficult or even—if performed by unskilful hands—dangerous.”
Then the Roosevelts walked through the 250-acre expanse, with its Woman’s Building and “Negro” Building, its Cotton Palace, sunken garden, and race course. Marine guards, following the new protocol for presidential visits, closed the buildings to the public.
As Knox and his colleagues at the Justice Department began to prepare their case against Northern Securities, Roosevelt took every opportunity to present their side to the public and the press. In May, he wrote to Knox asking him to meet with a friend, the correspondent from the Times of London. “I want him72 to have a talk with you, because in New York he lives at the Metropolitan Club and meets largely the gentlemen who since the merger suit cross themselves at the mention of our names.” On July 4, at a banquet hosted by Knox in his hometown of Pittsburgh, Roosevelt said that the country’s new economic and social problems would be solved with legislation from the governments of the cities, states, and the nation—and that the laws must be upheld for each person, rich or poor, big or small, strong or weak. “The most73 important department of civilized government is the Department of Justice. Think what it means!”
At that very moment, two hundred fifty miles to the east in Pennsylvania’s coal country, tens of thousands of miners were also demanding that the nation honor its commitment to justice even as the coal barons denied it. Their fight would become one of the greatest labor actions in American history, and would redefine Roosevelt’s presidency in the months ahead.
Tectonic plates1 collided, folded, and deformed the Appalachian region two hundred and fifty million years ago, and the Great Dying decimated primitive life: the end of the Paleozoic Era. Above were the Ridge-and-Valley mountains of northeastern Pennsylvania and, far beneath the surface, the metamorphosis of forested swamps into a dense, glinting, almost purely carbon rock: anthracite coal.
The men who mined the anthracite coal probably never knew this. They knew that natural forces twisted narrow veins of coal between thicker layers of rock and if they wanted to get at the coal they needed to create a force of their own.
They had to plunge into darkness—chilly, damp, echoless, coal-dusted darkness—until sometimes they were two thousand feet underground, below the water line, beyond anything familiar. Once at the bottom, they might have to walk three miles of tunnels, braced with creaking timber, home to colonies of rats, wide enough only for a mule and a cart to pass through, to reach the owner’s subterranean “office.” They’d hang their identification tags on a pegboard. That way their bosses would know where to look for them, just in case. They’d follow passageways that might be named Primrose or Peach Orchard2 into the chambers they’d been assigned. They’d take their time drilling holes into the rock and placing squibs3—handmade, powder-filled fuses—inside. Then they’d set off an explosion.
Geology created the coal. Harmful vapors hid in the seams around it. Fire bosses checked the mines at five every morning, but chemistry could still surprise the men.
They probably couldn’t identify the chain reactions that caused the accidents. But the miners knew that “firedamp”4 could be ignited by an exposed lamp wick or triggered by a spark from a pickax. “Blackdamp,” in small amounts, caused suffocating dullness and numbness, and in large amounts death. They knew that “whitedamp” was odorless and impossible to detect and inhaling even a small amount could kill a miner. That’s what the canaries were for.
They knew all the ways they could die. Mines could collapse, rocks could fall, water could rise. The dust and damp and explosive powder could turn their lungs black. They knew the whistle that signaled the start of work, and the one that signaled an end. In 1901,5 the warning whistle would blow three or four times a day in the three hundred forty-six mines that held almost all of the nation’s anthracite. Twelve hundred men were injured that year and another five hundred miners died. The bodies were claimed by families who might or might not have set aside money to bury them, and only some employers might help. But if the miner had immigrated recently, alone, and hadn’t made friends, the corpse would be donated to a medical school and dissected.
Coal’s shadow hung over northeastern Pennsylvania. The anthracite was concentrated in four hundred and eighty square miles across five counties. By 1901, one hundred forty-seven thousand miners, including some twenty-four thousand boys, worked there. In the 1840s, Frederic Church’s painting Rapids of the Susquehanna depicted the region’s untamed nature; the landscape painter George Inness captured the railroads cutting through the Lackawanna Valley in the 1850s. By the end of the century, the hillside forests were mostly gone, the streams filled in, the ground shattered—so that every storm meant a flood—and the towns blackened by soot. More than one billion6 tons of anthracite coal had been broken loose from the earth in eighty years, almost all of it by hand.
America’s industrialization depended on the coal. Anthracite was more efficient than charcoal; in many places it was more plentiful than wood. It burned hotter and cleaner than either. Anthracite made possible7 stronger grades of iron and steel, which made stronger rails, which allowed for heavier locomotives, which made interstate trade on the transcontinental railroads possible. Anthracite generated steam for those locomotives and for manufacturing glass, textiles, ceramics, and chemicals. In other words, anthracite powered the quest to expand westward. It also warmed the homes, offices, and schools of a distant America, urban and modern.
All natural resources are political, and here too anthracite was of decisive consequence. A fight between the miners and the mine owners would come to roil Roosevelt’s presidency.
Coal-breaking machines, housed in hundred-foot-high black buildings, marked the land of Schuylkill and Lackawanna and Carbon counties. That’s where the youngest and the oldest worked. They were all called breaker boys. The coal was hauled up to the top of the tower, crushed between powerful rollers into marketable pieces, and poured down chutes. The boys, crouched on planks across the coal slides, stopped the tumble with their feet and picked out the slate. At the bottom, the coal dropped into a railway freight car to be transported to Boston, New York, Philadelphia, and Washington, leaving behind the grinding noise and choking dust.
The breaker boys were supposed to be at least twelve years old. Many began working when they were eight. Fake birth certificates8 were provided by mine inspectors, signed by parents desperate for their sons’ wages, notarized for twenty-five cents, and accepted without question by company supervisors. The boys were paid about seventy9 cents for ten hours of work—enough to buy a dozen eggs10 and a pound of butter.
Next to the breakers were heaps of culm, the wasted rock, where women and girls foraged for tiny pieces of discarded coal that the boys missed.
The breaker boys graduated to jobs belowground when they were (or could claim they were) fourteen. Boys loaded coal onto carts after the explosions, boys opened the doors for the approaching carts, boys ran alongside the carts to keep them on track or slow their momentum, boys drove the mules that carried the carts filled with coal from the deepest veins. Two years of experience underground, and enough English and preparation to pass a twelve-question test about mine safety, qualified a boy to become a digger. If a boy couldn’t pass the test, he could sign up for a correspondence class, or, as a last resort, simply buy a certificate.
Breaker boys picking slate, circa 1913
Coal breaker, Scranton, Pennsylvania
Everything in the anthracite counties had a price, and a cost. The companies controlled a natural resource whose limits they couldn’t be sure of. The first to dig weren’t thinking about the next century anyway. They started with the better, easier deposits first, took as much as possible, sold as much as they could, and accepted the falling prices that competition sometimes brings. As they depleted those seams, they had to spend more to extract what remained. Small independent operators eventually had to sell out to the bigger companies. These were backed by the railroads, which in the 1860s and 1870s had plenty of financial supporters, including the U.S. government. By 1874,11 most of the coal land in northeastern Pennsylvania was controlled by the railroads. By 1900, most of the railroads were controlled by Pierpont Morgan.
The conditions were perfect for a powerful cartel to form. After the labor unrest of the 1870s and early attempts at unionization, the coal bosses wanted to hire workers who wouldn’t challenge their authority. They recruited miners from central and eastern Europe, often more than they could fully employ, so that the men12 ended up working intermittently for less money in hazardous conditions. That had the effect of depressing all wages. The men called it “mining the miners.”13 Then owners lowered production and raised prices. Some of the earlier generations, resentful or retired, moved away. By 1902, at least half14 of the anthracite miners were immigrants from Slavic countries; by some counts they spoke fourteen different languages and dialects.
They were the new working poor, each month calculating how to support their families. The old high-priced “pluck-me” company stores had officially closed, only to be handed over to the relatives of favored foremen or superintendents. Shopping there15 wasn’t compulsory, if a miner didn’t care about losing a rich vein or the days to mine it. As one striker recounted, the superintendent might ask: “Do you know that my wife’s brother George has a store?” A day or two later, if the miner’s wife hadn’t shown up at George’s store, the miner might hear that the promising spot was no longer his. Then the miner would stop in to tell the superintendent that his wife had tried George’s store and liked it better than where she had shopped before. “Brother-in-law George had the right kind of stuff,” and of course they were willing to pay a few cents more for it.
The miners’ biggest complaint about these arrangements was that they had no choice about where to purchase the black explosive powder16 they needed to do their jobs: a twenty-five-pound keg, enough to last a week, cost the companies one dollar and the miners as much as two dollars and seventy-five cents. The companies argued that having control of the supply allowed them to regulate the quality.
Families could manage on five or six hundred dollars a year, if they could make that much. Many didn’t.17 They’d spend18 ten dollars and fifty cents a month to rent a home for their family of six and four dollars on the coal to heat it. Groceries—butter, eggs, potatoes, cabbage, flour, and sugar—cost twenty-two dollars; the butcher got another six. That would leave seventeen dollars a month for clothes, church dues, and insurance fees of two dollars and twenty cents, medicine if they needed it, savings if they could afford it. They had to consider the possibility that the next month they might earn less.
John Mitchell first19 entered a mine when he was twelve years old. His mother had died—he never knew how—and his father had been crushed to death by a team of runaway horses. He was living, unhappily and in poverty, with his stepmother and her new husband in Braidwood, Illinois. It was 1882.
A farmer had discovered deposits of soft bituminous coal in the fields of northeastern Illinois two decades earlier, and Braidwood had become a coal town, attracting immigrants from Italy, Ireland, Scotland, and Germany. Their houses were made of cheap wood; the streets and paths were like swamps when it rained. Dogs, hogs, and sheep roamed the business district, which consisted of a few general stores and banks, a newspaper office, and eighty saloons.
The exuberance of discovery set in motion the same cycle in Illinois as it had in Pennsylvania, as it would over again throughout the country. Companies removed as much as they could, too much, then competed fiercely for markets and customers by lowering prices. They compensated by lowering wages and reducing the number of days miners could dig. During the first two years Mitchell was underground—as his stepfather’s apprentice—miners were forced to accept two pay cuts, and in 1884 the state government reported that many mining families spent more to get by than they could earn.
Breaker boys waiting to be paid, Archbald colliery, Lackawanna County, 1890
Underground first aid station for anthracite miners
Mitchell, along with many Braidwood miners, joined the local union. Unlike most of them, he saw the union as a potential career path out of the mines. It took ten years and two major confrontations. The first, a preemptive lockout in 1889, left many Illinois miners homeless, hungry, and sick, and after eight months they agreed to give up their union membership as well as 20 percent of their wages to get their jobs back. The second was a strike in 1894, one year into the depression and just before the Pullman workers walked off their jobs and Coxey’s Army marched to Washington. The coal strike was organized by the newly created United Mine Workers of America. More than one hundred twenty-five thousand of the one hundred fifty thousand or so bituminous coal miners around the country stopped working. Five states, including Illinois, called in their militias, igniting outbursts of violence. When strikers blockaded coal trains, lawyers arrived with restraining orders, and federal troops came to enforce them. Hard-coal miners kept digging, as did some soft-coal miners, and two months after the strike began, the leaders called it off. Mitchell participated in the first action and lost his job after the second.
He was twenty-four. He had a wife, Kate, and a son, Richard. They all lived in her father’s home in Spring Valley, Illinois. Mitchell was shy and barely educated, but he was remedying that. He read newspapers and joined an “athletic club” for coal miners who preferred to drink and debate. He became close friends with an influential Catholic priest who guided his intellectual development. He cast his20 vote for the Populist candidate in the 1894 midterm elections (who lost). Like many young miners, Mitchell was lean and muscular, with the eyes of an older man. He kept his hair neatly combed and his clothes clean. He accumulated facts and statistics and spoke carefully. He seemed to have good judgment. He was preparing for a life outside the mines.
His first21 opportunity came in 1894, when he was offered an unpaid job as an organizer for the United Mine Workers. Mary Harris Jones joined the union as an organizer around then, too. At fifty-seven years old, she would soon be known as Mother Jones. Later she was called “the most dangerous22 woman in this country.” By contrast, Mitchell was the mediator, eager to win approval from the powerful men he would work with and against. He admired their material success, desired their comforts, but set out in a direction that could only leave him grasping. He was a contradiction, a mystery even to himself.
Mitchell won his first union election two years later. He had a low-level position, secretary-treasurer in a subdistrict in Illinois, with no salary. But his expenses were paid. It was a difficult time. Union membership had fallen below ten thousand after the failed strikes and few of those miners paid their dues. The organization was nearly bankrupt. Around the country, millions were unemployed. Three hundred miners in Spring Valley were so hard up they offered to work for no pay at all if the coal companies provided their families with food, fuel, and clothing.
In 1897, conditions were still desperate, and a new union president called for bituminous miners around the country to stop working on July 4. Within days production nearly stopped in Indiana, Ohio, and northern Illinois. The union sent Mitchell to southern Illinois, where some bituminous deposits had recently been discovered. He walked from camp to camp trying to persuade the men to join the strike. This time, unlike in 1894, operators didn’t call in replacement workers. Many of them23—including Mark Hanna, in his capacity as an industrialist in Cleveland—realized that acquiescing to one of the miners’ demands, standardized wages, might help stabilize the industry. Violence was minimal, and the Illinois governor refused some sheriffs’ requests to call out the state militia. Thousands of people sent food and clothes to the miners, and the American Federation of Labor held rallies to raise money. In September, the operators offered a compromise and the union accepted.
During the strike, Mitchell listened to the miners, kept their spirits up, maintained order, and became a local hero. He gained confidence and ambition, and at its conclusion, with a push from his mentor, he won the vice presidency of the union. He moved to Indianapolis, some two hundred fifty miles from his family. Eight months later, President McKinley asked the president of the United Mine Workers to become a member of the new Industrial Commission. Mitchell was appointed acting president of the union in October and was elected president of the United Mine Workers in January 1899. He was twenty-eight years old. The union had fifty-five thousand members and a nearly hundred-thousand-dollar budget. Among his hopes was to draw a fifteen-hundred-dollar annual salary.
Mitchell’s new job was demanding: he was building a national organization out of quarrelsome officials and clamorous miners with the goal of negotiating contracts and upholding them peacefully. He traveled constantly. The pay he deemed insufficient. Nine months in, he considered quitting. “My personal interests24 would be best served by my retirement,” he wrote a friend, “as I can secure employment which would not only be congenial, but would pay a much higher salary than is paid me by the miners.”
Mitchell was eager to propel himself into the middle class one way or another. He looked into becoming a silent partner in a hardware store or starting a tobacco manufacturing company. But he soon realized that he could take advantage of opportunities that came his way on the job. When he decided to take a vacation in California, he asked for free passes from the coal and railroad officials he knew. He acquired a taste for cigars, and an expensive gold ring with six small diamonds. After talking with several politicians on a trip to the capital, he wrote to his brother, Robert, “Have just returned25 from Washington, DC where I had the pleasure of meeting and conversing with that renowned statesman, Mark Hanna, as well as many senators and congressmen of National fame.” Robert, a miner out west in Washington, was not impressed.
It was the beginning of the American century, and coal was the all-American source of energy. Mitchell seized the moment. His union now included ninety-three thousand members, most of whom who worked in small bituminous mines in West Virginia, Illinois, Indiana, and Ohio. There were another one hundred forty-seven thousand miners just one state over. If he wanted to increase the size and influence of the union, he had to bring the union to Pennsylvania.
Six railroads26 controlled more than 96 percent of the anthracite coal there; the Reading, out of bankruptcy and planning to expand, was the most influential. Mitchell knew that a few men in a few corporate offices in New York and Philadelphia determined how much coal to produce, how much to charge, and how much to pay the miners. He knew he would be taking on Big Capital and the Biggest Capitalist, Pierpont Morgan. He also knew that in 1900 President McKinley would be running for a second term.
John Mitchell, president of the United Mine Workers of America
He and the union he represented “cared nothing27 for one party or another,” Mitchell said. But one party cared more than the other about industrial peace that year: “We [have] learned that the Republican administration were very desirous of having all labor disputes settled before the campaign opens, and particularly in the mining regions.” If he could build up the union until it was big enough to threaten the Republicans’ coveted economic stability, the miners would be in a much stronger position.
Mitchell prepared to face the coal bosses as their workers were being recruited by his organizers. It was stressful, and in March, Mitchell suffered a physical breakdown that might have been exacerbated by heavy drinking. He called it “extreme nervousness.”28 A week in a hotel in Chicago under the care of a doctor seemed to help.
Union men moved from town to town in Pennsylvania’s anthracite counties, held meetings open only to those who knew the password, signed up some nine thousand members, and encouraged many more to at least consider the possibility that miners could unite to challenge the coal monopoly.
Many were skeptical at first. Two years earlier, some three hundred anthracite miners, most of them Eastern European, joined a strike, raised an American flag, and marched toward the town of Lattimer, Pennsylvania, where they hoped to shut down operations. They were protesting their low wages and miserable living conditions. The sheriff called in the Coal and Iron Police. A small scuffle—and an impulsive order to shoot—left at least29 nineteen unarmed miners dead and thirty-two wounded. The aftermath revealed the ethnic tensions among the miners—and the public. Many noted that English-speaking strikers wouldn’t have faced such a violent end, and others were just as sure that the eastern Europeans must have instigated the confrontation. No officer was convicted in what became known as the Lattimer massacre.
In 1900 ethnic prejudice and antagonism still simmered among some miners, and Mitchell worried they might not hold together during a strike. He told the miners to blame their bosses, not each other, for their low wages. “The coal you dig30 isn’t Slavish or Polish or Irish coal, it’s coal.”
That summer, the union’s campaign was explicit: it boasted that over the years it had won pay increases of as much as 50 percent for some bituminous miners. That made membership, and its obligations, more appealing. The anthracite miners hadn’t received31 a wage hike since 1880.
In September, from a shabby room at the Old Valley Hotel in Hazleton that served as his headquarters, Mitchell decided it was time to act. There were enough miners on the rolls. He would test their resolve. He sent telegrams to the presidents of the anthracite railroads requesting that the miners’ complaints about wages and working conditions be submitted to arbitration. He asked each executive to respond by the end of the day. They responded with hostile silence. Mitchell called for a strike to begin five days later, on September 17, 1900.
At least eighty thousand anthracite miners stayed home that Monday. Within two weeks almost all the mines were shut down. Their grievances—the artificially high cost of their explosive powder and the goods they purchased from the company stores, their reduced workdays, the improper weighing of the coal they dug, their unpredictable wages tied to the market price of coal—stirred voters of all political leanings. The miners’ ability to keep the peace also won them supporters.
It was campaign season. Bryan promised “equal rights32 to all and special privileges to none.” McKinley promised a full dinner pail. Roosevelt was giving speeches out west, as he had promised Hanna, though his schedule was more grueling than he expected. “I have had33 a very hard trip,” he wrote from Denver to his sister Corinne. “I have had half a dozen first-class horseback rides. Otherwise I do nothing but fester in the car and elbow to and from stagings … I have not the slightest idea how the election is coming out, but at any rate I am doing my part as hard as I can.”
McKinley left it to Hanna—his campaign manager, head of the Republican National Committee, spokesman for the financial powers, and dominant force in the National Civic Federation dedicated to industrial peace—to try to secretly end the strike. Creating trade agreements between workers and owners made sense to him. Cooperation was more profitable than confrontation. Mitchell would come to agree.
The anthracite coal bosses were harder to convince. They considered Mitchell a self-serving, ill-informed interloper whom they could wait out, and through September they remained fiercely uninterested in discussing the demands of their employees. Then they heard from Hanna. He invited them to a meeting at Pierpont Morgan’s office in New York. That was an invitation they couldn’t ignore. Hanna told them “that if the34 strike was not settled it would extend to Ohio, Indiana, and Illinois, and the election of Mr. McKinley and Mr. Roosevelt would be endangered.” The operators, led by George Baer, the president of the most important of the railroads, the Reading, reluctantly agreed to settle the strike.
They offered a 10 percent wage increase through April 1, 1901, and promised to reduce the price of the explosive powder and abolish the sliding pay scale. The miners didn’t win everything they wanted. None of companies acknowledged Mitchell or the union. But the miners understood the concessions as a tacit recognition of their power. They declared victory, and on October 29 returned to work. Then they voted to make every October 29 a holiday, Mitchell Day.35
Mitchell became a national figure,36 with more than a hundred fifty thousand miners under his command and a political alliance with one of the most powerful men in the country. Hanna described Mitchell as a responsible and trustworthy labor leader. Mitchell called Hanna “the Captain” and visited him at home in Cleveland. Mitchell also went on a “jollification tour” of anthracite country. He happily accepted a gold medal, a gold-headed cane, a silver cup, and two candelabra from grateful miners and local business owners. The value of these gifts “could not be less than one thousand dollars!” he wrote to a friend.
Mitchell looked for other ways to make extra money. He thought about selling large framed photos of himself to the miners and setting up a “John Mitchell” cigar company. The most lucrative opportunity, though, was a job offer from an insurance firm in Philadelphia. Mitchell could become a vice president, with a salary of four thousand dollars a year and an annual bonus of one thousand dollars-worth of stock. It took him a full year to turn down the position.
William McKinley and Theodore Roosevelt defeated William Jennings Bryan and Adlai Stevenson on November 6, 1900. As Hanna prepared for McKinley’s second term, with an ambitious new vice president hovering in the background, his political instincts failed. He didn’t notice the coal barons’ glowering resentment. They felt they’d been forced to compromise for the sake of political expediency. They wouldn’t do so again.
Three weeks after the March inauguration—as Morgan was preparing to leave for Europe and James Hill was making plans for their new purchase, the Burlington—the miners’ wage agreement was close to expiring. Mitchell wrote a desperate note37 to Hanna. He had invited the coal executives to talk with union representatives about maintaining the higher wages beyond April and, again, they had ignored him. If Hanna could arrange a meeting, Mitchell was confident they “could reach an understanding which would be satisfactory to all concerned and would not necessarily mean any loss of dignity on the part of the railroad presidents.” Hanna replied that he was “only too happy to do anything.”
Doing anything usually required Morgan. Hanna visited 23 Wall Street to discuss the matter. Morgan wasn’t as opposed to unions as the coal executives were. Like Hanna he believed it inevitable that workers would organize. He suggested38 that if Mitchell could keep his men in line for a year—no local strikes, no day-long boycotts—the union might win recognition from the coal operators.
The coal companies quietly extended the wage increases for another year, until April 1902. But by summer,39 the local union leaders were reporting that the companies were violating the agreements. The miners were agitated, and Mitchell was too. He didn’t want another strike so soon. Through the autumn and early winter he held on to the hope that he wouldn’t have to lead one. Pressure-testing the previous year’s fragile victory would be risky; perhaps the assassination of McKinley, and the nation’s unease in the ensuing transition, also factored into his calculations.
In February 1902, two months before the already broken agreement would officially end, Mitchell got a chance to appeal directly to Morgan to broker talks. They met on February 26, the same day the king of Wall Street hosted lunch for the prince of Germany. Morgan was friendly and courteous and, as Mitchell recalled,40 said: “If the railroad presidents were wrong he would not sustain them, if the miners were wrong, he would not help them.” The financier assured the labor leader he would “do what was right when the opportunity for action came.” But he also said that he could not order the coal presidents to meet Mitchell.
Afterward, Ralph Easley,41 the energetic founder of the National Civic Federation, told Mitchell not to worry about Morgan’s refusal to take command of the situation. Eventually everything would work out. Mitchell wanted to believe him.
Mitchell had joined with Hanna, believed in industrial capitalism, and thought of himself as a conservative. Radicals accused42 him of chloroforming the class consciousness of workers. And still he couldn’t persuade the coal executives to talk with him. “I fear43 that unless I can get a rest I am going to break down altogether,” Mitchell wrote. “I do not know what trouble I have. But I suffer constantly with my lungs and my heart, and during the past week or so I had intense pains across my back.”
He pressed on, asking the coal operators to meet with a union committee representing the mine workers. This time he received an answer. “We will endeavor44 to correct every abuse, to right every wrong, to deal justly and fairly with [the men we employ] … Beyond this we cannot go,” wrote George Baer, the Reading Railroad president. “There cannot be two masters in the management of business.” A month later, in late March, Mitchell sent another round of telegrams to the coal presidents, and again Baer replied. “Always willing to meet45 our employees to discuss and adjust any grievances. I had hoped that my letter clearly expressed our views.”
Finally, in late April, the National Civic Federation persuaded the executives to meet with Mitchell after all. They gathered at the headquarters of the Central Railroad of New Jersey, a subsidiary of the Reading. A restaurant46 catered lunch, and for forty-five minutes the railroad presidents and the miners’ representatives talked and ate. Two boxes of perfecto cigars arrived. That seemed auspicious. Mitchell presented the union demands. No response. Then the executives announced that they would rather go bankrupt than surrender to the union. It seemed they had come only to assess the strength of their opponent.
The miners again pressed for action. Mitchell again suggested arbitration. Baer insisted that the operators must be free to run their businesses without interference from the unions. Or politicians who couldn’t understand the complications of coal mining. Rumors spread that, as they had done in 1901, the companies had been stockpiling anthracite and enough bituminous to run their locomotives until winter.
“Anthracite mining47 is a business, and not a religious, sentimental or academic proposition,” Baer wrote in reply to Mitchell’s final telegram on May 8. And despite being a businessman to his core, Baer was willing to lose money to make his point.
Mitchell believed Hanna was now frustrated enough to support a strike, and that the growing suspicion of big business among Americans would help his effort. But he was anxious about the trouble and suffering to come for the miners. Two days later, he wrote a letter to Mother Jones, who was organizing miners in West Virginia. “I am of the48 opinion that this will be the fiercest struggle in which we have yet engaged,” he said. “It will be a fight to the end, and our organization will either achieve a great triumph or it will be completely annihilated.”
Whistles pierced the May morning at the anthracite coal mines. Expectancy hung in the air. In Coaldale, Carbondale, Shamokin, Panther Creek, and the other towns in northeastern Pennsylvania, more than one hundred forty-seven thousand men and boys heard the whistle calling them to work. They ignored it. The miners knew the hurt the strike would bring: payless days, rationed food, untreated illnesses, possibly eviction. “Our boys1 are not expecting automobiles and membership cards in clubs of every city,” said one of the strikers. “But they want their fathers to earn enough to keep them at school.”
Their union leader knew the ripple effects of the strike would also bring deprivation to the eastern cities and their poor first. He felt responsible.
The presidents of the coal companies seemed unconcerned. They were reportedly playing golf2 in the early days. They called the strikers foolish and inconsiderate.3 “They have no tangible grievances … We will let them fight it out,” said one. “We are confident they will regret their action and be glad to resume work on the old terms,” said another. Later, George Baer, their unofficial leader, said: “These men4 don’t suffer. Why, hell, half of them don’t even speak English.”
But the strike that began that May morning would reveal itself to be much more than a protest for fair wages and treatment, more than a faceoff between labor and capital. It was a confrontation between a past where power was concentrated and a future where it was shared.
Baer represented the past, where a man like him answered only to his conscience, his God, occasionally to his wife. He was a fourth-generation5 Pennsylvanian, a college dropout, bookkeeper, Civil War officer, and country lawyer by the age of twenty-eight. The Philadelphia & Reading Railroad, built to carry anthracite coal to Philadelphia and its port, hired him as its “confidential counsel” in 1870. Baer also worked for one of the railroad’s smaller competitors. His first task was to help the Reading acquire it.
Baer reported to the railroad’s ambitious president, who wanted the Reading to control the entire anthracite industry. Pennsylvania prohibited6 that—railroads couldn’t legally own and operate coal mines—but a loophole allowed railroads to own a subsidiary that owned mines. The Philadelphia and Reading Coal and Iron Company was born.
Baer earned a generous salary from the railroad, five thousand7 dollars a year, which allowed him to become a real estate developer and industrialist at the same time. No one at the company complained when he served as a prosecutor for the Commonwealth as well. After violent conflicts in the coal region in the 1870s, he helped convict twenty Irish miners—suspected members of the Molly Maguires secret society—of murder and other crimes. They were hanged.
George Baer, circa 1886, when he was the lawyer for the Philadelphia & Reading Railroad Company
Baer came to Pierpont Morgan’s attention in 1893. The economy was depressed. The Reading had expanded wildly and was bankrupt for the third time in thirteen years. Baer was crucial to its Morganization. In 1901 he engineered a merger with the Reading’s biggest rival, the Central Railroad of New Jersey. Morgan rewarded Baer by naming him president of the company in April of that year. Baer—sharp-eyed, religious, and a fervent capitalist—became the most important executive in the anthracite industry.
In the first days of the strike, Baer and the other coal executives called in five thousand Coal and Iron Police to guard the collieries—the mines and breakers and the land in between. They feared vandalism by the strikers and violence against the men the companies hired to replace them. The strikers paraded through the streets carrying homemade banners: “We are slaves8 now but John Mitchell will soon set us free.” John Mitchell urged them not to provoke the security forces standing by with their Winchester rifles. Mother Jones9 led her own parade of women armed with mops and brooms and tin pans to harass anyone heading to work in the mines. She knew she made Mitchell nervous.
The companies paid five thousand dollars to the Pennsylvania treasury, one for each soldier, to create a state-sanctioned private militia to do their bidding. Mostly untrained and often undisciplined, the men received10 $2.50 a day, about $70 a month—if they lasted that long. They lived behind barricades in basic accommodations. On patrol they were surrounded by hostile strikers. Many left as soon as their contracts permitted. The coal companies began to recruit soldiers who had just returned from the Philippines, where they had been fighting against nationalist guerrillas seeking independence. The coal operators expected men hardened in brutal colonial warfare to be more resilient.
A paramilitary force bankrolled by the coal companies on one side; enforcers threatening miners who broke ranks on the other. Violence seemed inevitable. Mitchell worried that no matter how it began, it would only hurt the miners’ cause. The union issued rules of conduct: Don’t carry weapons, or mops; don’t hang effigies, or otherwise threaten the men who still want to work. Don’t set fires at the collieries so they can’t work. Definitely don’t throw stones at the Coal and Iron Police and don’t kidnap them either.
The miners didn’t always follow the rules. One of Mitchell’s district secretaries had to rescue five new policemen, grabbed by strikers moments after they stepped off the train outside Hazleton. He made sure the men returned home to Philadelphia without any trouble. He didn’t want to have to do that again. Miners who tried11 to work could find their porches dynamited or their names on tombstones.
On June 5, three weeks into the strike, the Coal and Iron Police shot Charles McCann12 in the chest as he approached a mine they were protecting outside Wilkes-Barre. McCann was only twelve. Men had been tearing down the fence and setting small fires, and McCann’s involvement, if any, was unclear. An angry crowd of some three thousand gathered. The police chief sent in reinforcements. Everyone was on edge. Four of the Coal and Iron Police were arrested by the official police, and the other guards on duty said they would leave if they could get out safely. McCann was taken to a hospital and survived.
After the shooting, strikers hung an effigy of Morgan13 and pelted it with stones. Morgan, who was in Europe attempting to combine six shipping lines into one company, chose to not14 get involved in the strike. He expected the coal executives to deal with their own employees.
Heavy rains fell over coal country that June. The untended mines began to flood. Avondale, where15 one hundred eight men and boys had died in a fire in 1869, threatened to cave in. The No. 11 was filling with water after unskilled workers broke the pumps, and even an offer of five dollars a day to fix them wasn’t enough to entice skilled workers to break the strike.
Colliery No. 516 at Nanticoke became known as Fort Susquehanna. The coal company’s man on the ground was Lieutenant Jones, a veteran of the war in Cuba and graduate of Yale. He requested a moat, barbed wire, stockades, a thousand feet of heavy fire hose, eighty armed men, and a small battalion of professional photographers. They were supplied with huge cameras and plenty of flashlight powder and ordered to capture images of anyone attempting to attack the coal fort.
Bituminous miners in West Virginia, Alabama, and Michigan walked off their jobs in support, and sentiment seemed to grow for a national strike. “I view with17 alarm the talk of a sympathetic strike,” Hanna wrote Mitchell. Many of the soft-coal miners had a contract with their employers, negotiated by the union and backed by Hanna’s National Civic Federation. Mitchell urged them not to break it. Hanna did more than that. He sent men posing as union representatives into the coal fields to persuade the union members not to go back on their word.
Eventually, Mitchell suggested the soft-coal miners instead create a relief fund for the hard-coal miners. He was already leading enough strikers to command attention. He thought reaching further could be dangerous. “One thing at18 a time, and not all things at once, is the way a better state will be ushered in,” Mitchell said.
The anthracite miners, many among them Catholics, had the support of priests in the area. Intellectuals around the country backed the miners, as did much of the press, which featured stories of the strikers on its front pages. Mitchell remained cautious, which infuriated such organizers as Mother Jones and gave comfort to such politicians as Hanna. Mitchell thought that was a fair trade.
He set up headquarters in the Hotel Hart in Wilkes-Barre, a modest brick building in the center of the city, next to the Lackawanna rail depot. Wilkes-Barre had been made wealthy by coal but by 1902 no longer relied on it. Ninety-six companies19 operated nearby, including Hazard Wire Rope, Sheldon Axel Works, Vulcan Iron Works, Stegmaier Brewing, W. B. Lace Manufacturing. Women working in the lace factory earned about one hundred ninety-five dollars a year. Men who worked in any of the other factories earned four hundred ninety-two dollars—about as much as a miner did, if he worked a full year—but with less chance of being injured or killed on the job.
Mitchell was the calm center of the strike. He usually dressed in a high-collared shirt with a black tie and long frock coat that made him look like a priest. “I will say20 that we do not desire to make any city a victim or have any person suffer because of our quarrel with the coal companies,” he said. He listened to the miners’ complaints, and he praised them for maintaining the peace. Someone wrote a song, “On Johnny Mitchell’s Train,”21 about the husbands and sons who left coal country to find temporary work elsewhere:
I’m an honest union laborin’ man,
And I’ll have you understand,
I’ll tell you just the reason why
I left the mining land.
It was Baer and Morgan done it,
And for they’ll repent,
For we don’t intend to work a tap,
Till we get the ten percent.
A month into the strike—as railroads and factories began to conserve their coal supplies—it looked as though the new kind of leader in Washington might get involved. Several people suggested how: just as Roosevelt had taken on Morgan’s railroad combination for violating the Sherman Act, Roosevelt could order Attorney General Knox to prosecute Morgan’s coal cartel for the same offense. The decision would be just as popular in the East as going after Northern Securities was in the West. Or Roosevelt could ask the Board of Trade and Transportation to help resolve the strike. George Perkins,22 in his second year at the House of Morgan (and still speaking with the White House, despite the ongoing legal battle), suggested Roosevelt do neither. Taking action would be a fatal mistake, he said. He told Roosevelt he was going to give Knox the same advice. No need. Knox had already come to the same conclusion. Roosevelt replied that he had no intention of doing anything just yet.
But that wasn’t exactly the case. He ordered Carroll Wright, his secretary of labor, to investigate the grievances of the miners and claims of the operators and push them to arbitrate. Wright was a lawyer, statistician and bureaucrat. He had some experience. President Cleveland had asked him to lead a commission to investigate the claims of the Pullman strikers and managers in 1894. Wright dispatched deputies to the coalfields while he went to New York to meet with Mitchell and the coal presidents. He quickly came to a stark conclusion: “There is no23 confidence existing between the employees and their employers, and that suspicion lurks in the minds of everyone and distrust in every action on either side.” He didn’t believe anyone was misrepresenting facts. But they drew radically different conclusions from them.
The anthracite miners24 should be allowed to form their own union, he wrote in his report, rather than join the United Mine Workers, which already represented the bituminous coal miners. The executives had convinced Wright that the two kinds of coal competed in the marketplace and that bituminous, which was easier to transport and better suited for pig iron and steel mills, had the advantage. Mitchell couldn’t advocate for both, they said. But the anthracite miners should be allowed to bargain collectively, have their grievances heard by a conciliation committee, and see their coal weighed by two inspectors, Wright concluded. The companies should experiment for six months with a nine-hour workday instead of ten. In exchange, the miners had to promise not to intimidate those who didn’t want to join the union.
Baer told Wright his recommendations would lead to ruin. “We can help25 to destroy the prosperity of the country by meeting the foolish demands of those who are asking for more than it is in our power to give.”
Roosevelt sent the report to Knox: “I like its tone26 greatly, but I am not certain what can be accomplished by publication,” Roosevelt told him. The president had no legal sway, and he didn’t like to be ignored. Knox—who as a corporate lawyer had tried to prosecute the Homestead strike leaders for treason and as attorney general was wary of testing constitutional limits—advised him not27 to make it public. By the end of the summer, though, Roosevelt was frustrated enough to release the report. Knox released a note of his own: “The Executive had no power whatever to take action in the matter.”
Violence erupted28 in Shenandoah in the early evening of July 30. Several thousand miners stood in a picket line that ran past the Reading railroad station in the southern part of town. They were on the lookout for men who had broken the strike and gone to work in the mines. Maybe they were looking for trouble, too. Either way, three men came near, walking on the tracks, accompanied by a sheriff’s deputy and carrying bundles under their arms. The miners tugged at the bundles. Overalls, tools and dinner pails tumbled out. The men were employees of the Reading railroad company, coming from the West Shenandoah colliery where they had inspected a broken pump. “Scabs!” the strikers shouted as they began throwing stones, beating and kicking the repairmen. The deputy pulled out his revolver and fired shots over the miners’ heads, but they didn’t turn back. They hurled rocks through the windows of the rail depot as the men retreated inside. When the deputy’s brother, a hardware store owner named Joseph Beddall, tried to make his way to the depot with weapons and ammunition, the miners attacked.
A light engine pulled into the back of the station to rescue the three company men. Two scrambled on; the third, George Good, got one foot inside when a striker grabbed the other. The deputy sheriff shot the striker in the leg, then, with Good, jumped aboard. The train, bombarded by stones, maybe even bullets, started out of the station.
Police fired into the crowd of strikers. Hundreds of bullets flew. At least twenty miners and five policemen were injured in what became known as the Bloody First Ward riot. Joseph Beddall—skull fractured, nose broken, body beaten—was rushed to the hospital. He died two days days later.
Sheriff S. Rowland Bedall, Joseph’s uncle, sent a desperate telegram to Pennsylvania governor William Stone just after seven o’clock that night: “Bloodshed and riots29 in this county, property destroyed, civilians killed and injured. Situation beyond my control. Troops should be sent to Shenandoah immediately.”
The governor called in the Pennsylvania National Guard. By the next morning, fifteen hundred infantrymen surrounded Shenandoah and patrolled the nearby towns on horseback. “All along the30 valley great piles of culm surmounted by huge breakers marked the sites of the collieries. The machinery for the most part was silent … The huge steel cars were standing empty, and the works deserted save for an occasional Coal and Iron policeman, who stood, armed with a Winchester, solitary and undemonstrative,” Stewart Culin, a private from Philadelphia, wrote of his first days in the valley. “We frequently galloped through the village streets … Everywhere the people looked clean, with clean white shirts and dresses that contrasted strangely with the pall of blackness that enveloped the country.”
The guardsmen eventually set up camps throughout the region, installed phones lines and plumbing, and settled in for a stay of who knew how long. Their arrival proved a boon to business. The commissary bought31 meat and smoked fish (one brigade spent $4,118 for a month’s worth), calfskin shoes (1,200 pairs for $2,532.81), and wool blankets (three hundred for $993). Captain Livingston V. Rausch hired horses for his regiment at a cost of $960 a month. The men were well fed and provided for, but they didn’t earn very much. Most were paid $1.50 a day. They would remain in coal country until early winter, an occupying force that helped keep a sullen calm among the strikers. The total cost to the state for their deployment was $993,856.46—every penny accounted for in a hundred-twenty-two-page report.
The coal barons expected that the riot would turn public opinion—and Roosevelt—their way. Mitchell was worried about that, and everything else, too. He didn’t feel well and he couldn’t sleep. Some said he was drinking. In 1901 the miners had won most of what they wanted after a month and a half. The strikers had already been out of work for almost twice that long in 1902. The coal executives swore they wouldn’t surrender to political pressure again, and they didn’t think much of Hanna, Mitchell’s political ally, either. “I am fully32 convinced the strike would have collapsed had the operators at this time opened their mines and invited the strikers to return,” Mitchell later wrote.
But three weeks after the violence, Baer turned public opinion against the coal barons all on his own. He had received a letter from a concerned citizen pleading with him, as a good Christian, to settle with the miners. Someone else might have at least offered some hope of conciliation. Not Baer. He was confident his intransigence was not only good for business in the long term, but morally correct. “The rights33 and interests of the laboring man will be protected and cared for—not by the labor agitators, but by the Christian men to whom God in His infinite wisdom has given the control of the property interests of the country,” he wrote. His reply was made public, widely mocked (though not by Mitchell), and stirred resentment against him, Morgan, and the other men who controlled the nation’s economy. That they believed they did so by divine right seemed the ultimate arrogance to the Americans at their mercy.
The coal companies were facing a financial disaster,34 but they tried to keep up appearances. A group of35 strikers climbed the stockade at the Avondale colliery one August night to investigate reports that one hundred cars of coal had been brought up from the mine. That seemed unlikely. They discovered that the cars were filled with dirt and only sprinkled with coal on top.
Baer nonetheless insisted that the striking miners would soon give up. They faced the hard prospect of a freezing winter without wages and only dwindling funds to sustain them.
Coal miners evicted from company-owned housing during strike, northeast Pennsylvania, 1902
The day before Baer riled the late summer calm, Morgan returned to New York aboard the luxury liner Oceanic. He had enjoyed an invigorating four months. He cruised36 from Venice down the Dalmatian coast on Corsair, attended the coronation of King Edward VII in Westminster Abbey, and hosted grand dinner parties at Princes Gate, his London home. He had spent lavishly on art. And to top it all off, he had created the International Mercantile Marine, “the beginning37 of an ultimately vast combination of shipping interests,” he explained to George Parkin, a fellow passenger, who was in charge of setting up the Rhodes Scholar program. Morgan felt comfortable enough at his private dining table aboard the ship to speak freely. Parkin said he had been enthralled with Morgan’s idea that “combination will progress, growing wider and greater all the time.”
The Oceanic belonged to the White Star Line, which now belonged to Morgan’s new trust. He treated the ship as if it were his own. Before departing England, he brought aboard38 food from his estate: boxes of melons, hothouse grapes, peaches, nectarines, bottles of cream, eggs and butter. He also came with his folding card table and silver box containing two packs of cards.
Morgan left America before the coal strike began and was frustrated that it hadn’t been resolved before his return. Reporters boarded the Oceanic as it was held in quarantine and no one—not even Morgan—was allowed to depart. They entered his stateroom. A bodyguard stood nearby. Morgan was replacing his yachting cap with a flat-top English derby. He looked bronzed and hearty, they noted, and his skin seemed healthy. But he was still gruff. “There’s one thing39 I want above everything else, and that is to keep my name out of the papers,” he told them. “I’ll be at my office every day but I’ll not have any opinion to express.” Why not, one reporter ventured. “Why should I?” snapped the financier. “I don’t know anything about the coal strike. How should I settle it? I don’t know a thing about the situation.”
That, of course, wasn’t true. Perkins had kept him apprised of the situation. In early June, Perkins had told Morgan that as the possibility of the bituminous miners joining the strike seemed more likely, he had conferred with Hanna about how to keep them on the job. “We did hit40 on some plans that will be helpful,” Perkins wrote, and “are watching every move in the strike very very carefully and if we see any indications of serious complications we will not hesitate to ask you to step in and suggest some way of compromise.” Perkins assured Morgan that the strike hadn’t affected stock prices. “Unless something entirely new and unforeseen turns up in connection with it, it will not be much of a factor unless it should run on much longer than is expected,” he wrote in his June 23 report. In his last update at the end of July, just hours before the violence in Shenandoah, Perkins suggested the strike could be coming to an end. “I am very anxious to have this whole matter settled, if possible, before you get home, so that you will not have to be bothered with it.” If it wasn’t settled, Perkins went on, “Mitchell and the miners generally have great confidence in your fairness and would be almost willing to leave the entire case in your hands.” That would turn out to be an overly generous assessment of both men’s inclinations.
The strike—and the owners’ unyielding stand—was exposing capitalism’s weaknesses and encouraging a hard cynicism about its practitioners. Morgan didn’t understand that these fissures would last beyond the strike. He saw idle men and unworked mines and thought it a waste. He imagined he could find a fair solution. But when he41 met with Baer and the others at Delmonico’s, he didn’t impose or even suggest a way out. He would rather they come up with their own. Morgan preferred not to get involved in such messy situations.
The coal executives didn’t want him to either. And none of them wanted Roosevelt to get involved. But inaction always vexed Roosevelt. He was almost ready to test the limits of his presidential power.
On August 21, the day that Baer’s letter was published, Roosevelt wrote a note to his attorney general asking again why the government couldn’t challenge the legality of the coal cartel. “What is the42 reason we cannot proceed against the coal operators as being engaged in a trust? I ask because it is a question continually being asked of me.” The reason, Knox told him, again, is that the railroads had shrewdly organized the coal companies’ cooperation, making prosecution difficult under the Sherman Act. He wanted to wait for the ruling on the Northern Securities case before proceeding. Not the answer Roosevelt wanted. But he also understood that a legal solution, if there was one, would come too late.
Midterm elections were about ten weeks away. Roosevelt and his advisers worried that the strike could hurt the Republican Party. He set off on a six-hundred-mile campaign tour through New England to make sure it didn’t. He kicked off the tour with a speech in Providence, Rhode Island, on the steps of City Hall, in front of twenty thousand people. His subject: the trusts.43 Steam and electricity helped create America’s industrial economy, its great cities, prosperity for many, fortunes for a few. Now, he said, the dominion of massive business combinations must be restrained by law. “Some governmental sovereign must be given full power over these artificial, and very powerful, corporate beings,” he said. “In my judgment this sovereign must be the national government.”
And a few days later in Massachusetts, he leaned over a balcony rail, left arm sharp on his hip, and said to the citizens of Lynn: “All law must44 be so administered as to secure justice for all alike—a square deal for every man, great or small, rich or poor.” Roosevelt wasn’t the first to talk of a “square deal,” but once he used the phrase, it became his, and he employed it to its fullest, at a New York State Fair, in front of a crowd that included African Americans in Butte, Montana, in a letter to Knox. He would come to call it his “favorite formula.”45
Roosevelt, in Lynn, Massachusetts, promises, “a square deal for every man, big or small, rich or poor”
The president tells a crowd in Providence, Rhode Island, that the federal government must have power over corporations.
John Mitchell entering Shenandoah, Pennsylvania, 1902
Roosevelt traveled from Lynn to Boston, while some three hundred miles to the south, Hanna arranged46 for Perkins and Mitchell to meet in Philadelphia. Perkins suggested to the union leader the same thing he had to his boss—that Morgan oversee an investigation into working conditions in the anthracite fields and persuade the operators, as only he could, to accept the findings. All Mitchell had to do was send the miners back to work immediately and agree to be bound by the conclusions for three years.
Mitchell respected Hanna, Perkins, and, most of all, Morgan. But the operators’ threats—to resign if forced to arbitrate, to ask for more troops, to call for the prosecution of the union on antitrust grounds—had toughened the strikers. Mitchell had collected about three million dollars in union assessments and donations to help them survive the winter. The miners knew they were making history.
Mitchell declined the offer.
It was just1 after breakfast on the last day of Roosevelt’s New England campaign tour. He was on his way to the Pittsfield Country Club by hired carriage to give a speech. The horse-drawn coach was open to the early September Berkshires air, about two hundred yards from its destination. Roosevelt always sat on the right in a carriage; the governor of Massachusetts, Winthrop Murray Crane, took the spot to his left. George Cortelyou sat opposite; the man who had been by President McKinley’s side when he was shot was now Roosevelt’s senior secretary, essentially his chief of staff. William Craig, Roosevelt’s personal Secret Service agent, perched next to the driver.
All five heard the ring of a trolley bell behind them. Strange. The road was supposed to be clear. Crane turned to wave a warning to the driver. Craig stood up, raised his arm as if to hold off the inevitable, and yelled, “Oh my God!”
“It came down upon us like a flash,” Roosevelt said later that day. The trolley hit one of the four horses. The animal collapsed and died. In the next instant, a collision of metal on metal. Roosevelt, Cortelyou, and Crane were hurled forty feet to the side of the road. Passengers in the trolley screamed.
A doctor riding in another carriage jumped out and helped Roosevelt get to his feet. The president was bloody and bruised and looked unsteady. But he broke away and said, “No. I’m not hurt.” He told the doctor to look after the others. Cortelyou was dazed by a severe blow to the back of his head. Crane was shaken but had only a few scratches. Their driver had been dragged by the other horses but survived. Craig had fallen straight across the trolley tracks and been crushed to death.
Holding a handkerchief to his face, Roosevelt walked to the smashed carriage and the stopped trolley. He knelt beside Craig’s body. “This is the most2 damnable outrage I ever knew,” the president yelled at the trolley driver. “If you lost control of your car, there is some excuse, but if you tried to pass us, disregarding all our warnings, you ought to be punished.” He would be. Motorman Euclid Madden pleaded guilty to manslaughter and served a six-month sentence in jail. Some said the trolley was traveling 30 miles an hour at the point where the carriage route crossed the tracks. Some said Madden was trying to beat the president to the country club. Madden insisted the trolley wasn’t going faster than normal and blamed Roosevelt’s driver for the accident.
Had the collision occurred at a slightly different angle, Roosevelt would have been killed. As it was, his lips were bleeding, his face swollen, his right eye blackened, and he had hurt his left leg badly.
Roosevelt accompanied the men carrying Craig’s body to a home across the street. He made sure it was properly covered and that the family was notified. After half an hour he left. He stopped where he was supposed to stop during the day, but he didn’t make any speeches. He told those waiting that the man who had protected him for the past year had died. Craig was the first Secret Service agent to be killed on duty.
By evening Roosevelt was with Edith aboard the presidential yacht, the Sylph, on the way home to Oyster Bay. “The bruise on my face is no more than a man might get in a polo game or any other sport in which he might unskillfully engage,” Roosevelt said. But a man had died and the president could have. Messages of sympathy, support, and relief arrived from the German emperor, the French president, the Cuban president, the Persian shah.
One day at Sagamore Hill with his family and then Roosevelt was off on a southern tour, stopping in Chattanooga, Tennessee, to address the twenty-first annual convention of the Brotherhood3 of Locomotive Firemen. The Brotherhood initially provided members insurance in case of disability, or death, and later advocated for better working conditions and wages. It was a union, not a secret society. But the brotherhood seemed to imitate one. It was led by a grand master and grouped into lodges, and was open only to white men. Roosevelt overlooked their racism and praised their “rugged virtues,”4 their willingness to meet danger on the job. He said he admired their collective effort and individual enterprise. “I believe emphatically in organized labor,” he told them. “The worth of an organization depends upon its being handled with the courage, the skill, the wisdom, the spirit of fair dealing … and the wise self-restraint which … your Brotherhood has shown.”
Roosevelt’s carriage after a collision with a trolley in Pittsfield, Massachusetts
On September 15, back at Sagamore Hill, Theodore and Edith hosted a garden party, with cookies and raspberry lemonade for anyone in Nassau County who wanted to stop by. Eight thousand people came. Theodore shook5 hands with them all. The next day he hosted a smaller gathering. Five senators,6 including his friend Henry Cabot Lodge and his sometime supporter Mark Hanna, came to discuss the Republican Party’s prospects in the upcoming midterm elections. “I have grave7 and delicate questions to meet,” Roosevelt wrote to Secretary of State John Hay afterward. “I was glad to find that all of them, including Senator Hanna, thoroughly approved of my position on the trusts.” Thoroughly might have been stretching it. The men behind the trusts thought Hanna was their best hope to replace Roosevelt, and Hanna didn’t discourage them. He was too smart a politician to believe he had a real chance to become president, and his position as head of the Republican National Committee suited him better anyway. But a shadowy campaign on his behalf backed by the promise of big money might help recover some of his lost prestige.
In the meantime, Hanna had been calling on the House of Morgan to help settle the coal strike and fund the elections. He wasn’t getting far with either effort. The miners had received millions of dollars to help them through the forbidding winter and wouldn’t resume work without winning some concessions from the operators. Morgan remained uninterested in making that happen. Hanna also would have8 heard the rumors that Morgan might use his influence to flip the House of Representatives to a few reliably friendly Democrats, just to irk Roosevelt.
“Tomorrow I take up9 the burden again and start off for a three weeks’ nerve-shattering trip,” Roosevelt wrote to Hay. But he loved it. And the trip seemed to start off well. Huge crowds gathered in Cincinnati’s Music Hall. “We do not wish10 to destroy corporations. We wish to make them subserve to the public good,” he told an audience of enterprising citizens. “All individuals, rich or poor, private or corporate, must be subject to the law of the land.” In Detroit,11 he reviewed a military parade with Red Cross founder Clara Barton, steamed along the river, stayed in the Cadillac Hotel, and spoke to veterans of the Civil War and Spanish-American War. “We are optimists,” he said. “We know there are dangers ahead and evils to fight and overcome, but we feel to the full the pulse of the prosperity which we enjoy.”
A bruise on12 the president’s left shin, the only one that remained after the trolley accident, swelled and throbbed. He asked Cortelyou if all his bruises had healed. They had. One night in Cincinnati, Roosevelt asked to delay dinner by thirty minutes so he could rest, “a most unusual request,” a reporter noted later. When he thought no one would notice, he limped a little. Finally, he admitted to his doctor that walking had become painful. Cortelyou had overseen McKinley’s medical care after he was shot in Buffalo. He would do the same for this president. Roosevelt had to ask: Are these the best surgeons?
Cortelyou scheduled an operation to drain an abscess for the next afternoon at a hospital in Indianapolis. Before then: an overnight train to Indiana, a speech at City Hall in Logansport and another in front of six thousand people at Tomlinson Hall in the capital; a consultation with the surgeon before lunch at the Columbia Club; a few words to those gathered outside, possible only if Roosevelt leaned heavily on the balcony.
Roosevelt was a patient at St. Vincent’s for four hours. The surgery took place in a private operating room on the fifth floor. Doctors cleaned the injured area with carbolized soap and water and numbed it with a local anesthetic. Curious, Roosevelt asked to see the aspirator, the device the surgeons would use to drain his wound. The pus they suctioned off was clean. The president’s blood wasn’t poisoned.
By five, he was recovering in Room 52. He ate some toast, soft-boiled eggs, and fruit, drank some tea. By half past seven, he was ready to leave. Four Pullman porters carried Roosevelt one block from the hospital to the train. Like almost all Pullman porters they were African American. If passengers called13 them George, after the company founder, they were still required to respond. Secret Service agents and local police surrounded the stretcher so no one could see the president under a blanket up to his chin.
Cortelyou canceled the rest of his trip out west.
“My leg was14 attended to just in time, as (in strictest confidence) there had begun to be trouble with the bone,” Roosevelt wrote to Lodge two days later.
Edith was overseeing a five-hundred-thousand15-dollar renovation of 1600 Pennsylvania Avenue that summer and autumn that included expanding the residence and switching from gas light to electric. A new West Wing was intended to be big enough for the president, thirty-eight assistants, and the press. Roosevelt’s private office, with olive burlap walls and matching curtains, had plenty of bookshelves, comfortable chairs, a divan, and a portrait of Abraham Lincoln over the fireplace mantel. Near his desk16 he would hang a sonnet written years earlier by Kansas senator John James Ingalls and sent to Roosevelt by his widow. It was called “Opportunity.”
Master of human destinies am I …
I knock unbidden once at every gate!
If sleeping, wake—if feasting, rise before
I turn away. It is the hour of fate …
When he returned to Washington in late September, Roosevelt lived in the temporary White House, a mansion at 22 Jackson Place. The four-story house had been owned in the 1880s by one of the wealthiest congressmen in the country. William Scott, a Democrat from Erie, Pennsylvania, made his fortune in coal, iron, railroads, and the stock market. His obituary noted that he once made two million dollars on a single trade. His daughter, who had a mansion of her own nearby, leased the house, furnished, to the government.
Roosevelt, confined to a wheelchair, worked from a bright and airy dining room on the first floor, looking onto Lafayette Square and beyond that the White House. Only the mahogany table used for cabinet meetings had been brought over. Otherwise, Cortelyou, the press, and the usual assortment of guests and visitors occupied the parlors, while the Roosevelt family took over the second and third floors when they were in town.
For four days everything was fine, but then Roosevelt developed17 a slight fever and his left leg became inflamed. That afternoon, in his bedroom, surgeons applied cocaine as an anesthetic, cut open his wound, scraped an abrasion from the bone, and drained more pus. Afterward he seemed in good spirits, reading in his wheelchair, talking with Edith, dismissing the fuss over what he considered trivial. His doctors said there was still no evidence of blood poisoning.
Roosevelt worried more about other matters. Earlier that month,18 local officials made a startling announcement: There wasn’t enough coal to run the Washington Monument’s new electric elevator for the thousands of tourists who visited every month. Unscrupulous businessmen in cities throughout the Northeast and Midwest were buying most of the remaining supply of anthracite and charging four times the normal price. The Post Office threatened to shut down, and public schools warned they might not be able to remain open past Thanksgiving. Steel mill owners in Pennsylvania told their workers to prepare for mass layoffs. In Milwaukee, men stole wooden beer kegs from saloons to burn as fuel, and in Stamford, thrifty housewives resorted to using dried horse chestnuts to cook. Even a wealthy railroad executive was unable to secure sufficient coal to heat his home in Greenwich and had to order his hickory trees cut down instead.
Toward the end of September, Hanna went to19 New York to try again to mediate. He met secretly with Morgan, who finally said he would help broker a truce. He was frustrated enough by the coal executives’ stubbornness to act himself. Then Hanna met with John Mitchell. The financier and the labor leader could come to an agreement, Hanna believed. But when the senator went to Philadelphia to discuss the idea of arbitration with George Baer, he “absolutely refused to entertain it. You can see how determined they are,” Hanna wrote to Roosevelt. “It looks as if it was only to be settled when the miners are starved to it.”
No president had ever shown much sympathy to workers on strike. Rutherford Hayes sent federal troops to quell the national railroad strike in 1877. Grover Cleveland sent troops to break the Pullman strike in 1894. If strikers seemed out of control, Roosevelt would send20 troops too. He worried about unrest wherever it might emerge.
But the anthracite region wasn’t out of control. Roosevelt made clear to Hanna he thought the coal presidents should make some “slight concession.”21
The general public did too. Debating and literary societies, labor unions, religious congregations, political and reform clubs, good government organizations, social service charities: they all wanted the coal companies to settle. Prominent citizens—in business, law, religion, and the press—urged the miners, operators, and federal government to end the conflict. In New York,22 ten thousand people rallied in Madison Square in support of the strikers.
Roosevelt was restless, fretful. He knew he would be blamed for remaining idle while Americans suffered. “There is literally23 nothing, so far as I have yet been able to find out, which the national government has any power to do in the matter,” he wrote to Lodge. The senator from Massachusetts told the president that Republicans in his state were advocating for nationalization of the mines. “That it would be a good thing to have national control, or at least supervision, over these big coal corporations, I am sure,” Roosevelt responded. “I am at my wits’ end how to proceed.”
Prices increased24 at laundries, bakeries, cafés, restaurants. Landlords raised the rent on apartments. Hotels charged more for rooms. Landowners sold their timber. In Chicago, residents tore out wooden paving from their streets to use as fuel. Railroads gave their employees old crossties to burn. Trolley lines limited service. Manufacturers had to get by with sawdust in their furnaces. Many inserted delay clauses into their contracts.
There was an alternative—soft coal—though it came with costs. Elevated trains, drawn by steam locomotives, began to use it in New York City. So did some businesses. Dark smoke and cinders settled onto clothes, got into lungs, and filled the air so full of soot and thick haze that the Brooklyn Bridge25 was obscured.
Families used26 asbestos coal bricks soaked in oil for cooking, and on the Lower East Side, residents burned coconut shells purchased from candy manufacturers, fifteen cents for 60 pounds. The health commissioner27 reported a notable increase in the death rate from pneumonia and other respiratory diseases because homes and other buildings weren’t warm enough and the air was polluted.
Roosevelt worried about a winter of misery, of sickness, starvation, and darkness. People might freeze to death; others could riot. He understood how panic could outrun reality. Lawlessness would demand force. He wouldn’t take the chance of it leading to social upheaval. If other workers went on strike too, the nation could face a crisis that he feared could be almost as serious as the Civil War. So much suddenly seemed fragile.
The president shared his concerns with Massachusetts governor Crane. He had been in the trolley accident that fall, but that wasn’t why Roosevelt was conferring with him. He was a businessman (the family company was Crane’s Paper) and earlier that year he had helped defuse a strike by the Teamsters. He and Roosevelt began to consider the options. Elihu Root, the former corporate lawyer serving as secretary of war, recognized that the president was going to do something, so he had better lend a hand. Knox, the former corporate lawyer serving as attorney general, came around, “as he always28 does in such cases,” Roosevelt later wrote. “The course or policy having been decided he did his very best to make it successful.”
Someone—not Roosevelt—needed to apprise Morgan. They decided that someone should be Root. He went to New York with a message from the president. Radical action could be necessary unless the operators “wake up”29 to the dangers of a prolonged strike. “I am thoroughly awake and will do what I can,” the president said.
On the last day of September, Baer expressed confidence that the strike would be over—on his terms—before winter. “The strike will not30 be settled either, but will end in the return of the miners to work,” he said. Mitchell, in Philadelphia, was just as resolute. “We have not31 underestimated the strength of our opponents,” he said. “We have not overestimated our own power of resistance.”
The People’s Gas Light and Coke Company in Chicago calculated that its coal supply would run out in twenty days, leaving three hundred fifty thousand businesses and residences in the dark. The New York State Democratic Convention, with ten thousand delegates in attendance, backed a call for Roosevelt to take over the mines. Business leaders affected by the coal shortage agreed that the government should step in. “The operators do not32 seem to understand that the present system of ownership, or at least of management in the anthracite fields, is on trial,” Roosevelt wrote to a friend.
The time had come.
“I should greatly like to see you on Friday next, October 3rd, at eleven o’clock am, here in Washington, in regard to the failure of the coal supply, which has become a matter of vital concern to the whole nation,” Roosevelt telegraphed the six biggest owners of coal mines. “I have sent a similar dispatch to Mr. John Mitchell, President of the United Mine Workers of America.” Roosevelt had decided to use the force of his personality to try to broker a compromise, and just like that, decades of alliance between government and industry came to an end. Roosevelt saw two sides and inserted himself in between. He became the first president to try to mediate between big business and labor.
The miners in Pennsylvania celebrated with a boisterous parade. Morgan was quoted as saying, “The plan to33 have these gentlemen meet the President and confer about the situation is a most admirable one.” But the enraged coal operators hatched a plan of their own.
Mitchell was the first34 to arrive at 22 Jackson Place on the morning of October 3. The streets were crowded with residents and journalists eager to get a glimpse of the former miner leading one hundred forty-seven thousand strikers, and the powerful executives who had been unwilling to compromise with him. Mitchell looked fatigued and, briefly, nervous. He was accompanied by the union’s three district officials from Pennsylvania: Thomas Duffy, Thomas Nichols, and John Fahy. Mitchell wore his usual starched white collar and on this day added a black frock coat, Prince Albert style, and a fedora. Duffy wore a “total abstinence” badge in solidarity with the eight thousand men in District No. 7 who pledged not to drink while on strike.
They had rolled into town in the smoking car of a commercial train around one in the morning, checked into their hotel, and slept. In the morning, they ate breakfast with Samuel Gompers, the activist who years ago had taken Roosevelt to see the deprivation among New York City cigar workers; now he was leader of the American Federation of Labor and vice president of Hanna’s Civic Federation. Mitchell and his deputies took a public trolley to Lafayette Square.
Baer and the five other coal executives came down the night before in two luxurious private Pullman coaches. They slept in the cars, parked on tracks just outside the city, guarded by private detectives. In the morning, the cars were run down to the Baltimore & Ohio station. They ate breakfast, read the newspapers, chatted and smoked, and afterward, for exercise, walked the length of the cars on the station platform.
When will you leave for the White House, a reporter asked Baer. “We will get to the White House exactly at 11 o’clock. There will be no trouble about that,” he responded. “But when will we get away? That is the question we would like to have an answer to.” At ten forty-five they took two private carriages to Lafayette Square.
They traveled together to show the president, and the public, that they were united and shared the same concerns: the disruption to their business and the disorder caused by the strikers. Being summoned to the capital by the president on forty-eight hours’ notice had inconvenienced and annoyed them. They understood what Roosevelt wanted—as much anthracite on the market as quickly as possible—but not what he would do to get it. Nonetheless, they were confident they could withstand Roosevelt’s hectoring. That morning, with Baer in the lead, they strode past the waiting throngs and into the mansion. They considered their presence a generous gesture to an interfering president whose motives they distrusted.
“You will have to excuse me, gentlemen, I can’t get up to greet you,” Roosevelt said as they entered. He was wearing35 a blue striped robe and sitting in a wheelchair with his left leg propped up. With him were labor secretary Carroll Wright, Knox, and Cortelyou. Roosevelt was energetic and eager. Baer, he remarked later, was belligerent from the start, while Mitchell, sensing a historic opportunity to establish his standing, and that of the labor movement, was conciliatory. The ten men from Pennsylvania sat in hard-backed wooden chairs around Roosevelt, Mitchell on his left.
His voice booming in the confines of the room, Roosevelt began the meeting. “I speak for36 neither the operators nor the miners, but for the general public,” he said. “The urgency, and the terrible nature of the catastrophe impending over a large portion of our people in the shape of a winter fuel famine impel me, after much anxious thought, to believe that my duty requires me to use whatever influence I personally can to bring to an end a situation which has become literally intolerable.” He asked that they resume operations immediately and settle their claims later. He threatened them: “I am constrained urgently to insist that each one of you realize the heavy burden of responsibility upon him. We are upon the threshold of winter with an already existing coal famine, the future terrors of which we can hardly yet appreciate. The evil possibilities are so far-reaching, so appalling, that it seems to me that you are not only justified in sinking but required to sink for the time being any tenacity as to your respective claims.” He appealed to their patriotism: “Meet the crying needs of the people.”
Roosevelt meeting with John Mitchell, his deputies, and the anthracite coal barons at 22 Jackson Place
Mitchell quickly stood up and said, “I am impressed with the gravity of the situation. We feel that we are not responsible for this terrible state of affairs.” He spoke in a measured tone intended to reassure everyone in the room. “We are willing to meet the gentlemen representing the coal operators to try to adjust our differences among ourselves.” That’s what he had wanted all along. If those talks weren’t successful, Mitchell asked Roosevelt to set up an arbitration panel to rule on the miners’ complaints about their low pay, long hours, and dangerous working conditions. “If the gentlemen representing the operators will accept the award or decision of such a tribunal the miners will willingly accept it, even if it is against their claims.”
Baer sat silently, every glance forbidding. The coal operators had never acknowledged Mitchell’s hold over the union men or their grievances, and even though Roosevelt expected them to do so now, they refused. Roosevelt asked the men to consider his plea and Mitchell’s proposal, and return to Jackson Place at three that afternoon. They filed out of the room without a word. It was twenty minutes past eleven.
Mitchell and the three other representatives returned to their hotel, where the prix fixe lunch was a bargain. The coal executives retreated to their cars, blinds drawn, doors locked and guarded. A stenographer stood by while they drafted their responses, each alone in his own compartment. They ate a buffet lunch cooked with wood and soft coal. No anthracite was available.
Roosevelt took a few minutes to reply to a telegram he had just received from Seth Low, the mayor of New York City. The temperature had dropped. Residents needed anthracite to keep warm and they didn’t have any. The mayor also sent a pamphlet, The Coal Mines and the Public, that argued the federal government should seize the coal mines, and maybe the railroads, too. Roosevelt didn’t offer any opinions about the coal operators to Low. He only wrote: “What they will37 do when they come together I do not know.”
When they resumed the meeting that afternoon, Baer took his seat across from Roosevelt. He barely waited for a greeting before standing up to reject every approach Mitchell had suggested. The executives would not consider anything other than the miners’ surrender. The president should not have presumed otherwise, said the man who had claimed a divine right to control a limited resource. The strikers were responsible for the coal shortage. “Mitchell’s men dynamite bridges and tracks, mob trainmen, and by all manner of violence try to prevent its shipment to relieve the public,” he said.
Baer grew more agitated, pointing a finger at the president and at one moment pounding his fist on the table so loudly38 people outside the room heard it. He insulted the very idea of the conference. “The duty of the hour is not to waste time negotiating with the fomenters of this anarchy and insolent defiance of law, but to do as was done in the war of the rebellion, restore the majesty of law, the only guardian of a free people, and to reestablish order and peace at any cost,” he said. He offered a final taunt: “Free government is a contemptible failure if it can only protect the lives and property and secure the comfort of the people by compromising with the violators of law and the instigators of violence and crime.” And finished with a word of sarcasm: “We decline to accept Mr. Mitchell’s considerate offer to let our men work on terms he names.”
The other coal executives stood to read their statements, exaggerating the violence and crime—dozens killed, brutal assaults, washeries burned, gangs roaming—to the four men most able to determine the truth. “Are you asking us to deal with a set of outlaws?” one said. If the president wanted to get involved, he should prosecute the United Mine Workers under the antitrust law and send in federal troops to protect those who wanted to work in the mines.
Roosevelt was determined to keep his temper and not be drawn into a quarrel over accusations coming from either side. It couldn’t have been easy for him, but he did restrain himself. When the operators finished, he gave them one last chance to cooperate, hoping their bombast was a negotiating tactic, knowing it wasn’t. He sternly asked again if they would consider trying to resolve the miners’ claims as operations resumed. They answered with a resounding no. No, they wouldn’t offer any other proposals. No, they wouldn’t ever come to a settlement with Mitchell. No, they didn’t need the president to tell them how to manage their business. The conference was over. At five o’clock, Baer and the other executives hurried out of the room.
The union officials stayed behind. Roosevelt saw that the miners trusted Mitchell—he was reasonable and pragmatic, unwavering and sympathetic. He could sit among the rich and the powerful. Now the president warned the labor leader to control his men. “I explained39 in the most friendly way to Mitchell and his companions that I most earnestly hoped they would do everything in their power to put a stop to violence. I explained that violence meant they would inevitably lose.”
Outside, reporters swarmed the usually talkative Mitchell, but he could only deliver the news that there was no settlement. Later he found a few more words. “The coal operators have neither40 regard for their former employees nor for the public, which is suffering so much for lack of fuel.”
Roosevelt remained stunned and seething in the dusky parlor. He had not edged the men any closer to a resolution. Mitchell “behaved41 with great dignity and moderation,” he wrote. “The operators, on the contrary, showed extraordinary stupidity and bad temper.” Their insolence was meant to dishearten him, and make it impossible for Mitchell to hope for anything better. “The language used42 by the operators at the conference was exquisitely well calculated to prevent any kind of yielding on the part of the miners.” They had intended to show Mitchell and the miners that not even the president could help them, and they had succeeded.
“Well, I have tried43 and failed,” Roosevelt wrote that evening to Hanna, who was in Cleveland. “I would like to make a fairly radical experiment … I must now think very seriously of what the next move shall be. A coal famine in the winter is an awful ugly thing.”
Roosevelt had just been rebuffed. Hanna had been rejected in September. Roosevelt could only turn back to Mitchell. If Mitchell called off the strike, the president would appoint a commission to investigate and try to address the miners’ complaints. Mitchell politely refused. The president had sent Wright to investigate conditions in June and nothing had come of it. Hanna asked Gompers to persuade Mitchell to reconsider the president’s offer, but Gompers replied that he couldn’t “advise Mr. Mitchell44 accept a proposition so elusive and unpromising.”
Five months of struggle had not wore down the strikers. After the conference and more requests from the operators, Governor Stone sent in the rest of the National Guard to protect miners who wanted to work. The soldiers took their positions in front of the collieries and on the railroad bridges. But few miners45 showed up.
Roosevelt proposed the “radical experiment” he had earlier hinted at. He ordered the head of the Army to draw up plans to take control of the anthracite mines. Ten thousand soldiers were at the ready. Roosevelt intended to wait until Governor Stone asked for help to maintain order. Then he would send in Major General Schofield, who could be counted on to follow orders, whatever they were. Having once helped President Cleveland put down the Pullman strike, this time Schofield would take over the mines. “I only wanted46 a method of getting the army in,” Roosevelt said later. “Then I would run the situation as I thought it ought to be run.”
It would be an unprecedented expansion of presidential power. Root and Knox wouldn’t approve. But the operators had attacked him and the office he held. Roosevelt prepared to hit back. “I have been so47 indignant with the mine-owners that it has been difficult to control myself in reference to them,” Roosevelt wrote to his friend Jacob Riis.
One morning, the president mentioned his scheme to a leading Republican politician, James Watson. The representative was alarmed: “What about the48 Constitution of the United States? What about seizing private property for public purposes without due process?” Roosevelt took hold of Watson’s shoulder and almost shouted: “The Constitution was made for the people and not the people for the Constitution.” Then he let49 the rumor spread that he planned to take over the mines.
Winter was closing in. The nation was uneasy. Soldiers stood ready. On Dundee Island,50 in New Jersey, a band of fifty men and women, using nothing but little wagons and bags carried away several tons of coal from parked railroad cars.
When a New York City dealer was able to procure a small amount of coal to sell to the very poor at cost, more than five thousand51 people lined up to buy ninety cents’ worth of anthracite, carrying the nuggets home in buckets, wrapped in cloth, and even putting them next to their children in baby strollers.
Fifteen hundred52 manufacturers reported that they would soon have to shut down their factories because their coal supplies were exhausted. Representatives of the National Association of Manufacturers met with Mitchell in Buffalo and the coal executives in Philadelphia. “We wish to53 learn from Mitchell what is the least the miners will take, and then see the operators and find out the most they will offer,” one member explained. “This is a purely business move. No politics in it whatever.” No matter. Still no settlement.
The governor of New York, Benjamin Odell, met with Baer and the others. Baer did not appreciate the offer of assistance. “We will not accept54 political advice or allow the interference of politicians,” he told the man who represented seven million Americans.
As almost every big paper east of Chicago printed stories about the impending “coal famine,” even Mark Twain55 interjected himself into the swirling anxiety and published a letter to the secretary of the treasury:
Sir: Prices for customary kinds of Winter fuel having reached the altitude which puts them out of the reach of literary persons in straitened circumstances, I desire to place with you the following order: forty-five tons best old dry Government bonds, suitable for furnace, gold 7 per cents, 1864, preferred. Twelve tons early greenbacks, range size, suitable for cooking. Eight barrels seasoned 25 and 50 cent postal currency, vintage of 1866, eligible for kindlings.
Please deliver with all convenient dispatch at my house, in Riverdale, at lowest rates for spot cash, and send bill to your obliged servant, Mark Twain, Who will be very grateful and will vote right.
The operators had asked Morgan to let them fight it out with the strikers, but he never thought the strikers would last this long. After the Washington conference, Morgan announced56 that he would buy fifty thousand tons of coal from Wales, transport it on International Mercantile Marine ships, and distribute it for free to New York City’s poor. He would likely spend half a million dollars. It was an unsubtle reminder to the coal executives that he was losing patience.
Roosevelt made one final attempt to end the strike without force. He turned to Morgan, the only man who could control Baer and the coal executives. The only man who hadn’t really tried. By now, it seemed that even Morgan was embarrassed by Baer’s intransigence and arrogance. He feared the public hostility toward the coal industry might spread to his other, more profitable companies. Most of all, he worried about disorder. Morgan, too, wanted to resolve the crisis before the unyielding November cold arrived.
October 11, 1902. Choking smoke and fog pressed down on New York City; residents called it a Pittsburgh gloom.1 The sun hadn’t broken through by the time offices and stores opened. The elevated trains and trolleys kept their headlights on. Morgan waited aboard his yacht, Corsair, shrouded in the Hudson River. Few other places afforded him the privacy he sought, especially on this Saturday morning.
All the news2 was disturbing. Brooklyn’s courts were out of coal. The King’s County Hospital and Almshouse were down to their last two days’ worth. Schenectady schools, which educated four thousand students, were closed. Mount Vernon bought two thousand oil-soaked railroad ties from the New Haven line in hopes of keeping classrooms warm until the holidays. Janitors banked the furnaces promptly at three every afternoon. Night school was canceled.
The manager at3 the Siegel Cooper emporium warned that to conserve energy he might have to confine business to the first floor of his building’s six floors. Without new supplies, half the businesses in Harlem would have to close down, said a shop owner: “It will mean another French Revolution.”
In Pennsylvania’s anthracite counties, the National Guard built stockades topped with barbed wire, “pens” for those caught in any violence. The coal executives, still unable to persuade miners to break the strike and return to work—even for an extra two dollars a day—demanded more protection. “They seem to want4 a soldier at the door of every house in the coal region,” Brigadier General John Gobin said. He didn’t ask for additional men. Newspapers published rumors that Governor Stone might declare martial law or the federal government might take over the mines.
Garrisoned at his headquarters in Wilkes-Barre, Mitchell was tired and depressed.5 He had gained prestige in Washington and the operators had lost public support. The miners are “standing firm as6 the rocks of Gibraltar,” he said. But he didn’t how to bring the strike to an end.
Roosevelt anxiously considered his options. Usually when he needed to distract himself, he rode hard or tramped miles, anything to sweat and strain. But his leg was still healing and he wasn’t able to exercise. So he turned to his other favorite activity, reading, and asked the Librarian of Congress to select books for him. “It has been such7 a delight to drop everything useful—everything that referred to my duty—everything, for instance, relating to the coal strike and the tariff, or the trusts, or my power to send troops into the mining districts, or my duty as regards summoning Congress—and to spend an afternoon in reading about the relations between Assyria and Egypt; which could not possibly do me any good and in which I reveled accordingly.”
Senator Lodge, normally restrained and often on the side of management, wrote to the president about the coal operators. “Such insolence8 and arrogance coupled with stupidity I have never seen,” he said. “I firmly believe Morgan is behind them. He is playing with fire.” Roosevelt didn’t immediately reply.
It was October 11, the one hundred fifty-third day of the strike, and Morgan agreed to try to end it. Secretary of War9 Root, unflappable and pragmatic, was a regular conduit between Washington and Wall Street. He thought Roosevelt “needed a little help” and had told the president he saw a way for the executives to break the impasse without humiliation. Roosevelt “very violently” approved of Root’s plan. When Root sent a note to Morgan suggesting the two talk, Morgan immediately got on the phone to make arrangements.
Both the president and the financier trusted Root far more than they trusted each other. As for the coal executives, they had already denounced the president, at least two governors, and several senators for interfering in their business. Root decided he might do better acting as a private citizen. He took a day’s leave from his official role to travel to New York.
It was a precarious time for Morgan. The federal government’s case against Northern Securities was in the lower courts, and he didn’t want another lawsuit charging that he controlled a coal monopoly too. He had to consider the possibility that Roosevelt wasn’t bluffing about sending soldiers to take control of the mines. He also expected that, however hard he worked to end the strike, the president—who had already claimed the part of mediator—would take the credit for any success. Morgan was mostly fine with that. He had become the uncomfortable object of public fascination and resentment and didn’t care to bring any more attention to himself.
Root arrived10 early Saturday morning and made his way to the Union League Club, where a reporter found him hard at work on a large breakfast. Root said he was in the city to register to vote in the November congressional elections. By ten, though, he was on his way to the Thirty-Fifth Street pier, where Corsair was docked.11 A launch waited to take him to the 304-foot vessel with its glimmering black hull, graceful clipper bow, and stores of vintage wine, specially blended tea, and Morgan’s favorite Cuban cigars.
“Root saw Pierpont12 Morgan, found that Pierpont Morgan was alive to the seriousness of the situation, and impressed upon him the imminence of the danger,” Roosevelt wrote afterward. Root and Morgan conferred for almost five hours. They drafted an eight-page document,13 which Root wrote in pencil on ivory-colored Corsair stationery, crossing out words as they went along. They intended to leave no doubt that the statement reflected only the coal operators’ point of view. It condemned “the reign of terror” in the anthracite fields. It recognized “the urgent public need of coal.” It gave no ground to the union. But it ended with the creation of a presidential commission to arbitrate the disputed issues among the owners and their employees. It was in substance the idea that Mitchell had proposed, Roosevelt had supported, and the executives had rejected. It was the form that mattered. “It was a damned14 lie, but it looked fair on paper,” Root said later. He had understood what Morgan hadn’t—that the appearance of compromise could be more powerful than compromise itself.
Commodore Morgan15 and private citizen Root hoped to leave the yacht undetected. Morgan ordered the launch to drop them at a different pier, but their carriage was delayed, or their driver confused, and for twenty minutes they stood in the rain, surrounded by reporters. Morgan ignored their questions; Root evaded them.
Finally, the two reached the Union Club. Root stayed only briefly, then caught the 4:25 train back to Washington. Severe rainstorms slowed the trip, though, and he didn’t arrive until after eleven. Too late even to visit Roosevelt.
Morgan remained at the club, accompanied by George Perkins and guarded by attendants who turned away everyone but two coal executives. Word of a possible settlement passed from the club to the Wall Street crowd at the Waldorf-Astoria and beyond. Morgan and Perkins left around nine and slept on the yacht, leaving the reporters at shore’s edge.
Sunday: more launches, more secret meetings on Corsair. Reporters called16 the coal operators at home, visited their offices. None could be found until that evening, when Baer left Philadelphia, on a special train. Morgan had called him to New York, and he wasn’t happy about it. “You know as much about it as I do,” he grumbled to a reporter.
It would be a brief talk. Morgan would force the executives to face bitter facts. They had a right to conduct business as they pleased. But not if it led to ruin. Or a government takeover. They were not mining coal, the cold was coming, and they had no reasonable solution. Roosevelt, they all agreed, could be unpredictable. It was time to end the strike on their terms, while they still could.
In Washington, Root reported to Roosevelt the details of what he called the “little memorandum.”17 As they waited for Morgan to confirm the coal operators’ acquiescence, Roosevelt wrote a letter to Ted, who was at boarding school. “I can now18 get about on crutches … Mother goes home tomorrow. She says she is leaving me to take care of Ethel; I have gloomy forebodings that after a brief struggle Ethel will take care of me.” Roosevelt’s youngest daughter had recently turned eleven.
Edith was returning to the Sagamore Hill estate, which stretched along the bay and into the forests of Long Island, to close their home19 for the winter. Full-time residents20 were gathering wood. Farmers were cutting down apple trees past their prime. One even tore down his fences. Cords of wood from large trees were sold for seven dollars; hard dry oak could bring ten. Scrub pine, ordinarily useless, had become worth something—anything that could be burned as fuel had.
Sand doused21 with kerosene generated enough heat to cook. So did porous terra cotta bricks soaked in oil. City residents used them to warm their homes, and no pile on any street was safe. A newspaper cartoon22 pictured Morgan in his nightgown and slippers peering down into his basement: “How would Morgan feel if he had to get up at 6 o’clock in the morning and yell down elevators for his oiled bricks?”
On that Monday afternoon, October 13, Fanny Simon was23 buried. She was a washerwoman supporting five children on her own, and she couldn’t work if she didn’t have fuel. She used her savings to take advantage of a supply of cheap coal for the poor. Fifteen cents for a 35-pound pail, and who knew how long it would last? She went back and forth from the depot to her sixth-floor apartment on the Lower East Side carrying 70-pound bags on her shoulders. The next day she died of internal bleeding, brought on, the doctor said, from the physical strain. Other families in the tenement paid for her funeral, but none could take in her children. They were sent to an orphanage.
Morgan left 23 Wall Street later than usual that Monday. He was on his way to the Union Club when reporters caught up to him and asked about the coal conferences that seemed to take up most of his day. “What do I24 know about coal?” he snapped as he got into this cab and drove away.
But of course Morgan knew a great deal. He knew that all six coal operators had, at last, agreed to arbitration. Under pressure from Roosevelt’s threats and Morgan’s influence, they required less than forty-eight hours to realize this was the most dignified conclusion they could expect to one of the most disruptive industrial actions the country had experienced. “If the solution25 which I proposed to Morgan had been sent by the President it would certainly have been rejected,” Root wrote later. “But when the operators were afforded an opportunity to propose the solution themselves, Morgan was able to carry it through.” The conflict between the coal companies and the union was not over, though; it had merely entered a new phase. Determined to press their advantage, the operators insisted on detailing the composition of the five-person commission that the president was to appoint. No labor representative was among them.
That left Mitchell in an awkward position. The miners would have a chance to speak of their troubles, but no union official on the arbitration board to hear them. The president invited Mitchell to Washington to discuss the proposal, and Mitchell arrived with one goal: to persuade him to push back against the barons. He wanted Roosevelt to add a labor representative to the commission and, because many of the miners were Catholic, a representative of the Church, as well. The strikers would object to the plan otherwise, and Mitchell didn’t know how he could prevail upon them.
Late that evening, Morgan committed a surprising act of diplomacy. He presented the Corsair Agreement to Roosevelt in person. He arrived in Washington around ten, accompanied by his other favorite partner, Robert Bacon—back from his medical leave, but now in his last months with Morgan’s firm. They picked up Root. And they went to see the president. Morgan still felt betrayed by Roosevelt’s claims on his empire. Roosevelt still believed that Manhattan was the country’s most “troublesome insular26 possession.” Yet they set aside their mutual suspicion and antagonism to cooperate as the country faced the potential devastation of a winter without coal.
They spoke in the cabinet room of the temporary White House for ninety minutes. Roosevelt was told that the coal barons had very specific ideas of the kind of men he should appoint to the commission. That didn’t go over too well. He resolved to deal with the owners’ demands later.
Just before midnight, Morgan, Root, and Bacon emerged onto Lafayette Square. Reporters gathered around, desperate to find out if the strike was over. Instead of rushing27 past them as he usually did, Morgan stopped. He struck a match, lit his cigar, and smiled. Then he walked on. Inside his residence, Roosevelt was giddy with relief. Cortelyou released the agreement, addressed to “the public,” at one in the morning.
“It was a concession,”28 one of the coal executives said later that day, “but not to the miners. It was a concession to humanity.”
Morgan and Bacon returned to Jersey City on the Royal Blue Express Tuesday afternoon. As they walked to the ferry that would take them across the Hudson River, Morgan bought the New York papers. He took a seat toward the front of the ferry. He appeared nervous.29 Instead of opening the pages, he asked one of the reporters following him: “What is the latest news from the coal fields?” When he heard that some miners weren’t pleased with the terms of the agreement, he became concerned. “I hope they do accept. I think it will be for their own good to accept,” he said. “But of course I can’t tell what they will do.”
J. P. Morgan and Robert Bacon, 1902
Everything now depended on the selection of the arbitration commission. The owners would have to make another concession, or two, before Mitchell and the strikers would accept their proposal. The coal road presidents had stipulated that the commission include “a businessman active in coal mining and selling,” which sure sounded as if the coal executives wanted one of their own on the arbitration panel. Mitchell argued the board wouldn’t be impartial without a labor representative. Roosevelt promised to do everything he could so that “justice will be done30 the miners regardless of the railroad presidents.” Frank Sargent, the former grand master of the Brotherhood of Locomotive Firemen who was serving as Roosevelt’s immigration commissioner, said he was confident both sides could come to a compromise: “I believe that we have seen the beginning of the end of the strike.”
Or maybe it was the end of the beginning. Bacon returned to the White House with Perkins on Wednesday evening to discuss how to accommodate Mitchell without angering the operators. Roosevelt had men in mind for each of the five designated positions on the commission as well as the two Mitchell pressed for. The president wasn’t expecting a difficult conversation. Bacon and Perkins were friends. Everyone, it seemed, wanted the men back in the mines and anthracite back on the market. So he hobbled off across Lafayette Park to dinner at the home of John Hay, arriving “under cover of31 the darkness,” the secretary of state wrote. “He began talking at the oysters and the pousse-café found him still at it.”
At ten Roosevelt re-appeared at 22 Jackson Place. Bacon and Perkins were waiting. The discussion didn’t go smoothly. “The operators were32 balking,” and Bacon and Perkins were “both of them nearly wild,” Roosevelt later recounted. The operators could accept a prelate on the commission but refused to allow a labor official. They would withdraw their offer to arbitrate if Roosevelt insisted. Morgan couldn’t persuade them otherwise. Mitchell wouldn’t relent.
At eleven they were still at a standoff. Bacon and Perkins pleaded with Roosevelt to force Mitchell and the miners to capitulate. They said the operators never would.
Finally, at midnight, movement. Bacon mentioned that the operators wouldn’t object to Roosevelt’s exercising latitude in his appointments as long as he stuck to the categories they set out. One was “a man of prominence, eminent as a sociologist.” Roosevelt had an idea. “I instantly said that I should appoint my labor man as the ‘eminent sociologist,’ ” Roosevelt later recounted. That night E. E. Clark, the head of the brotherhood of railway conductors, became an “eminent sociologist.”
Roosevelt was astounded and relieved that operators accepted this semantic sleight of hand: “The mighty brains33 of these captains of industry had formulated the theory that they would rather have anarchy than tweedledum, but if I would use the word tweedledee they would hail it as meaning peace.” Bacon and Perkins called Morgan in New York and Baer in Philadelphia for their approval. The commission was complete.
“These names are34 accepted by the operators and I now most earnestly ask and urge that the miners likewise accept this commission,” Roosevelt telegrammed Mitchell. “It is a matter of vital concern to all our people and especially to those in our great cities who are least well off that the mining of coal should be resumed without a day’s unnecessary delay.”
It would take a little longer than a day. “Gentlemen, if you35 consider that we are deserving of congratulations I will gladly accept them now,” Mitchell told the reporters gathered at Hotel Hart. But that was premature, too. Mitchell couldn’t assume sole authority for calling off the strike. He had asked for arbitration on behalf of the members of his union, and now they should share in the final responsibility of accepting it. This would be the ultimate test of the strikers’ loyalty to him. What they couldn’t know, not yet, was that he placed as much faith in his new political allies as he did in them—maybe more. Mitchell’s prestige depended on satisfying both these constituencies.
He called a convention of delegates from all three of the anthracite districts on October 20 in Wilkes-Barre. Mitchell looked haggard36 at the start, but he promised to answer every question they put to him. That took the better part of two days. Would the strikers be discriminated against? No. Would they all get their jobs back? Maybe not. But the union would take care of them and help them find other work. Would they receive back wages if they did? He hoped so. In the end, he promised that “this proposal37 will secure to the anthracite mine workers and those dependent upon them a greater measure of justice than they could attain by continuing the conflict … [and] a greater degree of justice than they have enjoyed in the past.” The strikers—eager for a steady income and the resumption of their daily routines—chose to believe him, and on October 21, they voted to accept the Corsair Agreement.
The headlines were big and bold. Roosevelt was called a statesman, his mediation a welcome approach, his commission impartial and expert. He had already been celebrating. “I feel like38 throwing up my hands and going to the circus,” he wrote. He would go on a bear hunt in Mississippi instead. He knew he didn’t deserve all the credit: “I am being very much overpraised by everybody, and although I suppose I like it, it makes me feel uncomfortable too.”
Roosevelt was generous with his own praise. “Late last night39 when it became evident that we were going to get a commission which would be accepted by both sides I remarked, ‘Well, Uncle Mark’s work has borne fruit,’ ” he wrote to Hanna, who didn’t like being called Uncle Mark.
The president also knew that even as he had created a new role for the federal government in labor disputes, he couldn’t have done so without the biggest of the titans: Morgan. In the moment—and even more so, as the years went on—Roosevelt considered his intervention in the strike one of the great achievements of his presidency.
He made clear his gratitude to Morgan. “My dear sir,”40 Roosevelt wrote in a letter, “let me thank you for the service you have rendered the whole people. If it had not been for your going in to the matter I do not see how the strike could have been settled at this time, and the consequences that might have followed upon its being unsettled when cold weather set in are in very fact dreadful to contemplate. I thank you and congratulate you with all my heart.”
Anthracite Coal Strike Commission in Pennsylvania, 1903
Morgan apparently never sent a reply.
The men went back to the anthracite mines on October 23. The strike had lasted one hundred sixty-four days. It cost thirty thousand dollars41 a day to keep the Pennsylvania National Guard in the field. It cost the mines and railroads some seventy-four million42 dollars and their public standing. It cost the miners twenty-five million43 in lost wages. “One great trouble44 was that the little world in which the operators moved was absolutely out of touch with the big world that included practically all the rest of the country,” Roosevelt wrote to his sister Bamie.
The arbitration commission met at the White House on October 24 and began its work soon afterward. It would set conditions for the one hundred forty-seven thousand miners to produce one of the nation’s most vital commodities for the next three years—through the 1904 presidential election.
At a banquet45 in Mitchell’s honor, hosted by the union at the Hotel Hart in Wilkes-Barre, the labor leader received an expensive gold watch and a gold medallion with his initials set in diamonds. On Mitchell Day, October 29, supporters gave him more gifts. One hundred thousand people in towns across anthracite country came out to celebrate. Parades of miners marched down main streets. People said he could be elected the next leader of the American Federation of Labor or the governor of Illinois.
Mother Jones offered no compliments. She believed the strikers should have stayed out of the mines until the union won recognition. Mitchell had been close. Then Roosevelt, Hanna, Root, and Morgan played him. “Flattery and homage46 did its work with John Mitchell,” she wrote. Mitchell publicly thanked Roosevelt and Morgan. He had confidence in the powerful, which made politicians admire him and, later, made workers distrust him.
Yet in the late fall of 1902 he was famous and adored. He considered going on a speaking tour to cash in “while the iron is hot and the public is interested,” as a friend advised. But he thought he could probably make more by writing about the strike. McClure’s, one of the nation’s most popular magazines, would pay him five hundred dollars to publish his own account of the strike. And it would be easier. He was weary: of the attention, the scrutiny, and “the terrible nervous strain” of the strike. He wanted to rest.
That wouldn’t be possible for a while. The commissioners were coming to town.
Mitchell rented two floors of a house in Philadelphia and hired investigators, economists, researchers, publicists, and secretaries to prepare the miners’ case. He needed bodies and stories. He needed information—statistics on wages and hours to start, but also the costs of living, the costs of mining, production, and distribution, the top line and the bottom line.
Mitchell submitted the miners’ demands in early November: a 20 percent increase in wages for contract miners (who were paid by the ton), a 20 percent reduction in the hours for everyone else—and union recognition. Mitchell hadn’t given up on that after all. The coal executives declared the three demands arbitrary and unreasonable. But it wasn’t up to them now.
The Anthracite Coal Strike Commission began hearings November 14 at the Lackawanna County Court House in Scranton. No one was on trial, exactly, but there were two opposing sides and they both lawyered up. Witnesses—five hundred fifty-eight of them, including Mitchell and Baer—were sworn in and cross-examined. Their testimony came to more than ten thousand pages.
The workers recited a litany of injuries they were never compensated for, hours they couldn’t count on, wages never paid in cash. They spoke of debt, and of death. Over the days, as the men and women of coal country presented evidence, it came to seem as if the system in which they labored could best be described as feudal.
Andrew Chippie,47 twelve years old and “no taller than a yardstick,” was a breaker boy. His father died in the mines indebted to the company for $54.95, the equivalent of a good month’s wages. The company allowed Andrew, his three younger siblings, and his mother to live in their company house rent-free for eighteen months. But once Andrew could work, the company could collect the rent. Andrew earned four cents an hour, and now, after working sixty-four hours over six weeks, he owed the company $88.17. “You weren’t getting ahead very fast, were you,” remarked Judge George Gray, one of the commission members.
James Gallagher48 was sixty years old and had worked in the mines all his life; for almost eighteen of those years, everything he earned—except for fifty dollars—went to paying rent at his company-owned home and provisions at the company-owned store. When one of the union lawyers asked if he had ever been hurt, Gallagher answered: “A man is never hurt in the mines unless he is half-killed.” When he was asked how many times he had been half-killed, he said twice. “Then you were killed entirely,” Judge Gray said after the laughter subsided. “No, it was this way,” Gallagher explained. “The first half was healed before I got the second.”
Henry Coll49 summed up his twenty-nine years underground: leg and fingers broken, ribs smashed, skull fractured, half-blind. “I lost my right eye, and I can’t see out of the glass one much,” he told the commission. He had more to say. He had served on the miners’ relief committee, been evicted, and forced to move into a house in such poor condition that his kids got sick. His wife, already ill, died two days later. “She died?” Judge Gray repeated. She died. No one cross-examined Coll.
Officially, the commission would not recognize Mitchell as president of a union whose existence the coal operators refused to acknowledge. But he gave testimony nonetheless. In his forty-three-minute-long opening statement, Mitchell argued that the miners “have as much right50 to select spokesmen to act for them, to present their grievances, to manage their affairs as have the stock holders of any one of the anthracite coal companies.” Mitchell rejected the idea of inherent friction between management and workers. He reminded the commission that his union had honored contracts made with the bituminous coal companies. His union wanted peace. His union wanted harmony. His union could be trusted. It was his union that conferred with the president, that sent the men back to the mines, that agreed to accept the findings of the commission. “The wealth and the future of the nation are not measured by its palaces and millionaires,” he concluded, “but rather by the enlightened contentment and prosperity of its millions of citizens, [who] constitute the bone and sinew of our land.”
He remained on the witness stand for four days of cross-examination. He wasn’t known for his sense of humor, but it turned out he had one. A lawyer for the operators expressed a sudden concern that the cost of increased wages for the miners would lead to prices unaffordable to the most vulnerable. “If you demand51 an increase and [the companies] have no profits where are they going to place it except upon the bowed backs of the poor?” he asked. Mitchell suggested an alternative: “They might put it on the bowed backs of the rich.”
In January, the hearings moved to Philadelphia to accommodate the operators’ schedules. They spoke of violence. They named the dead:52 Luigi Vanassa, William A. Duryea, Drummond Klinger, Joseph Beddall, John Lineheart, William Purcell, Daniel Sweeney, Patrick Sharp, C. M. Brush, Sistieno Castelli, James Winstone, Joseph Gillis, John Mullen, Anthony Colson, William Durham.
The noted journalist Ray Stannard Baker investigated the circumstances of some of their deaths for McClure’s that month. The men’s stories53 revealed the bitter toll of the strike—the sense of betrayal and confusion in the coal communities, the anger and fear that Mitchell tried to tamp, Roosevelt had to weigh, and the coal operators hoped to exploit.
James Winstone lived in Olyphant, an unusually prosperous mining town of six thousand people. Winstone was a more than usually prosperous miner. He was forty-eight years old, a husband and father of three. He owned the best home in the best neighborhood. Winstone had been a treasurer in the Lackawanna Accident Fund and, for a while, an official with the United Mine Workers. But he had voted against the strike. He thought anyone who worked hard could get ahead, as he had.
Once the strike began, he stopped working in the mines and found a job elsewhere that paid less. Eventually he returned home. He wasn’t eligible for assistance, the union told him, since he could mortgage his home. He didn’t want to mortgage his home. He went back to the mines. Threatening crowds gathered in front of his home in the mornings and evenings as he went to and from work.
On the morning of September 25, Winstone and his son-in-law were beaten by men with clubs. His son-in-law survived, but Winstone died a few hours afterward. The attackers escaped by train to Hoboken but were caught, brought back to Scranton, and jailed. They were Winstone’s neighbors.
Anthony Colson was still alive. And he was called John. He was an engineer, the best position at any colliery. He didn’t believe in the strike, but he joined it. After a month, he went back to work and lived in a railcar close to the mine. He was safe there, though his wife was turned away at stores, and yelled at on the streets, and feared their home would be blown up. He was headed there one night to help pack up and move his family when he was beaten, robbed, and left for dead. “He might better be dead, for he’s brought disgrace on the name,” his mother said. “He deserved all he got. He wasn’t raised a scab.” John’s father had retired, his six brothers stayed out of the mines until Mitchell told them to return. By then the entire Colson family’s finances were so circumscribed that John’s father had to go back. His face was scarred blue from a powder explosion. He was blind in one eye. Now he was doing a boy’s work in the mines, turning a fan for seventy-five cents a day.
Mitchell apologized for the intimidation, the assaults, the deaths. He said the union didn’t condone violence, hadn’t organized it, and wanted the men responsible for it punished.
Baer gave the54 closing speech in front of a full courtroom. He argued that the only monopoly in the anthracite fields was the union itself, which broke man-made laws and forced men to surrender their God-given right to work. He described mining, the deep underground, explosive work of it, as an unskilled trade that more men than necessary wished to be paid to undertake. “What does that indicate? Why, that labor there is attractive,” he said.
He spoke, again, of God’s creation of the world. It would be idle to speculate why “He should have stored the fuel deep down in the bosom of the earth and compelled men to bore through solid adamant to reach the hidden treasure, and dig it in darkness and danger,” Baer said. “This is the way He did create the world and it is in this world we live.” To the admittedly perplexing question of “why one man should be strong, happy and prosperous, and another weak, afflicted and distressed,” Baer offered an answer: “To teach the power of human endurance and the nobility of a life of struggle.”
He spoke, in his final moments as a witness, of his own place in God’s plan. “It is entirely possible that a new order of men could create a new order of things,” he said. They should try somewhere else, like the Philippines. Until then, he suggested that those who wanted to give advice “but do not know how to do things themselves” resist interfering in his affairs. “For the time being we have surrendered, not to the Mine Workers, but to this Commission, our reasonable, rightful control of the complicated business we are managing.”
Baer’s assertions—narrow-eyed, contemptuous, self-serving—were extraordinary even for him, a last public howl of protest at a changing world. Roosevelt had described Baer and the other coal barons’ defiance as “a condition of55 wooden-headed obstinacy and stupidity.” Roosevelt wasn’t in the room, though. Mitchell was, and Mitchell walked over to Baer and shook his hand.
The audience gasped. Mitchell had said capital and labor should be allies. He said he believed in class harmony, not conflict. He thought he could be the bigger man. So he shook Baer’s hand.
The commission agreed to cut the miners’ workday from ten to nine hours and awarded a retroactive 10 percent wage increase to the miners, admitting that a 10 percent price increase in coal was likely. The commission did not recognize Mitchell’s union. That, it said, was beyond the scope of its mandate. But the report stated that all workers had the right to join unions and that employers would ultimately benefit from collective bargaining. It would help train union representatives to be more businesslike. The commission created a permanent six-member board of conciliation to rule on disputes between the miners and their employers.
Both sides could, and did, consider the conclusions a victory. Mitchell said he was pleased to win a wage increase. The coal presidents56 said they were gratified that Mitchell didn’t win recognition for his union. Hanna reportedly57 declared that “the era of labor strikes is drawing to an end.” Roosevelt said the commissioners did a great job and invited them to dinner at the White House.
Morgan said nothing.
Mitchell—raised in poverty, educated on the job—had proven himself capable of leading one hundred forty-seven thousand men in a fight for their dignity and then sealing peace with a handshake. He didn’t see a future in politics, though; he was more interested in business. He invested58 in a bituminous coal mine, Carbon Hill in Virginia, in the autumn of 1902 and helped found the Egyptian Powder Company the next year. These were surely conflicts of interest, but no one knew about his arrangements at the time.
He became an editor and columnist at a new labor-friendly paper in Chicago called Boyce’s Weekly, which paid him an annual salary of at least a thousand dollars. To boost its popularity, he wrote a letter to Andrew Chippie, the breaker boy who had come to national attention with his testimony, to encourage him to work as a newsboy, and draw in subscribers, in his free time. “Many a wealthy man59 got his start in life as a newsboy,” he told Chippie. Not at Boyce’s Weekly, though. The paper went under in September 1903.
Mitchell had already been enjoying other perks of the job. Ralph Easley of the National Civic Federation invited him to a business dinner with George Perkins during the strike and promised a show afterward. “ ‘When Knighthood60 was in Flower’ with Julia Marlow [sic] is a lovely thing,” Easley wrote. Mitchell attended a National Civic Federation banquet in New York City during the commission’s hearing. Hanna greeted him61 as John.
He wore a new silk hat62 and expensive tailor-made suits. He developed a paunch. His face got puffy. It could have been from eating to excess. It could have been from drinking to excess. Mitchell came to resemble the moneyed executives he admired.
As the arbitration commission was hearing testimony in Scranton, Northern Securities lawyers were preparing briefs for the circuit court in St. Louis. Roosevelt hoped the judges wouldn’t take too long to rule. The presidential election would test the détente between Roosevelt and Morgan. The president expected to win the lawsuit, but timing was everything; he wanted a victory that the public would remember, and that Wall Street would have forgotten, by the time Election Day rolled around. Investors still seemed to prefer Hanna, who continued63 to insist that he would not challenge Roosevelt. “Rot all rot,” he told a reporter who brought news of his alleged desire for the presidency. Hanna really wasn’t interested in the presidency. He was interested in unnerving the president.
Roosevelt reading his annual message to his cabinet before sending it to Congress, composite photo, 1902: “We draw the line against misconduct, not against wealth”
In the capital, there was a more immediate concern. Coal soot64 was ruining the Washington Monument. During the strike, businesses—and even the government—had burned soft coal in violation of the city’s smoke code. Until regular shipments of anthracite resumed, the city wasn’t enforcing the regulation. The particular problem for the monument was dense black smoke from a huge nearby chimney belonging to a railway and electric company. Misty weather was helping it adhere to the marble obelisk. When an employee reached out to wipe the small windows at the top, the clean spot was visible from the ground. It would take spring wind and rain to completely dissolve the soot.
At midnight1 a spark of electricity sent its impulse from the Naval Observatory in Washington through a thousand telegraph wires around the country. A murmuring anticipation on the streets of the capital gave way to cheers, whistles, tin horns, cowbells, firecrackers, and gunshots.
The new year began with a sense of bigness. The Treasury2 had a surplus of some fifty million dollars—and an extra eighty million dollars’ worth of gold locked in its vaults. Congress repealed all war taxes. Unemployment was dropping. Companies raised wages, though sometimes workers had to go on strike first.
Broadway was bright3 and noisy at midnight. A hundred thousand people stamped and hoped and shed their complaints, though not all of them. “Down with the Trusts,” forty people yelled into handmade megaphones. Earlier that day, Pierpont Morgan’s firm had presented bonuses to its one hundred thirty or so employees that reportedly equaled their annual salary. Northern Securities had just reelected its board of directors and promised a stock dividend.
It was 1903. The anthracite coal miners were back underground in Pennsylvania. The wound on Roosevelt’s leg was healed. The renovation of the White House was nearly complete. On January 1,4 Cabinet secretaries, Supreme Court justices, members of Congress, commanders from the Army, Navy, and Marines, the diplomatic corps, the press corps, and some seven thousand of the citizen corps paraded through its doors. The Marine band accompanied them.
The president and his wife stood in front of a bay window in the Blue Room. A colonial blue silk with a gold border covered the parlor walls. The furniture was upholstered in blue satin with a gilt fleur-de-lis pattern. Edith wore a gown of ecru lace spangled with silver over pale blue mousseline de soie. She kept on her white suede gloves. He was dressed more somberly, in a frock suit and gray tie—no gloves. Roosevelt shook everyone’s hand. “De-lighted.” “I’m glad to see you.” “Well, how are you?” “Ever so glad to see you.” Again and again, and he seemed to mean it.
The entire first floor was open to the public: the Red Room, the Green Room, the East Room, the expanded dining room. The heads of four bears and four deer from Roosevelt’s favorite taxidermist—along with that of a great moose from Alaska—hung on the walls. The image of an eagle was carved into the mahogany table.
New Year’s Day was sunny. The only one likely disappointed by that was Charles Maxwell, who had overseen a six-month effort to electrify the White House that included the installation of thirty-one miles of wire, three thousand incandescent bulbs, three crystal chandeliers in the East Room alone, two telephone systems (one public, one private), and a security system. But on that Thursday, no one needed to turn on the lights.
Maxwell’s project cost ninety-five thousand dollars. The budget for the entire renovation was half a million dollars. Completely worth it, some Washingtonians thought, to end the national humiliation of having a White House that was cramped, grimy, and outdated.
Time itself seemed to be accelerating. By early 1904, Henry Ford would set a land speed record for automobiles of 91.37 miles an hour, and the Wright brothers would pilot the first motorized flight. Americans’ daily lives became more streamlined: Michael Owens5 would patent a fully automated glass-bottle-making machine. Roberta Lawson and Mary McLaren would patent the tea bag.
The president’s year began with a rush of business. There was a lot he wanted Congress to accomplish before its session ended March 4. Congress wasn’t used to such presidential interest and insistence. Roosevelt and Attorney General Knox were pushing a bill to create a Department of Commerce and within it a Bureau of Corporations empowered to investigate companies’ finances. Another bill they backed would ban the rebates railroads gave their biggest customers and fine both for violations. Another would speed up antitrust litigation.
“This week I6 have been as busy as I possibly could be,” Roosevelt wrote to his son Kermit in mid-January. “My exercise has for the most part been confined to singlestick with General Wood in the evenings … I pass my days in a state of exasperation, first, with the fools who do not want to do any of the things that ought to be done, and, second, with the equally obnoxious fools who insist upon so much that they cannot get anything.” Three days later, he wrote to his son Ted that he had to stop singlestick with General Wood because his right arm had been “badly battered.” The doctor said Roosevelt had a slight fracture. Roosevelt said he didn’t.
The president was frustrated through January and right into February. He was coming hard up against the limits of his executive power. He could wheedle, bargain, and bully, but he still had to wait for Congress to vote on legislation. And then he had to trust the courts to enforce it.
The bill proposed7 by Stephen Elkins, a Republican senator from West Virginia, to end railroad rebates faced little resistance. The railroads’ practice of favoring large companies had infuriated farmers and small business owners for years. Ida Tarbell’s groundbreaking investigation into Standard Oil’s power and corruption exposed how crucial obtaining those discounts—called “Rockefeller’s rebates”—was to the company’s success. By 1903, though, big customers demanded cash rebates that cost the railroads millions. They were ready to back a government solution to an expensive problem they couldn’t fix on their own. Corporations didn’t oppose the legislation, either. They expected to find other ways to secure special treatment from the railroads.
The Expedition Act8 would help hold big business to account, and passing it was crucial if the fate of Northern Securities was to be determined before the end of Roosevelt’s term. The law would send appeals of antitrust cases directly to the Supreme Court. That sounded like9 a terrible idea to the lawyers and lobbyists representing the trusts. The system—lengthy waits, procedural obstruction, judicial confusion—worked to their advantage. If they could no longer ignore the Sherman Antitrust Act, then they could at least stall its application. Northern Securities’ men in Washington whispered suggestions about how best to achieve that. But in this case, their advice went unheeded.
Congress was also debating what information it should demand from corporations, what it should make public and what penalties it could impose when it found wrongdoing. Roosevelt didn’t like10 the tenor of the discussion. He thought it was too harsh. He had two requirements, both controversial. He wanted to reserve for the president the authority to decide which financial details to publicize. That was a power that could easily corrupt, which is why Roosevelt thought it should belong to the president, and members of Congress preferred it remain in the agency. Roosevelt also wanted executives to believe the rules were fair—not vindictive—so they would adhere to them instead of immediately trying to subvert them. He consulted his friend George Perkins, Morgan’s partner, to make sure they were. James Dill,11 the lawyer who did so much to make New Jersey a corporate safe haven, gave Roosevelt some tips too. “But as soon as12 the business interests showed any symptoms of acquiescence,” Roosevelt wrote to a friend, “certain individuals have at once asserted that the legislation was bad, because they did not want it unless it frightened the corporations!”
Roosevelt employed all his powers to define the terms of the debate. He leaned on his friends in the Senate to support the law as he wanted it and griped to his friends in the press13 about corporate interference to sabotage it. He said, for effect, that John D. Rockefeller himself14 sent telegrams to certain Republicans reminding them who they really represented. This was not, strictly speaking, true, but the publicity did help neutralize the pressure to craft a more punitive measure. It was true that Standard Oil remained opposed to any new government bureau with too much authority over companies. Standard Oil sent three lawyers to Washington to make that clear. Senator Nelson Aldrich, whose youngest daughter was married to Rockefeller’s only son, advised the Standard men to depart before they made matters worse.
That left Roosevelt with only one complaint. He didn’t like the name Congress wanted to give the new department. “For heaven’s sake15 do try to get the words ‘and labor’ out of the Department of Commerce Bill,” he wrote to Senator Hanna. “The title is cumbrous, misleading and slightly ridiculous.”
On February 14 the Department of Commerce and Labor was created. That month the Elkins Act and the Expedition Act went into effect too. Roosevelt got most of what he wanted. Knox got half a million dollars to start up what would become the antitrust division of the Justice Department. Perkins got one16 of the pens the president used to sign the commerce bill. George Cortelyou, who would lead the new department, got the other.
During the legislative season, the Gridiron Club,17 run by Washington correspondents, hosted an annual dinner at which they lampooned the rich and powerful people they wrote about. Sometimes the subjects even showed up. This time, surprise of surprises, Morgan made an appearance. On Saturday evening, January 31, he and Hanna, along with two hundred others, mingled in the Arlington Hotel’s banquet hall. Roosevelt was invited, as always, but had to attend a dinner for his cabinet.
Morgan sat to the right of the club’s new president, the British ambassador to the left. Roses and orchids were on every table, along with terrapin, English mutton, Philadelphia squab, ice cream, champagne, and cigars. Club members performed skits between the courses. Morgan wasn’t among the speakers—that would be too much to hope for—but he was the unwitting star of the evening.
The Wall Street office of P. J. Morgan & Co., Busters and Boosters was the setting for the final performance. “The thing that worries the old man is what we had better do about a president,” said one employee.
“President of what? President of the Board of Aldermen?”
“President of the United States.”
“Oh, I thought it was something important.”
“Well, it is important if the old man is anxious about it.”
No one seemed to enjoy that more than the old man himself. The next morning Morgan reportedly told Hanna—his preferred presidential candidate for 1904—that he “had the time of his life.”
“Beginning to like newspaper men at last?” Hanna said.
“I can say that I like newspaper men quite as much as they like me, but of all the dinners I ever sat down to, the Gridiron Club dinner last night takes the palm.”
Morgan stopped back18 in Washington about six weeks later on his way home from a trip to Cuba, where he met the president, toured the island, and no doubt bought up his favorite cigars. In Havana, he stayed with a prominent shipping executive. In Washington, he stayed at the Arlington, as he usually did, without registering, which he rarely did. Morgan visited a few senators and the treasury secretary to press for lower import duties on art. Much of his European collection remained in London because bringing it to New York could cost him three million dollars in taxes.
When he returned to the hotel with Hanna, the clerk told Morgan: “The White House wants you.” Morgan reportedly smiled and replied, “Tell the White House I haven’t come in yet.” He went off with Hanna, and only a while later allowed the clerk to notify the White House that he was in. He met with Roosevelt alone for thirty minutes. It was the first time they had been together unaccompanied in years, maybe ever. The government’s case against Morgan’s railroad company would soon begin in a lower court. The two men would have nothing to say to each other about that. It could be that they discussed America’s treaty with Cuba, which included the lease of Guantánamo Bay, or the anthracite coal strike commission’s report, which the president was expecting any day. But neither said anything publicly about that half hour, not then and not later.
The marshal19 requested extra security guards to keep order in the St. Louis courtroom on Wednesday, March 18. Every seat was taken. A special panel of four federal circuit court judges was ready to hear some of the highest-paid corporate lawyers in the country defend their most important clients. The trial of Morgan, Hill, and their company, Northern Securities, was about to begin. The question before the court: With its eighteen thousand miles of railroad track along the Northern Pacific, Great Northern, and Burlington lines, was Northern Securities too powerful to be allowed to exist? It was either a monopoly that had to be broken up no matter how cleverly it had been put together, or just another New Jersey holding company, one of thousands registered every year.
John Griggs, fifty-three years old, sharp-nosed, with gray hair and sideburns, led Morgan’s legal team. As governor of New Jersey20 in 1896, he had been an unwavering creature of the Republican machine. As attorney general under McKinley for three years, he had declined all opportunities but one to enforce the Sherman Antitrust law. (That one was a case against a combination of coal producers and shippers in West Virginia and Ohio, which the government won.) Griggs said he didn’t want to waste the government’s money or humiliate its lawyers with other cases sure to lose. Northern Securities was his chance to prove that he had been right all along.
James Montgomery Beck, more than a decade younger than Griggs, was assistant attorney general. He had dark21 hair and wore thick round glasses and a large ruby ring. He was languid and suave, so boyish and slight that at first the courtroom audience didn’t recognize him as the government’s lawyer. This was his final appearance on its behalf. The following month he joined the New York law firm that had advised Harriman in his attempted hostile takeover of Northern Pacific.
Congress passed the Expedition Act just in time. Knox had filed the case against Northern Securities in St. Paul a year earlier, and it was moved to St. Louis, where the four judges could hear the proceedings sooner. No witnesses would be called. Testimony from Morgan, Hill, and other executives was already on the record. The judges didn’t need to be told that a speedy decision would be best. Their opinion would be delivered back in St. Paul. The appeal would go straight to the Supreme Court. The final verdict on the most important antitrust case in two administrations would be handed down well before the Republican and Democratic national conventions in the summer of 1904.
Beck went22 first. “Few cases have been presented to any court which affected corporate interests to such magnitude, and still fewer which more vitally concern the welfare of the American people,” he said. He began at ten in the morning on that Wednesday and spoke until almost four in the afternoon, stopping only for a court-ordered two-hour lunch break. Griggs summed up23 the defense on Friday. Why are we here, he asked. This company didn’t deserve to be punished. The Sherman Act doesn’t forbid “the natural process of unification.”
Beck argued that Northern Securities combined two competing transcontinental railroads and was a “virtual merger,” no matter what Morgan and Hill called it. He criticized New Jersey for its “reckless sale of corporate privileges to secure petty fees.” He told the courtroom that the method of creating a monopoly could be ingenious. It could be indirect. But it would still be illegal. He said the Sherman Act could be invoked even though prices on the three lines hadn’t increased. They always could be. Northern Securities, he said, was a monopoly whose powers were “infinite in scope, perpetual in character, vested in the hands of a few,” and may be exercised “by methods secret even to stockholders.”
Griggs asserted that the combination of Morgan’s Northern Pacific and Hill’s Great Northern and their purchase of the Burlington line created a new commercial empire in the Northwest that benefited everyone. They weren’t monopolizing trade but “strengthening, augmenting and extending the trade and business of the two companies in both transcontinental and worldwide competition.” He parsed the difference between rivalry and hostility. The Great Northern and Northern Pacific had experienced a little of the former and none of the latter. “Competition can be and is carried on between individuals and corporations, not only without rancor and jealousy but in a spirit of friendliness and with a mutual desire to promote good relations,” he said. “The law does not forbid that.”
Beck concluded that “however public spirited the purposes of the defendants in forming this merger may have been, and whatever its resultant good or evil, it is enough for present purposes to say that it clearly violates existing law.”
Griggs reminded the judges that whatever influence Morgan and Hill desired to wield over the two rail lines, they already possessed before the merger. The consequences of their combination were not “pernicious but beneficial and should be marked with public approval rather than by legislative and governmental obstruction.”
In the weeks after the trial, Morgan had more on his mind than the future of Northern Securities. There was trouble in the stock market, enough trouble that he gave a rare interview to the New York Times at the end of March. He spoke in public only when he needed to. The reason was always the same: to impart confidence to investors and creditors. The optimism of early 1903 was dimming, that sense of bigness began to seem a deception. American companies were building and extracting and smelting their way to industrial power. That was real, grounded, sometimes excessive, often inescapable. Then there was Wall Street, where combining those companies and selling the new stock to eager investors depended on imagining the ledgers would always tilt in their favor.
Not at all, Morgan said. “Not only is24 there prosperity everywhere, but the promises are of a continuation of that prosperity for a long time to come.” Any decline in stock prices was a temporary matter. “The general pessimistic talk indulged in not alone in foreign but in local circles is in no sense justified by the facts.” The problem, if that’s what critics wanted to call it, was simple. “There are in the market many undigested securities.”
Undigested securities: That was a new one. Morgan meant to defend the many recent public offerings of stock, often created by the mergers and acquisitions he promoted. They weren’t overvalued, speculative, or unwarranted. They just hadn’t been digested by the public yet. Even Hill seemed doubtful. He suggested later that the stocks were “indigestible.”25
Roosevelt left26 Washington at nine in the morning on April 1 in a fully electrified private six-car train. He would live on it for almost all of his nine-week, fourteen-thousand-mile speaking tour. He would visit one hundred fifty cities in twenty-five states and give some two hundred speeches about regulating trusts, improving relations between employers and workers, being a good citizen, the dignity of labor, the coal strike commission, the Philippines, tariffs, irrigation, roads, industrial life, prosperity. Sometimes he spoke to crowds so large that those on the edges couldn’t hear him. They could see him, though, and he hoped that would be enough to impress them.
He said the trip would be a “terrific strain,”27 but he also knew it would be the last one for a while. Once the 1904 election season began, he would be confined closer to home. Sitting presidents didn’t stump for themselves—that would be unseemly—they sent out proxies instead. So he would take advantage of the bully pulpit while he could. “I did not ‘divine’28 how the people were going to think,” he wrote later. “I simply made up my mind what they ought to think, and then did my best to get them to think it.”
Roosevelt would be away from the capital longer than any of his predecessors, though Congress would be gone too. He would travel with a smaller entourage, but it still included executives from Western Union and the Pennsylvania Railroad, which provided the train and printed a booklet mapping the president’s route. Roosevelt’s private car, the Elysian, would be plenty comfortable. It contained three state rooms, an observation parlor, two living rooms, a dining room, and a room for his attendants. A Pullman conductor would drive the locomotive and a Pullman butler would look after the president.
George Cortelyou, once Roosevelt’s senior secretary and adviser and now head of the new Commerce and Labor Department, came to see him off at the Sixth Street station. “How can I leave29 you here with those horrible trusts?” Roosevelt joked. “Do not let them hurt you while I am away.”
The train traveled over tracks owned by the railroads Roosevelt and his attorney general had accused of monopoly power. How could it not? The president himself would be in St. Paul just days before the lower court’s verdict on the Northern Securities case. He would also be in Chicago, Evanston, Milwaukee, Minneapolis, Sioux Falls, Fargo, Bismarck, Medora (near his old ranch), and Jamestown. Roosevelt said his trust legislation was “meant to do30 square justice to each man, big or little, and to ensure, as far as by legislation we can secure, that he will do fair justice in return.” The message went over well in the Dakotas.
In between stops he read the forty books31 he ordered for the trip, among them: The Work of Wall Street (written by the editor of the Wall Street Journal), Some Ethical Phases of the Labor Question (written by his own labor commissioner), The Citizen in His Relation to the Industrial Situation, by Morgan’s friend Bishop Henry Potter, as well as Biography of a Prairie Girl by Eleanor Gates and a Booth Tarkington love story set in the early days of the Mexican-American War. An eclectic list, as usual, gathered from friends, family, and the Librarian of Congress.
On April 8, Roosevelt arrived in Livingston, Montana, just north of Yellowstone National Park. He came over Morgan’s Northern Pacific line. The railroad’s president,32 Charles Mellen, rode in his private car fifteen minutes ahead of Roosevelt’s to make sure the track was clear.
Yellowstone, the country’s first national park, was established by President Grant in 1872 and turned over to the Army to administer. The city of Livingston was founded a decade later by the Northern Pacific. The last spike of the line was hammered into place in 1883 some two hundred miles away. Back then, Livingston had a depot, a casino, some saloons. And it had Yellowstone, which spanned more than three thousand square miles, sat on a volcanic caldera, and offered iridescent geysers. Still, as James Hill later said, “You might put33 a railroad in the Garden of Eden, and if there was no one there but Adam and Eve it would be a failure.” By 1884, the Northern Pacific was advertising trips to the park with a story, “Alice’s Adventures in the New Wonderland.” Soon Livingston had tourists, too.
Roosevelt in Yellowstone Park, 1903
Roosevelt hoped34 he wouldn’t see any of them. He was taking a vacation in Yellowstone, hiking, riding, studying—not hunting—the big and small game. Every once in a while even he needed to be unobserved, to retreat into the wilderness. He’d been to the park twice before, when he lived in the west and then with Edith a few years into their marriage. “I am back35 in my own country again,” he said to Major John Pitcher, the superintendent of Yellowstone.
This time Roosevelt was accompanied by the poet and naturalist John Burroughs. R. A. Waagner, better known as “The Duke of Hell Roaring,” and Billy Hofer, a dead shot and longtime friend of the president, were their guides. No one else traveling with Roosevelt joined them. The reporters would have, but he didn’t invite them. They had to wait on the train, under instructions not to enter the park; if they tried, they’d be arrested and kept in the guard house until the president returned.
Roosevelt set up headquarters at Major Pitcher’s home. From there he could stay in touch by phone with his personal secretary, William Loeb, who was also stationed on the train. When the first ruling on Northern Securities came, he wanted to know.
Hill returned36 from Europe aboard a luxury liner on April 9. He wore an ordinary Ulster coat and an old brown slouch hat and hoped not to be noticed. No luck. He looked so unassuming he stood out. As journalists crowded in, Hill—controlling micromanager Hill—tried to appear nonchalant about the fate of the company he had spent twenty years building. “No man knows less about the condition of business than I do at this moment,” he said when asked about the trial. “It is strange how absolutely ignorant of affairs a man can become in five weeks’ time.” He rushed off into the New York morning, leaving his bags for an employee to collect.
At noon the four judges walked into the main courtroom of the circuit court of appeals in St. Paul. With twenty-foot ceilings, a stained glass skylight, and marble walls, it was an impressive setting for such a critical decision. A crowd waited.
The judges’ verdict was unanimous. The merger between the Great Northern and Northern Pacific placed the control of both “in the hands of37 a single person, to wit, the Securities company,” and “destroyed every motive for competition between the two roads,” they said. They had upheld the antitrust law against the most powerful financier in the world. Northern Securities was illegal and had to be disbanded.
Roosevelt, on his campaign trip that he didn’t call a campaign trip, could claim a victory for all those spread across the plains and prairies. His bark had a bite. “The courts can be38 educated, just as the public can be educated,” he later wrote to Knox.
The government’s victory “reaffirms the right39 of the people to be free from the slavery of monopoly,” one of Beck’s colleagues said. The government’s victory was “revolutionary,”40 Griggs said. He meant that no one was safe from Washington’s prying reach. The government’s victory “was like a thunderbolt41 out of a clear sky to Wall Street,” the Minneapolis Journal said.
Morgan and Hill were shocked. No company as notable as theirs had ever been brought to heel by the courts. Publicly, Morgan said the decision “will not rest42 where it is.” In his office, he turned to his longtime counsel, Francis Stetson, and said: “You will have a pretty job, unscrambling the eggs and putting them into their shells and getting them back to the original hens.” Morgan’s son, Jack, sent a telegram from London: “We hear with43 greatest surprise and chagrin of the Northern Securities decision … and feel sure that you will be able in some way to nullify its bad effect.”
Hill couldn’t conceal his bitterness. He said the court ruled that having power to compete globally “is a crime,44 and that he who exercises it is a criminal.” Then he paused. “I now here plead guilty to that crime.”
He and Morgan45 holed up at 23 Wall Street the next day. They had never been fond of one another. Hill was explosive, Morgan glacial. Theirs was a partnership of convenience that had become unexpectedly inconvenient. But now they were united in a common cause. Northern Securities appealed to the Supreme Court, which scheduled the case for a final review in December.
“If this decision46 is upheld by the Supreme Court—but I am confident that it will not be—no less than 85 percent of the railway systems of the United States will be up in the air. All the work of the last seven years will have to be done all over again,” Hill said. In private, he was more distraught. “The decision itself47 is so unreasonable that if carried out it would undo the work of a hundred years and leave the country in a state of financial chaos,” he wrote. Hill had a secret last-resort plan. If he and Morgan couldn’t own the Burlington together, he would buy Morgan’s share. That would help protect his railway system from any unwanted competition. “What the Northern Pacific48 loses, the Great Northern gains” was the way one of Hill’s executives put it.
If this decision is upheld, railroad men will at least know where they stand, Morgan said, and “will probably find49 good ways to see that properties are operated economically and profitably.” Hill was riling up investors; Morgan needed to steady them. If the government put an end to holding companies like this one, he and the railroad men would find another way to work together. In a contest of wits, of dodges and feints and single-minded determination, he was confident Wall Street would outmaneuver Washington.
Morgan’s few public words weren’t enough, though. Coal companies50 might be prosecuted under the antitrust act; their shares fell. The Union Pacific and Southern Pacific might be forced apart; their shares fell. The Pennsylvania Railroad’s stake in the Baltimore and Ohio might be illegal; their shares fell. Morgan’s U.S. Steel and International Mercantile Marine bonds fell to their lowest prices ever. Northern Securities lost 8 percent of its value in one day.
Morgan was forced51 to delay his annual trip to Europe.
On the bright side, he was in New York on April 17 for his sixty-sixth birthday. His wife was in California, but some of the family were there, and that morning Morgan, ruler of Wall Street, had a frolic with his grandkids. They gave him a poem: “Who eats his morning codfish balls / while twenty people pay him calls / and we go rushing through the halls? Our Grandpa.”
During the next week, Morgan sent in brokers to buy stocks from panicky investors. He propped up as many companies as he could, starting with two of his own. He lent his name to confer stability, and it helped—for a while.
When the president emerged from Yellowstone, he got more good news. The government had won an injunction against52 the Beef Trust. He congratulated Knox again. “My dear sir,53 I wonder if you realize what a great work you have done, how proud I am of you and how grateful to you?” By then, as everyone expected, Northern Securities had filed an appeal with the Supreme Court.
Two weeks in the park seemed to have mellowed Roosevelt. He wrote to William Howard Taft, still off in the Philippines as governor: “I have certainly54 tried my hardest to be a decent President and to act up to the principles I have for many years advocated. On the whole I think I have succeeded fairly well; but I haven’t any idea whether any considerable portion of my fellow citizens do or do not accept this pleasant view … I am entirely aware that I have had a first-class run for my money, and that whatever comes I am ahead of the game.”
Roosevelt toured55 California, for the first time, in May. He was enthralled. “I congratulate you upon your fruit farms, your orchards, your ranches, upon your cities, upon your industrial and agricultural development, but above all, I congratulate you upon the quality of your citizenship,” he said. California seemed enthralled back. The president is “a man who has made his way in the world by the force of will and earnestness,” said one reporter who also noted that if you didn’t know Roosevelt was president, “You would size him up as an athletic professor of German or a boxing instructor with a taste for literature.”
When Roosevelt visited Los Angeles, he watched a procession of floats and flowers, Rough Riders on their horses, and Chinese dressed in their finest traditional robes. No one commented on Roosevelt’s support for extending the Chinese Exclusion Act, which first closed the country to Chinese immigrant laborers in 1882 and later required Chinese residents to register with the government and carry the certificates at all times.
The Secret Service seemed to be on especially high alert. They asked police to jail John Czolgosz, the younger brother of McKinley’s assassin, as a precaution. John, like many young men, had come west a year earlier. He was working as a cook in a local tamale factory.
San Francisco’s welcoming committee planned a military parade and banquet so extravagant it had to raise twenty-six thousand dollars to fund them. The only company that seemed unwilling to contribute56 cash was the Southern Pacific railroad, controlled by Harriman. The general manager said his line would carry the president through the state without charge. Legislators and soldiers could travel for free to the city. That would cost about six thousand dollars, and he figured that was a sufficient donation.
Five hundred people attended the Golden Banquet57 at the Palace Hotel on Tuesday, May 12. The hall glittered. Roosevelt sat on a blue and gold chair at a sixty-foot table. When the orchestra played “A Hot Time in the Old Town Tonight,” he stood up and sang loudly. Other guests joined in and he looked so happy that the orchestra played the song again. At night’s end he received a golden cup big enough to hold a quart of champagne.
By the weekend, he was in Yosemite with the naturalist and conservationist John Muir for three snowy days of camping. He told the organizers he wanted “a roughing trip.”58
This time, when he emerged from the wilderness, he turned fierce. The Ohio Republican convention was coming up. Ohio was the home of Senator Hanna, the man who notably didn’t want Roosevelt to be vice president in 1900. The man who had been sparring with him for control of the Republican Party ever since. The man Wall Street hoped would deny Roosevelt the presidential nomination in 1904. “You know,59 as well as I do, what Wall Street does when men try to kick,” Henry Adams wrote to a friend. “It is a war, now, to the last dollar … I am quite sure that not a dollar can be got for Theodore’s campaign.”
Roosevelt and Hanna had developed a working relationship over the previous three years. They agreed more often about labor than capital. They both believed that employees should have some say on the job and employers should have some limits. They respected each other, but they still had reservations about each other. They showed their respect and usually concealed their reservations.
In May, the other senator from Ohio, Joseph Foraker, tried to create a rift between them by calling on the state’s delegates to endorse Roosevelt as the presidential candidate, a full year before the national convention. Doing so would put an end to speculation about Hanna’s intentions on the White House, speculation that unsettled the current occupant more than any other political intrigue. A challenge from someone close to New York’s financial elite was an urgent threat. This gave Hanna an advantage over Roosevelt, one of the few he still had. So Hanna said publicly60 that he didn’t think it was necessary to go on the record so early. Roosevelt told him it was, and this time Hanna didn’t protest. Just days after his first statement, he issued a second brief announcement that concluded: Roosevelt “will be the logical candidate of his party in 1904.” Not exactly a rousing affirmation, though enough of a public acknowledgement of Roosevelt’s power over the senator and the party to satisfy Roosevelt and embarrass Hanna.
Afterward, Roosevelt told Hanna that his initial reluctance “was everywhere accepted61 as the first open attack on me … that it was really an attack by the so-called Wall Street forces on me, to which you had been led to give reluctant acquiescence.” Roosevelt almost apologized. “I hated to do it because you have shown such broad generosity … it was particularly painful for me to be put, even temporarily, in a position of seeming antagonism to you.”
Privately, he wasn’t apologizing for anything. “I decided that62 the time had come to stop shilly-shallying, and let Hanna know definitely that I did not intend to assume the position, at least passively, of a suppliant to whom he might give the nomination as a boon,” Roosevelt wrote to Henry Cabot Lodge. “I rather expected Hanna to fight, but made up my mind that it was better to have a fight in the open at once than to run the risk of being knifed secretly.” It didn’t take much to provoke Roosevelt in a personal contest, sometimes it took nothing at all, and once he felt in peril, he pounced. Then he tidied things up with his opponent as best he could and moved on.
Near the end of his trip, Roosevelt gave what he considered the two best speeches63 of the two hundred or so. “This is not and never shall be a government either of a plutocracy or a mob,” he said in Spokane. “No man is above [the law] and no man is below it. The crime of cunning, the crime of greed, the crime of violence, are all equally crimes … This is a government of the people; including alike the people of great wealth and of moderate wealth, the people who employ others, the people who are employed, the wage-worker, the lawyer, the mechanic, the banker, the farmer.”
On a return visit to Butte, Montana, he said: “I have the right to challenge the support of all good citizens and to demand the acquiescence of every good man. I hope I will have it; but once for all I wish it understood that even if I do not have it I shall enforce the law.” He spoke to members of various unions that day but his real audience was in New York.
Roosevelt told Lodge he had been inspired by the “knock down and dragout fight with Hanna and the whole Wall Street crowd,” and he wanted them to understand “that if they so desire they shall have all the fighting they wish.” No one doubted that.
Then he pivoted. Roosevelt and his daughter Alice attended the June 10 wedding of Hanna’s only daughter. Ruth Hanna was marrying Joseph Medill McCormick, heir to the Chicago Tribune. Roosevelt was among64 those who signed their marriage certificate.
After the ceremony, as the guests mingled at Glenmere, Hanna’s Cleveland mansion, Roosevelt turned the talk to politics. He asked Hanna65 to serve again as chair of the Republican National Committee. The offer was a sign of his trust, and his lingering suspicion. Hanna hesitated. The job would be a strain, his health was poor, and he anticipated a difficult reelection campaign for his own Senate seat. Also: After being teased for his “back-action66-double-spring-feat” over Roosevelt’s endorsement, Hanna was a little sore. If Hanna didn’t accept, the president would conclude he still didn’t have the senator’s full support, and every moment of uncertainty gave Hanna a last bit of influence. Maybe the convention delegates would rebel against the president. Or maybe the gloom on Wall Street would aggravate fears that Roosevelt was unreliable.
Any confidence that Morgan’s pep talk gave investors didn’t last long. New Jersey Governor Murphy reported in April that the state had been forced67 to dissolve more than nine hundred trusts and corporations that hadn’t paid their annual taxes. Another one hundred twenty or so had been put into receivership over the past year. Some had failed honestly, others were frauds from the start.
By early June,68 shares were trading at the same low prices they had during the panic in May 1901. Anxiety can feed on less. Maybe Morgan had been wrong. The problem wasn’t that the country was producing too much coal, iron, food or clothing. Or that good money had gone into factories and mines, real estate and homes, bridges and tunnels. The economy was expanding. Everyone agreed on that. The problem was that the Wall Street men were manufacturing too many securities. Financiers had rushed to buy industrial plants at inflated prices, wasted money on excessive underwriting fees to consolidate or reorganize them, and then tried to sell the stock to the public. The public wasn’t buying.
This time, it was the insiders, the “infatuated millionaires”69 who suffered. The Rich Man’s Panic in the stock market that summer halved the value70 of Morgan’s other great trust, U.S. Steel. The company, which employed nearly one hundred fifty thousand people, reduced wages.71 When Morgan returned from his art-collecting travels in Europe, he was forced to deny reports that his shipping company, International Mercantile Marine, was in such financial trouble that it would have to be reorganized. “There is no crisis72 in the affairs of the company,” he said as the Oceanic neared land. He said he felt refreshed after his six-week trip. Passengers said he had been “much more democratic than is his custom” on the Atlantic crossing. He spent time on deck. Some even described him as affable.
That wouldn’t last. By July,73 the International Mercantile Marine had docked some of its ships and reduced operating expenses to a minimum. The Pennsylvania Railroad’s yards were crowded with empty cars. Banks canceled credit and bankers warned Roosevelt of widespread agitation. Morgan, the unofficial chief banker, put together a reserve of fifty million dollars, just in case.
Roosevelt blamed the crash on Morgan, and Morgan blamed it on Roosevelt. “The financial situation74 here looks ugly,” Roosevelt wrote to Lodge in August. “The panic is due chiefly, almost solely, to the speculative watering of stocks on a giant scale in which Pierpont Morgan and so many of his kind have indulged during the last few years. Of course, if the panic spreads so as to affect the business world I shall have to pay for it.” Later in the month, he wrote to his sister Bamie that many excellent businesspeople believed his attitude toward the trusts and his creation of an agency to supervise the trusts were responsible for the stock market’s collapse. Roosevelt described that as “about as intelligent75 as that it was due to the procession [sic] of the equinoxes or the position of the Great Bear at three o’clock in the morning.”
The fall equinox came. The panic wore itself out, and stock prices slowly began to rise. The Great Bear receded.
Roosevelt resumed his consultations with the many excellent businesspeople who criticized him. It was a way to demonstrate good will and diminish Hanna’s power as the conduit between Washington and New York. He even reached out to Morgan. “Mr. Perkins tells76 me you may pass through Washington this fall. If so, I should much like to see you to talk over certain financial matters,” Roosevelt wrote in early October. “I should like77 extremely to have an interview with you on the subject but, at the moment, it is absolutely impossible for me to leave owing to the absence of Mr. Perkins and the serious condition of affairs in this city,” Morgan replied. “There is no hurry78 whatever,” Roosevelt wrote back. “I wished to speak to you about certain matters of financial legislation, but it would probably be better to wait until Congress has assembled for the special session after November 9.” They never met.
“The Triumph of the Bear in the Wall Street Arena,” Puck magazine cover, June 1903, amid the Rich Man’s Panic
Hanna spent a summer month resting on a friend’s yacht. The vacation seemed to help restore enough vigor that he could campaign for Republican legislators in Ohio’s state elections. The assembly would vote to give him another term. Right after Hanna was reelected senator, businessmen in New York79 began to raise money to make him president. Soon they had one hundred thousand dollars, a pledge of another two hundred fifty thousand, and the promise of much more later. The state’s governor, Benjamin Odell, let them know he would support Hanna too.
Hanna still didn’t want to take on Roosevelt. Morgan invited80 Hanna to spend Thanksgiving at his Madison Avenue mansion so he could try one last time to persuade the senator to do so. Challenging an unsafe president, Morgan suggested, was Hanna’s duty. Hanna didn’t respond. Then Morgan turned to Hanna’s wife, Augusta, and said her husband would be easily nominated “if only he would give the word.” She told Morgan her husband would never give the word.
Later, at the Waldorf-Astoria, when reporters asked Hanna if he could be quoted saying that Roosevelt would be the candidate, Hanna replied: “You can say what you damn please.” Then he laughed, rapped his cane on the floor, and limped away. Hanna made only one promise to Morgan and the others: he would not advocate for Roosevelt’s nomination before the national convention in June. That would give Morgan and the others time to find a suitable candidate. The Supreme Court would rule on Northern Securities before then, and if the company prevailed maybe Roosevelt would be more amenable in a second term. Morgan wasn’t placated. No matter if the company won or lost, if Roosevelt remained in office, the time will come, he said warily, “when all business81 will have to be done with glass pockets.”
It had been a disappointing year, financially, for Morgan. The panic had been costly. When he closed his firm’s books for 1903, he had to record a loss82 of more than three and a half million dollars—some two million from his shipping company alone. Still, he celebrated his admission into the secretive Zodiac Club83 that dark winter. Only twelve men, all wealthy connoisseurs of food and wine, were invited to participate. Each received an astrological call sign and was expected to host a dinner on the last Saturday of the month. Morgan became Brother Libra and planned his first meal at the private apartments of his favorite chef, Louis Sherry. The centerpiece was a roast suckling pig. “It was a very congenial group into which Mr. Morgan fitted like the last piece of a cut-out puzzle,” noted his son-in-law.
On the evening84 of December 4, Roosevelt invited Hanna to the White House. The senator finally was ready to give the president an answer: Hanna declined the offer to stay on as chairman of the Republican National Committee for the 1904 election. Roosevelt would have to find other ways to keep Hanna close. Charm and humor usually worked. Roosevelt wrote to Hanna the next day that his private secretary had told the press the ninety-minute talk was “a most pleasant interview” and that relations between the two were as friendly as ever. “Now do come around here often so that the sensation-mongers may get tired of wondering if anything dark and sinister is met by the visits!” Hanna replied right away. “I will try to see you often enough to keep ‘tab’ on each other.”
As the Northern Securities case sped toward the Supreme Court, Roosevelt and Knox and Morgan and Hill all knew one man would play an outsized role in determining the result: John Marshall Harlan.1 He was over six feet tall, red-haired before he went bald, a Southerner married to a Northerner. His very name was a sort of predestination, recalling John Marshall, fourth chief justice of the Supreme Court and one of the original architects of the American system of constitutional law. Harlan, a Kentucky native, attended law school at Transylvania University in Lexington—known as the Harvard of the West—and joined his father’s legal practice. He ran an unsuccessful campaign for Congress in 1859 and rejoined his father’s firm.
Harlan came from a slave-owning family. Well before he was born, his father had a son, Robert, with an enslaved woman; the two boys were raised in the same home and remained close after they both left it. In 1848, when Robert Harlan was thirty-two years old, he bought his own freedom with a five-hundred-dollar bond. He went on to become a businessman, civil rights activist, and eventually a Republican politician.
John Marshall Harlan’s views on race evolved, but only so far. He was a border-land progressive and very much a man of his time. Harlan organized and led a regiment for the Union during the Civil War because he opposed secession. Slavery, though, he defended. He argued that abolition violated property rights and promised to resign from the army if President Lincoln signed the Emancipation Proclamation. When Lincoln did, Colonel Harlan didn’t. Not right away. But soon after, his father died, and Harlan left the military to take over the family law practice and resume his political career. He served as Kentucky’s attorney general from 1863 to 1867.
Justice John Marshall Harlan, circa 1890
The Ku Klux Klan and other white supremacist groups began a campaign of terror against blacks in Kentucky during those Reconstruction years. The arson, beatings, and lynchings—and the Democrats’ tolerance of the postwar racist violence—turned Harlan to the party of Lincoln. Like Lincoln, he believed blacks should have legal and political equality, even if he didn’t consider blacks social equals. Before he regarded the federal government as a potential threat to the legal autonomy of a state. Now he considered state jurisprudence subordinate to federal jurisdiction. He explained his philosophical change simply: “Let it be said2 that I am right rather than consistent.”
Harlan ran for governor as a Republican twice and lost twice. He warned that monopolies could become powerful enough to control Kentucky politics and he proposed a tax on income, rather than property, to pay the state’s Civil War debts. His influence was such that at the Republican national convention of 1876 he could swing the Kentucky delegation to Rutherford B. Hayes. The Democratic candidate was Samuel Tilden, governor of New York. The presidential campaign was hostile, disputed, and marred by voter suppression, and the winner was eventually determined by compromise.3
Hayes rewarded Harlan by nominating him to the Supreme Court. Harlan, who was forty-four, had only ever served as a county judge. That didn’t matter to Hayes. “Is Harlan not4 the man?” he wrote. “Of the right age—able—of noble character—industrious—fine manners, temper, and appearance. Who beats him?” Over the next several decades, Harlan, in his opinions and dissents, would shape many presidencies—especially the twenty-sixth.
Harlan, the Southerner, was the only justice who believed in civil rights for blacks. In 1857, in the Dred Scott decision, the Court had denied citizenship to African Americans, whether they were slaves or free. A quarter century later, it had to consider four prosecutions under the Civil Rights Act of 1875, which banned discrimination in places of public accommodation. The Court ruled the statute was unconstitutional. Eight justices concluded that railroads, inns, or any public places of amusement were private enterprises that could serve, or refuse to serve, potential customers as they chose. Justice Harlan disagreed. “Today it is5 the colored race which is denied, by corporations and individuals wielding public authority, rights fundamental in their freedom and citizenship,” he wrote in his 1883 opinion. “At some future time, it may be that some other race will fall under the ban of race discrimination.”
As Harlan struggled to finish his dissent, his wife, Malvina, put on his desk the inkstand once owned by Roger Taney, author of the Dred Scott decision, as inspiration. “It was, I think,6 a bit of ‘poetic justice,’ ” she wrote. Afterward, Harlan confessed to Hayes “some surprise” that he found himself alone in his opinion. It would not be the last time.
On June 7, 1892, Homer Adolph Plessy bought a first-class railroad ticket for a fifty-mile trip around Lake Pontchartrain in Louisiana. He didn’t expect to reach his destination. Plessy, mixed race and light-skinned, took a seat in the coach reserved for whites. He intended to be arrested. The railroad managers knew that.
A law enacted in 1890 by the mostly Democratic state assembly required railroads to provide “equal but separate” accommodations for those of different races. Louisiana wasn’t the first state to reimpose racial segregation on railroads after the Civil War. Tennessee was. Florida, Mississippi, and Texas followed. Then came Louisiana with its “act to promote the comfort of passengers.” By the summer of 1892, Georgia, Alabama, Arkansas, and Kentucky had put in place discriminatory statutes of their own.
The Louisiana railroads7 didn’t support the Jim Crow law, mostly because of the cost of providing separate cars. When the conductor asked Plessy to move, he said he was comfortable where he was. A private detective escorted him off the train, arrested him, and, briefly, jailed him in New Orleans.
Four years later, the Supreme Court ruled on Plessy v. Ferguson. It upheld the Louisiana Jim Crow law. Only one justice dissented. In his argument, Harlan put forth two antagonistic claims:8 one, of legal equality for all Americans; the other, of white superiority. “The white race9 deems itself to be the dominant race in this country. And so it is in prestige, in achievements, in education, in wealth and in power,” he wrote in May 1896. But “Our Constitution is color-blind, and neither knows nor tolerates classes among citizens. In respect of civil rights, all citizens are equal before the law.” Toward the end of his opinion, he felt compelled to state again the certainty of America that many continued to deny: “The destinies of the two races in this country are indissolubly linked together, and the interests of both require that the common government of all shall not permit the seeds of race hate to be planted under the sanction of law.” In 1896, though, as Democratic legislatures in the South disenfranchised blacks, and seventy-eight people10 were lynched, Harlan’s lone voice on the Court barely registered.
Harlan also stood apart when it came to the other pressing issue of the 1890s—the gathering power in the hands of a few. Presidents of both parties nominated to the Supreme Court men who tended to believe, as Harlan once did, that federal power shouldn’t necessarily supersede states’ rights, that capital should be favored over labor, that the rich—and their propery—should be protected. The Justices couldn’t always be counted on to side with business, but they often did.
Melville Fuller11 managed the campaign of Lincoln’s Democratic opponent, became one of Chicago’s leading attorneys, and took over as chief justice in 1888. Fuller looked like Mark Twain, if Mark Twain were only about five feet tall. Fuller used a stool so his feet wouldn’t dangle from his chair in the courtroom. He was witty and gracious and often invited the other justices to hold their weekly conference in his mansion. It was his idea that they all shake hands at the start of every session.
David Brewer of Kansas had represented railroad and banking clients and served on state and federal courts for almost two decades before joining the Court in 1890. By the time Edward White of Louisiana took a place on the bench in 1894, he stood close to12 six feet tall and weighed 250 pounds. Some thought that made him look like a judge. White grew up among the sugar-growing Louisiana elite and fought for the Confederacy. After the war, he practiced corporate law and served on the state’s supreme court and as a senator. Rufus Peckham13 was a New York lawyer and judge, a Democrat, and a friend of Morgan, Vanderbilt, and Rockefeller. When he took a seat on the Supreme Court in 1896 he gave up most public engagements so he could maintain the secluded life he believed a judge required. Yet he kept his investments and his position as trustee of Mutual Life Insurance Company of New York.
These were some of the men who would interpret the new Sherman Antitrust Act. While it gave the government broad jurisdiction over private economic power, it left the specifics of how to apply that authority to the courts. “All that we,14 as lawmakers, can do is to declare general principles,” Senator Sherman said in 1890. The law was “experimental,” even its advocates said.
In the year after President Harrison signed the antitrust act, his attorney general didn’t issue any special instructions to the states on how to enforce it and didn’t initiate any cases of his own. Tennessee was15 the first to test the law. The state charged that the Nashville Coal Exchange was a cartel of mine owners and coal dealers that fixed prices and restrained trade in an attempt to monopolize the market. The judge agreed, and the companies didn’t appeal. Jellico Mountain Coal was one of the government’s few victories in those early years.
The government lost its next case. A circuit court ruled in 1892 that the Trans-Missouri Freight Association—an agreement among eighteen competitive railroads to fix rates—didn’t restrain trade because it kept those rates low and actually aided commerce by regulating traffic. Railroads shouldn’t be subject to antitrust rules anyway, the court said, because they were already regulated by the Interstate Commerce Act. Critics noted the commission had little power to enforce its regulations.
Five years later the Supreme Court reversed the decision, made price-fixing illegal, and helped refine the language of the antitrust act. “The statute,16 in declaring illegal every combination in the form of trust or otherwise, or conspiracy in restraint of trade or commerce, does not mean what the language used therein plainly imports,” the justices said. “It only means to declare illegal any such contract which is in unreasonable restraint of trade, while leaving all others unaffected.” So now the courts would only punish those companies whose anticompetitive deals seemed unreasonable.
Only one state attorney general was willing to take on the most unreasonable of all the monopolies, Standard Oil. And in that case, the Ohio supreme court ordered the company to dissolve its holdings only to see the trust reorganize in New Jersey. (Standard Oil was eventually forced to break up in 1911.)
It wasn’t until 1894 that the first major case against a national monopoly reached the Supreme Court. The Knight case, as the government’s prosecution of the Sugar Trust was called, exposed other ways to parse the law and complicate enforcement. Every justice on the court except Harlan determined that the Sugar Trust was legal. In his dissent, Harlan showed how the government might have won, and Philander Knox studied this argument as he prepared the case against Northern Securities. Roosevelt himself later wrote of the Knight case: “This decision left17 the National Government, that is the people of the Nation, practically helpless to deal with the large combinations of modern business.”
Roosevelt’s first nominee to the Supreme Court, Oliver Wendell Holmes Jr., seemed to understand what the president wanted. Holmes was seventeen years older than Roosevelt—sixty-one when he joined the Court in the fall of 1902—but came from the same social class and held some of the same grudges against it.
Both had been18 born into aristocratic families, Holmes in Boston, and grew up with famous fathers. Holmes Sr. was a physician and essayist whose friends included Ralph Waldo Emerson and Henry Wadsworth Longfellow. They both studied at Harvard and belonged to its secretive Porcellian Club. They both chose to fight in wars they could have avoided. Holmes left Harvard his senior year to enlist in the Union Army. He served three years, was wounded three times, and kept the bullet that surgeons extracted from his chest and the bullet that tore through his neck. Roosevelt and Holmes wrote books, read history, liked to talk. They were both romantics. “Life is a roar19 of bargain and battle,” Holmes said.
They both were friends with Henry Cabot Lodge, the former Harvard history professor who had become a politician. Holmes stood by Lodge and Lodge stood by Roosevelt when they backed an unpopular Republican presidential candidate in 1884 out of party loyalty. Roosevelt appreciated loyalty. In 1895, when he served as New York City’s police commissioner and Holmes was a Massachusetts Supreme Court judge, Holmes impressed20 him again. Holmes gave a Memorial Day speech called “The Soldier’s Faith,” in which he said that the joy of life is “to ride boldly21 at what is in front of you, be it fence or enemy; to pray, not for comfort, but for combat.” He could have been describing Roosevelt.
The rumblings of discontent across America disturbed Holmes, though maybe not in the way Roosevelt imagined. Holmes held that22 judges should not be bound by personal ties to race or class. He understood the relationship between workers and their bosses as a competition. Employees wanted to earn as much as they could; employers wanted to pay as little as they could. He regarded the organization of rival businesses as inevitable and beneficial, and the organization of labor as a legitimate response. He had little personal sympathy for workers, but he ruled for them. When his fellow justices agreed a local strike could be stopped by injunction, Holmes dissented. “Free competition23 means combination,” he wrote in 1896. “Combination on the one side is patent and powerful. Combination on the other is the necessary and desirable counterpart, if the battle is to be carried on in a fair and equal way.”
He wasn’t a reformer, nor was he a progressive. He believed the world’s population would naturally grow faster than the means to sustain it, so the survival of the nation depended on weeding out the unfit. He was more cynical24 than Roosevelt judged, more independent than Roosevelt expected. Holmes later wrote he “loathed most25 of the things I decided in favor of.”
Holmes became chief justice of the Massachusetts supreme court in 1899. He instituted one change right away: he asked the judges to wear black robes26 again, as the justices on the nation’s Supreme Court did. Justice Horace Gray, who was from Massachusetts, offered to lend his as a sample for the tailor.
Gray was in poor health and close to retirement. McKinley planned to replace him with a Massachusetts judge who wasn’t Holmes. But after Roosevelt suddenly became president, Holmes thought he might get Gray’s seat on the Supreme Court after all. Lodge recommended him to Roosevelt.
Holmes was hopeful. He told a cousin27 he had to withdraw from a business venture and wrote to friends in London that he might soon be moving to Washington. But Roosevelt took his time. In February 1902, Gray suffered a stroke. Roosevelt still wasn’t ready to name Holmes. Now he had to consider that whoever he nominated could swing the court in the Northern Securities case. Roosevelt wanted to select a judge who shared his principles, as Gray did, a partisan in the highest sense, he said.
That summer Roosevelt reviewed Holmes’s judicial record. “I am glad28 when I can find a judge who has been able to preserve his aloofness of mind so as to keep his broad humanity of feeling and his sympathy for the class from which he has not drawn clients,” the president wrote to Lodge. Roosevelt approved of Holmes’s labor decisions, especially since they had been “criticized by the big railroad men and other members of large corporations.”
Justice Oliver Wendell Holmes, circa 1903
The president invited Holmes to Oyster Bay for a job interview. When Holmes arrived one evening in late July, Roosevelt wasn’t there. He had gone sailing in the Long Island Sound, fog had settled over the water, and he had to camp overnight. Holmes ate dinner with Roosevelt’s kids, instead, entertaining them with Civil War stories.
The next morning Holmes—tall, thin, prominent mustache—charmed Roosevelt too. Roosevelt flattered Holmes. The president “said just29 the right things and impressed me far more than I had expected,” the judge wrote to a friend.
Roosevelt offered30 the seat to Holmes right then, and Holmes accepted.
On December 8, 1902, Holmes took his place on the far-right end31 of the courtroom bench. The next day, he and the other justices celebrated Harlan’s twenty-five years on the Supreme Court. He had served longer than any of them. Roosevelt spoke at the banquet at the Willard Hotel. He didn’t praise Harlan for his dissents on the court. He praised Harlan as a Southerner who fought for the Union, a civil dissent of sorts. The president said publicly what he had already stated privately—that judges “must be great constructive statesmen.”32 He reminded them of the court’s history and duty. “In not one serious study of American political life will it be possible to omit the immense part played by the Supreme Court in the creation, not merely the modification, of the great policies through and by means of which the country has moved on to its present position.”
Justice Brewer teased33 Harlan, saying he “goes to bed every night with one hand on the constitution and the other on the bible, and so sleeps the sweet sleep of justice and righteousness.” Harlan taught a Sunday Bible study class for men and he could summon a moral indignation in the courtroom that the other judges didn’t always appreciate. When he issued his dissent to the 1895 decision to strike down an income tax law, he banged his hand on the bench, shook his fingers at his colleagues, and scowled at the chief justice.
Justices of the Supreme Court, from left to right: Oliver Wendell Holmes, Rufus Peckham, Henry Brown, John Marshall Harlan, Melville Fuller, David Brewer, Edward White, Joseph McKenna, and William Day. Harper’s Weekly, 1903
At age sixty-nine, Harlan still chewed tobacco, kept his face clean-shaven, chatted with train conductors and passengers on his daily commute, played baseball and sang at bar association picnics, and told Civil War stories. He was also still in debt. “The whole situation is so deadly mortifying,” he had written back in Kentucky in 1880. The situation hadn’t improved. Most Supreme Court justices found their salaries were sufficient; in 1902 each earned about twelve thousand dollars. Harlan didn’t. For two decades the justice taught at what became George Washington University, “a position which,34 in spite of the arduous work it entailed, he felt compelled to retain,” his wife, Malvina, said. He was paid two thousand dollars a year. Even with the extra income, the family lived beyond their means. Vacations, debutante balls, European educations. A huge home in Washington, which his sons helped finance, with portraits of John Marshall, Thomas Jefferson, John Jay, and Alexander Hamilton lining the entrance hall. At the foot of the stairs, a bust of Harlan himself. Maybe his secret financial troubles made him sensitive to the country’s wealth gap. Maybe they made him more self-righteous.
Toward the end of January 1903 the Roosevelts hosted a reception for Congress and the judiciary. Holmes had become35 friendly with Justice White by then and noted that he had quickly left for some reason. “Some reason” was the presence of several African Americans. Other Southerners bolted too. Harlan stayed.
The next month Roosevelt nominated his second Supreme Court judge. William Day had practiced criminal defense and corporate law in Canton, Ohio. He had also been involved in local Republican politics. Of course he knew William McKinley. As president, McKinley appointed Day assistant secretary of state, secretary of state, and then a judge on the Court of Appeals for the Sixth Circuit. He was a reliable “constructive statesman,” as Roosevelt preferred.
But he wasn’t Roosevelt’s first choice. William Howard Taft was. In October 1902, amid the coal strike and after Holmes’s seat was secure, Roosevelt had tried to persuade Taft to give up his position as colonial governor of the Philippines and come home. “I do think36 it of the very highest consequence to get you on the Supreme Court,” Roosevelt said. “I am not at all satisfied with its condition—let us speak this only with bated breath and between you and me. I think we need you there greatly.” Taft was ambivalent. He wanted the position but also believed he was needed in the Philippines. His wife and brothers had other plans for him. They believed Taft could be president one day and advised him to turn down the lifetime appointment to the court.
Early in that year’s session, with Day soon to join Holmes and Harlan on the bench, the Supreme Court ruled unanimously that Congress had the constitutional authority to unilaterally alter treaties with Native American tribes. Justice White described them as “wards of the37 government” and said Congress possessed “full administrative power” over tribal property. Harlan’s notion of civil rights only extended so far. “It is the Dred Scott38 decision No. 2,” Pennsylvania senator Matthew Quay said in disgust. “Except that in this case the victim is red instead of black.”
The justices heard commercial disputes, personal injury suits against railroads, questions of taxes, contracts, wills, insurance policies, and bankruptcies. They ruled on trademark, patent, and copyright conflicts. They considered cases that tested the federal government’s power over the states. Holmes found the questions arising “from every part39 of our great empire,” exciting to contemplate. More often than not, the judges were in agreement.
They usually held conferences on Saturdays in a room below the chamber, windowless, with walls hazed by cigar smoke. Sometimes they went to Chief Justice Fuller’s home. The conversations were mostly congenial. But Harlan and Holmes didn’t like one another, and when they disagreed, Harlan could get excitable, insistent, close. Holmes never did. He called Harlan “my lion-hearted friend.”40 He also compared Harlan’s mind to “a powerful vise41 the jaws of which couldn’t be got nearer than two inches of each other.” But not when Harlan was alive. If Harlan ranted, Holmes interrupted, “That won’t wash.”42 If Harlan continued, Fuller might joke, “Still I keep scrubbing and scrubbing.’ ”
Work was engrossing for Holmes. Political life in the capital—a small, gossipy town full of people angling for power—was complicated. “It seems as if43 everybody smiled and lied,” he wrote. “One realizes the possibility of having enemies—which one rather thought a romantic fiction in Boston. But here rivalries—envies—ambitions—grow fierce.” Holmes wished to remain detached. He said he never read44 a newspaper while serving on the Supreme Court. As a resident of Washington, he couldn’t vote in presidential elections.
Yet he and his wife, Fanny, quickly joined the Roosevelts’ social circle. Fanny had been a recluse in Boston, but in Washington she shone. The Holmeses were clever and well-read. The justice could charm any woman. Fanny would watch, bemused. “Washington is full45 of famous men and the women they married when they were young,” she said to Roosevelt one night. He howled with laughter. Henry Adams, a chatty, sometimes scathing companion, shared Fanny’s disdain. He called her “our only social46 success” and wrote that for Edith, “who is victim to the whole mob of Judges, Cabinets and Senates, with wives, the Holmes’s are a joy.”
The Holmeses enjoyed the attention. “We are on top47 of the wave,” the justice wrote to a friend in early 1903. He invited Edith to the Supreme Court to hear his opinion in a copyright case. He said he admired the way her husband gave everyone he spoke to the full magnetic force of his attention.
“Surely you must48 know without my telling it how immensely both of you have added to the enjoyment of the ‘sire and siress’ this winter,” Roosevelt wrote to Holmes as official Washington closed for the summer. When the justice returned to the city, the Northern Securities case—eight thousand pages49 of transcripts, briefs, and arguments and the chance to decide the most public case of the Roosevelt administration—would be waiting. “I feel very proud of having had the chance to appoint you.”
Edith Roosevelt and Lillian Knox sat together in the Ladies’ Gallery overlooking the crowded Supreme Court chambers. Fanny Holmes was there too. The room, two stories high and semicircular, decorated in crimson and gold, was designed to evoke a Parisian amphitheater. People lined the hallways of the Capitol in the hours before the trial. They claimed every single red-velvet-upholstered seat. The late arrivals stood. Everyone waited for the show.
It began at half past noon on Monday, December 14, 1903. The justices would finally determine whether Pierpont Morgan and James Hill had broken the law. If their railroad company could regulate commerce or if the government could regulate it. A New Jersey law made corporations like Northern Securities. Could the federal law unmake them?
The railroads’ influence seemed unbounded; now the justices would determine whether these already massive corporations could continue to consolidate power. By 190350 their combined stock value represented one-eighth the wealth of the country. They employed more Americans than any other enterprise. They carried passengers whose numbers equaled almost half the world’s population. Tens of millions of people had a stake in the outcome of the trial.
John Johnson presented51 Morgan and Hill’s appeal. Johnson was sixty-two years old and among the top lawyers in the country. He had turned down a seat on the Supreme Court, twice. He had turned down an offer from McKinley to be attorney general. Johnson turned down all sorts of other invitations—to attend dinners, make speeches, pose for photographs. He didn’t even join the American Bar Association.
He collected paintings, as Morgan did, and not just the Old Masters, either. He bought as he pleased, and he hung the paintings where he pleased—on the backs of doors, at the foot of beds, on the ceiling of his home in Philadelphia.
Johnson had defended the Sugar Trust in the Knight case. He served as counsel for the Pennsylvania Railroad, the New York Central, and Morgan’s U.S. Steel. He was always available when Morgan, or Hill, needed him. For the Northern Securities case, he was available for a reported five hundred thousand dollars. “There was no polish or adornment to his arguments,” one colleague said. “Johnson goes straight to the point and hits it hard.” That afternoon Johnson appeared cheery and optimistic.
Knox spoke for52 the government. Northern Securities was the first case he argued before the Supreme Court as attorney general. He was part of the attraction. But he wouldn’t turn the trial into a spectacle. He rarely gestured or raised his voice. He seemed solemn.
Johnson was intense and Knox grounded; Johnson was Philadelphia and Knox, Pittsburgh. Both attorneys wore striped trousers, gray ascots, waistcoats, and cutaway morning coats.
Both had reason to be hopeful. The circuit court had ruled unanimously against Morgan and Hill in April. Four months later, a district judge heard the case that Minnesota’s attorney general first tried to bring to the Supreme Court and ruled for Morgan and Hill. He said that Northern Securities couldn’t be punished for having the power to suppress competition between the Great Northern and Northern Pacific unless it had actually used that power. As far as he was concerned, Northern Securities hadn’t committed an offense. Johnson would attempt to persuade the Supreme Court of that. Johnson and Knox had the same advantage: the Court’s wide discretion to interpret the language in the Sherman Antitrust Act.
Griggs, who lost the earlier trial for Northern Securities, filed a brief and sat with the company lawyers. But he didn’t speak. Beck, who won the case for the government and relocated to a Wall Street firm, sat in the audience.
Johnson argued53 that the Northern Pacific and the Great Northern—and the line they owned together, the Burlington—had no agreement, contract, combination, or conspiracy to restrain competition. Recall the panic of May 1901, Johnson implored, when the two lines’ rival, the Union Pacific, got control of the majority of Northern Pacific stock. “What was to be done?”54 Johnson asked as he paced the chamber, swinging his glasses on the end of their string. “Remain quiet and allow these people who were waiting like the fox under the tree for something to drop and let them have the prize, or to protect that alliance?” They couldn’t remain quiet when the fox was Edward H. Harriman.
That’s why Morgan and Hill created Northern Securities, he said. It was a device to hold their prize. It was the only way to protect the roads from a hostile takeover and compete as a global rail and shipping company. All that accomplished just by transferring stock: Individuals can transfer their shares; corporations should have the same rights as individuals.
The case, he said, wasn’t about commerce at all. It was about private property. Either way, Northern Securities hadn’t stifled commerce. It had expanded commerce. Now manufacturers could send flour from the Mississippi Valley to China, two thousand miles by rail and fifty-seven hundred miles by ship, all on lines controlled by Morgan and Hill, for eighty cents a barrel. Transporting a barrel of flour to New York on other railroads, a distance of less than fifteen hundred miles, cost fifty-five cents. Johnson leaned on these impressive figures to argue that the merger had made the Morgan, Hill, and Harriman lines more efficient and more able to absorb lower rates. Of course he avoided mentioning another possibility: that the size of the Northern Securities network meant its railroads were better able to absorb losses, and they were underpricing their services in hopes of weakening smaller lines.
Knox reminded55 the Court that the government chartered the Northern Pacific in 1864, authorized it to construct a transcontinental railroad, and gave it 43 million acres of the people’s land. Morgan and Hill destroyed the independence of the Northern Pacific by bringing it under the domination of the Great Northern. Morgan had testified that he and Hill had formed a “community of interest,” meaning “a certain number of men who own property can do what they like with it.” That was their right, they said. Knox said otherwise: the Court has the power to prohibit such behavior.
After the May panic, Morgan wanted to create a company large enough that nobody else could ever take control of it. He had said so. The laws of New Jersey made it possible. Northern Securities had a value of four hundred million dollars, and Morgan believed that if his stock “was not safe there, it was not safe anywhere.” Call it a merger, a combination, a pool, a conspiracy, a consolidation, a contract, a securities company. No state, not even New Jersey, “can construct a creature and endow it with immunity to defy the supreme law of the land,” Knox said.
The Great Northern and Northern Pacific had pooled their stock. They had no reason to compete now; the dividends would likely decrease if they did. “The object of business is gain,” Knox said. “And when the gains of competitive enterprises are combined and arbitrarily divided, competition is destroyed.”
Knox argued that the power of a monopoly is not only that it can fix rates, high or low. “It means also getting the commerce which was conducted by many into the hands of the few,” he said. “It means that new lines can be brought into existence to meet new needs only if the combination wills it so.” It means that “the entire railway systems of the country may be absorbed, merged, and consolidated.” No corporation should have that much power, the former corporate lawyer insisted.
On Tuesday, December 15, in the late afternoon, the Supreme Court adjourned. The justices would take the next few months to determine what the law would allow.
Morgan and Hill worked in their offices during the two-day trial. They had the “most sublime confidence”56 that the justices would come down on their side, a friend of Hill’s said. Meanwhile, Hill announced57 that the Burlington railroad would not give away a 1904 calendar. The half million farmers and businesspeople along its routes who had hung up the calendar every year for the past ten would be disappointed. But Hill didn’t want to spend the money.
Roosevelt worked in the White House. He met with representatives from the Arizona and New Mexico territories. Both advocated to be declared two separate states, not one. He met with several of his cabinet members. His friend Jacob Riis, the urban reformer, came to visit. The skies were clear, the temperature below freezing. He toured shanties and tenements just blocks from official Washington but ignored by many of its residents.
“Already I begin58 to hear the echos of the great speech,” Roosevelt wrote to Knox about his argument before the Court. “Mrs. Roosevelt says she was so absorbed that even the close air of the cubby-hole where she and Mrs. Knox sat, couldn’t make her lose interest for a moment.” In the coming months, there was politics to attend to and businesses still to run. But there was nothing more to say about Northern Securities. Roosevelt and Knox and Morgan and Hill had to wait.
Mark Hanna was sick1 with the flu. On Tuesday, December 15, the second and final day of the Northern Securities trial, he was in bed in Washington. He still had a fever and chills later in the week, but he insisted on going to New York for a meeting with business and labor leaders. He then traveled to Cleveland for Christmas, a twelve-hour trip that he made in the private car of the president of the New York Central Railroad. Hanna worked in his company’s office for a week, talked with politicians in Chicago until midnight, gave a speech in Columbus after the state assembly reelected him senator, and pressed on as if he were healthy.
But he hadn’t changed his mind about challenging Roosevelt. A group of railroad2 executives told him: “Stop making3 presidents and become one yourself.” Hanna told them, once again, that he would not become one.
He returned to Washington in the middle of January, showed up at the Senate for half a week, and stayed in his bed at the Arlington Hotel for the second half. His doctor gave him morphine for a toothache, stimulants for exhaustion, sedatives for anxiety. Maybe he was suffering from more than the flu. He looked weary but assured friends he was fine.
On January 304 he ignored the doctor’s advice, dressed for the evening, and joined hundreds of politicians, businessmen, and journalists downstairs at the hotel’s banquet hall for a Gridiron dinner. Hanna usually carried a small cane and often limped. Everyone knew he suffered from rheumatism and no one thought it unusual that he sat during the reception. But he didn’t eat or drink or give the speech he had prepared. When someone asked how he was feeling, he replied: “Not good.”
Otherwise he tried to keep up appearances. He laughed during the skits, especially when the actors now and then shouted “Hurrah for Hanna,” echoing his presidential boosters. Roosevelt attended the dinner too and laughed along with Hanna. Roosevelt said a few words about “public questions and public men,” words that club rules forbade reporters to repeat. At one in the morning, the stragglers left. Hanna had returned upstairs, where he occupied the entire second floor.
He didn’t like to complain, he said, but his hands felt like ice and every nerve ached. Four days later, a specialist diagnosed typhoid fever. It wasn’t necessarily fatal. But Hanna was sixty-six, smoked a dozen of his own brand of cigars every day, and exercised only when he couldn’t avoid it. He summoned his family and took to his bed.
Roosevelt came to visit the next morning, Friday, February 5. Hanna was asleep. “You touched a5 tender spot, old man, when you called personally to inquire after me this a.m. I may be worse before I can be better, but all the same such ‘drops’ of kindness are good for a fellow,” Hanna wrote in pencil to the president. “Indeed it is6 your letter from your sick bed which is touching, not my visit. May you soon be with us again, old fellow, as strong in body and as vigorous in your leadership as ever,” Roosevelt wrote back. Hanna never saw the president’s reply.
Doctors sent out7 bulletins with Hanna’s temperature and pulse. Roosevelt’s updates came by phone. Hanna received oxygen and saline injections and as a last resort saline with some brandy. But his pulse became weaker. He spoke a few words to his family, then fewer.
Hanna’s deathwatch began. Friends gathered in the hotel lobby, reporters stood outside. Everyone waited. His doctors said it wouldn’t be long. But time seemed to slow at the Arlington.
By Monday, February 15, the bulletins arrived every fifteen minutes or so. Trading on the stock market was tentative.8 Many investors and brokers had hoped Hanna would be president. His decline temporarily blunted them. But they didn’t panic. If they could anticipate a shift in power or prospects, they didn’t fear it as much.
The capital was gray, cold. After sixteen inches9 of hard snow fell on the city in January, and some still remained on the streets in February, commissioners asked Congress to create a permanent fund, some ten thousand dollars would do, for snow and ice removal. In Chinatown, residents celebrated the Lunar New Year with tea, wine, cigars, oranges, incense, candles, and red envelopes filled with a little cash.
Buffalo Bill Cody visited the White House that Monday. So did delegates from the National Women’s Suffrage Association; the president, who never took up the issue, invited Edith, who never pressed him to. Ohio’s governor, Myron Herrick, a protégé of Hanna’s, stopped by on his way to the Arlington. Hanna’s doctors suspected he had contracted typhoid from drinking contaminated water in Columbus in January. Herrick told Roosevelt how terrible he felt about that.
Roosevelt walked over10 to the Arlington around three and stayed with Hanna’s family for fifteen minutes. When he returned to the lobby, he told the crowd that the senator was near his end.
At 6:40 that evening, an hour after the winter sun set, Hanna died.
He made a president and the president helped make him powerful. He ran a company and accumulated a fortune. He tried to reconcile employers and employees. John Mitchell said the death was a “well-nigh irreparable11 loss” to the labor movement. Morgan said12 Hanna “understood all kinds of human nature.” A colleague said13 the old order had passed away too.
Hanna served14 as a director of three banks and a railroad. He held significant shares of the Cleveland Electric Railway, the American Shipbuilding Company, and the Pittsburgh Coal Company. He owned the Euclid Opera House in Cleveland and vacation homes in Georgia and Maine. He had earned five thousand dollars a year as a senator. In the end, he reportedly left his family an estate worth some seven million, one of the biggest ever filed in probate court up to that point (though that might have been only because other wealthy men underestimated the value of their holdings). His estate was also one of the first compelled to pay a state inheritance tax, sixty thousand dollars. Governor Herrick signed the law in 1904—and asked the legislature to repeal it two years later because it was so unpopular.
“Hanna’s death15 has been very sad,” Roosevelt wrote to Root the next day. “He resolutely declined to be drawn into the position which a smaller man of meaner cast would inevitably have taken; that is, the position of antagonizing public policies if I was identified with them.” Roosevelt admired Hanna even as he maneuvered, publicly, privately, and mercilessly, to limit the senator’s influence.
Root had resigned as secretary of war by then. He was exhausted, and his wife wanted to return to New York. “I have missed,16 and shall miss, Root dreadfully,” Roosevelt wrote to his son Ted, who was in his third year at Groton School in Massachusetts. “He has been the ablest, most generous and most disinterested friend and advisor that any President could hope to have.” As Root’s replacement, Roosevelt appointed William Howard Taft, who had finally agreed to leave the Philippines and be thrust into national politics. “Taft is a splendid fellow,” Roosevelt continued, “but as Mother says, he is too much like me to be able to give me as good advice as Mr. Root was able to do because of the very differences of character between us.”
The president was more expansive when he spoke with the journalist Walter Wellman, saying that Root “is the greatest man17 who has appeared in the public life of the country, in any position, on either side of the ocean, in my time.” Roosevelt said Root was so great he could take the place of the great secretary of state John Hay or the great attorney general Philander Knox. But probably neither one could take his. After the article was published, Roosevelt realized how that sounded. He apologized to Knox and Hay, denied speaking to Wellman on the record, and promised if he had spoken to Wellman he hadn’t used those exact words. “I feel that18 the service you have rendered in connection with the Northern Securities suit, and in connection with your entire attitude toward organized labor on the one hand, and great corporate wealth on the other, has been such as no other man, at this time, could have rendered, or could render, in your place,” he wrote Knox. “I have shown this letter to Root.”
Root spent one of his last evenings in Washington at the Gridiron dinner. Then he moved to New York and resumed his private practice. He accepted19 an offer to advise Morgan’s firm and Morgan himself. He told Morgan and his other clients he wouldn’t lobby the government on their behalf. He still earned one hundred thousand dollars in fees his first year, more than ten times his salary as secretary of war.
Root had another important job—advocating for the president in New York. Someone had to. The rumors were getting outlandish. Apparently some frustrated businessmen, “the Big Interests,”20 a friend called them, hired psychologists to analyze Roosevelt’s public statements and actions, looking for evidence that he was too unbalanced to be president.
Wall Street’s opposition to Roosevelt wasn’t public, but its leaders’ murmurings of dissent influenced the men one notch down who looked to them for advice or standards or loans. They whispered21 that Roosevelt was dangerous, that his agitation against corporations and communities of interest would harm them. He shouldn’t be allowed to control Wall Street. Wall Street had to control him. But Wall Street was in disgrace in early 1904. People had become cynical about the excessive speculation and constant promotion of dodgy stocks. If Wall Street was against Roosevelt, many people would be for him.
Roosevelt understood this and intended to capitalize on it.
Root’s New York friends organized a dinner in early February at the Union League Club to welcome him home. He used the occasion to defend the president.22 Two hundred fifty-five guests crowded into the banquet hall, among them industrialists and investors and lawyers worried that the president would continue to impede their preferred way of conducting business. Cornelius Bliss—member of the Jekyll Island Club and president of the Union League—sat next to Root. John Griggs sat at the head table too. Morgan was supposed to be there but declined at the last minute.
“I am told he is not popular here in the city of his home. I am told that some people say he is not safe,” Root said of the president. “He is not safe for the men who wish to prosecute selfish schemes to public detriment.” The man the audience probably trusted more than any other Roosevelt intimate told them they were wrong in language they would understand. “I say to you that he has been, during the years since President McKinley’s death, the greatest conservative force for the protection of property and our institutions in the city of Washington.” How? By enforcing the law and promising fair treatment for every citizen.
Root didn’t discuss the president’s efforts to settle the anthracite coal strike, a controversial topic in the room. Root played a role in that, but they could forgive Root. He didn’t take the strike’s leader into his confidence as Roosevelt had. He didn’t seem to encourage the strikers, as they believed Roosevelt had.
Root urged them to look beyond their immediate concerns. “There are some things to be thought of besides the speculation of the hour,” he said. “There is the greater onward march of American institutions, there is the development of our social system.” The old way will spark class resentment and social upheaval. Roosevelt’s way will ensure “the great toiling mass of the American people shall feel that laws are just and justly administered; that every boy has his chance for the future.”
To an audience of capitalists who believed they had one responsibility and only one—profit—Root spelled out a multitude of other obligations. They must be “fair to the consumer, fair to the laborer, fair to the investor,” Root said. “Never forget that the men who labor cast the votes, set up and pull down governments.”
When he finished, the men he hoped to persuade applauded. Some stood and waved their linen napkins over their heads. They were cheering for Root and the prosperous country, enlightened institutions, and hopeful future he described. Griggs, the Northern Securities lawyer, suggested Root could be president. Root had no desire to be president.
“You want to23 send a gold watch, or a diamond necklace, or a house and lot or any other little thing that occurs to you to your former Secretary of War at once,” Governor Franklin Murphy of New Jersey wrote to Roosevelt afterward.
Roosevelt did thank Root. “The evil24 [in New York] had gone very deep and the effects were becoming noticeable far from the original center,” he wrote. Root’s speech would exorcise the evil. Newspapers had covered it, and the Union League Club was publishing it. Word would spread that Roosevelt was safe.
But the president was still anxious about his election prospects. Really, the president was just anxious. He had been cooped up in the White House during the howling winter, only able to chase off his doubts during a few icy walks in Rock Creek Park and hurried rides around the Washington Monument.
A jujitsu master25 trained Roosevelt three afternoons a week, and the close combat seemed to improve his spirits. It also helped him lose weight before the campaign season. Roosevelt practiced with whomever he could get his hands on: Taft, Loeb, the Japanese naval attaché, his sons, assorted visitors. “My right ankle26 and left wrist and one thumb and both great toes are swollen sufficiently to more or less impair their usefulness, and I am well mottled with bruises elsewhere,” Roosevelt wrote to Ted. “Still I have made good progress, and since you have left they have taught me three new throws that are perfect corkers.” He was down 20 pounds, to a solid 200, by May. The political rebukes of Roosevelt continued; a few newspapers criticized his spending.27 Roosevelt didn’t like to be criticized about anything, but being accused of extravagance was especially galling. Part of Roosevelt’s appeal, particularly out west, was that he had shaken off his privilege.
Roosevelt wrote a letter to Lawrence Abbott, the publisher of the popular Outlook magazine, defending himself and suggesting Abbott might do the same in print. The cost of the new tennis court, where Roosevelt and his children played—his children better than he—“has been trivial,” less than four hundred dollars, he said. He hadn’t even asked for the new stable. That was the doing of the public buildings superintendent who said the horses became sick in the old one. “I pay the butcher, baker and grocer at Washington just as I do at Oyster Bay,” he said, and have “people whom I like lunch or dine with me at the White House.” Who could protest that? As for the biggest expense of all, both the Republicans and Democrats in Congress “agreed that it was absolutely necessary” to expand the White House. “Only a yahoo could have his taste offended” by the renovations.
Among those still dining at the White House were Oliver Wendell Holmes and Fanny, along with the rest of the group Henry Adams called “our family circle.”28 Holmes and the Supreme Court justices were debating the Northern Securities case. Newspapers reported each day that passed without a verdict. Roosevelt counted too. “All I can do29 is hope,” he said. The decision could render his presidency a success or a disappointment, and for now he could do nothing. He knew not to ask Holmes about the deliberations, but he felt confident in his friend.
“The moral effect30 is incalculable,” Knox had telegraphed Roosevelt after the government won a fraud case against a silk importer who evaded tariffs. “May our luck hold out.”
The morning of31 Monday, March 14, 1904, was cold and windy. Snow was expected later in the week. Despite the wishes of the justices, news that they had reached a ruling had leaked out. When they filed into the domed chamber at noon, staff had brought in extra chairs, and still people stood in the back and in the hallway. The justices took their places at the bench, nine men, eight marble columns framing them. Chief Justice Fuller sat in the middle, a gilded eagle with outspread wings high on the wall behind him. Harlan was on his right, and beyond Harlan, Holmes.
Attorney General Knox sat directly in front of the justices. Taft and Lodge arrived together. Other congressmen left their own deliberations to join the audience.
Roosevelt remained32 at the White House entertaining guests for lunch. Among them were William Roscoe Thayer, an author who watched Roosevelt with a biographer’s eye; the Austro-Hungarian ambassador and his wife; John Hay, who opposed Roosevelt’s initial decision to take on the magnates; and Cardinal James Gibbons, who prayed Roosevelt would win the presidental election.
The courtroom fell silent as Justice Harlan announced Case Number 277. The evidence,33 he said “shows a violation of the act of Congress.” And then, a little later: No scheme or device “could more effectively and certainly suppress free competition.”
The government had won. The crowd murmured, and reporters rushed to cable the news to their editors. It wasn’t clear until Harlan reached the end of the opinion, an hour and twenty minutes later, just how close the decision had been—five to four. After Harlan delivered the majority opinion, Justice David Brewer added an important caveat. Then came not one dissent, but two: one from Justice Edward White—and the other from Justice Holmes.
Four opinions. It was an unusual airing of legal, and partisan, particulars. It was also an unusual opportunity to address a rapt audience and one man specifically, the president, who sat beyond the courtroom. The political significance of Case 277 was undeniable.
In the fourteen years since Congress had passed the Sherman antitrust law, the Supreme Court had used it to shield the Sugar Trust and livestock exchanges it deemed not to be engaged in interstate commerce. Three times it had ordered cartels to break up: In 1897 the justices determined the Trans-Missouri Freight Association was illegally setting rates among fifteen railroad companies. Ditto for the Joint Traffic Association in 1899. That same year, the justices also determined that six companies had come together for the explicit purpose of bid rigging and fixing unreasonably high prices in the Addyston Pipe and Steel case. The justices were united in the Addyston case and remained divided about the railroad associations. Holmes was not on the bench for any of those arguments.
During the Northern Securities conference, Harlan and Holmes took opposite sides. Six other justices were equally split. Brewer alone was34 undecided. He consistently opposed the government’s attempts to have a say in business affairs and legislate that every big merger created a monopoly. But he said he might be willing to agree that this specific merger had violated the law.
Harlan wrote an argument in favor of the government, not knowing whether it would be a majority opinion or a dissent. Brewer was not persuaded. Then the chief justice asked Holmes and White to write opinions and give them to the other judges. He hoped that Holmes would convince Brewer. “Yours will hit35 him between wind and water,” Fuller wrote to the associate justice. It didn’t. Brewer sided with Harlan, but wrote his own opinion.
“If such combination36 be not destroyed, all the advantages that would naturally come to the public under the operation of the general laws of competition, as between the Great Northern and Northern Pacific Railway Companies, will be lost,” Harlan read in the courtroom, “and the entire commerce of the immense territory in the northern part of the United States between the Great Lakes and the Pacific at Puget Sound, will be at the mercy of a single holding corporation, organized in a State distant from the people of that territory.”
He gave voice to a popular sentiment that others on the bench were reluctant to acknowledge. Many people believed they needed to be protected against “the exactions” of monopolies by the “strong arm of the National Government,” he said. “Undoubtedly, there are those who think that the general business interests and prosperity of the country will be best promoted if the rule of competition is not applied. But there are others who believe that such a rule is more necessary in these days of enormous wealth than it ever was.”
The Sherman Act intended to “brush away all obstructions to the freedom of interstate commerce,” he said, which meant that every contract and merger that restrained commerce must be forbidden, and “that must be, for all, the end of the matter if this is to remain a government of laws, and not of men.”
He mentioned the man who didn’t believe in the rule of free competition. Morgan knew what Northern Securities was designed to accomplish and what it had accomplished, Harlan said. And the court ruled that was illegal.
Justice Brewer agreed, but he wanted to refine the court’s stance. He argued that only unreasonable restraint of trade should be prohibited. Northern Securities was unreasonable. Not every merger would be. “I have felt constrained to make these observations,” he wrote, “for fear that the broad and sweeping language of the opinion of the court might tend to unsettle legitimate business enterprises, stifle or retard wholesale business activities, encourage improper disregard of reasonable contract and invite unnecessary litigation.”
Holmes read his dissent, the first time he had done so since he took his seat on the bench. “When his voice,37 refined and clear, rose in the Court Room you could hear a pin drop & his sentences were as incisive as the edge of a knife,” Fuller wrote of Holmes’s performance that day. “Great cases like hard cases make bad law,” Holmes said. “For great cases are called great, not by reason of their real importance in shaping the law of the future, but because of some accident of immediate overwhelming interest which appeals to the feelings and distorts the judgment. These immediate interests exercise a kind of hydraulic pressure which makes what previously was clear seem doubtful, and before which even well settled principles of law will bend.”
Holmes argued that the intent of the merger between the two northwestern railroad lines was undoubted. It was to end competition between them. But the Sherman Act does not apply to Northern Securities, he said, because Hill and Morgan were partners who should be allowed to determine if they had exhausted their ability to compete profitably. Cooperation of this kind was not just inevitable, Holmes believed, but essential to creating efficient and stable businesses: someone had to win in the economy of scale. Not every big company violated the antitrust law by its very existence; only those that contrived to keep out competitors could be punished.
He insisted that Harlan’s interpretation, taken to its logical extreme, would “disintegrate society so far as it could into individual atoms.” Congress doesn’t have the power to write a law so radical. “It would be an attempt to reconstruct society.”
White made a similar argument. The government doesn’t have the “power to limit the quantity and character of property which may be acquired and owned,” he said. Controlling stock wasn’t the same as controlling commerce. If the Court deemed that it was, the government would be endowed “with the arbitrary power to disregard the great guaranty of life, liberty and property and every other safeguard upon which organized civil society depends.” That, he said, would be repugnant.
Case 277 concluded at 2:45 P.M., and the justices left for lunch.
Within thirty minutes of Harlan’s opening words, the decision was on the ticker tape in Morgan’s office. As for Roosevelt, he received word of the victory when the Associated Press reached him by phone. He was elated. Anyone could hear that in the punch of his voice, even as he uncharacteristically declined to comment right then.
Roosevelt was also brimming with relief and ambition. He had shown that he could take on the richest of men and hold them accountable, not to the bottom line or to investors, but to the public. It was the first time the government stood up so squarely for farmers and workers, clerks and shop owners, everyone who felt that the system was rigged. Roosevelt beat back the system—and he did so just eight months before the presidential election.
The only blow38 to Roosevelt that day was one he never anticipated and wouldn’t be able to fully forgive. His friend, Justice Holmes—whom he put on the bench, invited to his home, joked and deliberated with—hadn’t come down on his side. Holmes was the only Republican to join the three Democrats on the Court in dissent. This didn’t seem a sign of principle, or duty, but weakness. “I could carve39 out of a banana a judge with more backbone than that,” Roosevelt later said of his first Supreme Court pick.
Knox drove straight40 to the White House. The president congratulated his attorney general with the full force of his enthusiasm. Even in this moment, though, Knox remained reserved. “The danger of41 uncontrolled personal power in railway management has been averted,” he said. Roosevelt must have wanted to say so much more, but he knew he shouldn’t gloat. So for the rest of the afternoon, he expressed his utter happiness to everyone who walked through the White House in just a few words, slapping their backs and clapping his hands.
The Supreme Court gave Morgan and Hill thirty days to dissolve Northern Securities. If they didn’t obey, criminal prosecution could lead to a fine of five thousand dollars and one year in prison for each. Locking up men as prominent as Morgan and Hill, though, still seemed an extraordinary breach of protocol and expectation, one that Holmes, at least, regarded as absurd and even Roosevelt likely would have resisted.
Morgan puffed42 on his cigar and said nothing as reporters gathered at his office on Wall Street. His losses were evident. Six months of secret negotiations to create the second-largest company in the world: wasted. The prospect of earning tens of millions of dollars from a globe-spanning transportation system: a dream. But above all, he had lost the prerogative to conduct business exactly as he thought best.
“Northern Securities Co.43 decision almost as bad as possible,” Morgan’s son, Jack, in town from London, telegraphed his office. “But it does not destroy value of properties involved. Dissenting opinions very strong and by best men.”
Hill was defiant. Separately, the railroads would still be plenty profitable, he said. “The properties44 of the Northern Securities Company are still there. They are as good as ever.” When a reporter asked about rumors that he would try to operate Northern Securities under a Canadian charter, he became peevish. “We have as much45 notion of incorporating a company in Mars or the moon as in Canada,” he said.
Headlines in papers46 around the country celebrated the Supreme Court decision:
MERGER IS KNOCKED OUT. GETS SOLAR PLEXUS BLOW
MORGAN’S RAILROAD TRUST AN OUTLAW
MERGER DECISION PEOPLE’S TRIUMPH
“People will love him47 for the enemies he has made,” one paper wrote. “It cannot now be said that the Republican Party is owned by the trusts. It cannot now be said that Mr. Roosevelt is controlled by them.”
The Supreme Court “has practically renominated48 President Roosevelt and by this declaration of war against all industrial combines has all but insured his re-election,” a Republican leader in Congress said. “The decision means more49 to the people of our country than any event since the great civil war,” said Minnesota Governor Van Sant, whose early case against Northern Securities had been turned down by the Supreme Court. “The decision speaks50 for itself,” said John Johnson, the Northern Securities lawyer. “The decision marks51 a radical change in public policy toward corporations,” the columnist W. W. Jermane wrote in the Minneapolis Journal. Wall Street would give a good deal to know just what the president plans to do and when, he added.
Wall Street, or at least the men willing to speak for the investor class, said there was no cause for alarm. Alarm could lead to losses, maybe panic. When investors quivered anyway, “protective supporting orders,”52 especially for Northern Securities, came in to hold up the stock market. Everyone knew where the orders came from.
Attorney General Knox, whose critics once called him the “hireling of the plutocrat53 and the instrument of everything that was odious to the common people,” had accomplished what his enemies predicted he would never even attempt. Afterward he helped calm the money men he had helped antagonize. Which trust would be next? The Tobacco Trust, the Coal Trust, the Steel Trust? Knox told journalists it didn’t seem necessary to promise that the government “does not mean54 to run amuck.” But, there, he did.
The government’s case against the Beef Trust—six meatpacking companies that fixed prices in half the country—was on its way to the Supreme Court. “Would not it be55 well to have some statement made as to what has been done about the beef trust, so that people will be advised?” Roosevelt wrote to Knox. “Sometimes things of this kind ought to be hammered in.”
That challenge to the industrial order was the only one the government cared to make for a while. Northern Securities was a sweeping victory won by a narrow margin. When someone at a Gridiron dinner56 joked that the government prevailed by a vote of four and five-eighths, Justices Harlan and Brewer laughed the loudest. But Brewer, whose five-eighths support was crucial, might not swing its way next time. It looked as if during an election year the Justice Department’s half-million-dollar antitrust budget wouldn’t be zeroed out.
Roosevelt, his administration, and his party preferred it that way. They had enough to celebrate. The regular Tuesday cabinet meeting “resolved itself57 into a jollification over the merger decision,” said one paper. “Republicans from all58 directions and in all official stations felicitated the President,” reported another. The Northern Securities verdict confirmed the government’s power to defend the public interests when they conflicted with corporate interests. Voters would know that. To encourage their appreciation of the administration’s efforts on their behalf, Senator Lodge suggested the government printing office make available twelve thousand copies of the entire court proceeding.
In the weeks after the verdict, Justice Harlan got fan mail from people around the country. “Your opinion59 will do more to restore confidence to the whole country than any decision which has been rendered for many years,” wrote one lawyer. Justice Holmes got the cold shoulder. “I have had no60 communication of any kind with [the president] upon the matter,” he wrote to a friend. “If he should take my action with anger I should be disappointed in him and add one more to my list of cynicisms where before was belief. But I have such confidence in his great heartedness that I don’t expect for a moment that after he has had time to cool down it will affect our relations. If however his seeming personal regard for us was based on the idea that he had a tool the sooner it is ended the better—we shall see.”
Roosevelt did invite the Holmeses to the White House that spring and eventually his anger did cool. But so did their relationship. “The merger business61 is a grand mess,” Henry Adams wrote after a dinner with them both. “Holmes should have62 been an ideal man for the bench,” Roosevelt said later. “As a matter of fact he has been a bitter disappointment.”
On March 21, one week after the court ordered Northern Securities to dissolve, Hill informed the attorney general that the company would comply without question or delay. The next day, Hill and his erstwhile rival Harriman were reported leaving Morgan’s office at 23 Wall Street “arm in arm63 and apparently in the best of spirits.” Neither would comment beyond saying that they had come to a perfect understanding of how best to break up.
That was either premature on Hill’s part or deceptive on Harriman’s. In early April, Harriman sued Northern Securities, alleging that Morgan’s plan to divide the company’s stock violated his rights. Northern Securities had been created by an exchange of stock. Those who owned shares of Northern Pacific and those who owned shares in the Great Northern turned them over to Morgan and received shares in Northern Securities instead. Now Morgan wanted to give back to Northern Securities shareholders stock in both the Great Northern and Northern Pacific regardless of which company they had originally invested in.
His proposal would leave Harriman with stakes in both railroads, but without a controlling interest in either. Harriman didn’t think that was fair. His raid on Northern Pacific in 1901 ended when he had enough shares to influence the company. He wanted all of them back.
He didn’t get them. He asked the Justice Department to intervene in the case, but Knox declined. Roosevelt thought he might have to be involved, because of a fluke of timing. The U.S. district court set to hear the argument had lost its judge and Roosevelt had to appoint a new one. He wanted someone “absolutely fair64 and square as between the public on one hand and both the Harriman and Morgan interests on the other, and as between the Harriman and Morgan interests,” he said. “Next in importance to having him this, comes having him such a man that the public will recognize that he is this.”
He wrote that to Root, who was defending Morgan in the case. Roosevelt was so certain of Root’s rectitude that confiding in him didn’t seem like a conflict of interest. In the end, the judge Roosevelt selected didn’t hear the Northern Securities case. The judge who did ruled against Morgan—and Root appealed. That wasn’t a surprise to Roosevelt but he still wished for a speedy end to the company, its charter torn up, its board of directors dismissed, its name spoken only as a warning. He had to wait. It wasn’t until March of 1905 that Root argued the case before the Supreme Court. The judges allowed the company to adopt Morgan’s redistribution plan. Northern Securities dissolved.
Morgan and Hill retained their original stakes in the railroads, which critics said65 still left them with too much power. They could devise a gentlemen’s agreement, and Harriman would happily join them. But without the holding company—the device that protected those shares from rivals or uncooperative investors—they lost total control. Harriman lost interest, sold his66 stock at an opportune moment, and made a profit of fifty-eight million dollars.
The economic benefits of the decision weren’t immediately obvious to most Americans. Rates on the rail lines hadn’t increased—and Morgan and Hill could maintain any efficiencies if they chose to. But in every other way, the implications of the ruling were powerful, restorative, even if only symbolic. “A moral tonic,”67 one official called it. He meant to disparage. Roosevelt considered that praise. “You must have68 a due regard for opportunism in the choice of the time and method in making the attack,” he later said.
In April 1904, just days after Harriman first complained about Morgan’s stock plan, Morgan boarded the Oceanic—once anyone with a camera had been asked to leave the gangplank and he had denied to the remaining journalists that he was relocating to London. He sailed to Europe with his youngest daughter, Anne, and several friends for a two-month vacation.
In May, Roosevelt wrote to Ted: “I am having69 a reasonable amount of work and rather more than a reasonable amount of worry. But after all life is lovely here … I do not think that any two people ever got more enjoyment out of the White House than Mother and I.”
Knox resigned as attorney general in June. Senator Quay from Pennsylvania had died in office and the governor had asked Knox to replace him. Knox, maybe wearying of his client, maybe ready to depart after his victory, didn’t hesitate to accept. But it didn’t look good. Some suggested that the corporate powers who had recommended Knox for the job as attorney general under McKinley had removed him from it. Roosevelt wrote that “stanchest [sic] of props70 had suddenly been taken away from me.” Knox’s imminent departure from the Department of Justice relieved investors. Stock prices rose. Knox reminded Wall Street that “President Roosevelt’s71 antitrust policies are his own.”
On the first day of summer, 1904, nearly a thousand delegates and their alternates—four women among them—arrived in Chicago for the Republican national convention. They set aside private antagonisms, professional jealousies, differences in temperament, tempo, and policy, to come together to nominate a candidate for president. They shared one reluctant conviction: the party needed Roosevelt more than he needed the party.
Roosevelt remained at the White House during the convention as presidents were supposed to. Idle moments usually frustrated him, but now he enjoyed the brief interlude between the angling and needling of the past few months and the fight to come. His was a mind at peace. The letters1 he wrote that Tuesday, June 21 sighed with appreciation:
Dear Ted: Mother and I had a most lovely ride the other day, way up beyond Sligo Creek to what is called North-west Branch, at Burnt Mills, where is a beautiful gorge, deep and narrow, with great boulders and even cliffs.
Dearest Ethel: The garden here is lovely. A pair of warbling vireos have built in a linden and sing all the time. The lindens, by the way, are in bloom, and Massachusetts Avenue is fragrant with them.
Dear Kermit: It is a wonderful privilege to have been here and to have been given the chance to do this work, and I should regard myself as having a small and mean mind if in the event of defeat I felt soured at not having had more instead of being thankful for having had so much.
Roosevelt had tipped the scales back toward ordinary Americans, and many were devoted to him. He was an insurgent within his own party, but the people supported him so the party endorsed him. He reached over the heads of politicians to promise a square deal for all. Roosevelt’s approach toward big business—selective prosecutions, unexpected interventions, jabs and nudges and sidesteps—unnerved the magnates. But they discovered2 he was practical. He wouldn’t endanger the country’s prosperity. He was an insurable risk. He was so popular they couldn’t find anyone who could defeat him.
Theodore and Edith surrounded by their family, from left to right: Quentin, Theodore Jr., Archie, Alice, Kermit, and Ethel, 1903
“Dear Kermit: Tomorrow the National Convention meets, and barring a cataclysm I shall be nominated. They don’t dare to oppose me for the nomination and I suppose it is hardly likely the attempt will be made to stampede the Convention for any one.”
Roosevelt was right, and since he was right and everyone knew he was right, he demanded loyalty and unity among the delegates. He swarmed the convention with friends to keep everyone in line. He vetted speeches. He dictated the party platform: “In the enforcement3 of the laws [Roosevelt] has shown not only courage, but the wisdom which understands that to permit laws to be violated or disregarded opens the door to anarchy, while the just enforcement of the law is the soundest conservatism.” All those delegates and politicians, so many lawyers among them, together for three days with nothing to argue over. The convention was a rubber stamp. “Certainty produces no4 excitement,” New York senator Chauncey Depew said. “It is difficult5 to excite a man who has a good dinner, and who doesn’t need to feel any worry about breakfast,” the New York Times said. Let’s have some music, New York’s lieutenant governor said. He paid6 a band to play at the state’s convention headquarters, hoping “to throw something like ginger into affairs.”
Twenty-dollar entrance tickets—featuring an in memoriam image of McKinley—sold for five dollars, and still the auditorium was about one-third empty on Tuesday morning when Root opened the convention. His voice didn’t carry far, but that wasn’t the problem it might have been. He reviewed the administration’s achievements, starting with the ones he had the least to do with, money and trusts. The Department of Justice is protecting “men of small capital7 … against the crushing effect of unlawful combinations,” he said, while reminding men of large capital that “no investment in lawful business has been jeopardized, no fair and honest enterprise has been injured.” He hoped Americans would not want this new responsibility “transferred to unknown and perchance to feeble hands.”
An immense oil painting of Mark Hanna hung above the platform: a tribute, a rebuke, a sign of defiance. An American flag covered Roosevelt’s portrait, set on an easel on the stage. A sergeant at arms was supposed to unveil it at a suitably dramatic pause in Root’s speech, but he missed his8 cue. The moment might have been diminished anyway. Roosevelt’s portrait was estimated by reporters to be one-sixth the size of Hanna’s. The senator’s friends seemed to have commandeered the decorations committee.
Hanna’s image looms over the 1904 Republican National Convention
“Our president has taken the whole people into his confidence,” Root said in conclusion. “All except the9 members of the National Committee,” a member of the National Committee said quietly.
There were other asides, small gestures of resistance. At a dinner one delegate made a toast: “Here’s to Roosevelt,10 the insistent candidate, whom nobody wants.” The New Yorkers at the table set down their glasses and refused to drink.
At the end of the first day some delegates11 proposed adjourning after the second day. Party leaders insisted they remain for the third. Then officials from the St. Louis World’s Fair announced that three special trains would bring delegates and visitors there Thursday evening. They’d get free rail tickets and free admission to the Expo, where they could see one hundred forty models of automobiles and an “airship” contest and get their first taste of a new drink called Dr. Pepper. It was incentive enough; the delegates stayed.
By eleven in the morning on Thursday, June 23, the Coliseum in Chicago was filled. The National Committee12 sold every available seat, more than an acre of them, making some fourteen thousand dollars, and doormen let people in to stand. Some ten thousand people waited. Bright sun beamed through the skylit arched ceiling.
Frank Black,13 the one-term governor of New York cast aside for Roosevelt in 1898, walked onto the stage. Black distrusted Roosevelt and thought he cared more about popularity than justice, but as head of the New York delegation he couldn’t refuse to nominate him. He did so with the choice words of a man whose ire had been provoked long ago. Black spoke first of the parties themselves. “Both believe in the equality of all men,” he said. “The difference is that the Democratic Party would make every man as low as the poorest, while the Republican Party would make every man as high as the best.” He insisted that the Democrats were disorganized and divided and admonished Republicans to “never interrupt the enemy while he is making a mistake.”
Of the candidate himself, Black said: “He is not conservative, if conservative means waiting till it is too late. He is not wise, if wisdom is to count a thing a hundred times when once will do.” William Allen White, Kansan, newspaper editor, friend of Roosevelt, said the speech was full of “rhetorical icicles.”
When Black finally, officially, nominated Roosevelt as the Republican presidential candidate, the crowd applauded and cheered for some twenty minutes. That was about as long as Black spoke. They kept at it, almost mindlessly, celebrating themselves as much as, and maybe more than, their leader.
Next, Joseph Cannon, speaker of the House of Representatives and chairman of the convention, carried onto the stage a torn flag from Lincoln’s time. More cheering. Cannon held up the hand of George Knight, a California lawyer and super delegate who said in a booming voice that Roosevelt “hypnotizes obstacles,14 looks them in the eye and overpowers with self-conscious honesty of purpose.” Cannon held up the hand of William Bradley, the former governor of Kentucky, who said: “They tell us15 that he cannot be trusted, but the people know that one who does a right thing at the right time and in the right way is entitled to vast, implicit confidence.” Cannon did not16 hold up the hand of Harry Cummings, the first African American councilman of Baltimore, which did not go unnoticed in the hall. Cummings said of Roosevelt: “With a vision17 unclouded by bias or prejudice he sees through the outer clay, clad in different hues, the man within.”
Roosevelt’s control of the convention was unchallenged: “All in favor of the nomination will say aye!”
When it came time to vote, every single delegate, nine hundred ninety-four in all, supported Roosevelt.
At the White House18 he received dispatches every ten minutes or so from a phone set up in the basement of the Coliseum. On that Thursday afternoon he was chatting with Alice, Edith, and her sister Emily on the South Portico after lunch. The view of the Potomac River was calming, and Roosevelt seemed relaxed.
When his secretary brought him the final ballot count, Roosevelt rose to his feet, grinning and self-possessed. He knew this moment was coming. He had probably known since Hanna’s death in February, maybe before, that he would prevail over his party. But now his success was real, and it could be measured.
Edith and Alice kissed him on the cheek, the younger children moved in closer, and then he was in motion. His other important constituency, the press corps, was waiting in his office.
He passed around a box of cigars. “Don’t tell Carrie Nation,” he joked. He tilted back in a big armchair at his desk, laughed at a cartoon of himself, and gossiped with the correspondents “not as President of the United States, not as the standard bearer of a great political party, but as Theodore Roosevelt, the man and friend,” a New York Times reporter wrote. But that was all. The correspondents swore to keep their “executive sessions” with Roosevelt to themselves.
Roosevelt got everything he wanted, except his vice president. He preferred Robert Hitt, an agreeable, seventy-year-old congressman from Illinois with foreign policy expertise. The nomination went instead to Indiana senator Charles Fairbanks, fifty-two years old, an insider during the McKinley administration. He was stern-looking, with a comb-over and a thick, droopy mustache. He didn’t mix with the delegates, who called him “the human iceberg.”19 His main qualification seemed to be that he had the confidence of the New York tycoons, especially Harriman, who was an important fundraiser. Fairbanks had friendly relations with the railroads. And he had a fortune from his legal practice that he could contribute to the campaign. He was at odds with Roosevelt in most matters.
They did have one thing in common. Fairbanks didn’t campaign for the nomination. He didn’t even seem to want it, but said he would accept the will of the convention. He sounded a lot like Roosevelt in 1900. When Roosevelt sent a telegram of congratulations, Fairbanks responded with barely disguised resignation: “To be named20 by the convention as your associate in the great campaign that is before us is a distinction which I greatly appreciate.” Roosevelt understood. He wrote back later in the day to acknowledge the vice presidential trap: “No man should21 take it who is not fit to be President, and it is not always easy to induce those who are fit to accept it.”
That Thursday evening in Chicago, delegates from Fairbanks’s home state rented a baby elephant from a local circus, hoping he would parade with it down Congress Street. Fairbanks wouldn’t get near the animal. “That wouldn’t be22 dignified,” he said. Around him, the bars filled23 with delegates drinking down the highball reserves before heading to the St. Louis fair—the ineluctable end of the thirteenth National Republic Convention.
Secretary of State Hay wrote in his diary on Friday: “The President was not24 specially elated—it was too clear a walk-over.”
Roosevelt’s Democratic opponent was Judge Alton Parker25 of New York. He was reserved on the bench, formal and uncharismatic in person, rooted in Gilded Age customs. Those in his home state knew him to be friendly to business and irritated by the press. Those outside New York barely knew him. Aside from a shared habit of exercise, Parker was the president’s opposite in almost every way.
Parker, who was fifty-two, had managed Democratic campaigns, turned down an offer from Grover Cleveland to be assistant postmaster general in Washington, returned to the law, and in 1897 was voted in as chief judge on the New York Court of Appeals. He was the first Democrat to prevail in any election in New York in six years. That got the party’s attention.
It got Roosevelt’s attention too. “The judge at once26 loomed up as a Presidential possibility, and was carefully groomed for the position by the New York Democratic machine, and its financial allies in the New York business world,” he wrote. Roosevelt became friendly with the judge when he served as governor in 1899. It was Parker who told Edith27 her husband would certainly be nominated for the vice presidency, and it was Parker who gave Roosevelt advice on studying the law once he assumed the office. Parker even promised that when Roosevelt was ready, he would arrange for the vice president to take the bar exam privately.
Hanna heard about the judge during his many trips to New York. After his last one,28 in December 1903, he told a friend that Parker would be the Democrat’s choice. The judge’s main appeal: he was unobjectionable.
That was important because as Black emphasized in his speech in Chicago, the Democrats were divided and disorganized. Conservatives in the party planned to wrest it from the control of William Jennings Bryan, their candidate in the past two elections. Populist, prairie-inspired Bryan—the galvanizing speaker, the ardent believer in ending the gold standard—pushed the party into the twentieth century. The old establishment wanted to push it back.
Their first choice had been Cleveland, the only Democrat elected president, twice, in the thirty-nine years after the Civil War. He was pro-business and pro-gold, fiscally conservative, generally cautious. Morgan, who bailed29 out the Treasury during Cleveland’s second term, would back him again. Cleveland might be the one Democrat who could beat Roosevelt. Even Roosevelt considered him a singularly qualified opponent.
In January 1904, Cleveland’s daughter, Ruth, died at age twelve from diphtheria. Cleveland had just returned to public life in February when H.H. Rogers, an executive at Standard Oil, ran into him at a funeral. “I never saw him30 look better,” Rogers wrote to a friend. “He has lost a lot of flesh; his complexion was clear; his eyes as bright as possible. It is astonishing the hold he has on the American people.” Maybe he would consider running again.
Definitely not. Cleveland announced31 he would not seek the nomination; and he would not accept it if offered. “Don’t mention me” at the convention, he told delegates.
That left an opening for William Randolph Hearst, the forty-one-year-old New York publisher famous for his sensationalism, his wealth, and his marriage to a showgirl after affairs with other showgirls. He hoped to succeed Bryan as the “radical” choice. He was antitrust, even though he was building a newspaper trust of his own. He spent much of his first term in Congress thinking about a presidential campaign. Few among the party’s leaders supported his self-proclaimed candidacy. Bryan didn’t like him and never endorsed him.
Bryan didn’t support Parker either. “Where does he32 stand on the trust question? Does anybody know?” Bryan asked a crowd at Cooper Union in June. The Democratic Party platform suggested that the majority opinion in the Northern Securities case was wrong, he said. If Parker got to make even one appointment to the Supreme Court, he could “change that decision and throw a bulwark about every private monopoly that would require years and years for you to get about or get over.”
That didn’t matter. Parker won the nomination on the first ballot, 679 votes to Hearst’s 181. Parker didn’t excite the delegates gathered in St. Louis in early July—he wasn’t even there—but he unified them, which brought its own satisfaction. Parker’s running mate was Henry Gassaway Davis,33 an eighty-one-year-old former senator from West Virginia who didn’t look older than sixty and whose primary qualification was the fortune he had built from his political connections. Party leaders counted on his pliancy and campaign contributions.
As the delegates gathered for the closing session, their new candidate surprised them. The Democrats had tried to ignore the contentious issue of the nation’s currency: that is, should the party support adding a silver standard, as Bryan wanted, or stick with the gold standard, as Wall Street insisted. “I regard34 the gold standard as firmly and irrevocably established,” Parker wired the chairman. “As the platform is silent on the subject, my views should be made known to the Convention, and if it is proved unsatisfactory to the majority, I request you to decline the nomination for me at once.”
His views were made known and proved compatible with the majority, which hadn’t included Bryan. They wouldn’t change the platform—that would only alienate Bryan’s Western and Southern supporters—but they wouldn’t change their nominee, either. Parker’s stance finally gave the delegates, and the press, cause for enthusiasm. He showed some nerve in just the way the eastern money men admired. He transformed himself “from a nobody35 into a somebody,” Lodge wrote to Roosevelt. “He has become36 a very formidable candidate and opponent,” Roosevelt replied. “For instead of being a colorless man of no convictions he now stands forth to the average man—and this at an astonishingly small cost—as one having convictions compared to which he treats self-interest as of no account.”
Conservatives called37 Parker a courageous and principled leader. Democrats left St. Louis July 10 to begin the campaign against Roosevelt “not in gloom38 and fear, but in hope and confidence,” Cleveland said.
Their optimism lasted exactly one month. On August 10, Parker welcomed hundreds of people to his farm in the small Hudson Valley town of Esopus to hear his acceptance speech39 on his lawn in the pouring rain. Local guests arrived by road sodden and muddy. The Democratic Committee came by boat along the Hudson River, scrambled up a steep hill, crossed a grassy slope, and arrived at Rosemount “breathless, wet to the knees and weary with unfamiliar exercise.” Parker pulled out typewritten pages but didn’t refer to them during most of the next hour, leaving listeners to marvel at how long he spoke and how little he said. What he did say about big business appealed more to potential donors than to voters: Roosevelt had gone too far in attacking the trusts. Let the states find remedies for the problem. Parker unintentionally delivered his biggest applause line at the end, when he promised not to seek a second term as president.
It was a nineteenth century address by an uninspiring orator who had been out of politics for almost two decades. Even his campaign manager thought he’d be out of politics again by the end of the year. Once excitable editors could only suggest that Parker would be a safe, rather than a strenuous, president. Hopes were dampened, chilled, clouded, dulled: reporters couldn’t resist rainy-day adjectives. One gold telegram made Parker a somebody. One unremarkable speech turned him back into a nobody.
Parker did have two notable financial backers.40 James Hill and the coal baron George Baer—Roosevelt’s bruised adversaries—contributed to a campaign that few others wanted to be part of. Hill recognized the challenge of selling his candidate to the public. “If Parker should be41 elected, there should be little danger of any bad legislation or extravagant administration,” he wrote. “The country probably would be better off and the question arises: will the voters realize this?”
Party leaders stumped for Parker, half-heartedly. Parker himself stayed home, as McKinley had, hoping voters would come to him. But Esopus wasn’t Canton and Parker wasn’t McKinley. Few people visited. By autumn, the presidential candidate seemed to be fading from public view. When he went to his campaign headquarters in New York City, some workers didn’t even recognize him.
There was but one issue at stake in the election: Roosevelt himself.
As president, he was supposed to remain quiet while others—often Root and Knox, sometimes Taft and Hay—defended his administration and touted his accomplishments. He did what decorum would allow. He suggested venues, reviewed speeches, and debriefed his proxies afterward. Knox should42 speak to serious audiences in small arenas. Fairbanks could appeal to the Methodists. Taft should go to Maine—and go on the offensive. “Attack Parker,” Roosevelt instructed. “Show that his proposals are insincere.”
Roosevelt gave control of the daily operation of his campaign to Cortelyou, his handpicked replacement for Hanna as chairman of the Republican National Committee. At the White House, Cortelyou rationalized operations, instituted protocols for visitors, set up the press room. He started up Roosevelt’s Department of Commerce and Labor. He was dependable, cultivated, enterprising. He would also become controversial.
As campaign manager,43 he worked in an office in the Metropolitan Life Building on Madison Avenue, a location that suggested comfort with the corporate world. Cortelyou—slicked-back hair, sharp nose, round glasses—projected a new cool efficiency.
He had to. He had a demanding client who didn’t have enough to occupy him that summer. “I wonder44 whether President McKinley bothered Hanna as I am bothering you!” President Roosevelt wrote him.
He suggested45 Cortelyou hire someone to handle the journalists who came into the headquarters with questions. Roosevelt worked the press too. When the New York Times reported that Hill had promised to contribute some four hundred thousand dollars to the national Democratic Party, Roosevelt ordered46 the campaign to circulate the story widely. Roosevelt also tried to link the Democratic Party to Standard Oil—still among the most reviled corporations in the country—after the Wall Street Journal suggested its executives might back Parker.
George Cortelyou, Roosevelt’s personal secretary, first head of the Commerce and Labor Department, and chairman of the Republican National Committee
The president flattered and chastised newspaper and magazine editors about their coverage and took them into his confidence about issues he chose to ignore during the campaign. The suppression of black voters in the mostly Democratic controlled South “by force,47 by fraud, by every species of iniquity,” made him indignant, he wrote to Lyman Abbott, the editor of the Outlook. The Republican Party platform48 favored reduced representation in Congress for any state that unconstitutionally limited voting rights. Roosevelt didn’t amplify that in the one public speech he gave, to accept the nomination, in late July: “Our policy is to do fair and equal justice to all men, paying no heed to whether a man is rich or poor; paying no heed to his race, his creed, or his birthplace.” He wouldn’t go further than that. He believed he had “nothing to gain and everything to lose by any agitation of the race question” in a campaign season. He didn’t say anything about discrimination against immigrants, either.
He didn’t involve49 himself in a brutal crackdown on striking miners in Cripple Creek, Colorado. At the companies’ insistence and with their financial help, the governor called in the state militia. Troops beat the strikers, deported them from Colorado, and harassed their supporters. Union leaders asked the president to intervene. In August, Roosevelt asked his labor secretary to investigate and left matters there. But the fiasco carved a fissure in the foundation of union strength.
Mostly that summer Roosevelt brooded. “I wish I were50 where I could fight more offensively,” he told Lodge. “I always like to do my fighting in the adversary’s corner.” Conservatives attacked him for inviting John Mitchell to a meal at the White House and becoming an honorary member of the Brotherhood of Locomotive Firemen. Populists attacked him for meeting with railroad executives. “While I am51 in the White House its doors will swing open as easily to wageworkers as to capitalists, and no more easily,” he wrote to the House Speaker.
Roosevelt worried that his Wall Street support, tepid as it was, could still be held against him. He worried, too,52 that his Wall Street support wasn’t strong enough to ensure that he carried his home state and that a Republican won the governor’s race.
Hill was doing his best to ensure the Democrats took New York. He suggested he would donate one hundred thousand dollars to the state election campaign if Daniel Lamont—the vice president of the Northern Pacific railroad and Grover Cleveland’s secretary of war—received the nomination for governor. The New York Times endorsed Lamont, while the Brooklyn Daily Eagle reported he didn’t want to be a candidate. The Democratic Party agreed he shouldn’t be, and Lamont didn’t try to persuade them otherwise.
Roosevelt begged Root53 to run for the seat, but Root turned him down. He was representing Northern Securities in its fight against Harriman over how to break up the company. He couldn’t return to public office before he argued the case at the Supreme Court. The Republicans would have to find someone else. “The thing to do54 is to strain every nerve to bring the result aright,” Roosevelt said.
The prospect of Northern Securities lingering on as Morgan and Harriman tussled in the courts frustrated Roosevelt. Then another complication emerged. Root suggested that Northern Securities might not comply with the Supreme Court’s order to stop paying dividends to its shareholders. He said among those hurt would be several hundred women and a half dozen colleges—Dartmouth alone owned shares worth half a million dollars. The Justice Department would have to consider contempt charges if Northern Securities disobeyed the order, but the new attorney general, William Moody, seemed hesitant.
Roosevelt lashed out, not at Moody or Root, but at the nearest man, Cortelyou. “To give any color55 for misrepresentation to the effect that we were now weakening in the Northern Securities matter would be ruinous,” he wrote in mid-August. “I look back upon it with great pride, for through it we emphasized in signal fashion, as in no other way could be emphasized, the fact that the most powerful men in this country were held to accountability to the law. Now we must not spoil the effect of this lesson.”
Cortelyou defended himself. “I think I have56 a fair degree of moral fiber, certainly enough to measure up to the requirements of this Northern Securities case,” he replied. “There was no weakening, no letdown, no desire or attempt to do a thing out of harmony with your position.” Roosevelt liked that spirited rebuttal, he told Cortelyou, and he backed down.
Root backed down, as well, after Moody told him the government would object to any attempt by Northern Securities to distribute dividends. Roosevelt bore no grudge against Root—new job, new responsibilities. “He was in honor57 bound to do all he could for his clients,” Roosevelt wrote to Moody. He was still irritated, though. “It is the Hills and the Morgans who perpetrate the wrong,” he said. “It is … the small folks … who pay most heavily when the wrong has been righted.”
Morgan summered on Corsair, cruising from the Long Island Sound to Bar Harbor. Alice Roosevelt, twenty years old and more or less on her own, summered with the wealthy on Long Island’s North Shore and in Newport. That set weren’t Morgan’s crowd, but they too “regarded Father58 with suspicion and dislike,” she wrote. “Trust busting was not exactly a war cry to rally their support.” Still they issued invitations, still she accepted. She saw their skepticism up close and it worried her too, right up until Election Day. “I was holding my thumbs,” she said.
By fall, back at work, the Eastern financiers assessed Parker’s dismal August and seemed to accept the inevitability of his defeat. Money doesn’t like to back a loser. The Republican Party was still conservative, even if the president wasn’t, and that now seemed better than the alternative. As even the New York Sun had to admit in its pithy endorsement: “Theodore!59 with all thy faults—”
Cornelius Bliss, the Republican National Committee’s longtime treasurer, began soliciting contributions from Roosevelt’s new supporters. Bankers, industrialists, and dealmakers all welcomed the prominent New York merchant to their offices. He knew what they wanted from Washington, what they feared from Roosevelt, since he himself shared many of their views. “I think he always60 felt that I was too radical a man and did not entirely approve, and sometimes very much disapproved of the things that I advocated,” Roosevelt later said. Morgan, on the other hand, could say that his “relations with Mr. Bliss61 were of a very intimate character.” Bliss had worked with Morgan’s father. “Consequently, when they wanted anything they always sent Mr. Bliss to me.” In September, despite his personal dislike of Roosevelt and resentment at the president’s hostile stance, Morgan gave Bliss one hundred thousand dollars, in cash. Andrew Carnegie, retired from his steel company and among the richest men in the world thanks to Morgan, contributed ten thousand to the campaign. Carnegie’s former executive, Henry Frick, put in fifty thousand. George Perkins, the conduit between Roosevelt and Morgan, kicked in. So did the oil executive H. H. Rodgers.
None announced their donations, and the campaign had no legal obligation to report them. But word got out, and suspicions were raised. Big money must be supporting Roosevelt because his collectors promised favors or threatened retaliation. Cortelyou got the worst of it. As the head of the Commerce and Labor Department, he had access to companies’ private financial information and power to investigate wrongdoing. Now he was accused of blackmailing the trusts.
Joseph Pulitzer, the reform-minded, Democrat-leaning publisher of the New York World, wrote his third open letter criticizing the Republican campaign. He printed ten questions on two pages of the Saturday, October 1, edition, expected to be read by hundreds of thousands of people, accusing Cortelyou of promising protection to corporate contributors.
1. How much has the beef trust contributed to Mr. Cortelyou?
How much have the paper, coal, sugar, oil, tobacco, steel and insurance trusts contributed? How about the national banks?
10. How much have the six great railroads contributed to Mr. Cortelyou?
A New York Times editorial62 published that same Saturday claimed that thanks to Cortelyou, the men of the trusts believe “they are buying, not the Presidency, but the President.” The editors called his appointment as chairman of the national committee a “national disgrace” and asked, “Why does Theodore Roosevelt, honest, upright, incorruptible man that he is, allow his stainless reputation to be thus compromised?”
Parker kept silent on the subject at first. He had Hill and Baer on his side. He had August Belmont, too, the New York banker who was financing the construction of the city’s subway system. He contributed as much as a quarter of a million63 dollars to Parker’s campaign.
Roosevelt assumed his opponent’s people were behind the attacks on his campaign manager. “Cannot our papers64 and our orators hit back as savagely as possible?” he wrote to Cortelyou. “If it is deemed advisable I am perfectly willing when the time comes to appear in the campaign myself … I should like to get at Brother Parker and his associates.”
Cortelyou promised that the next Roosevelt administration would be “unhampered by65 a single promise of any kind.” That wasn’t nearly savage enough for Roosevelt. But he kept silent in public, at first.
Corporate contributions to the Republican National Committee had slowed by the end of September. Roosevelt’s triumph over Parker seemed assured. The president didn’t take that for granted, and he still worried about Republican prospects in New York. The candidate for New York governor, Frank Higgins, didn’t arouse much enthusiasm and withered under criticism that he was a product of the political machine. “I earnestly hope66 that Higgins takes the aggressive,” Roosevelt said. The state party was having financial trouble, too. It expected to receive two hundred thousand dollars from the national committee, and apparently the national committee didn’t have the cash.
“In view of67 the trouble over the State ticket in New York I should very much like to have a few words with you,” Roosevelt wrote to Harriman on October 10. When he didn’t hear back right away, he considered the optics—Harriman was a railroad tycoon guilty of antitrust violations, an important New York fundraiser, a sometime friend and irregular correspondent. “You and I are practical men,”68 he wrote in a second letter to reframe the request. “If you think there is nothing special I should be informed about, or no matter in which I could give aid, why of course give up the visit for the time being.”
They met on October 20. Afterward, Harriman told friends that the national campaign was short of funds promised to New York. “They are in69 a hole,” Harriman said, “and the President wants me to help them out.”
With assistance from Bliss, Harriman raised a quarter of a million dollars in days. He contributed fifty thousand himself. Bliss gave five thousand. Perkins offered another thirty thousand. Frick agreed to donate another fifty thousand. So did Morgan. He wasn’t surprised that the Republicans weren’t satisfied with his original hundred-thousand-dollar contribution. “Gratitude has been70 rather scarce in my experience,” he said.
Roosevelt later insisted71 he never knew Morgan contributed to the campaign. But in late October he found out that Bliss had persuaded John Archbold, the top executive at Standard Oil, to donate one hundred thousand dollars. “We do not want72 to make this contribution unless it is thoroughly acceptable and will be thoroughly appreciated by Mr. Roosevelt,” Archbold told the treasurer. Bliss apparently smiled and said the company “need have no possible apprehension on that score.” It was a vague statement open to interpretation but good enough for Archbold. He gave Bliss the money, in thousand-dollar bills.
Roosevelt was furious. He accepted corporate donations, however large, as long as they didn’t seem to compromise him. But taking money from Standard Oil could. Once Ida Tarbell had revealed its economic and political power, people expected legal scrutiny to follow. It would begin with Cortelyou’s Department of Commerce and Labor. “We cannot73 under any circumstances afford to take a contribution which can be even improperly construed as putting us under an improper obligation,” Roosevelt wrote to Cortelyou on October 26. “They shall not suffer in any way because we refused it, just as they would not have gained in any way if we had accepted it. But I am not willing that it should be accepted, and must ask that you tell Mr. Bliss to return it.”
On October 27, Roosevelt telegraphed Cortelyou: “Greatly desire that before leaving for Washington request contained in my letter of yesterday be complied with.” He wrote Cortelyou a letter that same day: “I greatly wish to see you in person. Please come on at the earliest opportunity; but have the contribution returned immediately.” In a memo, he said journalists told him Archbold and Standard Oil preferred Parker and only contributed to Roosevelt because they feared retaliation. On the twenty-ninth he wired Cortelyou again: “Has my request been complied with? I desire that there be no delay.”
The money was never repaid. The campaign had already spent it and didn’t have the funds to spare. Roosevelt said he didn’t know that, but apparently he did.74 The letters, the telegram, the memo—they were a way to revise the historical record. Alice called them his “posterity letters.”75
Cortelyou did return76 one corporate donation, one hundred thousand dollars given by the Tobacco Trust—which the government was about to prosecute.
The country’s business elite gave and raised about 70 percent77 of the Republican campaign funds. In total, the party collected almost $2.3 million dollars, less than what it had in 1900 and in 1896 but more than its rivals. The Democrats had barely a million dollars to work with, and the party ended the campaign in debt.
Roosevelt was pragmatic and conflicted about political money. He both sought it and resented it. “Corporation cunning78 has developed faster than the laws of nation and state,” Roosevelt told a reporter. “Sooner or later, unless there is readjustment, there will come a riotous, wicked, murderous day of atonement … These fools in Wall Street think they can go on forever! They can’t!”
Autumn in the capital brought small joys. The foliage in Rock Creek Park was “a perpetual delight,”79 Roosevelt told Kermit. A dinner with a dignitary from France was a pleasure. “The President talked80 with great energy and perfect ease the most curious French I ever listened to,” Hay noted in his diary. “It was absolutely lawless as to grammar and occasionally bankrupt in substantives; but he had not the least difficulty in making himself understood.”
Then, on Saturday, October 22, another accident. Roosevelt’s horse put a foot through a rotten plank on a bridge. The horse somersaulted; the president landed on his head, skinned his forehead, wrenched his neck and shoulders. Hay saw Roosevelt the next day, “badly bunged81 about the head and face,” he wrote. “The President will82 of course outlive me, but he will not live to be old.”
Daniel Lamont—Northern Pacific executive, briefly considered a candidate for governor, born in the same town as Parker—visited his friend in mid-October. He told Parker he would lose.
“Well, old fellow,”83 he declared, “they have got you licked, but I want you to go on and keep a stiff upper lip and make your fight, and I do not want it to break your heart.”
“What do you mean by that?” Parker asked.
“It is all underwritten, and there is no show for you.”
“I am not going to break my heart,” Parker said.
Lamont told him that the trust magnates backed Roosevelt’s campaign, with Roosevelt’s knowledge, maybe even at his urging.
The Democratic National Committee told Parker that he could still win. The next day they said so publicly. They called Cortelyou’s fundraising “either indecent or immoral.”84 No one dared accuse the president directly. Not yet.
Parker came down85 from Esopus for the final week of the campaign. He brought a typewriter, throat spray, and drafts of six speeches. He didn’t go far. He went on a stumping tour of New York, New Jersey, and Connecticut. At Madison Square Garden, he said the Republicans’ fundraising was “nothing short of scandalous.” At Cooper Union, he insisted that the Department of Commerce gave Roosevelt extraordinary powers and required extraordinary faith that he wouldn’t abuse them.
Parker pushed, and Roosevelt wanted to push back. “I should feel86 an intolerable humiliation if I were beaten because infamous charges had been made against me and good people regarded my silence as acquiescence in them,” he wrote to Cortelyou. “I think it would be in keeping with my character to end the campaign with one slashing statement.”
He did. “The statements made87 by Mr. Parker are unqualifiedly and atrociously false,” Roosevelt said. How could the administration that prosecuted Northern Securities and settled the anthracite coal strike behave as corruptly as Parker accused? It was unfathomable. “I shall see to it that every man has a square deal, no less and no more,” he promised.
Fifty or so88 correspondents gathered in the office of Roosevelt’s private secretary. Parker was making his last appearance, in Brooklyn, and everyone expected he would provide evidence of his charges against Cortelyou. A special wire carried the speech directly to the White House. When everyone in the room read the last sheet they agreed that Parker no longer had a chance. He had presented no evidence.
“Did you ever89 see such a flat fall-down as Parker’s effort to answer my statement?” Roosevelt wrote to Knox. Gleeful probably isn’t a strong enough word to describe how Roosevelt felt.
Roosevelt left90 Washington on a private midnight train to cast his ballot on November 8 in Oyster Bay. At Jersey City he took a tugboat across New York harbor to Long Island City, and from there resumed the trip by rail. Roosevelt chatted, read, and finally, briefly, relaxed. Edith and Alice remained at the White House; women could vote for president only in Colorado, Idaho, Utah, and Wyoming.
Roosevelt arrived to a waiting crowd, shook as many hands as he could, and eventually walked into Fisher’s Hall, above a Chinese laundry on Main Street. There he received ballot No. 164.
Parker drove91 his buckboard from Esopus to Kingston by a back road and voted an hour later. Then, as he usually did on Election Day, he went to the dentist.
Roosevelt was back at the White House by six thirty. William Loeb set up a telephone in the Red Room to keep track of the returns. Edith invited members of the cabinet, their wives, and a few close friends for “a little feast92 which can be turned into a festival of rejoicing or into a wake as circumstances warrant.” She still liked to tease her husband.
By the time Roosevelt and company sat down to dinner at half past seven, his election was assured. Shortly after came more good news. The searchlight at the top of the Times Building flashed a steady white light93 to the west, and another to the north. It was a signal: Frank Higgins had won the New York governor’s race, and Roosevelt had won his home state. Roosevelt strode up and down the room, arms waving, eyes glinting, energy surging: “How they are94 voting for me! How they are voting for me!”
Roosevelt claimed 56 percent of the popular vote, more than any other candidate ever had. He won 7.6 million votes to Parker’s 5.1 million and 336 votes of 476 in the Electoral College. The Democrats won95 the Southern states as well as Maryland and Texas. The Republicans won96 everywhere else. The so-called radical Democrats voted for Eugene Debs, representing the Socialist Party, or for Roosevelt, or they didn’t vote at all. “Have swept the97 country by majorities which astound me,” Roosevelt cabled Lodge.
He took Edith aside and said, “I am no98 longer a political accident.”
When Hay arrived at the White House a little after nine, the Red Room was full of people, Roosevelt in the midst of them with his hands full of telegrams. Parker had sent his moments earlier: “The people99 by their votes have emphatically approved your administration and I congratulate you.” Roosevelt turned to Hay and said, “I am glad100 to be President in my own right.”
The president received101 more than eight thousand notes and telegrams of congratulations. If Morgan sent one, Roosevelt didn’t keep it.
Morgan’s secretary102 noted in his appointment book that November 8 was Election Day. But he wasn’t scheduled to attend any election night parties. The only entry is a late-afternoon meeting with two friends, Katherine Godkin, the widow of The Nation’s founder, and James Bryce, a British politician who later served as ambassador to America. Morgan was also103 negotiating to buy a Cincinnati rail line for the Erie Railroad—a deal in which he later admitted he was “badly bitten”—and a residence on Madison Avenue for Jack and his wife, Jessie—a deal worth more than one million dollars that he was entirely happy with. Maybe he was hoping to be knighted by the Italian government after returning one of his acquisitions, an embroidered ceremonial robe from the thirteenth century, preserved in the Ascoli Cathedral until it was stolen in 1902. He wouldn’t be. But to show its gratitude, the city of Ascoli commissioned a marble bust of Morgan for its palace and named an avenue after him.
Roosevelt called104 reporters into the Executive Office late on election night. They gathered in a semicircle around him, expecting relieved banter, maybe a boast or a suggestion of what was to come. Instead, he made a promise that was perplexing and unnecessary, and that he would almost immediately come to regret. “I am deeply sensible of the honor done me by the American people in thus expressing their confidence in what I have done and have tried to do,” Roosevelt began. When he took the oath of office on March 4, 1905, he would consider it the beginning of his second full term as president. He wouldn’t run for a third. He could have. But he was riled over the insinuations and sometimes public insults about his tight grip on power, the command he had over the Republican Party. So he stated in the most definite terms that he would relinquish his hold: “Under no circumstances will I be a candidate for or accept another nomination.”
When Edith heard,105 she flinched. Later she told a friend she would have done everything she could to dissuade her husband. He probably discussed the idea with her, as he did with other confidants, in the abstract. As in maybe, at some point, I should declare that I won’t be a candidate in the next election. But no one expected him to announce his retirement from political life on the evening of his victory. He would only be fifty years old as his time in the White House ended. He later told his friend H. H. Kohlsaat that he would cut off106 his hand if he could take back those words. But he didn’t take them back. Not then.
He thundered on. “Of all possible oligarchies107 I think an oligarchy of colossal capitalists is the most narrow-minded and the meanest in its ideals. I thoroughly broke up this connection, so far as it existed,” he wrote to a friend that December. He also wrenched his thigh,108 again, and burst a blood vessel in his left eye while boxing, an injury that would eventually cause him to lose sight. Bad luck, he said.
The new year began with a dinner organized by Morgan, then a trip out west, mediation between Russia and Japan to end a worrisome war, and his inauguration.
The dinner,109 at the Arlington Hotel in early January, was meant to gather political and financial support for the American Academy in Rome. Morgan drew up the guest list, and what could he do other than place Roosevelt at the head table with him? They shook hands and joined in the toasts, and if anything more passed between them, neither revealed it.
Saturday, March 4, was sunny and blustery. Flags snapped, men pulled down their hats, women clutched their coats close. Washington was swarming. Thirty Rough Riders accompanied Roosevelt to the inaugural ceremony. Justice Harlan, in his flowing black robe, led his colleagues to their seats in front of the Capitol. Roosevelt’s family sat nearby, among them his twenty-year-old niece Eleanor110 and his twenty-three-year-old fifth cousin Franklin, who would marry a few weeks later. People stood on the terraces and on the dome itself. Boys climbed trees for a better view.
Roosevelt and his party watching the inaugural parade
Roosevelt had worn a borrowed suit when he first took the oath of office in Buffalo. This time, he wore a frock coat and trousers tailored from the finest black wool—the same material111 McKinley had chosen for his inauguration, supplied by the same Massachusetts family. Roosevelt wore something unusual, too: a heavy gold ring112 with a strand of Lincoln’s hair. Hay, who had served as Lincoln’s assistant private secretary, requested the clipping immediately after his death and later mounted it under glass on the ring. Now he had the initials of the two presidents engraved on the band before presenting the ring to Roosevelt the night before the inauguration. It was the ailing elder statesman’s final commendation. Roosevelt told Hay the ring would remind him to “put human rights above property rights.”
Roosevelt’s inaugural address was to the point, much of it carried away by the wind, but applauded nonetheless. “Modern life113 is both complex and intense, and the tremendous changes wrought by the extraordinary industrial development of the last half century are felt in every fibre of our social and political being,” he said. “The conditions which have told for our marvelous material well-being, which have developed to a very high degree our energy, self-reliance, and individual initiative, have also brought the care and anxiety inseparable from the accumulation of great wealth in industrial centres.”
Maybe two hundred thousand people watched at least part of the three-hour inaugural parade114 down Pennsylvania Avenue. Harriman viewed it from the comforts of the Corcoran Building, where New York senator Depew rented a room with big glass windows for the occasion. George Perkins reserved three rooms at the New Willard Hotel; William Randolph Hearst took the best four.
James Hill remained in St. Paul, and George Baer stayed in Philadelphia. John Mitchell was listening to the grievances of bituminous coal miners in Birmingham, while Mother Jones had already gone to Chicago to discuss forming a more radical union for all workers. Emma Goldman was in New York, finally emerging from a despair brought on by her vilification after McKinley’s assassination.
Knox, of all people, could not be there to witness Roosevelt’s proud day; instead, he was in Florida, recovering from a bad case of the flu. But Root was in Washington. He had argued on behalf of Morgan and Hill at the Supreme Court on Wednesday and Thursday and on Friday turned down115 the president’s offer to administer the construction of the Panama Canal.
Roosevelt stood for most of the three hours in the viewing stand while everyone else sat. It was just his kind of American pageant. “It really touched116 me to the heart,” he said. Some thirty-five thousand soldiers, National Guardsmen, Filipino and Puerto Rican scouts, anthracite coal miners, cowboys, Native American chiefs, farmers, Oyster Bay residents, and Harvard Republicans marched by, representing “everybody and everything,”117 Roosevelt said. When he saw someone he knew, he shouted out a greeting.
The Inaugural Ball,118 held in the Pension Building, attracted some six thousand guests, including most members of Congress and the diplomatic corps. Oliver Wendell Holmes and Fanny attended. George Cortelyou and his wife, Lily, were there. Most members of Congress and the diplomatic corps came. The room—high-ceilinged, with Corinthian columns supposed to be among the tallest in the world—resembled an Italian garden. A diffuse warm light flattered everyone. Outside, a crush of people waited for the president. Theodore and Edith promenaded around the room, Charles and Cornelia Fairbanks behind them. Edith wore a shimmering blue satin gown—made in America—with ostrich feathers and gold embroidered medallions so heavy that after five minutes, she was ready to sit. She and the president slowly climbed a staircase to join their family and friends in a private room. Then the dancing could begin below.
By midnight, the family and their guests were back in the White House, where they drank a toast119 to the president’s health and so enjoyed the moment, wrote Edith, that they “could hardly bear to say ‘goodnight.’ ”
On Monday, the Supreme Court unexpectedly announced its final decision about Northern Securities, with no dissent, directing the company to break up along the lines proposed by Morgan, not Harriman. The great railroad monopoly, with its vast profits and plans, was officially crushed, overpowered by Roosevelt’s Justice Department. By then, Morgan, nervous about his health120 and feeling a bit melancholy, had set sail on his annual trip to Europe. He wouldn’t return until July.
Roosevelt presented his cabinet to Congress for approval and over the next few days met with African American religious leaders, Railsplitter Republicans from Toledo, and Geronimo. He drafted six letters. He was on the crest, and after would come the hollow, he wrote, but he “had accomplished121 something worth accomplishing … The farmers, lumbermen, mechanics, ranchmen, miners, of the North, East and West, have felt that I was just as much in sympathy with them, just as devoted to their interests, and as proud of them and as representative of them, as if I had sprung from among their own ranks.”
Roosevelt wrote letters for posterity. He created a symbol of his presidency for posterity, too. Commemorative inaugural medals were a tradition, and he received one back in 1901. But for his 1905 ceremony, he rejected that design in favor of something more distinguished, something modern. He commissioned122 the renowned sculptor Augustus St. Gaudens to craft a medallion nearly three inches in diameter, to be cast by Tiffany in a limited edition. The one for the president himself to keep was minted in gold. Its front showed Roosevelt in stark raised profile with the Latin motto ÆQVVM CVIQVE. Its meaning: A square deal for everyone.
Dozens of men1 huddled in Pierpont Morgan’s study—standing, sitting, smoking, sweating. The west room of his library had not yet been completed to his satisfaction by that evening in November 1907. But the effect was already grand. The ceiling was made of panels taken from a Renaissance palace. Red silk, designed with the insignia of an ancient Sienese banking family, covered the walls. And Morgan—seventy years old, a January depression behind him, a cold brought on by exhaustion bothering him—was still commanding. No one could leave until he allowed them to. He had locked the library’s bronze-paneled doors and put the key in his pocket.
The financial system was in crisis. Trust companies, essentially unsupervised banks, were failing, and they were threatening other institutions on their way down. The fearful, and there were many of them, were rushing to withdraw their savings. Morgan had raised money to help, and the government had contributed funds, but it wasn’t enough. The men in the study had to prevent chaos.
Wall Street had blamed Roosevelt’s stance toward business for undermining confidence in the first place. In response, the president turned the taunt back on Wall Street: “It may well2 be that the determination of the Government (in which, gentlemen, it will not waver) to punish certain malefactors of great wealth has been responsible for something of the trouble.” If only, he said, because those he had provoked would risk turmoil to discredit him.
At 4:15 in the morning of that Sunday, November 3, Morgan presented a statement that committed each of the trust company presidents to providing a share of a twenty-five-million-dollar rescue loan. “There you are gentlemen,” he said. Then he gestured to their unofficial leader, “There’s the place, King, and here’s the pen.” Edward King signed, the others followed, and Morgan unlocked the door at 4:45 A.M.
The panic subsided. People first praised Morgan for this stark display of power and then condemned him for it. Roosevelt was criticized for allowing Morgan to profit from it. But the bailout would be one of the last times Morgan would exert his influence so publicly. Over the following years, he worked on a system to regulate the money supply—but he worked in private. And though he still loomed in the national imagination, he was ever more clearly a man out of his time. The country was leaving him behind.
As 1908 was drawing to a close, Morgan declined3 to speak at a dinner in his honor—“Money Talks4 But Morgan Doesn’t” was the headline in the Chicago paper the next day. But he did talk to friends that evening, and they were happy to repeat to the New York Times the advice Morgan said he had received from his father long ago: “There may be times5 when things are dark and cloudy in America, when uncertainty will cause some to distrust and others to think there is too much production, too much building of railroads, and too much development in other enterprises. In such times, and at all times, remember that the growth of that vast country will take care of all.” Years after Morgan first heard those words, and despite much evidence to the contrary, he still believed them.
The biggest piece of evidence that Morgan was only partially right—that growth created its own problems, which government could help solve—was Roosevelt himself. The president’s impassioned campaign against “the men of swollen fortune”6 began soon after his second inauguration. “Their success sets up a false standard, and so serves as bad example for the rest of us,” he had said that summer. A few months later, in his annual message to Congress, he had continued: “There can be no delusion more fatal to the Nation than the delusion that the standard of profits, of business prosperity, is sufficient in judging any business or political question.”
Roosevelt had pushed a progressive legislative agenda to deal with those business and political questions—senators had pushed back hardest on behalf of the railroads. But the Hepburn Act gave the Interstate Commerce Commission new authority over railroad rates. The Meat Inspection and Pure Food and Drug Acts were the first significant consumer protection laws. Interstate railroads were held responsible for some workers’ injuries under the Employers’ Liability Act. New child labor regulations went into effect in the District of Columbia. And corporate campaign contributions were banned. Roosevelt proposed an eight-hour workday for public employees, stronger protection of unions, and federal licensing for corporations. He recommended a federal income tax and an inheritance tax on the wealthy. That was a particularly unpopular idea in Congress.
After the Northern Securities suit had concluded, the White House had backed away from further direct confrontation with the House of Morgan. George Perkins, Morgan’s “secretary of state,” had come to an agreement with Roosevelt’s commissioner of corporations. Robert Bacon had regained his health and accepted the job of assistant secretary of state under Elihu Root, who had finished up his work for Morgan and rejoined Roosevelt’s administration. Morgan’s son-in-law Herbert Satterlee would even briefly serve as assistant secretary of the Navy.
But Morgan’s railroads7—four companies that controlled thousands of miles of track—were now subject to unaccustomedly strict government supervision, and his executives had acknowledged the administration’s authority over strategic business decisions that might violate antitrust law. Morgan spent more time traveling Europe or ensconced in his study—his son and the other younger partners called it the uptown branch—than he did working at 23 Wall Street.
Hill, who turned seventy in 1908, was almost ready to leave one of his sons in charge of the Great Northern. Harriman was in poor health, nearer to death than he knew. John Mitchell, whose reputation had been damaged by the failed strike in Colorado four years earlier, had struggled as workers and employers became less conciliatory, not more, in a standardizing economy. He found himself without a constituency, lost a power struggle against more radical union leaders, and was forced out that year. A decade of unsuccessful attempts to secure the wealth he so desired would follow and break him. These antagonists and protagonists of Roosevelt’s first term in office, the men he infuriated, elevated, and parried with, occupied less of his attention by the end of his second. Morgan, though, remained very much on his mind, and he on Morgan’s.
Roosevelt could have run for president again. He was popular, a celebrity really, a man whose compelling performance did as much, maybe more, than his actual accomplishments to start balancing the scales. “The fight was really8 for the abolition of privilege,” he wrote later. It wasn’t over. But in 1908, he kept his promise to let someone else lead it.
After Roosevelt’s handpicked successor, William Taft, won the election, Morgan telegraphed:9 “I wish to express to you my heartfelt congratulations on to-day’s splendid results.” His London office telegraphed 23 Wall Street: “Hope now we can have peace quiet and good business.”
In his last days in the White House, Roosevelt wrote to a friend, “I have done my10 work; I am perfectly content; I have nothing to ask; and I am very grateful to the American people for what they have done for me … My future is in the past, save as I may do the decent work that every private citizen can do.” Of course he would eventually try to do more than that again. But on March 4 of 1909, he returned home to Sagamore Hill. Less than three weeks later, he left to hunt in Africa.
One of Morgan’s favorite portraits, painted to express his intensity rather than his severity (and to deflect attention from his inflamed nose), now hangs over the enormous fifteenth-century mantel piece in his study. The solid steel bank door to the vault, where he once kept medieval manuscripts, is open. The room is regal, intimidating, almost chilling. It feels removed even from the hum of East Thirty-Sixth Street. There is nothing modern about it.
Rooms like it exist, or existed, in buildings as majestic as Morgan’s Library in cities around the country. Many were built, as his was, during a reign of imperial capitalism when a few men—always men—controlled enormous resources, generated vast wealth, passed it to their heirs, and sometimes put it to use for the public good along the way. Museums, hospitals, foundations, universities, and libraries carry their names. That’s one legacy of the one percent.
The other was the progressive moment that temporarily checked their power. The tycoons of the early twentieth century believed that capitalism generally, and their businesses specifically, could be self-correcting. The low wages, dangerous working conditions, high prices, uncomfortable dependence, and the fear, anger, and confusion among ordinary Americans, showed that it wasn’t. The reforms, when they came, seemed too late to some, too timid to others—and too radical to Wall Street.
But they set a precedent for government oversight and a moral tone that helped soothe an agitated nation. America, Roosevelt said, must not be “the civilization11 of a mere plutocracy, a banking-house, Wall-Street-syndicate civilization.” Material well-being, yes, and also “the sense of having so lived12 that others are better and not worse off.”
Concentrated wealth, often the result of corporate domination, causes the kind of economic inequality that can undermine powerful societies. It challenges the notion of democracy; politics seems rigged in favor of the rich and influential. It can leave people feeling helpless and desperate. Roosevelt said making change could be dangerous but doing nothing could be fatal.
Capitalism doesn’t stay reformed, though. It adjusts. New capitalists bring different ideas and methods, some bend the system toward equality, some toward excess. In 1902, coal mining profited a few; today, data mining does. Americans worry that companies intrude too deeply into private life, and use what they glean for purposes that are never fully brought to light. Big companies occupy central roles in the lives of consumers but don’t always put the public’s interests first and don’t reliably benefit their workers. They can charge high prices or use low ones to push out smaller competitors. They might not invest in basic services or fund innovation. Sometimes they perpetuate racial inequity. Politicians can be swayed by their donations, or threats.
Corporate power is concentrated, again, and so is privilege. The top one percent13 of American households own thirty-two percent of the nation’s wealth. It buys them private fire fighters, concierge health care, a separate system of college admissions and jobs afterward. It has created a new Gilded Age, and now, another progressive moment striving to hold capitalism and corporations to account.
Roosevelt believed the best way to do that was through regulation. He believed that government oversight was more effective than litigation, and he was convinced that he knew how best to wield that authority over business. Regulators, though, can become too close to the industries they are supposed to watch over. Sometimes their next job is in industry. And rules can have unintended consequences: They can be disruptive, they can be dodged. In Roosevelt’s time, the federal government didn’t collect income tax; now the nation’s complicated tax code can be used as a shield, or to reward the highest earners. A president as autocratic as Roosevelt could be—as wrong as he could be—seems even more worrisome when autocrats are taking over democracies around the world. But the ideal remains the same: an economy that works for everyone.
America in the twenty-first century is a nation of vast and specific interests, diverse and complex. Few use the word “malefactors” anymore, as Roosevelt did. But his warning against “mere plutocracy” could hardly be more current. The notion of a square deal sounds quaint. But the battle to make American capitalism more fair rages just as furiously.
Writing a book was a joyful strain in almost every way. Writing a note of thanks at the conclusion is pure joy. I’ll start with my agents, Larry Weissman and Sascha Alper, who helped me see, and shape, the story I wanted to tell. They’ve offered years of counsel, close reading, and lively conversation. Ben Hyman smartly guided me, helped untangle parts of the manuscript, and found ways to deepen the story. He did so with immeasurable skill and unfailing kindness and calm. He has been an ideal collaborator. Morgan Jones provided insightful comments and, with Akshaya Iyer, anxiety-reducing production help. Emily Fisher arrived full of smart ideas about how to share the book. The enthusiasm of Cindy Loh, Nancy Miller, Laura Keefe, Marie Coolman, and many others at Bloomsbury, has been sustained and sustaining.
I’m indebted to many authors for their superb books about the two men at the center of The Hour of Fate, especially Jean Strouse, Doris Kearns Goodwin, H.W. Brands, David McCullough, Ron Chernow, and the late Edmund Morris. I appreciate the assistance and encouragement of the curators at the Morgan Library and the historians at the Theodore Roosevelt Center, as well as at other essential archives. Heidi Schultz was an exacting and energetic fact-checker. Jenna West and Michael Burke provided crucial research assistance. And Jane Yeomans generously gave her valuable time to help me find the evocative images on the book’s pages.
At Bloomberg News, Bob Blau has offered unstinting enthusiasm, sharp-minded observations, and more understanding and opportunities than I could have hoped for. John Micklethwait, Reto Gregori, Tim Quinson, and Kristin Powers encouraged me, facilitated my book leave, and sent me off with reassuring words. Joel Weber, Dan Ferrara, Flynn McRoberts, Jim Aley, and Jeremy Keehn, and pretty much everyone else, supported this book right from the start. Over the years, I’ve been privileged to work with other terrific magazine editors who helped give me the confidence to undertake a project like this: Josh Tyrangiel, Ellen Pollock, Bryant Urstadt, and Emily Biuso foremost among them. Ann Morison gave me my first chance long ago. Steve Shepard, Joyce Barnathan, and many others on Businessweek’s 43rd floor pushed me forward.
My book leave wouldn’t have been nearly as productive and enriching were it not for the Jonathan Logan Family Foundation and the Logan Nonfiction Fellowship at the Carey Institute for Global Good. Carly Willsie and Josh Friedman run the program with unmatched acumen and ambition. The fellows that autumn of 2018 were uniformly inspiring and among the most careful, considerate readers I’ve come across. Pat Evangelista, Amy Dockser Marcus, Meg Kissinger, and Stobo Sniderman not only improved my writing while we were together, they continued to do so after we parted. Our kinship has been an unexpected and delightful gift, and I’m eager to give back.
I’m lucky to also have a community of longtime friends who reinvigorate and embolden me. Motoko Rich and Drake Bennett somehow found time to offer comments on the manuscript that were wonderfully perceptive and delivered in the most generous way. Claudia Kalb, Kimberly McCreight, and Alison Singh Gee encouraged me as only other authors can. Current and former colleagues Sheelah Kolhatkar, Brad Stone, Josh Green, Devin Leonard, Cam Simpson, Monte Reel, Bob Kolker, Nisid Hajari, Paul Barrett, and Ashlee Vance showed me how journalists become authors. Anu Heda, Art Jones, Julie Feldman-Abe, Amy Harmon, Erin Elder, Dune Lawrence, Charlie Herman, my Park Slope, Hong Kong and Los Angeles clans, and my Bloomberg colleagues, all warmly supported me during these past four years. Elaine Merguerian and Rick Morris and Eden Pontz and Doug Harsch graciously invited my daughter, and sometimes my husband, to their homes when I needed ours to myself. Thanks to all of you, and the many others, whose kind words and deeds and generous spirits have buoyed me. I hope to do the same for you again.
My family—big-hearted, inspiring, full of laughter—is a constant source of love and fortifying confidence: My parents, Janet and Mort, who let me find my way in the world knowing I had a place to return to; my sister, Amy, and brother, Michael, his wife, Holly, and their sons, Benjamin and Isaac, who travel the world with me; Phyllis and Nathan Shmalo, Sue and Jeff Brown, and the Brewers, who have extended themselves again and again; and the irrepressible Cohens who have stayed connected from coast to coast.
And most of all, thank you to Tim and Olivia, the first and last faces I see every day, the ones who challenge, nourish, humor, and cheer me. Tim read chapters aloud to me, asked all the right questions, and helped me find the answers. He keeps me energized. Olivia keeps me grounded. She proved to be an excellent barometer of my state of mind and a comfort when it was shaky. Best of all, she and Tim were involved with this project from beginning to end. They gave me the time and space to do what I’ve always wanted to—and they’ve given me so very much more.
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PROLOGUE
1. Leon Czolgosz: Details of his stay in Buffalo draws from A. Wesley Johns, The Man Who Shot McKinley, 13 and 49; Scott Miller, The President and the Assassin, 6.
2. Czolgosz’s parents: Details of his early and working life in Lloyd Vernon Briggs, The Manner of Man That Kills, 289, 296, 303–04; Walter Channing, The Mental Status of Czolgosz, 5, 12–13, 29; Eric Rauchway, Murdering McKinley, 166–67.
3. His family had purchased: This account of his life on the family farm draws from Briggs, Manner of Man That Kills, 306; Rauchway, Murdering McKinley, 169; Channing, Mental Status of Czolgosz, 40.
4. In May 1901: Johns, The Man Who Shot McKinley, 35; Emma Goldman, Living My Life, 194.
5. “I never had”: “The Assassin Makes a Full Confession,” New York Times, September 8, 1901; Johns, The Man Who Shot McKinley, 121–22.
6. They gave him: Rauchway, Murdering McKinley, 176.
7. afterward the creator: Ron Miller, “In 1901, You Could Pay 50 Cents to Ride an Airship to the Moon,” Gizmodo, May 31, 2012, io9.gizmodo.com/in-1901-you-could-pay-50-cents-to-ride-an-airship-to-t-5914655.
8. The showmen: Details of the response to the Expo from Margaret Creighton, The Electrifying Fall of Rainbow City, 119–25, 273; Barbara A. Seals Nevergold, “ ‘Doing the Pan’: The African-American Experience at the Pan-American Exposition 1901,” Afro-Americans in New York Life and History 12, no. 1 (2004); Andrew R. Valint, “Fighting for Recognition: The Role African Americans Played in World Fairs,” (thesis, Buffalo State College, 2011).
9. “My fellow citizens”: Last Speech of William McKinley, Delivered at the Pan-American Exposition at Buffalo, September 5, 1901, 58th Congress, 2d Session, Senate Document no. 268, Government Printing Office, 1904.
10. On McKinley’s final day: Account of shooting draws from Johns, The Man Who Shot McKinley, 20, 89, 91, 94–6; Richard H. Barry, The True Story of the Assassination of President McKinley at Buffalo (1901), 12–13, 26; “Acted as a Hero,” Washington Evening Star, September 7, 1901, 1 and “James B. Parker: The Man Who Knocked the President’s Assailant Down,” Washington Evening Star, September 11, 1901, 6.
11. Trading on the stock market: “Confidence in Financial Circles,” New York Times, September 7, 1901, 3.
12. He controlled: Ray Stannard Baker, “J. Pierpont Morgan,” McClure’s 17, no. 6 (October 1901): 512; “The Power of J. Pierpont Morgan,” Newton (Kansas) Journal, January 19, 1900, 6.
13. The corporation would: Jean Strouse, Morgan: American Financier, 404.
14. Be worth double: Historical Statistics of the United States, 1789–1945, 296.
15. A courier had earlier: Albro Martin, James J. Hill and the Opening of the Northwest, 427.
16. Morgan put on: Morgan’s reaction described in “Leaders of Finance Amazed,” New York Times, September 7, 1901, 3; “Financiers Shocked,” New York Tribune, September 7, 1901, 5; Alexander Dana Noyes, The Market Place: Reminiscences of a Financial Editor, 215.
17. McKinley was put under: Details of the operation drawn from “The Case of President McKinley,” Boston Medical and Surgical Journal (now New England Journal of Medicine) CXLV, no. 17 (October 12 1901): 451–57; “Report of the Medical Department of the Pan-American Expo, Buffalo 1901,” Buffalo Medical Journal, December 1901.
18. In New York: Details drawn from “How the News was Received in New York,” New York Times, September 7, 1901, 2; “Leaders of Finance Amazed.”
19. Nothing of the sort: Herbert L. Satterlee, J. Pierpont Morgan: An Intimate Portrait, 1837–1913, 363.
20. “The patient stood”: “Hoping for Recovery,” New York Tribune, September 7, 1901, 1.
21. “My God”: “Mr. Roosevelt En Route,” New York Times, September 7, 1901, 1.
22. He paced the room: Details of Roosevelt’s reaction and statements from “Vice President’s Sorrow,” New York Times, September 8, 1901, 1; “Mr. Roosevelt Gets Reassuring News,” New York Times, September 8, 1901, 1.
23. “The financial situation”: “Banks Ready to Help,” New York Tribune, September 8, 1901, 4.
24. He went down: “Morgan Greets Friend,” New York Tribune, September 8, 1901, 4.
25. Before long: Details of McKinley’s early progress drawn from “Great Hope for the President,” New York Times, September 9, 1901, 1; “Still on the Mend,” Washington Evening Star, September 11, 1901, 1; “The Case of President McKinley,” 456; “Confidence and Joy at the Milburn Residence,” New York Times, September 10, 1901, 1; “President’s Double Tested the X-Rays,” Buffalo Enquirer, September 10, 1901, 7.
26. “Now everything”: “Senator Hanna Is Happy,” New York Times, September 10, 1901.
27. All that week: “Detectives Guard J. P. Morgan,” New York Tribune, September 8, 1901, 4.
28. That summer: Baker, “J. Pierpont Morgan.”
29. In Buffalo: “Confidence and Joy at The Milburn Residence,” New York Times, September 10, 1901, 1.
30. “You may say”: “The Fourth Day at the Milburn Residence,” New York Times, September 11, 1901, 1.
31. Then, before daylight: “The Case of President McKinley,” 457.
32. A flock of crows: Johns, The Man Who Shot McKinley, 158.
33. Morgan received updates: “Morgan’s Movements,” New York Times, September 14, 1901, 3.
34. Roosevelt began: Details of his trip to Buffalo from Theodore Roosevelt Papers: Scrapbooks, 1895–1910; Personal; vol. 1, 1901, Library of Congress; Edmund Morris, Theodore Rex, 3–11.
35. Outside the mansion: Johns, The Man Who Shot McKinley, 157.
36. On the morning: Details from “The City Draped in Black,” New York Tribune, September 15, 1901, 3; “City Shows Its Grief with Crepe and Flags,” Brooklyn Daily Eagle, September 15, 1901, 7; “Morgan Changes His Suit,” Brooklyn Daily Eagle Sun, September 15, 1901, 5.
37. “I was so shocked”: “No Time to Think,” September 15, 1901 article in unidentified paper, Theodore Roosevelt Papers: Scrapbooks, 1895–1910; vol. 1, Library of Congress, and widely reported.
38. He went straight: Morris, Theodore Rex, 12–13.
39. He chose a spot: Details of swearing in from “Oath of Office Taken,” Theodore Roosevelt Papers: Scrapbooks, 1895–1910; vol. 1, 1901, Library of Congress; “Roosevelt Now President,” New York Tribune, September 15, 1901; report by Frederick A. McKenzie, unidentified newspaper, Theodore Roosevelt Papers: Scrapbooks, 1895–1910; vol. 1, 1901, Library of Congress; Morris, Theodore Rex, 14–15.
40. “So many of the enterprises”: Satterlee, J. Pierpont Morgan, 362–63.
41. “A mob gathered”: Johns, The Man Who Shot McKinley, 121.
42. “I did not feel”: “The Assassin Makes a Full Confession.” At least one author questions the accuracy of the full confession, but these sentiments are reported in Johns, The Man Who Shot McKinley, 123, citing the notes of a court stenographer.
43. Goldman was arrested: Goldman, Living My Life, 201, 207; Alice Wexler, Emma Goldman: An Intimate Life, 106.
44. “Soul in pain”: Emma Goldman, “The Tragedy at Buffalo,” Free Society, October 1901.
45. “I shot the president”: Details of Czolgosz’s death and burial from “Assassin Czolgosz Is Executed at Auburn,” New York Times, October 30, 1901, 1; Rauchway, Murdering McKinley, 79.
CHAPTER 1: “THE STORM IS ON US”
1. “I must frankly”: Douglas Robinson to Roosevelt, September 13, 1901. Theodore Roosevelt Papers, Library of Congress.
2. “stand pat”: Mark Sullivan, Our Times: The United States, 1900–1925, vol. 2: 377.
3. “cash-register conscience”: William Allen White, “Hanna,” McClure’s (November 1900).
4. “Don’t any of you”: Arthur Wallace Dunn, From Harrison to Harding: A Personal Narrative, Covering a Third of a Century, 1888–1921, vol. 1: 335.
5. “I am as strong”: Roosevelt to Hanna, June 27, 1900, Theodore Roosevelt Papers, Library of Congress.
6. He had traveled: “Roosevelt Ends His Tour,” New York Times November 3, 1900, 2.
7. On Monday: “Speeding through Mourning Land,” Minneapolis Journal, September 16, 1901; “Martyr President Borne to Capital,” New York Times, September 17, 1901.
8. At the suggestion of: Details of Roosevelt’s meal with Hanna from H. H. Kohlsaat, From McKinley to Harding, 101–03; Edmund Morris, Theodore Rex, 16; James Ford Rhodes, The McKinley and Roosevelt Administrations, 218. Roosevelt later unconvincingly denies inviting Hanna to dinner, while Hanna confirms it. But Roosevelt does acknowledge the substance of their conversations in a letter to Lincoln Steffens, June 24, 1905, The Letters of Theodore Roosevelt, ed. Elting Morison, vol. 4: 1254–55.
9, 10. “The tremendous responsibility” and “Mr. Roosevelt”: “Feverish Excitement at Waldorf-Astoria,” New York Times, September 14, 1901, 3.
11. “President McKinley”: “No Peril Ahead, Says Morgan,” New York Evening World, September 14, 1901, 2.
12. “I don’t care a damn”: Kohlsaat, From McKinley to Harding, 105.
13. Morgan walked: Details of funeral in “At Work in the Rotunda,” Washington Times, September 16, 1901, 2; “Nation Bids Its Dead Farewell,” Chicago Tribune, September 18, 1901, 3; “Fitting Tribute to the Nation’s Dead: Scene in the Rotunda,” Dayton Evening Herald, September 17, 1901, 1.
14. Hanna immediately: McKinley’s Tomb, National Park Service website, www.nps.gov/nr/travel/presidents/mckinley_tomb.html.
15. The train returned: “At the White House,” Evening Star, September 20, 1901, 1. “Knows No Section,” Evening Star, September 21, 1901, 1.
16. “It’s a dreadful thing”: Roosevelt to Henry Cabot Lodge, September 23, 1901, Selections from the Correspondence of Theodore Roosevelt and Henry Cabot Lodge, vol. 1: 506.
17. Almost half a million: Lewis L. Gould, The Presidency of Theodore Roosevelt, 34.
18. Between 1895 and 1900: “Western Wealth Enriches New York,” St. Paul Globe, January 21, 1900, 20; “Senator Clark’s New Home Causes a Suit,” New York Times, December 11, 1901; Lindsay Turley, “Streetscapes: William A. Clark Mansion,” Museum of the City of New York, 2018, www.mcny.org/story/william-clark-mansion.
19. Meeting his blazing: John A. Garraty, Right-Hand Man, 89.
20. “Part of the”: Andrew Sinclair, Corsair: The Life of J. Pierpont Morgan, 192.
21. “The storm is on us”: Henry Adams, in Paris, to Secretary of State John Hay, October 1, 1901, Letters of Henry Adams, ed. J. C. Levenson et al., vol. 5: 300.
22. “I am not advocating”: Speech at Symphony Hall, Boston, August 25, 1902 in The Roosevelt Policy: Speeches, Letters and State Papers, Relating to Corporate Wealth and Closely Allied Topics, ed. William Griffith, 1: 47.
23. “I am afraid”: Alfred Henry Lewis, “Owners of America III: J. Pierpont Morgan,” Cosmopolitan XLV, no. 3 (August 1908), 250–60.
24. At the end of September: “Episcopal Prelates, Clergy and Laymen Assemble To-day for Triennial General Convention in Trinity Church,” San Francisco Call, October 2, 1901, 1, 5; “Takes Big Party to San Francisco,” Chicago Tribune, September 27, 1901, 9.
25. “All Wall Street”: “Morgan Busy with NP War,” New York Evening World, October 28, 1901, 10.
CHAPTER 2: THE BEST OF EVERYTHING
1. John Pierpont Morgan: I am indebted to Jean Strouse’s Morgan: American Financier for its clear-eyed, comprehensive, and insightful account of Morgan’s personal and professional lives. In the paragraphs that follow, I’ve noted original documents and other sources.
2. by necessity, insurance: Morgan’s grandfather, Joseph Morgan, co-founded Aetna Insurance Company.
3. “Full of animal life”: Jean Strouse, Morgan: American Financier, 35, citing J. B. Burbank letter to Herbert Satterlee, April 4, 1914, The Pierpont Morgan Library.
4. He collected and organized: Frederick Lewis Allen, The Great Pierpont Morgan, 12, 13, 18.
5. Paper and postage: Account book, personal expenses 1857–1858, Pierpont Morgan Library.
6. “Adapts himself”: Strouse, Morgan, 55, citing Edouard Silling letter to Junius Morgan, February 21, 1855, Pierpont Morgan Library, Mabel Satterlee Ingalls collection.
7. When Abraham Lincoln: Richard White, Railroaded: The Transcontinentals and the Making of Modern America, 2.
8. “Bring your mind”: Strouse, Morgan, 77, citing letter from Junius Morgan to Pierpont Morgan, March 25, 1858, Pierpont Morgan Library.
9. “Untiring industry”: Strouse, Morgan, 83–84, citing letter from Sherman Duncan to Pierpont Morgan, September 24, 1859, Pierpont Morgan Library.
10. “No cry”: Strouse, Morgan, 85.
11. A controversial deal: “The Astounding Disclosures of the Van Wyck Investigation,” Lancaster Examiner, December 25, 1861, 3; “Pierpont Morgan Not Napoleon of Finance,” Greenville News, January 6, 1913, 4.
12. “Constant occupation”: Strouse, Morgan, 105–06, citing Morgan letter to his cousin, James Goodwin, March 21, 1862, Pierpont Morgan Library.
13. He acquired: “The Rise of the Morgan Dynasty,” Current Literature XLIX, 1910; Carl Hovey, The Life Story of J. Pierpont Morgan, 28.
14. “I am never”: Strouse, Morgan, 107, citing Pierpont Morgan letter to Junius Morgan, mid-September, 1862, George Peabody Papers, Phillips Library, the Peabody Essex Museum.
15. Lincoln’s salary: Harry E. Pratt, Personal Finances of Abraham Lincoln (Lakeside Press, 1943), 124.
16. Americans paid: David Goldfield, America Aflame: How the Civil War Created a Nation, 843–44.
17. One hundred dollars: Karen Wolfe, “Song of The Exposition,” in J. R. LeMaster and Donald D. Kummings, eds., Walt Whitman: An Encyclopedia (New York: Garland Publishing, 1998) via the Walt Whitman Archive.
18. “Talk of millions”: Goldfield, America Aflame, 836, citing John Sherman letter to his brother, Gen. Tecumseh Sherman, November 10, 1865, The Sherman Letters: Correspondence between General and Senator Sherman from 1837 to 1891, ed. Rachel Sherman Thorndike, 258.
19. He paid: “The Great Architectural Change in Wall Street,” New York Times, March 17, 1872, 3; Dan Rottenberg, The Man Who Made Wall Street: Anthony J. Drexel and the Rise of Modern Finance (Philadelphia: University of Pennsylvania Press, 2001), 102–04.
20. It absorbed: Larry Haeg, Harriman vs. Hill: Wall Street’s Great Railroad War, 6.
21. Some 170 million: White, Railroaded, 24–25.
22. For every mile: White, Railroaded, 23; Sean M. Kammer, “Land and Law in the Age of Enterprise: A Legal History of Railroad Land Grants in the Pacific Northwest 1864–1916,” (dissertation University of Nebraska, Lincoln, 2015).
23. These were not: John C. Hudson, “Towns of the Western Railroads,” Great Plains Quarterly, Winter 1982, 41–54.
24. They handed out: Ralph W. Hidy, The Great Northern Railway, 130.
25. Tens of thousands: Senate Committee on Interstate Commerce Hearings on Automatic Couplers and Power Brakes, 1890, 41.
26. “It was taken”: L. S. Coffin, “Safety Appliances on Railroads,” The Annals of Iowa 5, no. 3, (1903): 561–82.
27. In Winona: “Railroad Accidents,” Star Tribune, February 6, 1873, 4.
28. Conductor Arthur Lindsley: “Conductor Arthur Lindsley,” Mower County Transcript, April 3, 1873, 1.
29. Fireman R. Brown: “Fireman and Brakeman Killed,” Star Tribune, July 18, 1873, 4
30. Amandas Hagerty: “A Man Killed,” Carbon Advocate, November 29, 1873.
31. “within the parallels”: Ellis Paxon Oberholtzer, Jay Cooke, 313.
32. Two hundred or so: Howard Zinn, A People’s History of the United States, 243; “Wreck of the Metropolis,” New York Tribune, February 1, 1878, 1; “Other Accounts of the Wreck,” New York Times, February 1, 1878, 1; “The Feeling at Philadelphia,” New York Times, February 2, 1878, 1.
33. “Bread is”: James Dabney McCabe, The History of the Great Riots, 1877, 202.
34. “There are two”: McCabe, Great Riots, 20.
35. “Please send in”: McCabe, Great Riots, 31.
36. Pierpont—whose firm: Vincent P. Carosso, The Morgans: Private International Bankers, 1854–1913, 229.
37. “Affairs for a time”: Carosso, The Morgans, 230, citing Morgan letter to Walter H. Burns, August 24, 1877.
38. “Honor in the”: Carosso, The Morgans, 190; “Early Life and Rise to Power of J. Pierpont Morgan,” Hartford Courant, 10.
39. “A kind Providence”: Strouse, Morgan, 178.
40. Railroads comprised: Figures for 1885, listings, Mary O’Sullivan, “The Expansion of the U.S. Stock Market, 1885–1930: Historical Facts and Theoretical Fashions,” Enterprise & Society 8, no. 3, (2007): 495; revenue, Historical Statistics of the United States, 1789–1945, prepared by the Bureau of the Census, 1949, 201, 296; track added, Haeg, Harriman vs. Hill, 7.
41. Pierpont’s firm: Details of the two deals in Carosso, The Morgans, 246, 250; “A Gigantic Syndicate,” Scranton Republican, November 30, 1880, 1.
42. He accidentally: Herbert L. Satterlee, J. Pierpont Morgan, 1837–1913, 235.
43. On the shelves: Strouse, Morgan, 229; Joseph F. Sabin, Catalogue of the Library of Mr. J. Pierpont Morgan (New York, 1883).
44. “Nothing but masterpieces”: John Paul Bocock, Character Sketch of Mr. Morgan 1900–1909, 11, Pierpont Morgan Library.
45. On Sunday evenings: Satterlee, J. Pierpont Morgan, 334.
46. “I’m struggling to”: “J. Pierpont Morgan Dies in Rome,” Buffalo Evening News, March 31, 1903, 10.
47. “Sore spots”: Hovey, Life Story, 104.
48. Morgan devised a plan: Details from Hovey, Life Story, 113–15; Andrew Sinclair, Corsair: The Life of J. Pierpont Morgan, 63–66; Strouse, Morgan, 248–49.
49. “Let the”: Carosso, The Morgans, 265, citing letter from Junius Morgan to Pierpont, December 29, 1887.
CHAPTER 3: A PUBLIC MAN
1. “Theodore Roosevelt was”: Roosevelt’s early years are wonderfully reconstructed in many books. I draw mostly from: Edmund Morris’s The Rise of Theodore Roosevelt, David McCullough’s Mornings on Horseback, Kathleen Dalton’s Theodore Roosevelt: A Strenuous Life, Carleton Putnam’s Theodore Roosevelt: The Formative Years, and Roosevelt’s own autobiography. The specific sources for quotes are cited.
2. “Maniacal benevolence”: McCullough, Mornings on Horseback, 28, quoting John Hay.
3. “Entirely unreconstructed”: Theodore Roosevelt, The Autobiography of Theodore Roosevelt, 12.
4. “Forever at it”: William Henry Harbaugh, The Life and Times of Theodore Roosevelt, 21.
5. “Have had a good”: McCullough, Mornings on Horseback, 187.
6. “Very buoyant temper”: McCullough, Mornings on Horseback, 189.
7. “Loved to row”: Corinne Robinson, My Brother Theodore Roosevelt, 90.
8. Relied on a trust fund: Lewis L. Gould, Theodore Roosevelt, 6; “Will of Theodore Roosevelt,” New York Times, February 17, 1878.
9. Robert Bacon: John Winkler, Morgan the Magnificent, 147, and H. W. Brands, T. R.: The Last Romantic, 61.
10. “I have been in love”: Roosevelt to Henry Davis Minot, February 13, 1880, The Letters of Theodore Roosevelt, ed. Elting Morison, vol. 1: 43.
11. After securing: Roosevelt’s first political outing is recounted in Lawrence Abbott, Impressions of Theodore Roosevelt, 41; Harbaugh, Life and Times, 28; Paul Grondahl, I Rose Like a Rocket, 66, and elsewhere with slightly different wording but the same meaning.
12. The society folks: A note in Morison, Letters 1: 55; “Pamphlet recommending Theodore Roosevelt as member of the New York State Assembly,” Theodore Roosevelt Collection, Harvard College Library.
13. “Would obey no boss”: Carleton Putnam, Theodore Roosevelt, 248, citing New York Herald, November 1, 1881.
14. “Who’s the dude”: Morris, Rise of Theodore Roosevelt, 144, citing John Walsh in Kansas City Star, February 12, 1922.
15. “What on earth”: Putnam, Theodore Roosevelt, 250, quoting Edgar Murlin of the Tribune.
16. “I do not speak”: Roosevelt to Martha Bulloch Roosevelt, February 20, 1883, Morison, Letters 1: 60.
17. “He threw each paper”: Putnam, Theodore Roosevelt, 273–74, quoting William Hudson of the Brooklyn Daily Eagle.
18. Politicians from both: Roosevelt, Autobiography, 43.
19. “He was just like a jack”: Putnam, Theodore Roosevelt, 273, quoting Isaac Hunt, an assemblyman from Jefferson County.
20. As Roosevelt’s first term: Roosevelt (Autobiography, 47) describes the concerned older man as a family friend. Morris (The Rise of Theodore Roosevelt, 158) identifies him as Roosevelt’s uncle, James A. Roosevelt. It’s likely that in his later years Roosevelt wanted to protect the reputation of his deceased uncle.
21. “Most refreshing habit”: Morris, Rise of Theodore Roosevelt, 160, citing New York Times editorial, April 6, 1882, 4.
22. “The rising hope”: Morris, Rise of Theodore Roosevelt, 168.
23. “I rose like a rocket”: Roosevelt to his son Ted Roosevelt, October 20, 1903, The Letters of Theodore Roosevelt, ed. Elting Morison, vol. 3: 634–35.
24. “I would listen”: Jacob Riis, Theodore Roosevelt: The Citizen, 58–59.
25. Economic trouble: Carroll Wright, Industrial Depressions: The First Annual Report of the Commissioner of Labor, March 1886 (Washington, D.C.: Government Printign Office: 1886), 78.
26. “The state must not”: Grondahl, I Rose Like a Rocket, 108.
27. “I have to confess”: Grondahl, I Rose Like a Rocket, 108–09.
28. “The tobacco was stored”: Roosevelt’s quotes are all from his article, “Practical Politics,” Outlook, April 6, 1913.
29. “It is as though”: Henry George, Progress and Poverty: An Inquiry into the Cause of Industrial Depressions and of Increase of Want with Increase of Wealth; The Remedy (New York: D. Appleton & Co., 1879), 9.
30. “Only fairly well”: February 13 telegram to Dora (Dolly) Watkins, Morison, Letters 1: 65.
31. “Suicidal weather”: Putnam, Theodore Roosevelt, 384, citing “The Weather,” New York Times, February 13, 1884, 4.
32. “There is a curse”: Putnam, Theodore Roosevelt, 386.
33. “Black care”: Theodore Roosevelt, Ranch Life and the Hunting Trail, 59.
34. Roosevelt later wrote: Roosevelt, Autobiography, 59.
35. He wore: McCullough, Mornings on Horseback, 320.
36. “Perfect freedom”: Roosevelt to Henry Cabot Lodge, August 24, 1884, Morison, Letters 1: 79–80.
37. “I realize”: Roosevelt to Simon Newton Dexter North, editor of Utica Morning Herald, April 30, 1884, Morison, Letters 1: 66.
38. The public: This account of unrest draws from Paul Avrich, The Haymarket Tragedy, 200–10 and other sources as cited.
39. “My men here”: Roosevelt to Anna Roosevelt, May 15, 1886, Morison, Letters 1: 100.
40. In upstate New York: Alice Wexler, Emma Goldman: An Intimate Life, 30–31; 35–37. Emma Goldman, Living My Life, chapter 1.
41. New York police charged: “Rioters Get Broken Heads,” New York Sun, June 6, 1886, 2.
42. “We are beginning”: Richard Brookheiser, “1886: The Men Who Would Be Mayor,” City Journal, Autumn 1993.
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45. “Am badly defeated”: Theodore Roosevelt and Henry Cabot Lodge, Selections from the Correspondence of Theodore Roosevelt and Henry Cabot Lodge, vol. 1: 50.
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50. “It is horribly”: Roosevelt and Lodge, Selections from the Correspondence 1: 116.
51. Theodore and Bamie: Details of Elliott’s struggles with addiction—and his family—drawn from William J. Mann, The Wars of the Roosevelts.
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53. “Theodore was more overcome”: Mann, The Wars of the Roosevelts, 96.
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